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D.  
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F.  
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G.  
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H.  
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I.  
 
Letter of Default 

J.  
 
Note Purchase and Sale Agreement 

K.  
Stipulation Regarding Legal Issues to Be Decided by the Court at 
Bifurcated Trail Commencing February 1, 2021 filed January 1, 2021 

L.  

Transcript of Proceedings – Preliminary Injunction Hearing and Trial – 
Day 2 
Filed February 19, 2021. 

M.  
 
Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law filed April 6, 2021 

N.  
Order Granting in Part Kenneth Antos and Sheila Neumann- Antos 
Motion for Summary Judgment 

O.  
 
Status Report Regarding Lifting of Bankruptcy Stay filed July 28, 2021 

P.  
 
Transcript of Proceedings – Hearing of November 15, 2021 

Q.  
Order Confirming Third Amended Plan of Reorganization for the 
Debtor Under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code 
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 R.  
 
Notice of Trustee’s Sale 

S.  
 
Transcript of Proceedings – Hearing of January 28, 2022 

T.  
 
Trustee’s Deed Upon Sale 

U.  
Transcript of OST RE: Motion for Order to Show Cause for Violation 
for Confirmed Chapter 11 Plan and Related Relief  
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EXHIBIT “B”  



SECUREDPROMISSORY

$300,000.00 Bellevue, Washington
June 22, 2012

For value received, KCIInvestments, LLC,a Nevada limited liability company ("Borrowertt
)

promises to pay to the order of CBe Partners I, LLC,a Washington limited liability company, or its
assigns ("Lender") the sum of the aggregate unpaid principal amount of the amount advanced to
Borrower under this Secured Promissory Note plus interest thereon accruing from and after the
date of the advance. Lender will lend to Borrower up to the maximum amount of $300,000.00, to
be lent through a single advance (the "Advancefl

) (such borrowing,in the aggregate, the "LoanY).

The principal of, and interest on, the Loan shall be payable in lawful currency of the Untted States of
America by wire transfer. in immediately available funds to the account of Lender, as provided in
writing to Borrower by Lender. All payments shall be applied flrst.to tees.costs and charges relating
to this Secured Promissory Note (including, without limitation, any costs of collection), then to
accrued and unpaid interest, and thereafter to principal.

1. Certain Definitions.

1.1 As used in this Agreement:

"Advance" has.the meaning specified In.the first paragraph of this Secured
Promissory Note.

"Ancillary Documents" means all instruments, agreements or other documents to be
executed by Borrower or others including without limitation the Security Agreement and any other
instruments, agreements, or documents in fact executed in connection with this Secured
Promissory Note.

"Business Day" means a day which is not a..Saturday, Sunday, orday on which banks
in Seattle, Washington are generatlv.elcsed for. business.

"Default means interest rate five percent (5%) per annum higher than the
Note Rate.

"Event of Default" has the meaning set forth in Section.? of this Secured Promissory
Note.

"Liabilities" means all monetary and other obligations of Borrower hereunder,
whether or not then due and payable, under the Note and under the Ancillary Documents.

"Loan" has-the meaning specified in the first paragraph'ofthls Secured Promissory
Note.

"Maturity Date'! means the date that is 1 month following the date first above
written.
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"Note Rate" has the meaning specified in Section 2.2.1 of this Secured Promissory
Note.

"Prime Rate" means the base rate on corporate loans posted by at least 75% of
the nation's 30 largest banks as quoted by the Wall Street Journal.

1.2 Miscellaneous Terms. AI! terms of an accounting character used in this Secured
Promissory Note and not specifically defined have the meanings assigned to such terms by U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

2. Term loan

2.1 Advance. Lender must receive a written request for a specific amount and use
signed by Borrower in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (the "Advance Request") within five
business days of the execution of this Note. The Advance will not be made for less than $300,000
unless otherwise agreed to in writing by Lender in its sole discretion. The Advance shall not be
made on or after the Maturity Date, or after the occurrence of an Event of Default which has not
been cured. Borrower agrees that Lender may rely on the Advance Request given by any person
Lender reasonably believes is authorized to make such request without the necessity of
independent investigation.

2.2 Interest. Absent an Event of Default, the amount ofthe Advance shall accrue
interest at the rate equal to thirteen and one-half percent (13.5%) ("Note Rate"). Interest shall be
computed for the actual number of days elapsed on the basis of a year consisting of 360 days.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is intended that the rate of interest hereon shall never exceed the
maximum rate, if any, which may be legally charged on the Loan (the "Maximum Rate"), and if the
provisions for interest contained in this Secured Promissory Note would result in a rate higher than
the Maximum Rate, interest shall be limited to the Maximum Rate and any amounts which may be
paid toward interest in excess of the Maximum Rate shall be applied to the reduction of principal.
Neither Borrower nor any guarantor or endorser of this Secured Promissory Note shall have any
action against Lender for any damages whatsoever arising out of the payment or collection of any
such excess interest,

2.3 Default Interest. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the unpaid
principal amount of the Loan and accrued and unpaid Interestthereon shall bear interest at a
rate equal to the lesser of the (i) Maximum Amount or [ii] Default Rate. Such interest shall
accrue, commencing upon the occurrence of an Event of Default and continue until such Event
of Default is cured or waived.

2.4 Payments, Borrower shall make monthly payments of interest beginning on the first
(1st

) day of the month following the date of the Advance. Borrower may prepay all or any portion of
the Loan, at any time prior to the Maturity Date, without premium or penalty.
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2.5 Late Charges. If Lender has not received the full amount of any payment due
hereunder by the date it is due, Borrower shall promptly pay alate charge to the Lender in the
amount of ten percent (10%) of the overdue amount. Borrower agrees this late charge is to
compensate the Lender for damages the Lender will suffer in servicing the Loan including expenses
directly attributable to handling delinquent payments. Borrower further agrees that the actual
damages suffered by Lender will be extremely difficult and impractical to ascertain and the sum of
five percent (5%) of the overdue payment is fair and reasonable.

2.6 Origination Fee and Expenses. Borrower shall pay to Lender an origination fee in the
amount of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) contemporaneously with Borrower's execution and
delivery to Lender of this Secured Promissory Note, Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties
have agreed that the origination fee will be paid by funds at the time of closing. Borrower's
execution of this Secured Promissory Note shall constitute its agreement, regardless of whether the
Loan closes and funds, to pay upon demand all reasonable expenses in connection with the Loan,
including (without limitation) legal fees for the preparation, negotiation, examination and
enforcement of documents (including, without limitation, this Secured Promissory Note and the
Ancillary Documents, and all other fees and costs incidental to the dosing and making ofthe Loan).
Lender shall not be required to pay any premium, brokerage fee, loan broker fee, commission or
similar compensation in connection with this transaction, and Borrower agrees to defend,
indemnify, and hold Lender harmless from and against all claims asserted by any person on account
of any such fee, commission or compensation, including attorneys' fees paid or incurred by Lender
with respect to any such claim.

3. Conditions Precedent. The execution and performance of this Secured Promissory Note by
Lender, including the Advance, is subject to the following conditions precedent:

3.1 Documents. Execution by Borrower and delivery to Lender of this Secured
Promissory Note and the Ancillary Documents, in each case, in form and substance satisfactory to
Lender.

3.2 Authorization. Delivery to Lender of such consents or resolutions of or for Borrower
as Lender deems necessary or desirable in order to evidence the due authorization of this Secured
Promissory Note and the Ancillary Documents,

3.3 No Default. No Event of Default shall have occurred and remain uncured and no
event which would constitute an Event of Default upon the giving of notice and/or the expiration of
any cure period shall have occurred and remain uncured,

3.4 Representations and Warranties, The representations and warranties in Section 4 of
this Secured Promissory Note shall be true and correct as of the date of this note and of the
Advance.

3.5 Advance Request, The Advance shall have been requested by Borrower pursuant to
the Advance Request and approved by Lender.
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3.6 Guaranties. lender shall have obtained all guaranties of the Loan it has requested
from third parties.

3.7 Financial Condition. There shall have been no material adverse change, as
determined by Lender, in the financial condition or business of Borrower (or any guarantor
hereunder), nor any material decline, as determined by lender, in the market value of any collateral
required hereunder or a substantial or material portion of the assets of Borrower{or any such
guarantor).

4. Representations and Warranties. To induce Lender to enter into this Secured Promissory
Note, Borrower hereby represents, warrants, and covenants from the date of this note and until
final payment in full and performance of all obligations hereunder and except as specifically set
forth in the disclosure schedule attached to this note ("Disclosure Schedulen

) as follows:

4.1 Organization, Good Standing and Qualification. Borrower is a limited liability
company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of
Nevada and has all requisite corporate power and authority to carryon its business. Borrower
is duly qualified to transact business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the
failure so to qualify would have a material adverse effect on its business, properties,
operations, prospects or condition (financial or otherwise).

4.2 Authorization of Agreement, Etc. The execution, delivery and performance by
Borrower of this Secured Promissory Note and the Ancillary Documents have been duly
authorized by all requisite corporate action by Borrower in accordance with applicable law.
This Secured Promissory Note and the Ancillary Documents are valid and binding obligations of
Borrower, enforceable against Borrower in accordance with their terms, except as limited by
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, or other laws of general
application effecting enforcements of creditors' rights or general principles of equity.

4.3 No Conflicts. The execution, performance, issuance, and delivery ofthis Secured
Promissory Note and the Ancillary Documents, and compliance with the provisions hereof and
thereof by Borrower, will not (a) to the knowledge of Borrower, violate any provision of any
law, statute, rule or regulation applicable to Borrower or any ruling, writ, injunction, order,
judgment or decree of any court, arbitrator, administrative agency or other governmental body
applicable to Borrower or any of its properties or assets or (b) conflict with or result in any
material breach of any of the terms, conditions or provlstons of, or constitute (with notice or
lapse oftime or both) a material default (or give rise to any right of termination, cancellation or
acceleration) under, or result in the creation of, any encumbrance upon any of the material
assets of Borrower under, the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws of Borrower (as they may be
amended to date) or any agreement, obligation, lndentureor other or instrument to which
Borrower is a party. As used herein, "encumbrance" shall mean any liens, charges,
encumbrances, equities, claims, options, proxies, pledges, security interests, licenses or other
similar rights of any nature.
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4.4 Compliance with Other Instruments. Borrower is not in violation of any term of
its Certificate of Formation, as amended, including any certificate of designation filed
therewith, and/or the Borrower's Operating Agreement. The Borrower is not, in any material
respect, in violation of any term of any mortgage, indenture, contract, agreement, instrument,
judgment, obligation, decree, order, statute, rule or regulation to which it is subject. To the
best of Borrower's knowledge, no event has occurred which, with the passage of time or the
giving of notice, or both, would constitute a breach or violation, in any material respect, under
any applicable judgments, orders, writs, decrees, federal, state and/or local laws, rules or
regulations which would have a material adverse affect on the condition, financial or otherwise,
or operations of Borrower (as it is currently conducted and as it is proposed to be conducted) or
on any material assets owned, controlled, licensed, possessed, and/or used by Borrower. To
the best of its knowledge, Borrower has avoided every condition, and has not performed any
act, the occurrence of which would result in Borrower's loss of any right granted under any
license, distribution agreement or other agreement.

4.5 Approvals. No permit, authorization, consent or approval of or by, or any
notification of or filing with, any person (governmental or private) is required in connection
with the execution, performance, issuance, sale and/or delivery of this Secured Promissory
Note or any AnciHary Document, and consummation by Borrower of the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby.

4.6 Litigation. There is no action, suit, proceeding or investigation pending or, to the
knowledge of Borrower, currently threatened against Borrower, its properties, assets or
business. Borrower is not a party or subject to the provisions of any order, writ, injunction,
judgment or decree of any court or government agency or instrumentality. There is no action,
suit, proceeding or investigation by Borrower currently pending or which Borrower intends to
initiate.

4.7 No Liens. Except for liens created by this Secured Promissory Note or the
Ancillary Documents and except as set forth in this Section 4.7 of the Disclosure Schedule, none
of Borrower's material assets are subject to any existing lien, pledge, security interest or other
encumbrance of any kind, direct or indirect, contingent or otherwise.

4.8 Full Disclosure. Neither this Secured Promissory Note nor any Ancillary
Document, nor any written report, certificate, instrument or other information furnished to
Lender in connection with the transactions contemplated under and/or in connection with this
Agreement contains any material misstatement, or is misleading in any material respect.

4.9 No Other Security Interests or Other Encumbrances. Except as set forth in this
Section 4.9 of the Disclosure Schedule, there are no existing security interests, pledges, liens or
other encumbrances of any kind, direct or indirect, contingent or otherwise (including without
limitation any licensing or partnering arrangements or agreements), in or relating to any of
Borrower's assets.
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4.10 Tax Returns. ArJ tax returns and reports of Borrower required by law to be filed have
been duly filed and all taxes, assessments, and other governmental charges upon Borrower and
upon Borrower's assets or income, which are due and payable, have been fully paid and shall
continue to be paid.

4.11 Financial Statements and Other Information. AI! financial statements delivered to
lender by Borrower are accurate, complete in all materia! respects, and prepared in accordance
with U.S.generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied, and accurately represent
the financial condition of Borrower and reflect accurately Borrower's assets and results of operation
of Borrower's business as of the dates thereof. No material adverse change has occurred in
Borrower's financial condition since the financial statement for the most recent period provided to
Lender, and Borrower has incurred no additional liabilities since such date except for routine
payables that occur in the normal course of Borrower's business. All other documents and
information delivered to lender by Borrower are accurate in all material respects.

5. Affirmative Covenants. Borrower promises and agreesto:

5.1 Office. Maintain its principal office in the State of Nevada. If Borrower moves its
office location outside of the state of Nevada, or moves material activities outside the U.S.,
Borrower will provide written notice to Lender not less than thirty {30} days prior to such move.

5.2 Additional Documents. Execute promptly, upon Lender's request, all additional
documents and instruments deemed by Lender necessary or desirable to perfect, continue or
realize upon the security interests having been granted to Lender under the Security Agreement.

5.3 Compliance With Law. Comply with all statutes, laws and governmental rules,
regulations, and orders applicable to Borrower's businesses and properties.

5.4 Notice of Material Change. Promptly (but in no event more than five (5) Business
Days after the occurrence of each such event or matter) notify Lender of the vlolatlon by Borrower
of any term, promise, covenant, or agreement of Borrower to orwith Lender, including without
limitation any Event of Default (as that term is defined herein) any material change in the property,
business, or affairs of Borrower, any change in the location of Borrower's place of business, or
change of Borrower's form, state of formation, or name, and any other event or matter that may
have a material adverse effect on the debts, liabilities, or obligations of Borrower to Lender, or on
the collateral covered by the Security Agreement.

5.5 Use of Proceeds. Use the proceeds from the Loan solely to pay for general
corporate purposes and working capital requirements arising out of the ordinary course of business.

5.6 Information. Submit to Lender such financial statements.Informatlon, budgets, and
reports regarding the financial status and business plans of Borrower as Lender may request from
time to time. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Borrower will deliver (a) company-
prepared monthly financial statements to lender, within 30 days of the end of each month-end,(b)
company-prepared quarterly financial statements to Lender, within 30 days of the end of each
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calendar quarter, (c) yearly financial statements to lender, within 90 days of the end of each fiscal
year, all prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied,
(d) copies of Borrower's tax returns when filed, (e) materials prepared for, and provided to,
Borrower's Board of Directors, including without limitation budgets and forecasts, with such
materials being provided to lender in advance or contemporaneously with the Board of Directors,
and (f) other notices, including without limitation, audit and litigation reports. Each financial
statement required hereunder will include income statements, cash flow statements and a balance
sheet. Contemporaneously with each monthly, quarterly and annual financial statement of
Borrower required by this Section 55.6, Borrower shall deliver a certificate of the chief executive
officer or chief financial officer of Borrower certifying that said financial statements are accurate
and that there exists no Event of Default nor any condition, act or event which with the giving of
notice or the passage of time or both would constitute an Event of Default.

5.7 Access/Accounting Records. So long as any principal and/or interest under this
Secured Promissory Note shall remain outstanding, Borrower shall maintain adequate books and
records in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied, and
permit Lender and its agents or representatives to visit and tnspect Borrower's properties, to
examine its books of account and records and to discuss Borrower's affairs, finances and accounts
with its officers, all at such times during normal business hours as reasonably may be requested by
Lender.

5.8 Punctual Payments. Punctually pay all principal, interest, fees or other liabilities due
under this Secured Promissory Note or the Ancillary Documents atthe times and place and in the
manner specified therein.

6. Negative Covenants. Borrower will not, directly or indirectly, unless approved in writing by
Lender in advance:

5.1
liquidate.

Business. Cease or otherwise materially change business operations, dissolve, or

6.2 Organizational Changes. Consolidate or merge with any other entity, change
organizational form or jurisdiction or sell, transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of all or substantially
all of Borrower's assets to any other person or entity (or take or permit to be taken any other action
that would have substantially the same effect as any of the foregoing), make any substantive
change in the nature of Borrower's business as conducted as (If the date hereof or acquireall or
substantially all of the assets of any other entity.

6.3 Misrepresentations. Furnish any document to Lender that contains any untrue
statement of material fact or that omits to state a material fact necessary to make it not misleading
lnlight of the circumstances under which it was furnished.

6.4 Umitation on Debt. incur, create, assume or permit to exist any debt other than the
Loan and trade debt incurred in the ordinary course of business, without the prior written consent
of Lender and the execution of an inter-creditor agreement, in form provided by Lender, between
Lender, Borrower, and the lender of such additional debt.
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6.5 Liens. Grant to any person or entity, or permit to exist, a security interest, lien,
license, or other encumbrance of any kind, direct or indirect, contingent or otherwise, in, to or
upon any assets of Borrower.

6.6 Distributions and Redemptions. Declare or pay any dividends or make any
distributions of cash, property or securities of Borrower with respect to any of its equity
securities or, directly or indirectly, redeem, purchase, or otherwise acquire for any
consideration any of its equity securities.

6.7 Use of Funds. Use any of the proceeds of any credit extended hereunder except
for the purposes stated in Section 5.5 herein.

6.8 Guaranties. Guarantee or become liable in any way as a surety, endorser (other
than as endorser of negotiable instruments for deposit or collection in the ordinary course of
business) or otherwise for, nor pledge or hypothecate any assets of Borrower as security for,
any liabilities or obligations of any person or entity, except any of the foregoing in favor of
Lender.

6.9 Contracts. Enter into, or materially amend or terminate, any contract the
termination of which may have a material adverse effect on the condition, financial or
otherwise, or operations of Borrower, or Borrower's ability to comply with its obligations to
Lender.

6.10 Employment/Severance. Enter into, or materially amend, any employment
contract or agreement to pay severance.

6.11 Sale/Transfer of Assets. Sell, transfer or dispose of any assets of Borrower,
other than in the ordinary course of Borrower's business.

7. Defaultand Remedies,

7.1 Default. Time being ofthe essence, any of the following events shall constitute an
"Event of Default";

7.1.1 if a default occurs in the payment of any principal of,interest on, or other
obligation with respect to, this Secured Promissory Note, whether at the due date thereof or
upon acceleration thereof,

7.1.2 if any representation or warranty of Borrower made herein shall have
been false or misleading in any material respect, or shall have contained any material omission,
as of the date hereof;
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7.1.3 if a default occurs in the due observance or performance of any covenant
or agreement on the part of Borrower (other than payment) to be observed or performed
pursuant to the terms of this Secured Promissory Note and such default remains uncured for
three (3) Business Days after written notice thereof from Holder;

7.1.4 jf Borrower or any guarantor of the obligations hereunder shall (i)
discontinue its business, (ll) apply for or consent to the appointment of a receiver, trustee,
custodian or liquidator of Borrower or any of Its property, (ii.i) make a general assignmentfor
the benefit of creditors, or (v) file a voluntary petition in bankruptcy, or a petition or an answer
seeking reorganization or an arrangement with creditors, Of take advantage of any bankruptcy,
reorganization, insolvency, readjustment of debt, dlssclutlon.or liquidation laws or statutes, or
file an answer admitting the material allegations of a petition filed against it in any proceeding
under any such law;

7.1.5 if there shall be filed against Borrower or any guarantor of the obligations
hereunder an involuntary petition seeking reorganization of Borrower or the appointment of a
receiver, trustee, custodian or liquidator of Borrower or a substantial part of its assets, or an
involuntary petition under any bankruptcy, reorganization or insolvency law of any jurisdiction,
whether now or hereafter in effect (any of the foregoing petitions being hereinafter referred to
as an "Involuntary Petitionlf

) and such Involuntary Petition shall not have been dismissed within
ninety (90) days after it was filed;

7.1.6 if final judgment(s) for the payment of money in excess of an aggregate
of $100,000 (excluding any portion thereof that an insurance company of nationally recognized
standing and creditworthiness has agreed to pay) shall be rendered against Borrower or any
guarantor of the obligations hereunder and the same shall remain undischarged for a period of
thirty (30) days;

7.1.7 if there occurs any event that may have a material adverse effect on the
condition, financial or otherwise, or operations of Borrower (as they are currently conducted
and as they are proposed to be conducted) or any guarantor of the obligations hereunder, or
on any material assets developed, owned, controlled, licensed, possessed, or used by Borrower
or any such guarantor.

7.1.8 the death or incapacity of Borrower or any guarantor ofthe obligations
hereunder, if an individual. The dissolution or liquidation of Borrower or any such guarantor if
a corporation, partnership, joint venture or other type of entity; or Borrower or any guarantor
of the obligations hereunder, or any of Borrower or guarantor's directors, shareholders or
members, shall take action seeking to effect the dissolution or liquidation of such Borrower or
guarantor.

7.2 Acceleration. Upon each and every such Event of Default and at any time
thereafter during the continuance of such Event of Default: Ol any and all indebtedness of
Borrower to Lender under this Secured Promissory Note .or otherwise shall at Lender's option
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and without notice become immediately due and payable, both as to principal and interest
(including any deferred interest and any accrued and unpaid interest and any Default Interest)
without presentment, demand, protest, notice of dishonor, notice of acceleration or notice of
intent to accelerate, all of which are hereby expressly waived by Borrower; and (ii) Lender may
exercise all the rights of a creditor under applicable state and/or federal law, provided,
however, that upon the occurrence of any Event of Defaultdescribed in Sections 7.1.4 or 7.1.5,
any and all indebtedness of Borrower to Lender under this Secured Promissory Note shall
automatically and immediately become due and payable, both as to principal and interest
(including any deferred interest and any accrued and unpaid interest and any Default Interest),
without notice or demand of any kind.

7.3 Remedies on Default. Etc. In case anyone or more Events of Default shall occur
and be continuing, and acceleration of this Secured Promissory Note or any other indebtedness
of Borrower to lender shall have occurred, Lender may, inter alia, proceed to protect and
enforce its rights by an action at law, suit in equity and/or other appropriate proceeding,
whether for the specific performance of any agreement contained in this Secured Promissory
Note, or for an injunction against a violation of any of the terms hereof or thereof or in
furtherance of the exercise of any power granted hereby or thereby or by law. No right
conferred upon Lender by thls Secured Promissory Note shall be exclusive of any other right
referred to herein or therein or now or hereafter available at law, in equity, by statute or
otherwise, and may be exercised by Lender at any time by Lender and from time to time after
the occurrence of an Event of Default.

8 Defenses.

8.1 No Offsets. The obligations of Borrower under this Secured Promissory Note
shatl not be subject to reduction, limitation, impairment, termination, defense, set-off,
counterclaim or recoupment for any reason.

8.2 Usury Limitations. It is the intention ofthe parties hereto to comply with at!
applicable usury laws; accordingly, it is agreed that notwithstanding any provisions to the
contrary in this Secured Promissory Note or any other agreements or instruments between
them, in no event shall such agreements or instruments require the payment or permit the
collection of interest (which term, for purposes hereof, shall include any amount which, under
applicable law, is deemed to be interest, whether or not such amount is characterized by the
parties as interest) in excess of the maximum amount permitted by such laws. If any excess of
interest is unintentionally contracted for, charged or received under the Secured Promissory
Note or under the terms of any other agreement or instrument between the parties, the
effective rate of interest shall be automaticaJly reduced to the maximum lawful rate of interest
allowed under the applicable usury laws as now or hereafter construed by the courts having
jurisdiction thereof.

9. Attorneys' and Collection Fees. Should the indebtedness evidenced by this Secured
Promissory Note or any part hereof be collected at law or in equity or in bankruptcy,
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receivership or other court proceedings, Borrower agrees to pay, in addition to principal and
interest due and payable hereon, all costs ofcollection, including, without limitation,
reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses, incurred by Lender in collecting or enforcing this
Secured Promissory Note.

10. Waivers; Confession of Judgment; Consent to Jurisdiction.

10.1 Waivers by Borrower. Borrower hereby waives presentment, demand for
payment, notice of dishonor, notice of protest and all other notices or demands in connection
with the delivery, acceptance, performance or default of this Secured Promissory Note.

10.2 Actions of Lender not a Waiver. No delay, failure or discontinuance by Lender in
exercising any power or right hereunder shall operate as a waiver of any power or right, nor
shalf any single or partial exercise of any power or right preclude other or further exercise
thereof, or the exercise of any other power or right hereunder or otherwise; and no waiver,
permit, consent, approval or modification of any kind of the terms hereof shall be valid unless
set forth in writing by Lender and then only to the extent set forth therein.

10.3 Consent to Jurisdiction. Borrower hereby irrevocably submits to the Jurisdiction
of any state or federal court sitting in the State of Washington over any suit, action, or
proceeding arising out of or relating to this Secured Promissory Note or any other agreements
or instruments with respect to Lender. Borrower hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest
extent permitted by law, any objection that Lender may now or hereafter have to the laying of
venue of any such suit, action, or proceeding brought in any such court and any claim that any
such suit, action, or proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient
forum. Final judgment in any such suit, action, or proceeding brought in any such court shall be
conclusive and binding upon Borrower and may be enforced in any court in which Borrower is
subject to jurisdiction by a suit upon such judgment, provided that service of process is effected
upon Borrower as provided in this Secured Promissory Note or as otherwise permitted by
applicable law.

10.4 Waiver of Jurv Trial. BORROWERWAIVES ITS RIGHTTO A JURYTRIAL OF ANY
CLAIM OR CAUSEOF ACTION ARISING OUT OF THIS SECUREDPROMISSORYNOTE OR ANY
DEALINGSBETWEEN BORROWERAND LENDERRELATINGTO THE SUBJECTMATTER OF THIS
SECUREDPROMISSORYNOTE. THE SCOPEOF THIS WAIVERIS INTENDED TO BEALL-
ENCOMPASSING OF ANY AND ALL DISPUTESTHAT MAY BE FILEDIN ANY COURT AND THAT
RElATE TO THE SUBJECTMATTER OF THIS NOTE, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION,
CONTRACTCLAIMS, TORT CLAIMS, AND ALL OTHERCOMMON lAW AND STATUTORYCLAIMS.
THIS WAIVER IS IRREVOCABLE,MEANING THAT IT MAY NOT BE MODIFIED EITHERORALLY OR IN
WRITING, AND THIS WAIVER SHALLAPPLYTO ANY SUBSEQUENTAMENDMENTS, SUPPLEMENTS
OR MODIFICATIONS TO THIS AGREEMENT OR TO ANY OTHERDOCUMENT OR AGREEMENT
RELATINGTO THE LOAN.
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10.5 Service of Process. Borrower hereby consents to process being served in any
suit, action, or proceeding instituted in connection with this Secured Promissory Note by
delivery of a copy thereof by certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, to
Borrower, and/or by delivery of a copy thereof to a registered agent of Borrower. Refusal to
accept delivery, and/or avoidance of delivery, shall be deemed to constitute delivery. Borrower
irrevocably agrees that service in accordance with this Section 10.5 shall be deemed in every
respect effective service of process upon Borrower in any such suit, action or proceeding, and
shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be taken and held to be valid personal service upon
Borrower. Nothing in this Section 10.5 shall affect the right of Lender to serve process in any
manner otherwise permitted by law or limit the right of Lender otherwise to bring proceedings
against Borrower in the courts of any jurisdiction or jurisdictions.

11. SecurityInterest. To secure Borrower's obligations under this Secured Promissory Note:

11.1 Borrower has granted and pledged to Lender a first priority senior security interest
in Borrower's right, title and Interest in, to and under all of Borrower's tangible and Intangible
property pursuant to a security agreement ("KCI Security Agreement") of even date herewith; and

11.2 Guarantor Kenneth M. Antos ("Antos") has granted and pledged to Lender a first
priority senior security interest in Antos's right, title and interest in, to and under air accounts,
payment intangibles, general intangibles and rights to payment arising from that certain
Strategic Alliance Agreement, as amended, modified or supplemented from time to time
("Alliance Agreement") by and among Twin Towers Trading Site Management, LLC,David L
Beacklean and Antos, dated as of August -' 2003, pursuant to a security agreement ("Antos
Security Agreement") of even date herewith.

11.3 The KCI Security Agreement and Antos Security Agreement shall be referred to
collectively herein as the "Security Agreement."

12. Indemnification.

12.1 Indemnification Agreement.

12.1.1 In addition to all rights and remedies available to Lender at law or in
equity, Borrower shall indemnify Lender and each subsequentholder of this Secured
Promissory Note, and their respective affiliates, equity holders, officers, directors, employees,
agents, representatives, successors and assigns (collectively, the "Indemnified Persons") and
save and hold each of them harmless against and pay on behalf of or reimburse such party as
and when incurred for any loss, liability, demand, claim, action, cause of action, cost, damage,
deficiency, tax, penalty, fine or expense (other than any demand, claim, action or cause of
action instituted by Borrower); including interest, penalties, reasonable attorneys' fees and
expenses, and all amounts paid in investigation, defense or settlement of any of the foregoing
(collectively, "Losses) which any such party may suffer, sustain or become subject to, as a result
of, in connection with, relating or incidental to or by virtue of:

Loan No. CBC06222012 Page 12 of 18

5148SH 000234



(i) any material misrepresentation in, or material omission from, or
breach of any ofthe representations, warranties, statements, schedules and/or exhibits
hereto, certificates or other instruments or documents furnished to Lender by Borrower
in connection with this Secured Promissory Note; or

(il) any material nonfulfillment or material breach of any covenant or
agreement on the part of Borrower under this Secured Promissory Note.

12.1.2 Notwithstanding the foregoing, Borrower shall not be liable for any
portion of losses resulting from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Lender or a
subsequent holder of this Secured Promissory Note.

12.1.3 Within twenty (20) days after receipt of notice of commencement of any
action or the assertion of any claim by a third party, Lender shall give Borrower written notice
thereof together with a copy of such claim, process or other legal pleading of such claim.
Borrower shall have the right to assist in the defense thereof by representation of its own
choosing.

12.2 Survival. All indemnification rights hereunder shall survive the execution and
delivery of this Secured Promissory Note and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby (i) for a period of three years with respect to representations and
warranties made by Borrower, and (ii) until fully performed with respect to covenants and
agreements made by Maker, regardless of any investigation, inquiry or examination made for
or on behalf of, or any knowledge of lender and/or any cftheIndemnified Persons or the
acceptance by Lender of any certificate or opinion.

12.3 Payment. Any indemnification of lender or any other Indemnified Person by
Borrower pursuant to this Section 12 shall be effected by wire transfer of immediately available
funds from Borrower to an account designated by Lender or such other Indemnified Person
within fifteen (15) days after the determination thereof.

13. Miscellaneous.

13.1 Notices. All notices, demands and requests of any kind to be delivered to any party in
connection with this Secured Promissory Note shall be in writing and shall be deemed to be
effective upon delivery if (I) personally delivered, (ii) sent by confirmed facsimile with a copy
sent by nationally recognized overnight courier, (iii) sent by nationally recognized overnight
courier, or (iv) sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested and postage
prepaid, addressed as follows:
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if to Borrower: KC! Investments, LLC
4033 S. Dean Martin Drive
Las Vegas, NV
Fax: 0
Attn: Ken Antos

if to Lender: CBCPartners J, lLC
305 108th Ave NE} Suite 101
Bellevue, WA 98004
Fax: (425) 688-7003
Attention: Alan Hallberg

or to such other address as the party to whom notice is to be given may have furnished to the
other parties hereto in writing in accordance with the provisions of this Section.

13.2 Parties in Interest. This Secured Promissory Note shall bind and inure to the
benefit of Lender, Borrower and their respective successors and permitted assigns. Borrower
shall not transfer or assign this Secured Promissory Note without the prior written consent of
Lender. lender may transfer and assign this.Secured Promissory Note, including participation in
all or any part of the Loan without the prior consent of Borrower.

13.3 Governing law. This Secured Promissory Note has been executed and delivered to
Lender in the State of Washington. Borrower agrees that the law ofthe State of Washington
(exclusive of principles of conflicts of law) shall be applicable for the purpose of construing this
Secured Promissory Note and the Security Agreement, determining the validity hereof and
enforcing the same. The parties hereto consent to the jurisdiction and venue of the state and
federal courts sitting in King County, Washington in any action or judicial proceeding brought to
enforce, or construe or interpret this Secured Promissory Note or the Security Agreement.

13.4 Entire Agreement. This Secured Promissory Note contains the entire
understanding of the parties with respect to-the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior
agreements and understandings among the parties with respect thereto

13.5 Captions. Any captions applied to the sections of this Secured Promissory Note are
for convenience only and shall not control or affect the meaning or construction of any of the
provisions of this Secured Promissory Note.

13.6 Amendments. No provision ofthis Secured Promissory Note may be amended or
waived without the express written consent of both Borrower and lender, provided, however,
that lender may waive any provision hereof that inures to the benefit of Lender without the
prior written consent of Borrower.

13.7 Nature of Obligation. This Secured Promissory Note is being made for business
and investment purposes, and not for household or other purposes
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13.8 Survival. All covenants, representations and warranties made by Borrower in this
Secured Promissory Note shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the making
of the Loan.

13.9 Invalidity. If any term, condition or provision of this Secured Promissory Note or the
Security Agreement shall be held invalid for any reason, such offending term, condition or provision
shall be stricken therefrom, and the remainder shall not be affected.

13.10 Derivative Rights. Any obligation of Lender to make disbursements under this
Secured Promissory Note is imposed solely and exclusively for the benefit of Borrower and no other
person, firm or entity shall, under any circumstances, be deemed to be a beneficiary of such
condition, nor shall it have any derivative claim or action against Lender.

13.11 Time. Time is of the essence in each and every provision of thls Secured Promissory
Note or any Ancillary Document.

13.12 Counterparts; Facsimiles. This Secured Promissory Note may be executed in one or
more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which together shall
constitute one and the same instrument. For purposes of this Agreement, facsimile signatures shall
be deemed to be original signatures. In addition, if any of the parties sign facsimile copies of this
Agreement such copies shall be deemed originals.

13.13 Statutory Notice. ORALAGREEMENTSOR ORAL COMMITMENTS TO LOAN MONEY,
EXTENDCREDITOR FORBEARFROM ENFORCINGREPAYMENTOFA DEBTARE NOT ENFORCEABLE
UNDERWASHINGTON LAW.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Secured Promlssor;y Note ~as beenexecuted by the partles as Qf the
first wrItten above. ...

,,
I

BORROWE£{; KCl!NVESTMeNTS, LLC,I11Nevada limited Ii()bility company

/l41.·~z.>: I
By: Ken Antos ,I

11;$: Manl1lgin~ Meml:Hll'
I

Address: 4033 S.Dean Martin D~ive
La. vegas, NV $9lO3 i

M~ma.ger Representative

Facsimile:

SOS loath Ave NE
Suite 101
Bellevue, WA 98004
(425) 688·100~

Address:
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eXHIBIT A
FORM OF REQUEST FOR ADVANCE

Date: _

Borrower: _

Lender: CBC Partners I, LLC

Secured Promissory Note Date: '--_

Amount of this advance request: $ "'-- _

Effective Date: _ 1----1_

Borrower represents and warrants to Lender as follows:

Borrower is not in default under the terms of the Loan Agreement of the Ancillary Documents, each of
the representations and warranties contained in the Loan Agreement is true and correct in all material
respects as of the date hereof, and Borrower is in compliance in all material respects with all affirmative
and negative covenants contained in the Loan Agreement.

DATED this _ day of r 201_.

By: _
Its: _
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EXHIBIT B
DISCLOSURE SCHEDULE
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EXHIBIT “C”  



FIRST MODIFICATION TO SECURED PROMISSORY NOTE

THIS FIRST MODIFICATION TO SECURED PROMISSORY NOTE (this "Modification"),
effective as of July 19, 2012, is entered into by and between KCI Investments, LLC, a Nevada limited
liability company ("Borrower"), and CBC PARTNERS I, LLC, a Washington limited liability company, or
its assigns ("Lender").

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Borrower is currently indebted to Lender pursuant to the terms and conditions of that
certain Secured Promissory Note between Borrower and Lender dated as of June 22, 2012, as amended
from time to time ("Note").

WHEREAS, Lender and Borrower have agreed to certain changes in the terms and conditions set
forth in the Note and have agreed to amend the Note to reflect said changes.

NOW, THEREFORE, for valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby
acknowledged, the parties hereto agree that the Note shall be amended as follows:

1. Amended definition of "Maturity Date". The definition of "Maturity Date" as set forth in
Section 1.1 of the Note, is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

"Maturity Date" means the date that is twelve (12) months following the date first above written.

2. Increased Principal Amount. The maximum principal amount of the Note is hereby
amended to be Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000.00).

3.
following:

Amended Section 2.1. Section 2.1 of the Note is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the

2.1 Advance. On June 25, 2012, $300,000 of the principal balance of this
Secured Promissory Note was advanced to Borrower. On or before July 20, 2012,
Borrower may request an additional advance in an amount not to exceed $1,700,000. Such
request shall be in writing, specify Borrower's intended use for the advance and be signed
by Borrower in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (the "Advance Request"). The
Advance shall not be made on or after the Maturity Date, or after the occurrence of an Event
of Default which has not been cured. Borrower agrees that Lender may rely on the Advance
Request given by any person Lender reasonably believes is authorized to make such request
without the necessity of independent investigation.

4. No Other Changes. Except as explicitly amended by this Modification, all of the terms and
conditions of the Note shall remain in full force and effect and shall apply to any Advance or Letter of
Credit thereunder.

5.
follows:

Representations and Warranties. Borrower hereby represents and warrants to Lender as

5441755.1 5148SH 000259



(a) Borrower has all requisite power and authority to execute this Modification and any
other agreements or instruments required hereunder and to perform all of its obligations hereunder, and this
Modification and all such other agreements and instruments has been duly executed and delivered by
Borrower and constitute the legal, valid and binding obligation of Borrower, enforceable in accordance
with its terms.

(b) The execution, delivery and performance by Borrower of this Modification and any
other agreements or instruments required hereunder have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate
action and do not (i) require any authorization, consent or approval by any governmental department,
commission, board, bureau, agency or instrumentality, domestic or foreign, (ii) violate any provision of any
law, rule or regulation or of any order, writ, injunction or decree presently in effect, having applicability to
Borrower, or the limited liability agreement of Borrower, or (iii) result in a breach of or constitute a default
under any indenture or loan or credit agreement or any other agreement, lease or instrument to which
Borrower is a party or by which it or its properties may be bound or affected.

(c) All of the representations and warranties contained in Section 4 of the Note are
correct on and as of the date hereof as though made on and as of such date, except to the extent that such
representations and warranties relate solely to an earlier date.

(d) The execution and delivery of Warrant Agreement ill form and substance
satisfactory to Lender, in its sole discretion.

6. Origination Fee and Expenses. Borrower shall pay to Lender a fully earned and
nonrefundable origination fee in the amount of sixty thousand dollars ($60,000.00) (the "Origination Fee")
contemporaneously with Borrower's execution and delivery to Lender of this Modification.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties have agreed that the origination fee will be paid by funds at the
time of closing. Borrower's execution of this Modification shall constitute its agreement, regardless of
whether the Loan closes and funds, to pay upon demand all reasonable expenses in connection with the
Loan, including (without limitation) legal fees for the preparation, negotiation, examination and
enforcement of documents (including, without limitation, this Modification and any Ancillary Documents,
and all other fees and costs incidental to the closing and making of the Loan). Lender shall not be required
to pay any premium, brokerage fee, loan broker fee, commission or similar compensation in connection
with this transaction, and Borrower agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold Lender harmless from and
against all claims asserted by any person on account of any such fee, commission or compensation,
including attorneys' fees paid or incurred by Lender with respect to any such claim.

7. Conditions Precedent. The execution and performance of this Modification by Lender,
including the increased principal amount, is subject to the following conditions precedent:

(a) Execution by Borrower and delivery to Lender of this Modification and the Warrant
Agreement, in each case, in form and substance satisfactory to Lender.

(b) Execution by each of the Guarantors of the Agreement and Acknowledgement of
Guarantors attached hereto.

(c) Payment in full and in good funds of the Origination Fee.
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(d) The representations and warranties in Section 5 of this Modification shall be true and
correct as of the date of this Modification and any additional Advance.

(e) There shall have been no material adverse change, as determined by Lender, in the
financial condition or business of Borrower (or any guarantor hereunder), nor any material decline, as
determined by Lender, in the market value of any collateral required hereunder or a substantial or material
portion ofthe assets of Borrower(or any such guarantor).

8. References. All references in the Note to "this Secured Promissory Note" shall be deemed
to refer to the Note as amended hereby; and any and all references in the Loan Documents to the Note shall
be deemed to refer to the Note as amended hereby.

9. No Waiver. The execution of this Modification and the acceptance of all other agreements
and instruments related hereto shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any Default or Event of Default under
the Note or a waiver of any breach, default or event of default under any Loan Document.

10. Miscellaneous. This Modification and each of the Agreement and Acknowledgement of
Guarantors may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered
shall be deemed an original and all of which counterparts, taken together, shall constitute one and the same
instrument.

11. Statutory Notice. ORAL AGREEMENTS OR ORAL COMMITMENTS TO LOAN
MONEY, EXTEND CREDIT OR FORBEAR FROM ENFORCING REPAYMENT OF A DEBT
ARE NOT ENFORCEABLE UNDER WASHINGTON LAW.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Modification to be duly executed as
of the date first above written.

BORROWER: KCI INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company

By: Ken Antos
Its: Managing Member

Address: 4033 S. Dean Martin Drive
Las Vegas, NV 89103

LENDER: CBC PARTNERS I, LLC,
a Washingto imited liability company
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Address:

Facsimile:

Its: Authorized Manager Representative

305 1os" Ave NE
Suite 101
Bellevue, WA 98004
(425) 688-7003
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, SE(.'OND MODIFIC!\TION TO SECIJRED PROMIBSORY NOTE
, '

THIS SECOND MODiFICATION TO SECUREDPR()MISSORYNOTE (this ~'tvt!)difkation·~).
, , .

';effecti ve as of October 22~,2012. is entered into by and between KCl Investments.Ll.C, ,~',Nevada limited
liability company ("Borrower")., and cae PARTNERS 1, LLC, ~Wilshington limited liability C-onlfc"k'UlY, or
its assigns f'L,enuer';), "

RECITALS
. .' . .' ."

WHEREAS, Borrower is currently indebted toLenderpursuant to the terms and conditions of that
certain SecuredPromissory Note between Borrower and Lender dated as of June 22,20Q, as modified
pursuant to that firs.t Modiflcation to Secured Promissory Note dated as of July 19, 2012, and as furthe«
amended from time to time (as !l1od:ified,ilie "Note"). '

. . . . . . .

WHEREAS~Lender and Borrower haveagreed to certain changes in the terms and conditions set
forth in the Note and have agreed. to amend the Note to reflect said changes.

NnW, TIlERl~FORE; forvaluable consideration, the receipt and .sufficiency of which a-re'hereby
, acknowledged, the parties hereto agree that tlse Note shallbe amended as, follows:

L IncreaserlPrincipalAmount. 'The rnaximnm principal amountof the Note is hereby
amended to be Three Millior; Dollars ($3,000,000.00),

2., Amended Se<:tion 2.1" Section Ll ofthe Note is deletedin its entirety and replaced withthe
following;

, ,

2J Advance" 'Qn JlUW 25,2012, $JOO;OOOof the principai balance, of this '
Secured Promissory Note was advanced to Borrower. On July 19" 2012, an additional

, $l;7QO,OOOof the principal balance of this Secured Promissory Note was advanced to'
Borrower. Additional advances inanamoent ,not to exceed $f.OOO,QOO shall be-made as
follows:

(a) On Of before O(;to~r24,2{}12,Borrowermay request an additional advance. '
in an amount not to exceed $9'00,000; and '

". .

(b) ' AtBorrower's.request; Lender may, '211 'its-sole discretionIssue an additlonai
advance in an amount not to exceed $100,000, subject to av.ailability of ftmds.

Requests for additional advancesshall be in, writing, specify Borrower's jrtteflded use for
, each requested.advance and be: signed by Borrower in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A

(the "Advance, Request.'~)_ Advances shall not be made on or after the Maturity Date, or
after the occurrence ofa defaultor Even; of Default whk,h has not beencured or waived by
tender, any such waiver to be granted atLender's sole discretion. Borrower agrees that
Lender may rely on an)' Advance Requestgiven by any person Lender reasonably believes
is authorized to make such request without the necessity of independent investigation,
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary containedherein, the aggregate principal .amount '
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.of all advances made hereunder shallnotexceed Three Million Dollars ($J.£lOQ,OOQ:OO)at
anytime.

3. No Othet Changes. Except ~s -expHcitfy~unendedby this Mod ification, all of the termsand
'conditions of the Note' shaH remain in full force and effect and shall apply to any Advance or Letter of
Credit thereunder .

.Represen:taticms and Warranties. Borrower hereby represents and 'NarmntstoLender as4
followst

. (c) ,AU of the representations and warranties contained in Section, 4 of the Note .are
, correct.on and as of the date hereof as though made on and as of such .;1ate,exc.t.'Pt to the extent that such

representations and warranties relate solely to an e.vikr date.

5.' Origination, Fee aJld Expeilses. Borrower shall pay to' Lender a fully-earned and
nonrefundable ;:)riginatioH and arnendment feein the amount of thirty thousand doHars($30,OOO.OQ) (the
"Origination Fee")~(mtempor.'ilneously ,-vith Borrower's execution and delivery to Lender of this
i\·fodification. Notwith.standing the foregoing, the Partieshave agreed that the Origination Fee will be paid
by funds at the time of dosing, Borrower's exe-cution of this Modification shal] constiture it.'): agreement,
.regardlessof whether the: conditions precedent set forth in Section 6 below are satisfied, topay upon
demand an reasonable expenses in connection with this Ml.:xIific~tion and the Loan, including (without
limitation) legal fees. for the preparation, negotiation. examination and enforcement of documents
(including, without limitation, this Modification and any Ancillary Documentsexecuted Q[ delivered in
connection herewith, and an other fees and costs incidental to theclosing of this Modification and the ,
makingof the Loan), Lender shall not 'be- required to paYilny premium, brokerage fee, ioan broker fee,
commission or similar compensasion Inconnection whh this transaction, and Borrower agrees todefend,
indemnify, and hold Lenderharmless from andagainst an cl~jmsasserte-d ~y any person on account of any
such fee, comm ission or compensation. inclwlingattomeys' fees paid Of incurred by Lender with respect to
any such claim,

S5GSQ70;4
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. ". . .. .

.6_ Conditions Precedent. Theexecetionend performance of this 1v1Odificati0I1 by Lende{~"
including the increased principal amouuaissubjeet to the following conditions precedent: .

(a) Execufion by Borroweranddelivery to tender of this Modification, inform and
substance satisfactory to Lender,

(b) .Execntioeby Borrower and delivery to Lender 'ofa Wammt Agreement,' tOY
approximatd}! 1<5%of the. ownership of the Borrower, in form and substance satisfsctoryto Lender,

. (c)Ex:el;ut~on byeach of the Guarantorsof the Agreement and. A6hlowledgem~nt of
Guarantors attached hereto, '. .

(d) Payment in full and in good funds of the Odgi:nationFee ..

(e) The representations.and warranties in Section 5 ot'this Modificationsruin be true and .
correct as ofthe date of this Modification and any attdiiioBal Advance.

. (t). There shal] have been no material adyeF~chqnge, asdetermined by Lender, in the
financial condition orbusiness of Borrower (or any guarantorhereunder], nor any material decline, as

. determined by Lender, in the marker value of any collateralrequired hereunder or a snbstantial or material .
portion of t~ assets of Borrowen Of any such guaraator).

7. .. References.' AH references in the Note to "this SecaredPromissery Note" snail be deemed
to Teter to the Note as amended hereby: and any and all references In the Loan Documentsto the Note shall .
be deemed to refer to the Note as amendedhereby,

8. . . No Waiver.· The-execution of this Moditkau01J and th~. acceptance of all other agreements
and instruments relatedhereto shall not he deemed to be a waiver of any Default or Event of'Default under
the Note or a waiver of any breach, default or event of'defaul! under any Loan Document.

9, .. ' Miscellaneous, This Modj'fi<,:ation andeachof the .Agreemenr and Acknowledgement of .
Guarantors may be exeeuted in any number of couaterparts, eachof which when so executed and delivered

. shall be deeme-d (Ul. originaland all of which counterparts.jaken together, shall constitute oneand the same
instrument,

. .. .... . . . .... . . '. .

n. Statutory Notice. ORAL AGREEMENts OR ORAL COMMITMENTS TO LQAN
lVfONEY, EXTEND CREDIT OR FORBEAR FROMENl<~ORCThlG REPAYMEN-r OF A DEBT
ARE NOT ENFORCEABLE UNDER WASHINGTON LAW.

. .. . . . . '. . ". . . . . . . . . '. - . .' . .... .' . . '.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, theparties hereto have caused rhisModificationte be dulyexecuted as
of the date first above written.

BORROWER;

5148SH 000280



LENDER:.

550S07l}.4

.Bv: Ken Antos." .
Its: Managing !y'lt:l;nber

Address: 4033 S. De-an MartinDrive
1.$ Vegas, NV 89103

. . John Otter ..ps: Authorized Manager Representative '.'

Address:' . 305WS!h Ave NE . . '" .' ..
. Suite 101

Bellevue, WA 98004
. Facsimile; (425) 688-7QO].

' ..
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Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:02 AM Page 1 of 23 *4576334*5148SH 000359



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:02 AM Page 2 of 23 *4576334*5148SH 000360



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:02 AM Page 3 of 23 *4576334*5148SH 000361



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:02 AM Page 4 of 23 *4576334*5148SH 000362



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:02 AM Page 5 of 23 *4576334*5148SH 000363



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:02 AM Page 6 of 23 *4576334*5148SH 000364



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:02 AM Page 7 of 23 *4576334*5148SH 000365



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:02 AM Page 8 of 23 *4576334*5148SH 000366



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:02 AM Page 9 of 23 *4576334*5148SH 000367



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:02 AM Page 10 of 23 *4576334*5148SH 000368



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:02 AM Page 11 of 23 *4576334*5148SH 000369



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:02 AM Page 12 of 23 *4576334*5148SH 000370



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:02 AM Page 13 of 23 *4576334*5148SH 000371



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:02 AM Page 14 of 23 *4576334*5148SH 000372



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:02 AM Page 15 of 23 *4576334*5148SH 000373



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:02 AM Page 16 of 23 *4576334*5148SH 000374



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:02 AM Page 17 of 23 *4576334*5148SH 000375



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:02 AM Page 18 of 23 *4576334*5148SH 000376



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:02 AM Page 19 of 23 *4576334*5148SH 000377



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:02 AM Page 20 of 23 *4576334*5148SH 000378



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:02 AM Page 21 of 23 *4576334*5148SH 000379



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:02 AM Page 22 of 23 *4576334*5148SH 000380



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:02 AM Page 23 of 23 *4576334*5148SH 000381
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Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:10 AM Page 1 of 6 *4576334*5148SH 000518



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:10 AM Page 2 of 6 *4576334*5148SH 000519



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:10 AM Page 3 of 6 *4576334*5148SH 000520



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:10 AM Page 4 of 6 *4576334*5148SH 000521



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:10 AM Page 5 of 6 *4576334*5148SH 000522



Print Date: 3/27/2020 11:10 AM Page 6 of 6 *4576334*5148SH 000523



EXHIBIT “F”  



Date : 7/21/2017 2:31:28 PM
From : "Gavin Ernstone" gavinernstone@gmail.com
To : "'Alan Hallberg'" alan@cbcpartnersllc.com, "'Ken Antos'" kantos@cox.net
Subject : FW: 5148 Spanish Heights Drive proposal for consideration

 
 
SHAC (Buyer) obligations:

Service the existing 3rd  lender debt (I would like to see the existing 3rd  position Note) starting 90 days after SHAC possession of the
premises,
Effect repairs to the premises to bring it back to top quality standard and working repair (we estimate to be in excess of $100,000.00 in
repairs/improvements completed over the first 90 days).
Maintain and provide for all costs related to the ongoing maintenance of the premises
Pay all utilities
Pay all insurance
Pay all HOA dues
Pay all property taxes (on a “go forward” basis)
Pay all Landscaping
Pay all Pool maintenance
Pay all ongoing repairs to the premises
Provide that portion of the judgment necessary as additional collateral to the 3rd  lender to fully securitize 3rd  lender’s debt position
where security from the property is deficient to do so
At the earlier of 2 years or upon collection of the judgment proceeds, pay off in full the 3rd  position loan against the property
At the earlier of 2 years or upon collection of the judgment proceeds, either assume service of or retire either or both of the 1s t and 2nd

position lenders
At the earlier of 2 years or upon collection of the judgment proceeds, pay off past due and accrued property tax assessments, if not
already addressed by 1s t or 2nd  lender

 
3rd Lender obligations:

Re-age any delinquency under its 3rd  position Note to bring its Note current
Amend the 3rd  position Note to be “interest only” payments at 3.5% APR for 24 months
Amend the 3rd  position Note to reset the maturity of the 3rd  position Note to 24 months
Amend the 3rd  position Note to provide for a balloon payment due at maturity in 24 months
Continue to service the 1s t and 2nd position Notes for a period of not more than 24 months, adding any protective advances past and
future, to its 3rd  position Note face balance

 
Owner (Seller) obligations:

Convey all rights of possession of the premises
Add SHAC as Joint Tenant w/ rights of survivorship on the Deed
Provide quitclaim deed for the benefit of SHAC of Seller’s interest in property to SHAC attorney to hold in escrow pending recordation
upon satisfaction of 1s t, 2nd  and 3rd  Deeds of Trust
Agree to amend the 3rd  position Note to be “interest only” payments at 3.5% APR
Agree to amend the 3rd  position Note to set the maturity to 24 months
Agree to amend the 3rd  position Note to provide for a balloon payment due at maturity in 24 months

 
When you have a moment, lets discuss this proposal, and your thoughts as to each of the Seller’s and 3rd  position lender’s receptiveness to
this offer.
 
My thought is that this proposal gets the 3rd  lender:

a full recovery of its Note balance plus all protective advances past and future,
interim cash flow and
provides interim additional full collateral where, given the current value of the property, the 3rd  position lender is currently unsecured.

 
As to the Seller, he:

gets out from under a potential deficiency judgment from the 3rd  position lender and
unburdens himself from any additional assets that may have been pledged.

                                                                   
I believe that the 1s t and 2nd  position lenders are not involved in the transaction and remain unaffected.
 
I look forward to speaking again tomorrow, if you are available.
 
All the Best,
 
Jay Bloom 
Director
1st One Hundred
m 702.423.0500 | f 702.974.0284
Jbloom@f100llc.com | www.f100llc.com 
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Corporate Headquarters
2485 Vi l lage View Drive, Suite 190
Henderson, NV 89074
 
 
Please consider the environment  

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This message is for the named person's use only. It may contain sensitive and private proprietary or legally privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified
that any review, dissemination, distribution or duplication of this communication is strictly prohibited and may be unlawful. If you are not the intended recipient, please notify the sender immediately by return e-mail and
destroy this communication and all copies thereof, including all attachments.
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1st 100 Holdings, LLC 
c/o MAIER GUTIERREZ AND ASSOCIATES  

8816 SPANISH RIDGE AVE 
LAS VEGAS, NV 89148 

 
and 

 
SJC Ventures, LLC 

c/o MAIER GUTIERREZ AND ASSOCIATES  
8816 SPANISH RIDGE AVE 

LAS VEGAS, NV 89148 
                      

                                                                 September ____, 2017 
 
 
MAIER GUTIERREZ AND ASSOCIATES, PLLC 
8816 SPANISH RIDGE AVE 
LAS VEGAS, NV 89148 
 

                  Re:   PAYMENT DIRECTION LETTER 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

 SJC Ventures I, LLC (“SJVC”) and CBC Partners I, LLC (CBCI) are parties to a certain 

FORBEARANCE AGREEMENT (the "Forbearance Agreement") that is made and dated as of 

the _______day of September 2017 by and among CBC Partners I, LLC (“CBCI”), Kenneth & 

Sheila Antos Living Trust (the “Living Trust”), Kenneth M. Antos & Sheila M. Neumann-Antos 

Trust (the “K & S Trust”), Kenneth Antos and Sheila Neumann-Antos, as Trustees of the Living 

Trust and the K & S Trust, and as Personal Guarantors of the Secured Promissory Note described 

below., Spanish Heights Acquisition Company, LLC (“SHAC”), and SJC Ventures, LLC 

(“SJCV”).  To secure the parties obligations under the Forbearance Agreement, CBCI and SJCV 

are also parties to a certain Security Agreement (the "SECURITY AGREEMENT"), dated as of 

September _____ , by and among SJCV and CBCI.  

 

27

27

27
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 Pursuant to the Security Agreement, SJCV has represented it holds a 24.912% 

Membership Interest in 1st One Hundred Holdings, LLC and  that 1st 100 Holdings LLC is the 

holder of a certain “Judgment” described in the Security Agreement. Further, SJCV pledged as 

collateral that portion of SJCV’s current, or after-acquired, beneficial interest in the “Creditor’s 

Judgment Interest” (as defined in the Security Agreement1) necessary to secure the parties 

obligations under the Forbeance Agreement.  

 As a material term of the Security Agreement, 1st 100 Holdings, LLC has represented 

and warranted that SJCV holds a 24.912% Membership Interest in 1st 100 Holdings, LLC; and 

that 1st 100 Holdings LLC is the holder of a certain “Judgment” described in the Security 

Agreement. 1st 100 Holdings, LLC has also represented that SJCV is the holder of the Creditor’s 

Judgment Interest. Further, 1st 100 Holdings, LLC represented:  that no party, other than the 

Collection Professionals (“Collection Professionals”) engaged to collect the Judgment and 

certain other creditors of 1st One Hundred Holdings (the “1st 100 Priority Creditors”), have a 

priority to receive net judgment proceeds prior to distributions to 1st One Hundred Holdings 

Members; and that SJCV shall receive its interest at a minimum in pari passu with other parties 

who hold interests in the Judgment.  

 Finally, SJCV and 1st 100 have represented and warranted that any funds that are  

                                                 
1 The “Creditor’s Judgment Interest” is defined in the Security Agreement as follows:  
 
SJCV represents that First 100, LLC and 1st One Hundred Holdings, LLC, obtained a Judgment in the amount of 
$2,221,039,718.46 against Raymond Ngan and other Defendants in the matter styled First 100, LLC, Plaintiff(s) vs. 
Raymond Ngan, Defendant(s), Case No. A-17-753459-C in the 8th Judicial District Court for Clark County, Nevada 
(the “Judgment”). SJCV represents it holds a 24.912% Membership Interest in 1st One Hundred Holdings, LLC. 
SJCV represents and warrant that no party, other than the Collection Professionals engaged to collect the 
Judgment, have a priority to receive net judgment proceeds attributable to SJCV before SJCV; and that SJCV shall 
receive its interest at a minimum in pari passu with other parties who hold interests in the Judgment.  1st One 
Hundred Holdings, LLC represents and warrant that no party, other than the Collection Professionals engaged to 
collect the Judgment and certain other creditors of 1st One Hundred Holdings, have a priority to receive net 
judgment proceeds prior to distributions to 1st One Hundred Holdings Members; and that SJCV shall receive its 
interest at a minimum in pari passu with other parties who hold interests in the Judgment. 
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received in connection with the collection of the Judgment (“Judgment Funds”) will be paid to, 

and held in escrow, by MAIER GUTIERREZ AND ASSOCIATES, PLLC. Further, MAIER 

GUTIERREZ AND ASSOCIATES, PLLC shall be responsible for distribution of the Judgment 

Funds to the Collection Professionals, the 1st 100 Priority Creditors, and the Members of 1st 100; 

including the distribution of the Creditor’s Judgment Interest.  

       To provide for the orderly performance of the parties rights and obligations pursuant to 

the Security Agreement, the parties hereto wish to memorialize the transfer of funds related 

thereto and acknowledge that this “Payment Direction Letter” hereby instructs MAIER 

GUTIERREZ AND ASSOCIATES, PLLC to transfer funds pursuant to the terms of this 

PAYMENT DIRECTION LETTER  

 In consideration of the foregoing and for other good and valuable consideration, the 

parties hereto hereby agree as follows: 

       1. Each of the parties hereto agrees to the transfers of funds, subject to the conditions set 

forth below.  

 2. SJCV and 1st 100 Holdings, LLC hereby instruct MAIER GUTIERREZ AND 

ASSOCIATES, PLLC to transfer to CBCI, on 1st 100 Holdings, LLC’s behalf, the amounts 

payable to SJCV pursuant to the “Creditor’s Judgment Interest; ”  

 3. Upon receipt of any Judgment Funds, MAIER GUTIERREZ AND ASSOCIATES, 

PLLC shall contemporaneously notify CBCI that MAIER GUTIERREZ AND ASSOCIATES, 

PLLC has received Judgment Funds.  

 4. MAIER GUTIERREZ AND ASSOCIATES, PLLC shall contemporaneously provide 

CBCI with an accounting of how MAIER GUTIERREZ AND ASSOCIATES, PLLC intends to 

5148SH 000110
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distribute the Judgment Funds amongst the Collection Professionals, the 1st 100 Priority 

Creditors, and the Members of 1st 100; including the distribution of the “Creditor’s Judgment 

Interest.” 

 4. MAIER GUTIERREZ AND ASSOCIATES, PLLC shall contemporaneously transfer 

any funds due to SJCV directly to CBCI as follows:  

 NEED PAYMENT INSTRUCTIONS 

 5.       Once all amounts  payable to the Collection Professionals and the 1st 100 Priority 

Creditors have been satisfied or otherwise waived, MAIER GUTIERREZ AND ASSOCIATES, 

PLLC is irrevocably authorized to initiate, and MAIER GUTIERREZ AND ASSOCIATES, 

PLLC hereby agrees to initiate, the transfers set forth herein. 

 6. Each of the parties hereto hereby agrees to take such action and execute, acknowledge 

and deliver, such agreements, instruments or other documents as the other parties hereto may 

reasonably require from time to time to carry out the purposes of this Payment Direction Letter. 

 7. This Payment Direction Letter shall be construed under and governed by the laws of 

the State of Washington and may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different 

parties on separate counterparts. Each of such counterparts shall be deemed to be an original, and 

all of such counterparts, taken together, shall constitute but one and the same agreement. 

Delivery of an executed counterpart of this Payment Direction Letter by facsimile or electronic 

mail shall be equally as effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart. 

 

                         [SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be 

executed by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized, as of the date 

first above written. 

     SJC Ventures, LLC. 

 

      By:  _____________________________ 

             Jay Bloom, Manager 

 

     1st 100 Holdings, LLC  

 

     By: _____________________________  

     Print 
     Name: ___Jay Bloom________________ 
 
     Its:      ___Manager_______________ 
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STIP 
JOSEPH A. GUTIERREZ, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9046 
DANIELLE J. BARRAZA, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 13822 
MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 
Telephone: 702.629.7900 
Facsimile: 702.629.7925 
E-mail: jag@mgalaw.com     
 djb@mgalaw.com  
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
 
 
 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
 
SPANISH HEIGHTS ACQUISITION 
COMPANY, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability 
Company; SJC VENTURES HOLDING 
COMPANY, LLC, d/b/a SJC VENTURES, 
LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company, 
 
                                            Plaintiffs, 
 
vs. 
 
CBC PARTNERS I, LLC, a foreign Limited 
Liability Company; CBC PARTNERS, LLC, a 
foreign Limited Liability Company; 5148 
SPANISH HEIGHTS, LLC, a Nevada Limited 
Liability Company; KENNETH ANTOS AND 
SHEILA NEUMANN-ANTOS, as Trustees of 
the Kenneth & Sheila Antos Living Trust and 
the Kenneth M. Antos & Sheila M. Neumann-
Antos Trust; DACIA, LLC, a foreign Limited 
Liability Company; DOES I through X; and 
ROE CORPORATIONS I through X, inclusive,
 
                                            Defendants. 

 

 
Case No.:   A-20-813439-B 
Dept. No.:  11 
 
STIPULATION REGARDING LEGAL 
ISSUES TO BE DECIDED BY THE COURT 
AT BIFURCATED TRIAL COMMENCING 
FEBRUARY 1, 2021 
 
 

 
 AND RELATED CLAIMS. 

 

 
 As requested by the Court, in preparation for the bifurcated trial commencing on February 1, 

2021, Plaintiffs/Counterdefendants and Defendants/Counterclaimants, by and through their respective 

Case Number: A-20-813439-B

Electronically Filed
1/12/2021 10:02 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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attorneys of record, hereby stipulate that the following unresolved legal issues should be adjudicated 

by the Court at the bifurcated trial: 

1) Contractual interpretation and/or validity of the underlying “Secured Promissory Note” 

between CBC Partners I, LLC and KCI Investments, LLC and all modifications thereto; 

2) Interpretation and/or validity of the claimed third-position Deed of Trust and all modifications 

thereto, and determination as to whether any consideration was provided in exchange for the 

Deed of Trust; 

3) Contractual interpretation and/or validity of the Forbearance Agreement, Amended 

Forbearance Agreement and all associated documents/contracts; 

4) Whether the Doctrine of Merger applies to the claims at issue; and 

5) Whether the One Action Rule applies to the claims at issue. 

 

  Dated this 11th day of January, 2021.           Dated this 11th day of January, 2021. 

Respectfully submitted, 

MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 
 
 
__/s/ Danielle J. Barraza________________ 
JOSEPH A. GUTIERREZ, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9046 
DANIELLE J. BARRAZA, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 13822 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

Approved as to form and content: 
 
MUSHKIN & COPPEDGE 
 
 
__/s/ Michael R. Mushkin_________________ 
MICHAEL R. MUSHKIN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 2421 
L. JOE COPPEDGE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 4954 
6070 South Eastern Avenue, Suite 270 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 
Attorneys for Defendants CBC Partners I, LLC, 
CBC Partners, LLC, 5148 Spanish Heights, 
LLC, and Dacia LLC 
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TRAN 

DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

* * * * * 
 
 
SPANISH HEIGHTS ACQUISITION   ) 
COMPANY LLC,                  ) 
 )  

Plaintiff,          )  CASE NO. A-20-813439-B 
           ) DEPT NO. XI 
vs. )     

) 
CBC PARTNERS I LLC,   )  
                              ) TRANSCRIPT OF 
                     )  PROCEEDINGS 
          Defendant.          ) 
                              ) 
AND RELATED PARTIES           ) 

 

 

BEFORE THE HONORABLE ELIZABETH GONZALEZ, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE 

TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 2, 2021 

PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION HEARING AND TRIAL - DAY 2 
   
   
      

 
APPEARANCES: 
 
 FOR THE PLAINTIFFS: JOSEPH A. GUTIERREZ, ESQ. 

 
 

 
 FOR CBC PARTNERS I: MICHAEL R. MUSHKIN, ESQ. 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
RECORDED BY:  JILL HAWKINS, COURT RECORDER 
TRANSCRIBED BY:  JD REPORTING, INC. 

Case Number: A-20-813439-B

Electronically Filed
2/19/2021 3:12 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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JD Reporting, Inc.

A-20-813439-B | SHAC v. CBC Partners | 2021-02-02

I N D E X 

W I T N E S S E S 

WITNESSES FOR THE PLAINTIFF:  
 
JAY BLOOM 
 

5Direct Examination by Mr. Gutierrez 
 
WITNESSES FOR THE DEFENSE:  
 
JAY BLOOM 
 

47Direct Examination by Mr. Mushkin 
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JD Reporting, Inc.

A-20-813439-B | SHAC v. CBC Partners | 2021-02-02

LAS VEGAS, CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA, FEBRUARY 2, 2021, 9:59 A.M. 

* * * * * 

THE COURT:  And we are missing Mr. Coppedge today,

but we have quite capable help.

Don't take it off.

MR. MUSHKIN:  I'm just switching masks.

THE COURT:  Okay.  You're putting on the one we can

actually hear you through.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. MUSHKIN:  And may I take my coat off again?

THE COURT:  You may take your coat off any time you'd

like.  You don't even have to ask permission.

Mr. Bloom, if at any time --

Oh, I like your mask.  That's nice.

THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

THE COURT:  If at any time you need to take a break,

you just let us know.  Okay?

THE WITNESS:  Thank you.  I'm feeling much better

than yesterday.

THE COURT:  All right.  Well, sometimes when you get

the vaccine it's the second or third day that it hits is what I

heard.

Okay.  Raise your right hand.

JAY BLOOM  
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 [having been called as a witness and being first duly sworn, 

testified as follows:] 

THE CLERK:  Thank you.  Please seated.  Please state

and spell your name for the record.

THE WITNESS:  Jay Bloom.  J-a-y, B-l-o-o-m.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Your Honor, I'm just looking for our

second binder for him.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor, if I may, more of an

administrative matter, as you recall, in my opening statement I

was concerned about the parol evidence rule.

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. MUSHKIN:  I want to lodge my objection now.  I'll

try and make it throughout the course of the testimony, but any

time --

THE COURT:  Luckily, I'm the fact finder.  So I can

sift through all that stuff.

MR. MUSHKIN:  I understand, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. MUSHKIN:  With that said, to the extent that

Mr. Bloom attempts to contradict the terms of the contract, I

would object under the parol evidence rule.

THE COURT:  I certainly understand that, but I would

encourage you to make that objection orally so that it can be

part of the record, and I will take that into the calculus that

is in the back of my mind on how I'm evaluating things.
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MR. MUSHKIN:  I will do so, Your Honor.  Thank you.

THE COURT:  Thank you.

THE COURT RECORDER:  Mr. Bloom.

THE WITNESS:  Yes.

THE COURT RECORDER:  You're going to have to scoot up

closer.  I know that the chair is stuck on that thing, but once

you get over it, you'll be all right.

THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Is that better?

THE COURT RECORDER:  Yeah.

THE WITNESS:  Okay.  The mask doesn't help.

THE COURT:  Believe me, we know.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Okay.  Are you ready, Your Honor?

THE COURT:  I've been ready.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Okay.

THE COURT:  I've been here since 9:00 o'clock

working.  I've been sitting in the same place.

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. GUTIERREZ:  

Q Good morning, Mr. Bloom.  Can you tell us where you

currently live.

A 5148 Spanish Heights Drive, Las Vegas, Nevada.

Q And we've been calling the 5148 Spanish Heights Drive

property the property or Spanish Heights property for purposes

of this case.  Are you okay using those definitions going

forward?
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A Yes.

Q And who do you live at the Spanish Heights property

with?

A I live with my wife, my son and my wife has recently

brought my mother-in-law and her husband in to live with us as

well.

Q Okay.  And how long have you lived at the Spanish

Heights property?

A A little over three years I believe.

Q And is the Spanish Heights property your primary

family residence?

A Yes.

Q And at some point did you purchase the Spanish

Heights property?

A Yes.

Q And can you tell us about the circumstances for

having bought the Spanish Heights property.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Objection to the form of the question.

Vague and ambiguous as to "you."

THE COURT:  Overruled.

THE WITNESS:  I -- my wife actually found it through

a Realtor online.  It had been listed for quite a period of

time.  We contacted the Realtor.  The Realtor put us in touch

with a representative Alan Hallberg for CBC Partners, and there

were extended negotiations and discussions which ultimately
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lead to the purchase of the real property.

Q And did you purchase the Spanish Heights property in

your own name personally or through a company that you control?

A I purchased it into a special purpose entity created

for that purpose.

Q And what's the name of that company?

A Spanish Heights Acquisition Company.

Q And at the time of the purchase, who was the

owners -- who owned Spanish Heights Acquisition Company?

A It was originally formed to be owned one third by

CBC, one third by SJC, which is my entity, and one third by the

Antos Trust, which was the seller.

Mr. Hallberg came back and said after speaking with

lawyers he can't hold ownership or that CBC can't hold

ownership of the property.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Objection.  Hearsay, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Overruled.

THE WITNESS:  And therefore he resigned CBC's

membership interest in Spanish Heights Acquisition Company.

And we redid -- we redid -- and SJC resigned its interest as

well.  And then after the transaction where the Antos Trust

transferred the property to Spanish Heights, it was the Antos

Trust transferred 50 percent of the interest in Spanish Heights

Acquisition Company to SJC -- actually, 51 percent.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Okay.
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THE WITNESS:  And retained 49 percent interest for

itself.

BY MR. GUTIERREZ:  

Q And what is SJC Ventures?

A SJC Ventures is an entity that -- that holds a number

of different -- it's a holding company.  It holds a number of

different projects that I'm involved in.

Q And who manages SJC Ventures?

A I'm the manager of SJC Ventures.

Q Okay.  And as part of this transaction, Mr. Bloom,

did SJC Ventures pledge a part of its beneficial interest in a

judgment that First 100, LLC has?

A Yes.

Q And can you explain that portion of the transaction.

A Yes.  The original proposal was a pledge of -- by the

Antoses of their 49 percent interest in the property, and SJC

would pledge 51 percent of its 51 percent interest in the

property.

Subsequent negotiations resulted in the culmination

of, as CBC Partners was looking for their money back and not

the property, the discussions led to a proposal where in lieu

of the interest in the -- membership interest in SJC -- in

SHAC, Spanish Heights Acquisition Company --

I'll stay away from SHAC for the Court.

THE COURT:  Thanks.
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THE WITNESS:  -- it would -- it would instead secure

its obligation through an assignment of a portion of its

beneficial interest and proceeds collection -- realized through

collection efforts on the judgment.

BY MR. GUTIERREZ:  

Q How did you know that CBC wanted -- or tell us the

basis of your understanding that CBC wanted to get paid money

versus acquire the property.

A In my conversations, it was -- it was very clear to

me through direct representations that there's no -- there's no

interest in the property.  They just want to get their money

back.

Q When you say they, are you talking about CBC?

A CBC.

Q Okay.  Now, who owned the property when you were

thinking about purchasing it in 2017?

A The Antos Trust.

Q And was it your understanding that the Spanish

Heights property was the Antoses' primary residence when they

bought the property?

A Yes.

Q Okay.  And can you tell us about the discussions you

had with Ken Antos when you were deciding whether or not to

purchase the property?

A At the time we were discussing purchasing the
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property, it was -- discussions were primarily with CBC.  I

didn't speak to the Antoses very often.  They had pretty much

thrown up their hands with regard to the property.

Q Well, who did you speak with at CBC during this first

transaction?

A Mr. Hallberg.

Q Okay.  Were you ever told during this time frame, and

we're talking about 2017 before Spanish Heights Acquisition

Company bought the property, were you ever told during this

time frame that the original note for the Antos' debt was for a

commercial restaurant loan for a company called KCI

Investments?

A No.

Q And when you were introduced to -- well, let's back

up.

What kind of due diligence did you do when you were

going to purchase the Spanish Heights property?

A There really wasn't a lot of due diligence.  A lot of

it was reliance on representations.  So there's a warranties

and representations section, I believe, and there were

representations made in the conversations which gave us the

basis for moving forward in the transaction.

Q And during this time frame, what was your

understanding as to the relationship between the Antos Trust

and CBC?
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A I understood the Antos Trust held or the Antos Trust

had a third mortgage that was held by CBC.

Q Did Mr. Antos or CBC ever provide you with the

underlying note or guarantees that memorialized the loan

between CBC and the Antoses?

A Not prior to the culmination of the transaction.

Q And what representations --

MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor, I will object as under the

parol evidence rule as this reflects the clear reps and

warranties within the document.

THE COURT:  Overruled.

BY MR. GUTIERREZ:  

Q Mr. Bloom, what representations were made to you

about the third position deed of trust on the property?

A The representations were that it related to a third

mortgage.  You know, yeah.  It just -- it was always a third

mortgage throughout the entire negotiations.

Q Okay.  Now, the deed of trust mentions for good and

valuable consideration on it.  Did Ken Antos ever explain to

you what the consideration for the Antos Trust was for pledging

the deed of trust on the property?

A No.  Consistent with his testimony here and in his

deposition -- he testified in his deposition that there was no

consideration.  He testified here in live testimony that there

was no consideration, and I'm not aware of any consideration
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that the Antos Trust was provided --

MR. MUSHKIN:  Same objection, Your Honor.

THE WITNESS:  -- from Ken Antos.

THE COURT:  Overruled.

BY MR. GUTIERREZ:  

Q Mr. Bloom, since this case, this litigation has begun

last year, did you have a chance -- have you now had a chance

to review the underlying promissory note?

A I have.

Q To KCI?

A I have, yes.

Q Where did you learn about the -- in your review of

the underlying note.

A I learned that it was originally a commercial loan to

a restaurant in which Mr. Antos had an interest and that it was

guaranteed by Mr. Antos and Mrs. Antos individually.  I learned

that there were 10 subsequent modifications.  I learned that

there was a deed of trust issued by the Antos Trust in 2014, I

believe that, although the Antos Trust was not a guarantor or a

borrower under the note.  So my -- you know, what I've learned

is that the deed of trust doesn't create the obligation.  It

secures an obligation under another document.

And in this instance, in 2014, the Antos Trust is

neither a borrower nor a guarantor or had any obligation for

which a 2014 deed of trust could secure.
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Q So going to the --

MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor, same objection.  His

testimony conflicts the clear written terms of the note.

THE COURT:  The objection is overruled.

BY MR. GUTIERREZ:  

Q Mr. Bloom, and now I want to talk about that timeline

with the third deed of trust and then the amended deed of trust

on the property.  You're familiar with both of those documents;

correct?

A Correct.

Q Now, tell us your understanding of what the deed of

trust was -- that was issued in 2014, what obligation it was

securing.

A Well, so the deed of trust was supposed to secure the

guarantee of the Antos Trust, but there was no guarantee of the

Antos Trust.  So there was nothing for the deed of trust to

secure.

So if you look at the chronology of the documents

that we've received for the first time through discovery in

this matter, there's a 2014 deed of trust against a commercial

restaurant loan which has no nexus to the Antos Trust, the

owner of the property.  So there's nothing in 2014 for the deed

of trust to secure.

In 2016, there's a reaffirmation, but again there's,

at that point, after, I don't know, 10 note modifications or
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amendments, there was never an amendment that added the Antos

Trust as a guarantor or a borrower.

Now, I did see a modification that added Preferred

Restaurant Brands as a borrower later on through the course of

additional advances to the restaurant.

But in 2016 there's a reaffirmation of a nonexisting

guarantee and an amendment to the deed of trust.

We also learned through this litigation that there's

a 2017 guarantee that the Antos Trust, but no subsequent deed

of trust issued once there finally was a guarantee.

So I think the Antos Trust guaranteed it but never

pledge the property before selling the property to Spanish

Heights Acquisition Company.

Q Now I want to turn your attention, Mr. Bloom, to

Exhibit 1, which is the 2017 forbearance agreement.

Do you have that in front of you?

A (No audible response.)

Q Do you have that in front of you, Mr. Bloom?

A I do.

Q Okay.  Mr. Bloom, what's your understanding of what

this forbearance agreement was to document?

A So in the course of our discussions, while I was

under the understanding that there was a third mortgage, there

was an action by -- or there was the potential of an action by

CBC to foreclose under their, what I thought was a third
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mortgage.  And, in fact -- and this document was for them to

forbear taking any actions against the third mortgage against

the property that I was interested in buying.

Q And, Mr. Bloom, if you could turn to Exhibit 7, which

is Exhibit B to the forbearance agreement.

Are you familiar with this document?

A Yes, I believe so.

Q Okay.  And if you can turn to page 81 under this

exhibit.

Can you tell us what the obligations were by CBC

under this forbearance agreement.

A CBC was to make payments on the first and second

mortgage to prevent the default of the first and second

mortgage.

Q Did CBC continue to make payments under the first and

second mortgage during the forbearance period?

A For January, February and March of 2020, they did

not.

MR. MUSHKIN:  I'm sorry, Your Honor.  I didn't hear

that answer.

THE COURT:  Could you repeat yourself, sir.

THE WITNESS:  For January, February and March

of 2020, during the forbearance period, CBC did not make

payments to the first or the second.

/ / / 
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BY MR. GUTIERREZ:  

Q And after the forbearance agreement was executed, did

the Antos Trust provide you with a deed of trust on the

property that was recorded?

A Not until this litigation, no.

Q Now, Mr. Bloom, I want to turn your attention to the

pledge agreement, which is Exhibit 10.  I'm sorry.  I believe

it's Exhibit 8, yeah, Exhibit 8.

Now, can you tell us what the purpose was for this

pledge agreement?

MR. MUSHKIN:  Objection to the question to the extent

it contradicts the clear meaning of the document, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Overruled.

THE WITNESS:  So this was the pledge of the Antos'

49 percent interest in Spanish Heights Acquisition Company as

signed by Kenneth and Sheila Antos living trust as pledgors.

BY MR. GUTIERREZ:  

Q And if you turn to page 97 in this document, it's

exhibit -- is that your signature on behalf of Spanish Heights

Acquisition Company?

A It is.

Q Okay.  And there's been references about potentially

SJC pledging its interest in SHAC to CBC, but is SJC a signer

on this document at any point?

A No.  The SJC signature block was removed for

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



17

JD Reporting, Inc.

A-20-813439-B | SHAC v. CBC Partners | 2021-02-02

execution.

Q Okay.  And tell us why it was removed.

A It was removed in favor of a security agreement by

offering a position in SJC's beneficial interest in any

proceeds realized by SJC's collection under a First 100

judgment.

Q And if you turn to Exhibit 10, is that the security

agreement that you're discussing?

A Yes, it is.

Q Okay.  And if you turn to Exhibit 11, can you tell us

what this document is.

A This is a payment direction letter where First 100

and SJC authorize Maier Gutierrez & Associates as attorneys for

First 100 to direct payment to CBC directly upon collection of

proceeds from the judgment.

Q Okay.  And this is consistent with the security

agreement we saw in Exhibit 10; is that correct?

A Correct.

Q Okay.  And who is the manager of Spanish Heights

Acquisition Company?

A I am the sole, exclusive and irrevocable manager.

Q When you say you, are you talking about you

individually, or SJC Ventures?

A SJC Ventures and me as the manager of SJC.

Q Okay.
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Now, Mr. Bloom, what was the condition of the Spanish

Heights property when you purchased it in 2017?

A Cosmetically it was in decent shape.  Mechanically it

had some problems with HVAC and some of the systems, home

automation and pool, that kind of thing.

Q Did you make improvements to the property after you

bought it?

A Yes.

Q And how much money did you put in improvements to the

property?

A In excess of a hundred thousand dollars.

Q Were you required in any document to make over a

hundred thousand dollars in improvements?

A My recollection is that we had agreed to do a hundred

thousand.  I think the document said I may do a hundred

thousand, but, no, more than 125,000.  So I stayed within the

parameters of the documents.

Q And, Mr. Bloom, if you can go back to Exhibit 7,

which is Exhibit B to the forbearance agreement, and go to

page 82.

A I'm sorry.  Page 82?

Q Yes, under Exhibit 7.

A Okay.

Q And Section C discusses SHAC's obligation to maintain

property after conveyance to SHAC.  Do you see that?
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A Yes.

Q And does that refresh your recollection as far as the

obligations for SHAC for improvements on the property?

A Yeah.  So SHAC made certain repairs and improvements,

and the estimate was to be about a hundred thousand, and that

SHAC will not spend more than -- or Spanish Heights Acquisition

Corp., will not spend more than 125,000 for such repairs

without consent.

Q Okay.  And is there a lease on the Spanish Heights

property?

A Yes.

Q And who is the tenant?

A SJC Ventures.

Q And what's the term of the lease?

A I'm sorry?

Q What is the term of the lease?

A It was two years with two successive two-year

extensions at the option of the tenant.

Q And if you turn to Exhibit 15, is that the lease for

the property?

A Yes, it is.

Q Okay.  And if you turn to Exhibit 16, I want to talk

to you about the amendment to the forbearance agreement that

stated December 1st, 2019.  Let me know when you have that in

front of you.
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A I have it in front of me.

Q Okay.  And then tell us the purpose of the amended

forbearance agreement.

A So this was to serve several purposes.  It extended

the CBC agreement to forbear from any collection activity

against what I understood at the time was a third mortgage.  It

also acknowledged the extension of the lease and the exercise

of the two extensions to continue the lease for the two

successive two-year terms.

Q And if you turn to page 160 under this exhibit, is

that the acknowledgment of the lease extension?

A Yes.  And B1, the last sentence, The parties

acknowledge that the conditions to which SJC options were

subject have been satisfied and that the SJC options have been

exercised.

Q And the next page, is that the -- and this was signed

off by CBC Partners; is that correct?

A By John Otter, the president of CBC.

Q Okay.  Now, Mr. Bloom, did CBC follow all of its

obligations under the amended forbearance agreement?

A To the best of my knowledge it did with the exception

of the balloon payment, which we discovered was not really an

obligation of the Antos Trust when we bought the property.

Q I'm sorry.  I was asking about CBC.  Did CBC comply

with its obligations?
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A Oh, did CBC.  I'm sorry.

Q Yeah.

A No.  CBC didn't, as I mentioned before, did not make

the January, February and March 2020 payments under their

obligations under the forbearance agreement.

Q And has Spanish Heights Acquisition Company been

servicing the first and second mortgages on the property?

A Yes, for almost a year now.

Q And has Spanish Heights also been paying the HOA dues

and insurance on the property?

A Yes.

Q Okay.  Now, one of the allegations that's been made

in this case by CBC, Mr. Bloom, is that you failed to set up a

funding account, as stated in the agreements.  What is your

position on that claim?

A So this is again a chronology issue that Mr. Mushkin

seems to have --

THE COURT:  Sir, don't give me any personal attacks,

please.  Just answer the question.

THE WITNESS:  There was originally, at the beginning

of the discussions, the initial conversation was that Spanish

Heights Acquisition Company would establish a security account

to assure payments under -- payment obligations that arise

under the -- under the agreement.  I went to Bank of America.

They could not provide the kind of account that CBC was asking
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for.  I told CBC and offered instead to just prepay the

expenses negating the need for a security account.  CBC agreed.

There was a prepayment of the expenses, and there was no

requirement for a security account at that point because its

function was mooted with the prepayment.

Q Did CBC ever contact you after 2017 to discuss not

setting up that account?

A No.  And we did the same thing on the extension as

well -- well, for the second year of the lease term, the

initial lease term.

Q Now, CBC has claimed that SHAC defaulted by not

making the balloon payment under the forbearance agreement.

What's your response to that claim?

A So the default -- there is a default on the note.

The note though is a commercial loan to a restaurant with

personal guarantees by the Antoses.  So CBC does have a

defaulted note, or I guess their successor has a defaulted

commercial loan to a restaurant with personal guarantees by the

Antoses.

Q Mr. Bloom, I'm going to turn to discussion of the

doctrine of merger.  You testified earlier about Spanish

Heights Acquisition Company originally being a third, a third

ownership; is that correct?

A Right.  Correct.

Q And in 2017, what was the ownership after CBC
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rescinded its ownership in Spanish Heights Acquisition Company?

A The ownership was 51 percent SJC and 49 percent Antos

Trust.

Q Now, at some point in 2020, did you become aware that

CBC was attempting or acquired the ownership interest from the

Antos Trust in Spanish Heights Acquisition Company?

A Yes.  CBC I acquired the interest from the Antoses,

almost in the form of a deed in lieu of foreclosure type

structure where the Antoses signed over their 49 percent

interest --

MR. MUSHKIN:  Objection to the form of the

question --

THE WITNESS:  -- in the real property.

MR. MUSHKIN:  -- your Honor.

THE COURT:  Overruled.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Directly contradicts the documents.

THE WITNESS:  The Antoses --

THE COURT:  Overruled.

THE WITNESS:  The Antoses signed over their

49 percent interest, and the only consideration the Antoses

would've gotten for that was the satisfaction of the

obligation.

BY MR. GUTIERREZ:  

Q And were you sent a letter from -- well, from Mushkin

and Coppedge on behalf of CBC where they informed you of the
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Antos Trust transferring the interest to CBC Partners I?

A Yes.

Q Okay.  I want to show you what's been admitted as

Exhibit 74.

THE COURT:  No, you can't approach.  Use the Elmo.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Okay.  I'm going to need help on the

Elmo, Your Honor.  I haven't used this in a while.  Maybe

Ramsey can help us out.

THE COURT:  I can't let you approach anymore.  I'm

really sorry.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  I'm going to need Ramsey to approach

me to help me with the Elmo.

THE COURT:  Ramsey is going to turn on the Elmo for

you.

(Pause in the proceedings.) 

THE COURT:  And I know this document is admitted

because it's not one of the two or three that aren't.  So...

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Yes, Judge.  This is admitted

Document 74.

THE COURT:  Can you blow it up a little bit so people

can see.  Do you know how to use it?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  No, Judge.  I am --

THE COURT:  Really?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  I've seen it used a few times, but

I've never really used it.
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THE COURT:  Boy, you're young.

(Pause in the proceedings.) 

BY MR. GUTIERREZ:  

Q Mr. Bloom, do you see this letter on your monitor?

A I do.

Q It's an April 1st, 2020, letter from the law firm

Mushkin & Coppedge, and it's Exhibit 74, Bates stamp

5148SH 000887.  Do you see the Bates stamp, Mr. Bloom?

A Yes.  Yes, I do.

Q Do you recall receiving this letter?

A I do.

Q And what did this letter tell you as the manager of

Spanish Heights Acquisition Company?

A That the interest of the Antos Trust for 49 percent

in Spanish Heights Acquisition Company has transferred to CBC

Partners I, the lender, under the pledge agreement.

Q Okay.  So was it your understanding that as of April

1st, 2020, Spanish Heights Acquisition Company was owned a

51 percent by SJC and 49 percent by CBC Partners I?

A Correct.

Q Did you ever sign an assignment of interest document

on behalf of SJC's 51 percent interest in SHAC over to anybody?

A No, I did not.

Q Okay.  So as you sit here today, SJC remains a

51 percent owner in Spanish Heights Acquisition Company?
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A Yes.  That's correct.

Q What was your understanding of what this notice to

vacate letter was attempting to do?

A The notice to vacate was trying to take physical

possession of the house.

Q And the defendant is claiming that in this case they

could foreclose on the property and is stating that 5.5 million

is owed as a balloon payment.  What is your position on that

claim?

A Well, again you have a 2014 deed of trust that

secures no obligation at the time the deed of trust was issued

because there was no --

MR. MUSHKIN:  Same objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Overruled.

You can answer.

THE WITNESS:  There was no guarantee by the Antos

Trust under the note, and the Antos Trust was not the borrower.

Then in 2016 you have the reaffirmation, but you have a

defective deed of trust in November in 2014, which remains

defective in 2016.  We finally get to a guarantee in 2017 which

obligates the Antos Trust, but there's no subsequent pledge of

the collateral.  The Antos Trust then transfers the property,

and there's no encumbrance on the property that's -- would not

be defective that would allow a foreclosure to occur.

/ / / 
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BY MR. GUTIERREZ:  

Q Have you heard of a company called 5148 Spanish

Heights, LLC?

A I have.

Q What do you know about 5148 Spanish Heights, LLC, in

relation to its involvement in this case?

A Well, I know Mr. Mushkin testified that it's his

company.  I understand that he purchased the CBC commercial

loan to the KCI restaurant as guaranteed by the Antoses

individually, and that he funded it with money that he

borrowed, I believe, from Laurentiu Russo I think the name is,

who is -- owns a neighboring -- two neighboring properties

actually.

Q Has CBC continued trying to foreclose on the property

even though it sold its note to 5148 Spanish Heights, LLC?

A Yes.  It sold CBC -- CBC I sold its note in April

of 2020.  And then three months later in July of 2020, CBC I

issued a notice of default.

Q And for the record, the CBC notice of default from

July 2020 is an admitted Exhibit 144.

And, Mr. Bloom, why should CBC and its successor 5148

Spanish Heights, LLC, be prevented from foreclosing on the

Spanish Heights property?

A Well, CBC and its successor don't have a valid deed

of trust.  The deed of trust is not the obligation.  It secures
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an obligation under another -- another instrument.

In this case, it's a commercial restaurant loan --

MR. MUSHKIN:  Same objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Overruled.

THE WITNESS:  In this case it's a commercial

restaurant loan to KCI where Preferred Restaurant Brands

through one of the amendments to the note was later added as a

borrower as guaranteed by the Antoses individually.  But at no

time prior to the issuance of the deed of trust did the Antos

Trust ever have an obligation under the note.  So the deed of

trust secures the pledger's obligation in this case, the

obligation is zero.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Thank you, Mr. Bloom.

I'll pass the witness, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Cross-examination.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor, I'd like --

THE COURT:  Does anybody need a break before we

start?

MR. MUSHKIN:  No, I don't.  I'd like to make a motion

before we start, Judge.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Hold on a second.

Sir, do you need a break before we start

cross-examination?

(No audible response.) 

THE COURT:  Mr. Bloom?
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THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry.

THE COURT:  Do you need a break before we start

cross?

THE WITNESS:  I think I'm okay.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Your motion.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor, in the opening of this case

I was pretty clear the burden is on the plaintiff.  This is

their third witness, and they've passed.

THE COURT:  They haven't rested yet.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Well, Your Honor --

THE COURT:  They haven't rested yet.  There's things

that happen before you make this motion.  I'm not there yet.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Okay.

THE COURT:  If you want to reserve your examination

of Mr. Bloom and I then ask Mr. Gutierrez that question --

MR. MUSHKIN:  I would like to reserve my examination

until you ask that question.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. MUSHKIN:  I apologize, Your Honor.  I jumped

to --

THE COURT:  So you don't want to examine Mr. Bloom at

this time.  You want to reserve it for your own case in chief?

MR. MUSHKIN:  Well, I'd like to reserve it until I

have the opportunity to make my motion.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Let me say it a different way.  If
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you pass now and I ask Mr. Gutierrez if he rests or if he has

any additional evidence, which is what I ask before he rests,

and then he then says he rests, then it would be time to make

your motion.  If that happens, you are then in your case in

chief, and you have to call Mr. Bloom if you want to examine

him in your case in chief.  You don't get to cross-examine him

after Mr. Gutierrez rests.  So you pick your poison.

Do you want to ask him questions now, or do you just

want to reserve it all for when you do your --

MR. MUSHKIN:  I'll reserve, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So, Mr. Bloom, you can step down.

THE WITNESS:  Okay.

THE COURT:  Do you have any additional evidence or

witnesses that you would like to submit at this time?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  No, Your Honor.  The plaintiff will

rest.

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  So the plaintiff has

rested.

Now, do you have something you want to do,

Mr. Mushkin?

MR. MUSHKIN:  Yes, I do, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Sorry.  I have this procedure.  I've got

to get it right.

MR. MUSHKIN:  And I apologize for jumping the gun

just a little bit.
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Court's indulgence just one minute.

Your Honor, when I opened, I was pretty clear that

the documents were not controverted.  Plaintiff has now rested.

They've claimed no ambiguity.  They've given you no authority

other than Mr. Bloom's testimony that somehow a defense of the

trust would give him standing to negate the deed of trust.

Documents have all been admitted.  The trust gave a certificate

of trust.  The trust became a credit borrower.  The trust gave

a guarantee.  The trust said in its documents that it received

direct and indirect consideration for the -- a benefit.

THE COURT:  And Mr. Antos testified to that.

MR. MUSHKIN:  And Mr. Antos testified to that.  And

more importantly, Judge, and the reason their motion fails on

its face is they have made no showing that it would be

unreasonable for CBC and its successor 5148 to rely on the

representations of the trust.  They have skipped over one of

the elements that they would have to prove, that somehow they

were harmed.

Now, let's take a look at the forbearance agreement

itself and the reps and warranties where Mr. Bloom reps and

warrants that he got everything he asked for.  Let's look at

the amended forbearance agreement where he reaffirms.  And

finally, Judge, you must look to the testimony that you heard

today that makes absolutely no sense.  It completely ignores

the obligation to the Antos parties, as does the motion.
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Your Honor, you may recall in the original motion

there was a statement that now that the authenticity of the

documents has been called into question.  If you recall, I was

quite exercised about that before.

THE COURT:  Because we'd admitted them at the first

evidentiary hearing, and I told you, yeah, I understand, but

we've still got to go through the process.

MR. MUSHKIN:  And now we've done it again.

THE COURT:  I know.  I am here with you, but I'm

not --

MR. MUSHKIN:  No challenge to authenticity.

THE COURT:  My problem is I'm at a 50(a) standard

right now, which is a different standard than I have to make if

we finish the evidence.  That's my current concern.  Now, I

understand the argument you're making.  I'm going to let you

finish, but that's part of the concern I have.

MR. MUSHKIN:  I understand, Judge.

Now let's look at 50(a), okay.  What is the standard

of 50(a)?  Have they proven -- now, mindful of what the

testimony is that somehow it was misrepresented, that's their

testimony.  Now, there was a misrepresentation.  Even though

the documents all over say KCI Preferred Brands, et cetera,

et cetera.  Have they been able to present any evidence of

misrepresentation to this Court unequivocally?  No.  No

evidence of misrepresentation.
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What they're trying to do, Judge, is avoid the

obligations that they contracted for, and their defense is

somehow that there's a defect that they have a right to claim.

They have no right to claim said defect, Your Honor.  They've

waived it twice in writing.  They've acknowledged it.

So under Rule 50 and the parol evidence rule, they

have to provide you competent evidence of a material --

material breach I guess is what they're saying.  They're saying

they don't owe it at all.  It's an all or nothing here, and

they have to -- they have to somehow -- somehow get this Court

to believe that the documents and the title report and

everything that's now been submitted to the Court is somehow

wrong.  And respectfully, Judge, they haven't even sniffed it.

The only thing they have is convoluted testimony from Mr. Bloom

that says that he can't -- that he doesn't have to pay.  Your

Honor, there is one document that closes the loop entirely, and

they brought it out.  I believe it's 74, Judge.

THE COURT:  Is that the letter?

MR. MUSHKIN:  That's the letter.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Mr. Bloom testified that this says that

the Antoses transferred their interest.  That's not what it

says.  I don't know if he didn't bother to read the letter or

he just doesn't like to tell the truth to the Court.

THE COURT:  We're avoiding personal attacks, but I
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understand the credibility --

MR. MUSHKIN:  No, this is -- this is that, Your

Honor, I am --

THE COURT:  Credibility is one thing, but accusing

somebody of being a liar is that step we can't take.  So I need

you to focus on --

MR. MUSHKIN:  So the veracity of a witness is

important, Judge.

THE COURT:  It is true.  That is true.  So you have

to use careful words when you do that.

MR. MUSHKIN:  I will use very careful words, Judge.

The -- it's funny because I got those words from Mr. Coppedge,

and I'm going to go yell at him.

This witness testified that he made the payments in

January, February and March.  The record shows the opposite.

The record shows that those payments were made by CBC or their

successor.  That is a direct misrepresentation to the Court.

He testified that he was servicing.  The first payment that he

made, Judge, wasn't until June paying April.  We have the

checks.

But this document says it all, Judge.  It does not

say that Mr. Antos has transferred his.  It says that they are

seeking an assignment from Mr. Bloom and an assignment from

Mr. Antos, both of which were attached to that letter, and,

Judge, it's pretty clear they are trying to exercise their
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rights under the pledge agreement.

Now let's go to the pledge agreement for just a

minute, Judge.

THE COURT:  What number is that?

MR. MUSHKIN:  I'm getting there.

MS. FOLEY:  8.

THE COURT:  Thank you.

And you did a good job yesterday.

MS. FOLEY:  Thank you.

MR. MUSHKIN:  The first line of the pledge agreement,

Judge, SJC Ventures is a party to the pledge.

THE COURT:  But remember there wasn't a signature.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Oh, we're going to get to that one,

Judge.

THE COURT:  All right.  I'm just remembering.

MR. MUSHKIN:  We're going to get to that one.

THE COURT:  There's this document from -- we've

talked about this one before.

MR. MUSHKIN:  No, we have, Judge.

THE COURT:  I know.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Because the truth, Judge, neither

signature is right, and you're going to see.

THE COURT:  I know.  I know.

MR. MUSHKIN:  So the delivery of pledge collateral is

at paragraph 3, and that's what that letter was doing was
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exercising the delivery of pledge collateral.

Now, let's go to the signature line.  Judge, it's not

executed properly by Spanish Heights Acquisition Company

because Mr. Bloom is not the manager of Spanish Heights

Acquisition Company.

Mr. Bloom is the manager of SJCV.

THE COURT:  Which is the manager.

MR. MUSHKIN:  SJCV is the manager.

THE COURT:  I know.

MR. MUSHKIN:  So what you have is the classic

misexecution.  How do you cure it?  Well, that's real simple,

Judge.  This document is in September.  So we look first to the

forbearance agreement itself, and the forbearance agreement

itself recites a hundred percent of the interest of SHAC.  Then

we go to the amended forbearance agreement.  It reaffirms --

THE COURT:  What exhibit number is that one?

MR. MUSHKIN:  The amended is --

MS. FOLEY:  16.

THE COURT:  Thank you.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Thank you.

SJC and Antos continue to pledge, and this one,

Judge, just like the original forbearance agreement is signed

by SJCV.

Now, I want to go to one other provision in this

agreement that was looked at and again is illustrative of the
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lack of candor in the testimony before the Court.

The page 7 of that document at paragraph B in bold

print, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  7?  B?

MR. MUSHKIN:  Page 7.  It's 000160.

THE COURT:  I'm there.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Acknowledgment and condition applicable

to lease agreement options to extend have terminated.  And then

it goes on to say the parties have exercised, et cetera, have

terminated, bold print, and it's pretty clear why, Judge, and

that is because this document extends everything to March

31st where it says it's over, end of relationship.  You have

to pay by the 31st.  There is a provision in the consent to

lease, a prior document, that gives CBC the right to terminate

the lease agreement as well.  But this makes it even more clear

terminating the lease.

Now, so what you have, and, Your Honor, frankly

occupancy is not an issue today.  Today is only a motion to

stop the foreclosure and a preliminary injunction.

THE COURT:  And for dec relief on certain of the five

things in the trial that --

MR. MUSHKIN:  Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT:  -- we have -- you have stipulated to.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Yes.

So, but my 50(b) motion is simply to the preliminary
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injunction issue.  And what I want to conclude with in terms of

my comments are the --

Court's indulgence one minute.

So the testimony that was given was that CBC hadn't

performed and that SHAC had performed; do you recall that

testimony, Your Honor?

THE COURT:  I do recall that testimony.

MR. MUSHKIN:  There is no testimony, and there is no

question that there has -- the various obligations of the SJCV

party have not been met.  There have not been a quiet-title

action.  They've produced no applications for financing.

They've not retired the debt.  They have not paid the --

there's just step after step that was not done, but yet the

testimony before you is that somehow they performed and CBC

haven't.  They have no evidence of that.  So in order to obtain

extraordinary relief by way of a preliminary injunction, they

must make this showing.

Respectfully, Judge, they have not gotten close.

There is no showing that anything other than a due obligation

secured by a deed of trust on the property, parol evidence rule

bars all of this stuff that was testified to.  There's been no

emails produced.  The prior testimony that somehow there was

wrong language or it was substituted, it violates the parol

evidence rule.  It goes against the clear meaning of an

unambiguous contact, Judge.  Respectfully, the preliminary
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injunction should be off the table.

THE COURT:  Thank you.

Mr. Gutierrez.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Thank you, Your Honor.

I think the first issue raised in the 50(a) motion

was on standing, and, Your Honor, Spanish Heights Acquisition

Company acquired the property, and they said there was no harm

to the company.  Well, the harm is if they acquired a property

with a deed of trust that's invalid.  So they have standing to

make this objection.  You know, the standard under 50(a) is

that we haven't met our burden, which we believe the evidence

we presented not only through the testimony, but the documents

has met this burden.

The next issue is consideration.  The testimony about

consideration was clear.  Both Mr. Hallberg and Mr. Antos got

up and said, yeah, there is no consideration.  That's what they

said.  They said, well, there may have been indirect benefit to

the trust beneficiaries.  Where was the consideration?  They

both testified.  That's the evidence before the Court.

They discuss -- you know, Mr. Bloom discussed in his

testimony the misrepresentation regarding the third deed of

trust and what it allegedly secured.  He can't waive what he

does not know, and that's an issue that is before the Court.

It's a factual dispute that's before this Court.

The next issue they went down to is on CBC's failure

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



40

JD Reporting, Inc.

A-20-813439-B | SHAC v. CBC Partners | 2021-02-02

to make payments under January, February and March of 2020.

It's our position that was a material breach on their end that

excused any performance on First 100's position.  If they came

back later and made those payments and didn't pay any late fees

and interest, that doesn't excuse the fact that they initially

breached by failing to make those payments, and that's the

issue -- that's what's before this Court at this stage.

There was a lot of, you know, arguments about on --

by Mr. Mushkin on evidence that's not before the Court, but the

evidence we have is the testimony of Mr. Hallberg and from

Mr. Antos when we walked through the history of this

transaction, and it's clear it's a commercial restaurant loan

that was never -- that was secured by the Antoses individually.

That was secured.  There were 10 amendments where they then

added an additional borrower.  So they knew what they were

doing when they added an additional borrower.  But then they go

and they never actually add the Antos Trust as an additional

guarantor until 2017, which is after the two deeds of trust

have already issued.

So I even asked Mr. Hallberg yesterday about the

effect of his 2014 agreement.  Is this a guarantee?  He's like

I don't think it is.  He knew, and these documents were all

prepared by their attorneys in Washington.

So, Your Honor, we have several issues and factual

disputes that are before this Court that I believe this honor
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has -- Your Honor as both the trier of fact in the trier of law

will make these determinations at the end of trial, and I don't

think these obviously address the other two legal arguments

that will be made, which would prevent a foreclosure.  You have

the doctrine of merger, which is a legal argument that's going

to be made, and you have clear testimony from Mr. Hallberg and

documents that show that the Antoses assigned to their interest

in Spanish Heights Acquisition Company to CBC Partners I and

that they acquired it.

And Mr. Hallberg said yesterday we have a 49 percent

interest in Spanish Heights Acquisition Company.  Okay, well

now that's a legal issue before this Court of whether or not

the doctrine of merger applies in this context because they

have now become both the borrower and the lender.  Did that

interest merge?

Same with the one action rule.  They selected the

remedy in acquiring ownership of the property, almost like a

deed in lieu of foreclosure.  Does that now prevent them from

foreclosing?

Those legal issues are before Your Honor that would

prevent foreclosure.  So how can any ruling on a 50(a), a

directed verdict at this stage would be premature.  I believe

Your Honor can weigh the facts and the evidence and apply it

with the law that's before this Court.

And if you have any questions, Your Honor, I'd be
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more than happy to --

THE COURT:  I don't.

Mr. Mushkin, anything else?

MR. MUSHKIN:  Very briefly, Judge.

NRS 106.320 defines a future advance of loan money to

a borrower pursuant to an agreement that made after the

agreement is executed.  Specifically called out by statute.

106.005 states in pertinent part the deeds of trust

create consideration in the promise, but a promise to create a

trust in the future is enforceable only if it is under the

requirements to enforce the note.

Your Honor, the plaintiff has said that the trust is

not a borrower.  The document that we've provided you shows the

trust became a credit party.  The plaintiffs have said the

trust is not the guarantor.  We have provided you the exhibit

that shows the trust became the guarantor.  In fact, the trust

became a guarantor as a part of the transaction.

I'd like to take you to one last exhibit, Your Honor,

and then I'll hopefully allow you to rule in my favor on the

motion.

The emails have been admitted, and Mr. Bloom

testified about an email that I would direct the Court's

attention to.

THE COURT:  What exhibit number?

MS. FOLEY:  104.  It's going to be a --
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THE COURT:  Hold on.

MS. FOLEY:  -- a specific page.

THE COURT:  Dulce is going to send me to it.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Hang on.

THE COURT:  I've got to get the exhibit first.  And

then I'll go to the page you tell me.  104.

THE CLERK:  Okay.  This is --

MR. MUSHKIN:  And it is at 003618.

THE CLERK:  Okay.  Because it's a thousand pages.  So

I can't email (indiscernible) so I have to get the page.

3618?

MR. MUSHKIN:  003618.

THE CLERK:  Mine only goes up to --

MS. FOLEY:  There should be three 104s in the folder.

THE COURT:  Can you use the Elmo?

MR. MUSHKIN:  Yes.

THE CLERK:  Sorry.

THE COURT:  Dulce can't email the document to me

because it's too big.

MR. MUSHKIN:  It's one page, Judge.

THE COURT:  No.  I mean the exhibit is thousands of

pages.

MR. MUSHKIN:  No.  No.  I -- you know you asked me if

I can use the Elmo.  Of course, I can.

THE COURT:  You know what an Elmo is.
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MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor, I'm a high-tech kind of

guy.  Not.

THE MARSHAL:  Do we need to blow them up, Judge?

MR. MUSHKIN:  Yeah.

THE COURT:  He's got it.  He knows what he's doing.

THE MARSHAL:  Okay.

THE COURT:  Mr. Gutierrez knows how to do a

PowerPoint, but Mr. Mushkin knows how to work the Elmo.

MR. MUSHKIN:  That might say something about our age,

Judge.

MS. FOLEY:  Together we could do a whole show.

MR. MUSHKIN:  So, Judge, let's kind of go through

this real quick.

First of all, and this literally goes to the

credibility of the witness that it -- it defies all logic.

THE COURT:  But you know on a 50(a) I'm not supposed

to weigh credibility.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor, 50(a) says they have to

meet a burden.  How can the Court not weigh credibility if

there's a burden to reach?  It makes no sense.

So all I want to do is show that the timing and the

timeline of events in this case make it impossible for the

security in the judgment to have replaced the collateral of the

pledge of the Spanish Heights Acquisition Company.

The first paragraph are SHAC as buyer obligations.
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The second is the third lender obligations.  And if you notice,

at the bottom of this it -- oh, I'll go down a little farther,

My thoughts in this proposal give the

third lender a full recovery of its note

balance --

THE COURT:  You've got to push it up a little bit

further.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Sorry.

THE COURT:  It's okay.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Oh, there it is.

-- a full recovery of its note balance,

plus all protective advances past and future;

interim cash flow; provides interim

additional full collateral where given the

current value of the property, the third

position lender is currently unsecured.

Do you see that, Your Honor?

THE COURT:  I do.

MR. MUSHKIN:  That's in July.  So under the rules,

they have to make a showing of a likelihood of success on the

merits.  With the parol evidence rule, Your Honor, and the

testimony of both Mr. Antos and Mr. Hallberg, the plaintiff has

failed to do so, and I respectfully request that this Court

rule against them on the issue of a preliminary injunction.

THE COURT:  Thank you.
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While there is significant evidence that would

support the argument that Mr. Mushkin is making, it would force

the Court to weigh the credibility and the evidence at this

time.  I cannot do that under 50(a).

So I am denying the motion for you to finish the case

and then make your final arguments.

So would you like a break before we start your case

in chief?

MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor, I'd just as soon go back on

until about noon and then break for lunch.

THE COURT:  All right.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Unless the staff or anybody else needs

a break.

THE COURT:  Do you guys need a break?

(No audible response.) 

THE COURT:  They say no.

Next witness.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Mr. Bloom.

THE COURT:  Mr. Bloom.  Come on back up.  You've

already been sworn today so I'm not going to swear you again.

And tomorrow we'll start at 9:30 if we don't finish

today because I have a 9:00 o'clock hearing.

JAY BLOOM  

 (having been recalled as a witness and previously sworn, 

testified as follows:) 
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DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Mr. Bloom, let's go over your testimony.  You

testified that you and your wife and your son and your in-laws

live in the house; is that correct?

A That's correct.

Q There are other people that live in the house too,

aren't there?

A No.

Q Well, that's not what you testified to at your

deposition.  Have the living arrangements changed?

A Yes.

Q What's changed?

A We had somebody that worked for us that no longer

does has moved out.

Q Your testimony at your deposition you had two other

people living there.

A Yes.

Q Who were those people?

A Albert Ramirez (phonetic) has moved out, and James

Burn (phonetic) has moved out.

Q And what did those people do for you?

A Albert Ramirez was a business partner, and James Burn

helped around the house.

Q Your testimony is that SJCV is the owner today of
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51 percent of the interest in Spanish Heights Acquisition

Company; is that correct?

A That's correct.

Q And you've testified that SJCV holds other projects?

A Correct.

Q What are those projects?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  I'm going to object as to the

relevance, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Overruled.

You can answer.

THE WITNESS:  They range from real estate projects to

entertainment projects to renewable energy projects.  There's

a -- there's a number of them.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Well, let's go through them, sir.

Before you do that, why would you -- why did you

refuse to answer this question at the time of your deposition?

A Well, because the specifics of the projects are

covered by confidentiality agreements that would preclude my

answering the level of detail that you were asking about.

Q Well, I asked you for the confidentiality agreement.

Do you recall that in your deposition?

A No, I don't recall that.

Q Well, let's go to your deposition.

THE COURT:  So, Mr. Gutierrez, do you have a copy of
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the deposition you want to share with the witness, or do you

want us to do it on the Elmo?

MR. MUSHKIN:  I'd like to publish the deposition,

Your Honor.

THE COURT:  You can't publish it.  Well, publish it

electronically.  He can't take it.  It's paper.  I know.

MR. MUSHKIN:  I'm an old -- I'm an old dog.

THE COURT:  I can't do the whole Nevada thing of

unsealing the hermetically sealed envelope with the bar napkin.

MS. FOLEY:  They are numbered 130 and 131 in the

dropbox.

THE CLERK:  Is it Volume I or II?

MS. FOLEY:  He'll start with Volume I.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Your Honor, I have a copy of -- my

copy I can give to Mr. Bloom for his review if that's okay with

the Court.

THE COURT:  Mr. Bloom, go run back over there to your

table, and your counsel will hand you your depo, and you can

come on back up.

But I'm not going to let him approach because I get

too crowded in the well, and I need to keep everybody at least

6 feet away from everybody else.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  This is Volume I.

THE COURT:  Can you get him Volume 2 too since it

sounds like we're going there too.
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MR. GUTIERREZ:  Yeah.  I've got both of them.

THE COURT:  Thank you.  You are on top of it.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Thank you, Judge.

THE COURT:  And because I know what's going to

happen, Mr. Bloom, I am handing you, but not getting close to

you, binder clips.

THE WITNESS:  Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Thank you for helping us with the social

distancing except within your own teams, which I can't really

control.

All right.  Where do you want him to go?

The depos I and II are both published, the electronic

versions.  So do what you need to do now.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Are you ready, Mr. Bloom?

A Yes.

Q I asked you what was the source of funds for SJCV

making the advances on behalf of SHAC.  Do you recall that

question?

A Can you point me to the page you're on in the --

Q Well, first I'm asking you if you recall the

question.

A Vaguely.

Q Okay.  And do you know what your answer was?

A I don't recall.
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Q I'll read you your answer, and you can read along at

page 9 of your deposition if you'd like.

A Which half?

Q Volume I, page 9.

A Okay.  Okay.

Q And you see your answer,

SJC holds various business interests

from which it generates income.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q And what are those various business interests?

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q And what was your answer?

A I questioned the relevance of the question.

Q You made an objection, didn't you, sir?

A I did.

Q Your attorney didn't, did she?

A No, I did.

Q Thank you.  And you were here as a 30(b)(6); is that

correct?

A Correct.

Q Are you an attorney?

A I am not.

Q Are you aware that under the rules of 30(b)(6) a
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corporation cannot represent itself?

A I am.

Q Okay.  Yet you still made objections throughout the

deposition?

A I did.

Q Thank you.

And so you objected, and then the question was, the

next question was, You still have to answer the question,

Mr. Bloom.

And do you know what your answer was at the time --

well, before you read it, do you know what your answer was at

the time?

A I have it in front of me, and I've read it.

Q Okay.  And so is that still your testimony?

A Yes.

Q Well, the Judge just told you had to answer.  So

that's not your testimony today, is it?

A That was my testimony up until the Judge's decision

that the objection was overruled.

Q So is it your testimony that any time you object you

don't have to answer a question?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Object, Your Honor.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Until a Judge rules?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Objection.  Argumentative.
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THE COURT:  Overruled.

You can answer.

THE WITNESS:  That's my understanding until the Judge

or the discovery commissioner rules as to the legitimacy of the

question or the applicability of the question or the

appropriateness of the question.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q And where did you learn this, sir?

A In my past I've been involved in litigations with

other parties through various businesses.

Q And have you ever been before the discovery

commissioner?

A I have prior to her being appointed to the -- or

prior to her election to the Supreme Court -- or appointment --

oh, no, she's on the appellate court.  

Prior to her appointment to the appellate court.

THE COURT:  And that would be Commissioner Bulla?

THE WITNESS:  Yes.

THE COURT:  Okay.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q And did you learn at that hearing in front of Judge

Bulla that somehow you didn't have to answer a question until a

Judge or a commissioner ruled on an objection?

A That's my understanding.

Q So I asked you the question again, and your answer
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is -- 

I'm going to ask the question again.  What are the

source of funds SJCV used to pay for SHAC's obligations to CBC?

Various sources of funds.  There are various sources

of funds.  The documents speak for themselves.  Your question

is overly broad, and I'm not going to get into SJC's business

outside its relevant to this matter.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q And I asked the court reporter to certify the

question; correct?

A You do.

THE COURT:  Do you still certify questions?

(No audible response.) 

THE COURT:  Nevermind.

MR. MUSHKIN:  The reporter didn't say no I don't do

that anymore.

THE COURT:  They tell me they just mark them.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Yeah.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q So we had a rather lengthy discussion about your

ability to object.  Do you recall that, sir?

A You asked a lot of questions that day.  I don't

recall with specificity this one question.

Q I'm not sure that was responsive to my question, sir.
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A I don't recall with specificity --

Q Would you like me to read back my question?

THE WITNESS:  Please.

THE COURT:  He says he doesn't remember.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q I asked you, What representations that you made to

CBC upon entering into the transaction?

Do you see that question?

A Which page and which line?

Q Page 10, line 16?

A I do.

Q And Ms. Barraza objects as to form.  Do you see that?

A I do.

Q Now, I notice that you answered the question.  So if

your understanding is that you don't answer until somebody

rules on it, why are you answering questions then, sir, after

an objection?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Objection, Your Honor.  Misstates the

testimony.  Relevance.

THE COURT:  Overruled.

You can answer.

THE WITNESS:  That's not what I said.  I didn't say

that you don't answer questions after an objection.  I said

that if you choose not to answer a question with an objection,

you can -- my experience has been you can request a decision
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from the discovery commissioner about whether an answer can be

compelled.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Did your attorney seek any sort of protection for any

of these questions, sir?

A I don't know that she did.

Q And then you answered the question, and you answered,

The question is overly broad as well.  Do you have a specific

representation or representations to which you are referring?

And do you see my response to you?

A Yes.  Your response was, I'm asking the questions.

You don't get to tell me whether my questions are overly broad.

Q Your lawyer can make that objection, but you don't

get to object.  Your (sic) answer my questions.

And then do you see your response?

A (No audible response.)

Q Mr. Mushkin, I get to enter objections as well, and I

just did.  So if you would like to make a more specific

question, I'd be happy to address it.

Do you see that?

A Correct.

Q I'm asking you.

And then you answer, All representations over the

last four or five years is overly broad, and I'm not able to

answer.
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Do you see that?

A Yes.

Q And then I go on to ask you, I'm asking about the

representations that you made before you signed the agreements

in question in this case.  I'm asking about specific

representations that you made to CBC.  Do you recall any of

them?

And what was your response, sir?

A Not off the top of my head.  If you have a specific

representation or representations you would like to ask me

about, I'd be happy to address them.

Q And is it your testimony before this Court at the

time of your deposition you didn't remember any of the

representations that you made?

A Um...

Q Well, let's go through them, sir.

A Yeah, that would be --

Q There's a hundred thousand dollars in repairs.  You

didn't remember about the hundred thousand in repairs?

A No, I did not remember about the hundred thousand

dollars in repairs.

Q There was a quiet title action --

A I'm sorry.  I'm still answering the question.

THE COURT:  You got to let him finish, Mr. Mushkin.

You can finish, sir.
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THE WITNESS:  No, I did not remember any of the

representation specifically in the context of the question.  If

you had asked me about the $100,000, that would have refreshed

my recollection, and I would've been able to answer it, and I

can do so now.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q So you didn't remember about the hundred thousand;

correct?

A Not at the time you asked me the question.

Q And you didn't remember about the quiet-title action;

correct?

A Not at the time you asked me the question during the

deposition.

Q And you didn't remember about the balloon payment;

correct?

A I knew that there was a balloon payment that was due,

but I didn't think of it in terms of a representation.

Q And you --

A Which is why I was asking for clarification.

Q You didn't remember the...

A You can't remember?

Q No.  I have a whole list.  I'll deal with them in

order.

You didn't remember any of them.  Okay.

So then I asked you, Do you recall providing tax
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returns?

Do you remember what you answered?

A Yes.  I have it in front of -- I don't remember, but

I'm reading the transcript.  So I answered, I do not.

Q That's not true, is it?

A No, that's true.

Q Sir, you provided tax returns in this case in advance

of the forbearance agreement.  We've admitted them in evidence.

Would like me to show them to you?

A Are you talking -- what tax returns?  Because I

understood this to be tax returns with respect to Spanish

Heights Acquisition Company.  So I --

Q I asked you if you provided tax returns.  It doesn't

say any party.  I asked you if you provided tax returns?

A In the context of the question, I understood your

question to be tax returns related to Spanish Heights

Acquisition Company.

Q Okay.  So then I direct your attention to 1041.

And what do you say?

A So you said, Oh, no, I'm lying.

And then I said, Certainly.

Q It's 1044.

A You said, It's 1044.  We're going to pull it up to

you.

And I said, Thank you.
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Q And now I show you the federal tax returns; correct?

A (No response.)

Q Your 2014 --

A Yes.

Q -- federal U.S. individual income tax return to CBC.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q And what was your answer?

A I said I'm not confirming or denying I provided my

tax return.  I just don't have a recollection.

Q So when you're provided the document, you still don't

remember providing it, sir?

A I didn't at the time of the deposition.  There were a

lot of documents flying in a very short period of time.

Q Did you have counsel for the preparation and

execution of the forbearance agreement?

A I don't remember having counsel.  I don't think I

used counsel for it.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Court's indulgence one minute.

THE COURT:  Okay.

(Pause in the proceedings.) 

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Mr. Bloom, can you see Exhibit 104, page 001801?

A I can.  Yes.

Q And the subject is loan docs; correct?
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A Correct.

Q And can you see who it's to?

A It's to me.

Q And who is that from?

A It's from Vernon Nelson, the attorney for CBC.

Q I don't think so.  Look at the top of the page:

8/27/2017; 10:17 a.m.; from Jay Bloom to Vernon Nelson, Jay

Bloom --

A Hang on a second.  The top of the page says from

Vernon Nelson to Jay Bloom.  I don't know if there's more above

that.

Q Sir, 1801.

THE COURT:  He may have --

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Your Honor, I just object.

THE COURT:  -- not all of the document's showing on

the Elmo.  Thank you.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Oops.

THE COURT:  It's all right.  We'll help you.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Thank you, Judge.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  I was (indiscernible) confusing --

MR. MUSHKIN:  I said I know how to use the Elmo.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  I thought you knew how to use that.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Obviously not.

Sorry, Mr. Bloom.

/ / / 
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BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Now, let's take a look at it.

From Jay Bloom to Vernon Nelson.  Copy Alan Hallberg,

Joseph Gutierrez.  Regarding loan docs,

I have copied my counsel Joe Gutierrez

on my comments as well so we can conduct

parallel discussions with our respective

attorneys.  Please see below and attached.

Do you see that, sir?

A I do.

Q Does that refresh your recollection as to who your

attorney was for this transaction?

A So Mr. Gutierrez was the attorney for First 100.  He

was copied because First 100 had to sign off on -- and his firm

had to sign off on the assignment under the judgment to CBC.

THE COURT:  So you're saying "my counsel" didn't mean

"my counsel."  It meant First 100's counsel?

THE WITNESS:  Yeah.  I've used that --

THE COURT:  Okay.  It's all right.  I'm just asking

if that's what your testimony is.

THE WITNESS:  Yeah.  In this -- yes.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. MUSHKIN:  There's no question before you,

Mr. Bloom.

THE WITNESS:  There was a question from --
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BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Now, let's go a little farther.

THE COURT:  Same document?

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q It's the prior email from Vernon Nelson to you,

Mr. Bloom.  Do you see that?

A I do.

Q And here's a draft of the loan document.  Do you see

that?

A I do.

Q Do you see the deal points?

A (No response.)

Q Why don't you take a minute and look at that.

A I'm reading it now.

I think, if you're asking me about --

Q I'm not asking you yet, sir.  I'm just asking you to

take a look at it.  When you're ready, I'll start asking

questions.

A Okay.  When you say take a look at it, you were

referencing the deal points.  The deal points seemed to go off

the bottom of the page on the Elmo.

Q They do.  When you're down at the bottom, I'll give

you the next page.  Just let me know.

A Okay.  I'm down at the bottom.

Q Have you gotten all the way through paragraph 4?
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THE COURT:  He couldn't because it wasn't all on the

screen.

Okay.  And if you could move it over to the left a

little bit.  There you go.  Stop.

Mr. Bloom, can you --

You got to push it up just a tad.

Mr. Bloom, can you read the whole thing now, the rest

of 4?

THE WITNESS:  Yes.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Let us know when you're done.

MS. FOLEY:  Michael, can you move your finger.  Thank

you.

THE WITNESS:  Okay.

THE COURT:  Is there more on the next portion of the

email?

MR. MUSHKIN:  Yes.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Are you done?

A Yes.

MS. FOLEY:  Scoot it to the left a little.

THE WITNESS:  Do you want to -- I'm done with what's

on the screen if you want to slide it down it more.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Okay.

THE WITNESS:  Well, I haven't seen the rest of the

document.
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MR. MUSHKIN:  No.  We're going to get to the rest of

it.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Do you see that, sir, where it says concurrent with

the attorneys and CBC Partners?

A No, it's off the --

Q -- thanks much, Jay?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  It's --

MS. FOLEY:  Scoot it down a little.

THE WITNESS:  It's off the screen.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Objection.  Your Honor, this is not

the document that's being shown.

THE COURT:  Can you scoot down.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  There you go.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Do you see that?

THE COURT:  Do you see it in blue at the top?

THE WITNESS:  Yeah, I do see it.

THE COURT:  Okay.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Okay.  So do you see anywhere in here where it talks

about substitute collateral?

A Well, I don't know.  It was at the bottom of the page

that you didn't go down to.

Q There's nothing at the bottom.
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THE WITNESS:  Oh, no, the previous page that you only

showed half the page.

THE COURT:  And that was the part we looked at all

the way to 4, remember?  So if you go all the way to the bottom

where we see 4 again.

THE WITNESS:  Right.  Then there was the next page

that he put up.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q 5.

A Right.  And then the bottom of this page you

didn't --

Q So it would be 7, security agreement.

A So the collateral --

Q And then the end of the letter there?

A No.  Right.  But the previous page --

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Objection, Your Honor --

THE WITNESS:  -- that you just pulled away --

MR. GUTIERREZ:  -- he's trying to answer the

question.

THE COURT:  Could you go back to the prior page.

Okay.

THE WITNESS:  So your question was there any other

collateral --

MR. MUSHKIN:  No, sir.

/ / / 
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BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Substitute collateral?

A Yeah.  That portion of the SJC beneficial interest in

the judgment is necessary to secure the secured -- and the

language goes off the page -- estimated to be about

$700 million.  We only need to secure about 3 million.

So, yeah, that's the substitute collateral.

Q Where does it say substitute collateral?

A That's the purpose of the collateral.

Q Show me where it says that, sir?

A It's not in that language, but conceptually that's

what it is.

Q In fact, in your email that I read to you earlier, it

said additional collateral, didn't it?

A Yes.

Q Thank you.  And I wanted to show you that one more

time, sir.  Because not only does it say additional, it says

additional full collateral, doesn't it?

A Where are you looking?

Q My thoughts is that this proposal gets the third

lender a full recovery of its note balance plus all protected

advances past and future, interim cash flow and provides

interim additional full collateral where given the current

value of the property of the third position lender is currently

unsecured; correct?
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A Where given the current value of the property, the

third position --

If you could scroll over.

MS. FOLEY:  Scoot to the left, Michael.

THE WITNESS:  -- is currently unsecured.

Yes, that's what it said, and that was the context of

the proposal initially.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q And you wrote this document, didn't you?

A Well, I wrote the responses to an email that was sent

to me.  So part of it was written by me.

Q Okay.  You don't argue that the pledge agreement

recites a hundred percent of the interest; correct?

A Correct.

Q Yet you just alleged that -- I'm going to do it

again.  I'm going to get it out of order, SJCV -- is that the

right order?

A SJCV.

Q I keep questioning it now.

A You got it.

MR. MUSHKIN:  I reversed it one day, Judge, and I'm

just lost.  I can't get in the right order.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q SJCV.  You don't argue that the forbearance agreement

says a hundred percent; correct?
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A Yes.  Although it's not signed by SJCV.

Q No, the forbearance agreement.

A Oh, the forbearance agreement, yes.

Q Yes.  And the forbearance agreement is signed by

SJCV?

A Right.

Q And you don't argue that the amended forbearance says

a hundred percent; correct?

A Correct.

Q And that the amended forbearance agreement is signed

by SJCV.

A Correct.

Q And you don't argue that each of those documents

contained merger clauses, do you?

A Which merger clause are you referring to?

Q That all modifications had to be in writing?

A Well, you'd have to show me the documents.

Q Okay.  I'll show you.

(Pause in the proceedings.) 

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q I would direct your attention to Exhibit 1.

Now, Mr. Bloom, who are the parties to this

agreement?

A Kenneth and Sheila Antos Living Trust, CBC

Partners I, Kenneth and Sheila Antos individually, and
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SJC Ventures.

Q Spanish Heights Acquisition Company is also a party,

are they not?  Look at the first page, sir.

A I'm looking at the signature page because that's

who's a party to the agreement.  They have to sign it to be

party.

So, no, I'm not seeing Spanish Heights as a signatory

to this.

Q Take a look at the first page.  It recites Spanish

Heights Acquisition Company, LLC, and SJC Ventures.  Do you see

that?

A I do.

Q But then discloses the amended note; is that correct?

A Where are you at?

Q Paragraph 2.

A Yes.

Q And it tells you the date; correct?

A Well, it says, The amended note is secured by

personal guarantees --

Q Just above that, sir.

A -- signed by Kenneth and Sheila Antos --

Q It gives you the date of 2012, June 22nd, 2012, and

identifying the note in paragraph 1; correct?

A In paragraph 2, it does not.

Q I'm asking you about paragraph 1, sir.
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A Okay.  You had me looking at paragraph 2.

In paragraph 1, yes, it addresses the date of June

22nd, 2012.

Q And it says at the fourth line of that -- the third

line of that paragraph,

All of which have been executed by KCI

Investments and Preferred Restaurant Brands,

Inc.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q So it was disclosed to you in advance of

September 27th that the KCI and Preferred were parties to the

note; is that fair?

A It was disclosed as part of this document.  It was

never discussed, and I didn't know the nature of KCI and

Preferred Restaurant Brands involvement in the note, whether

they were co-guarantors, co-borrowers.  I didn't have any

context in which to put that --

Q Okay.  Well, let's --

A -- and quite frankly, I didn't even look at their

names in this forbearance agreement.

Q Okay.  So you didn't read it.  Is that what you're

saying?

A I read it, but I didn't -- I didn't pick up the

names.
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Q No problem.

Now let's look at the second paragraph.  The amended

note is secured by certain personal guarantees signed by

Kenneth and Sheila Antos.  Do you see that?

A I do.

Q The amended note is also secured by certain security

agreements, subsidiary guarantees and inter-creditor

agreements, deeds of trust, assignment of rents and fixture

filings collectively the security agreements.  Do you see that?

A I do.

Q So you were aware that there were other guarantees;

correct?

A Again, at the time it didn't register it, but yes, in

this document it clearly says that -- it clearly references the

security agreements, which we've come to learn represent the

security agreements of the borrower KCI and Preferred

Restaurant Brands.

Q So the paragraph 5 says, pursuant to the terms

hereunder, the Antos Trust intends to convey the property to

SHAC.  Do you see that?

A Yes.

Q Okay.  Paragraph 4, SHAC intends to rent the property

to SJCV.  Do you see that?

A Paragraph 4?

Q Yes.
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A Okay.  We have two paragraph 4s.  Paragraph 4 on

page 3 --

Q You are correct.

A Yes, paragraph 4 on page 3 says that.

Q Okay.  Then paragraph B starts at the bottom of the

page, amended note and advance of default.  Do you see that?

A I do see it.

Q So and you signed this document on behalf of SHAC and

on behalf of SJCV; right?

A I signed this document on behalf of SJC.

Q Okay.  So you don't dispute the numbers contained in

this paragraph; is that correct?

A Paragraph 4 on page 3?

Q Paragraph 1 at the bottom of page 3.

A Okay.

Q And it goes on to page 4.

A Yeah.  To the extent that the Antos party refers to

Kenneth and Sheila Antos individually, no, I don't dispute

these numbers.

Q And you don't dispute the numbers as they relate to

the note and deed of trust specifically, do you?

A Well, I dispute the numbers as they relate to the

deed of trust.  I don't dispute the note -- I don't dispute the

numbers as they relate to the commercial loan to the

restaurant.
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Q I believe I understand your testimony.  I believe

what you're saying is what you testified earlier, that somehow

the deed of trust is defective and doesn't convey a security

interest.  Is that what you're trying to say?

A Well, there's a commercial restaurant loan; right?

And there's --

Q Which was disclosed in the very beginning to you.

A I'm sorry.  I'm still answering.

THE COURT:  You've got to let him finish,

Mr. Mushkin.

Mr. Bloom.

THE WITNESS:  There's a commercial restaurant loan.

In 2014, there is a deed of trust by the Antos Trust

which has no nexus to that loan.  It's not a borrower.  It's

not a guarantor.

So, yes, the deed of trust has a defect, and this

note would not be applicable to the deed of trust.  The deed of

trust at the time it issued secured an obligation of zero.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q So let's --

THE WITNESS:  Which created the defect.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  And, Your Honor, I'm going to just

object.  He's still -- he's interrupting Mr. Bloom.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Sorry.  I thought you were done.

THE COURT:  All right.  You finished; correct,
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Mr. Bloom?

THE WITNESS:  Yes.

THE COURT:  All right.  Now, Mr. Mushkin.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q So now let's take a look at page 5 of this document

under paragraph 2.  What's the title of that paragraph, sir?

A Reaffirmation of Loans.

Q And it says,

In pertinent part except as modified by

this forbearance agreement the Antos parties

and the SJCV parties reaffirm all obligations

due to CBC I under the amended note and

modified deed of trust.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q And did you understand at the time that you signed

this document that you were reaffirming these documents --

reaffirming these documents?

A I was reaffirming what I understood at the time it

was signed to be a third mortgage against the property, not a

commercial loan to a restaurant.

Q Well, isn't it true that it was disclosed that the

loan was executed by KCI and Preferred Brands?

A Not in context.  It was never --

Q It was disclosed though, wasn't it?
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A -- it was never discussed.  And while this document

references it, it doesn't say how they were related to what was

represented as a third mortgage, which turned out not to be the

case.

Q I'm going to ask you the question again, sir, and I'd

appreciate it if you'd answer my question.

Isn't it true that it was disclosed that the note was

with KCI and Preferred Brands?

THE COURT:  That's a yes or no, sir.

THE WITNESS:  Sort of.  It was a -- it was a --

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q It's a yes or no, sir.  I don't need an explanation.

THE COURT:  It was a yes or no, sir.

THE WITNESS:  Yes.

THE COURT:  Mr. Gutierrez will allow you to explain

if he needs to you when he gets back up on redirect or cross.

THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Yes.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q So now let's look at paragraph 4.5.

A Okay.

Q Do you see that paragraph?

A I do.

Q And it gives CBC the right to exercise all of its

rights and remedies.  Do you see that?

A I do.
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Q And you signed this document.  Do you recall that?

A Yes.

Q Now let's take a look at the conditions to

forbearance.

A Okay.

Q 5.1, no new defaults.  Do you see that?

A I do.

Q You allowed a lien to be recorded on this property

for a health and safety hazard; is that correct?

A No.  I never allowed the lien to be recorded.

Q You didn't pay it, did you?

A It wasn't a legitimate lien.  So I just --

Q That's not my question, sir.

A I disputed it, and I'm litigating it, and I continue

to litigate it.

Q And it is a lien against this property; correct?

A And it's being disputed.

Q But you haven't bonded this lien, have you?

A I have not.

Q Okay.  So no other lenders; I don't think that was

particularly applicable.

The next one says delivery of outstanding items.  Do

you see that?

A I do.

Q The next one is delivery of consent.  Do you see
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that?

A I do.

Q The next one is,

Pursuant to certain sales, finance and

collection of the judgment, the Antos parties

and SJC parties will undertake efforts to

obtain financing to satisfy the note prior to

the termination of the forbearance period.

Such efforts shall include efforts to obtain

alternative finding, SJC efforts to collect

on the judgment and to use any monies

collected to pay the amended note in

accordance with the terms of the judgment

lien pledge agreement described in Exhibit B.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q Did you make any efforts to refinance the property?

A I did.

Q And did you provide any documents to show that you

did?

A No documents exist.  They were all phone calls to

private lenders.

Q And do you have the names of those private lenders?

A They were introduced by third parties.  So it was one

conversation and a quick no.  There was insufficient equity in
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the property to refinance the notes.

Q So 5.8 says,

During the forbearance period and unless

otherwise agreed to in writing, CBC I, the

Antos parties will not incur any liability or

expend capital expenditures and improvements

over and above the amount of 125,000.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q Have you provided any evidence to show that you spent

the 100,000 that you contracted for?

A This doesn't -- this says I won't spend above

125,000 --

Q I understand what it says, sir, but I'm asking you a

specific question.  Did you provide any evidence to support

that you spent a hundred thousand dollars to bring this quality

up -- this property to top-quality condition?

A Your question was in the context of what I contracted

for, and that's not what the contract says.  So yes, I provided

evidence of expenditures.

Q What evidence did you provide, sir?

A I provided you HVAC repairs, and I believe we

provided the home automation improvements, home automation

system replacement.

Q Do you know how much --
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A And I provided pool -- pool repairs as well.

Q So the contract -- let me back it up a little bit.

You got possession in advance of the September 27th

date; correct?

A Shortly before I believe, yes.

Q Sometime in August?

A Okay.

Q And you requested that to allow for repairs to be

made; correct?

A Correct.

Q And have you provided any evidence to show that

repairs were made during that period of time?

A I don't know that the repairs were required to be

made during that period of time under the agreement.

Q That's not my question, sir.

My question is did you provide any evidence of

repairs during that period of time?  It's a simple yes-or-no

answer.

A I believe yes.

Q Can you show them to me?

A I don't know if they were admitted as exhibits, but

they're receipts for HVAC repairs.

Q Is that the only repairs you recall are HVAC repairs?

A During that period of time.  There are additional

improvements subsequent to that three month period.
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Q And have you provided receipts to show those

subsequent improvements?

A I believe so, yes.

Q Okay.  I don't want to go into it now, but I'm going

to ask you at the lunch hour to find your repairs so that you

can show them to us at lunch, and when we pick up --

THE COURT:  Do you mean after lunch?

MR. MUSHKIN:  After lunch.  I'm sorry.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q You can show them -- we'll go into them after lunch.

I'm going to move on to other parts of the contract right now,

but I'd like you to show me what you've produced.

A Okay.

THE COURT:  So, Mr. Gutierrez, we'll reopen the

courtroom at 1:00 o'clock.  So if you want to leave the binders

in here.  We'll start 15 minutes after that to give you time to

find the documents if you haven't found them, but we're not

stopping for another 15 minutes.

Keep going, Mr. Mushkin.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Yes, ma'am.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Now, I'd like you to look at paragraph 5.9.  What's

the title of that paragraph, sir?

A Additional collateral.

Q Do you see anywhere where it talks about substitute
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collateral?

A No, I do not.

Q There's a series of negative covenants; is that

correct?

A Okay.  Yes.

Q Now, I'd like you to look at 5.11.2.

A Yes.

Q What does that paragraph say?

A It says,

Except for the liens arising under the

amended note and modified deed of trust, the

Antos parties and SJC parties will not allow

any new liens to be secured by the property

which is owned or hereafter acquired by the

Antos parties and SJC parties or any of their

affiliated companies.

Q And that term was violated in March of 2020; correct?

A No, it was not.

Q There was a lien recorded by the homeowners

association; was there not?

A But it was not allowed.  They did it anyway, and it's

being fought.  It's being litigated.  And actually it was

brought by your client as a member of the board.

Q I don't even --

A Who is your lender to buy the note.
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Q -- know what you're talking about.  Who --

A Mr. Russo is on the board for Spanish Hills.

Mr. Russo is the lender to 5148, your company --

Q Mr. --

A -- which is trying to acquire the property.

Q Do you know when Mr. Russo -- well, first of all, how

do you know Mr. Russo?

A I've never met him, but I'm aware of who he is.

Q How do you know who he is?

A I've had people talk to me about who bought the house

from Rhodes.

Q Who?

A Workers that work at the property.

Q "Workers that work at the property."

So are you telling me that you've trespassed onto

5212's property to talk with workers?

A I have not entered that property since the Rhodes

have sold it.  Not even --

Q What workers are you talking about, sir?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  And, Your Honor, objection.  Let him

finish -- he needs to finish the question and answer.

THE COURT:  Sir, did you have anything to add?  I

thought you had completed your answer, but Mr. Gutierrez

disagrees.

THE WITNESS:  I had not gone on to -- I have not been
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in the property or even on the grounds of that property since

the Rhodes have sold it.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Then how did you meet workers?

A The workers use the streets to access the property,

and I can talk to the worker from the street, as can my son.

We talked to the worker from the street.

Q Your son has actually been on the property since the

acquisition by Dacia, hasn't he?

A My understanding is that a worker invited him in.

Q Oh.

A Along with Mr. Rhodes.

Q Oh.  They invited him to tip over a Porta Potty.  Is

that what they invited him to do?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Objection, Your Honor.

THE WITNESS:  He didn't do that even though you made

that false allegation.

THE COURT:  Overruled.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q You're denying that that took place?

A I'm denying that he did it and that there's video

evidence showing that he didn't do it.

Q Oh, I see.

A But you disregard any -- any evidence that doesn't --

that isn't convenient to your narrative.
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Q So I'd like you to look at paragraph 6.  It starts on

page 14.

THE COURT:  Conditions precedent?

MR. MUSHKIN:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Thank you.

THE WITNESS:  Okay.  I'm there.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Do you see that provision?

A (No audible response.)

Q Did you read it at the time you signed the agreement?

A I'm sure I must have.

Q And you see at 6.2 you agree to reimburse CBC I's

cost and expenses?

A I do.

Q Did you do that?

A I don't recall ever being provided a bill or an

invoice for a request for payment relating to this paragraph.

Q The paragraph 8 is the Antos parties and the SJCV

parties representations and warranties.  Do you see that?

A I do.

Q Now, I want to make sure before you take the time to

do it, that you now go back and make sure that SJCV signed this

document.

Do you see where SJC Ventures signed it?

THE COURT:  Page 25.
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THE WITNESS:  Yes, I do.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Okay.  Let's look at the first one.  First of all,

the accuracy of the representations in the forbearance

agreement and amended deed of trust.  You represent that

your -- that they are true and correct.  Do you see that?

A I do.

Q Then you see 8.2 says that there's no default other

than the identified defaults.  Do you see that?

A I do.

Q And then it says 8.3,

To the extent applicable, the Antos

parties and the SJC parties lawfully possess

and hold a hundred percent ownership interest

in the property and collateral for this

forbearance agreement.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q The Antos parties and the SJCV parties own all the

collateral for the amended note and modified deed of trust free

and clear of any defects, reservations of title and conditional

sales contracts and free and clear of any liens and security

interest other than the liens and security interest in favor of

CBC I.

Do you see that?
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A I do.

Q There is no financing statement affecting any

collateral for the obligation and the Antos parties and the SJC

parties in any public office except for financing statement in

favor of CBC I.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q Then 8.4 discloses about the judgment.  Do you see

that?

A I do.

Q 8.7, Enforceable amended note and modified deed of

trust.  No conflicts.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q And it says in pertinent part,

The amended note and modified deed of

trust and the forbearers agreement are legal,

valid and binding agreements against --

agreements of Antos parties and the SJC

parties enforceable in accordance with their

respective terms and any instrument or

agreement required hereunder or when executed

or delivered is or will be similarly legal,

valid, binding and enforceable.

This forbearance agreement does not
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conflict with any law, agreement or

obligation by which Antos parties and the

SJCV parties is bound.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q And did you agree to that when you signed the

agreement?

A To the extent that I understood that there was a

first mortgage and that the Antos parties now represent the Ken

and Sheila Antos individually, yes.

Q Now, the next one is the Antos parties'

acknowledgments.  Do you see that?

A I do.

Q And did you see at 9.7,

Fair consideration all payments made and

security granted by Antos and SJCV parties

under the amended note and modified deed of

trust and this forbearance agreement are for

fair consideration and reasonably equivalent

value.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q Item 10 is a release.  Do you see that?

MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor, I'm going to spend quite a

bit of time on the release.  Perhaps now is a good time to
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break.

THE COURT:  So are you going to stop now?  Okay.

Thank you.

1:15.  We'll open the door at 1:00 so Mr. Gutierrez

can get back in to look for those documents with Mr. Bloom.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  I found them already, Your Honor.

So.

THE COURT:  Oh, you did?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Yeah.

THE COURT:  So can we start at 1:00?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  1:00 o'clock is fine.

THE COURT:  Okay.  We'll see you guys at 1:00.

We are in recess.

(Proceedings recessed at 11:54 a.m., until 12:58 p.m.) 

(Pause in the proceedings.) 

THE CLERK:  Mr. Bloom, come on back up.  You're still

under oath.

Mr. Mushkin, did you get the homework assignment

report from Mr. Gutierrez?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Your Honor, it's Exhibit 98.

THE COURT:  Thank you.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  It's been admitted.  These are

invoices from Infinity Air.  The request was for the documents

of improvements to the property.  These are dated June 2018.  I

guess --
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THE COURT:  All I needed was a number.  98.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Okay.  98, Your Honor.  That's

admitted.

THE COURT:  Thank you, Mr. Gutierrez.  I just wanted

make sure the homework assignment was done.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q So let's take a look at 98 real fast as long as it's

on everybody's mind.

A My exhibit package goes through 64.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Mr. Gutierrez.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  He can have my copy, but this is the

problem we had yesterday.

THE COURT:  What are you missing, guys?

MR. MUSHKIN:  The next book for the witness.

THE COURT:  Oh.  That was a mistake.

THE WITNESS:  Should we just put it on the overhead?

(Pause in the proceedings.) 

MR. MUSHKIN:  May I take this to the witness, Your

Honor?

THE COURT:  You may not.

Ramsey.

MR. MUSHKIN:  May Mr. Gutierrez take it to his --

THE COURT:  No.  I've been making the witness go down

to the table, but I'll let Ramsey in his secure position

deliver it.
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MR. MUSHKIN:  It's just killing me.  It's just

killing me.

THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

THE MARSHAL:  You're welcome.

MR. MUSHKIN:  You are just killing me, Judge.

THE COURT:  You know, somebody asked for video of our

proceedings yesterday.  So if I'm not acting appropriately,

they will know.  So I'm trying very, very hard.

MR. MUSHKIN:  I know who that is, Your Honor.  I know

exactly who that is.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Mr. Bloom, would you turn to Exhibit 98.

A Okay.  I'm at 98.

Q And do you see 00148?

A I do.

Q And that's for the amount of $6,000; correct?

A Correct.

Q And I'll direct your attention to the next page,

1049.  That's 3500; right?

A Correct.

Q Now, let's go to 1050.  That's twenty-five hundred

thirty-one; right?

A Correct.

Q Now let's go to the next one.  And that's four

thousand, two, eighty-five; is that correct?
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A Correct.

Q The next one is $254?

A Correct.

Q Do you know how much those total up to, sir?

A I do not.

Q Well, it's less than 20,000.

A Okay.

Q Do you have any other receipts that you've performed

repairs on the property?

A I don't know that they're exhibit -- admitted as

exhibits, but, yes.

Q Well, have you produced them in this case?

A I don't think they've been produced --

Q Thank you.

A -- in the exhibits here.

Q I would like you to look at the date of 1048.

A Okay.

Q That's 2018; correct?

A Correct.

Q And all of these are dated after that June date.  The

next one is August of '18; is that correct?

A Correct.

Q The next one is April of '19?

A Correct.

Q The next one is June of '19?
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A Correct.

Q And the last one is August of '19.  Do you see that?

A I do.

Q Do you have any evidence of repairs being made in

2017?

A Do I?  Yes.

Q Where are they?

A They're not included in this exhibit.

Q So you haven't produced them?

A They're not -- do I have them?  Yes.  They haven't --

they're not included in this exhibit.

Q Why haven't they been produced?

A I don't know.

Q So you got discovery requests in this matter; is that

correct?

A I'm sure.

Q And you were asked to produce all evidence of

repairs; correct?

A I don't remember what the discovery was --

Q Okay.

A -- encapsulated.

Q It's your testimony that you were not or you just

don't recall?

A I don't recall any specific discovery requests.

Q Do you know how many times you said I don't recall
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during your deposition, sir?

A No.

Q If I told you you said that 51 times, would you

dispute it?

A I have no basis to dispute it, but it was a very long

deposition.  So it's entirely possible.

Q Now, remember you testified that you said you didn't

get the note?

A I don't recall getting the note at the time of the

transaction.

Q So let's take a look at the screen.  And I would

direct your attention to an email from you to Mr. Hallberg

August 11th.  Do you see that?

A I do.

Q Do you see the part that is highlighted --

Well, first of all, do you recognize this as your

email?

A I do.

Q And I'd like you to look down where it says,

Following are points for CBC Partners

proposed 11th modification to secured

promissory note.

A I see it.

Q How would you know that there would be an 11th

modification if you hadn't seen the note and its ten
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modifications?

A I don't recall, although it could have been a topic

of discussion.

Q It's still your testimony that you didn't see the

note?

A I don't recall seeing the note.

Q And it's still your testimony that you didn't know it

was a commercial note?

A No.  Yes, it's still my testimony that no, I didn't

know it was a commercial note.  It had been represented to me

as a third mortgage for the entirety of the conversations.

Q And it was also represented to you to be a note that

was from Mr. Antos's company; correct?

A No.

Q Well, let's look at the forbearance agreements, sir.

That's Exhibit 1.

A Okay.  I'm on Exhibit 1.

(Pause in the proceedings.) 

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Let's look at paragraph A of the recitals.

A Okay.

Q Doesn't it say in paragraph 1 that,

CBC is the holder of a certain secured

promissory note dated June 22nd, which was

amended by 10 subsequent amendments, all of
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which have been executed by KCI Investments,

LLC, and Preferred Brands, collectively the

amended note?

Do you see that, sir?

A I do see it.

Q So how is it that you come before this Court and

somehow think that you were not told this was a KCI Preferred

Brands note?

A My recollection focuses primarily on the

conversations that occurred telephonically.  I skimmed these

documents, and I missed the names of KCI and Preferred

Restaurant Brands.

I want to be clear.  I think Mr. Hallberg is

honorable in what he says, and he's trying to be truthful, but

I think we both rushed the documents, and we both probably

missed some things.

In my case, I missed -- I missed the involvement of

KCI and Preferred Restaurant Brands in this document.

But when I say I was unaware of them, it's because of

the verbal conversations.  It was always maintained that it was

a third mortgage.

And again, I don't think it was with the intent to

deceive.  I think that's what Mr. Hallberg actually believed,

but I don't think that's what the documents reflect.

Q I'd like you to look at page 19.  Do you see under
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Item 15, Integration?

A I do.

Q I'd like you to look at the last line where it says,

No modification of this forbearance

agreement or the amended note and modified

deed of trust shall be effective unless in

writing and signed by the applicable parties

to be bound thereby.

Do you see that?

A Is that on page 20?

Q Yes, sir, it is.

A I was looking on the last line on page 19 that you

asked me to look at.

Q No.  It was the last line of Provision 15.  It's on

page 20.

A Okay.  Okay.  I see it.

Q I'd also like you to look at the notice provision.

A Okay.

Q Do you see where the notice provision for both

Spanish Heights and SJC Ventures is on that page?

A I do.

Q And who does the notice go to for these agreements?

A Maier Gutierrez.

Q And is it still your testimony that they were not

your counsel for these agreements?
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A Not on this particular matter, yes.

Q Well, why did you tell Mr. Hallberg and Mr. Nelson

that they were your attorneys?

A Well, when I refer to them as my attorneys, I was

referring to First 100 and its role.

Maier Gutierrez has been my attorneys on a number of

cases for the last 10 years, and -- but they never were

retained for this matter.

Q Did it say anywhere -- well, how does first -- does

it say anywhere in here that they are First 100's attorneys?

A I believe that's on the agreement where the payment

instructions, where they were told as First 100's attorneys to

distribute funds payable from First 100 that are payable to SJC

instead to CBC Partners.

Q But doesn't it say that they're your attorneys in

that document, sir?

A I don't believe so --

Q Well, let's take a look --

A -- but we can go back and look at the document.

Q -- real fast.

A Which exhibit?

Q I'll get there.  Give me a second.  7 or 8 I think.

Let's take a look at 11.  Take a minute and look at

that.

Is there anywhere in the body of the agreement where
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it says that they represent First 100?

A (No response.)

Q Let me direct your attention to the second page at

the bottom in very small print.

A Okay.

Q Do you see anywhere in there that it talks about

Maier Gutierrez representing anybody other than SJCV?

A I don't see that it represents SJCV.

Q Well, let's look a little farther.

A But what it does say is that First 100 holdings

represents and warrants that no party other than the collection

professionals engaged to collect the judgment and certain other

creditors of First 100 have priority to receive judgment

proceeds prior to distribution to members.

Q I see that, sir.  Let's take a look at --

A So Maier Gutierrez is one of those --

Q -- the next page.

A So Maier Gutierrez is one of those collection

attorneys collecting on the judgment.

Okay.  I'm on the next.  Page 110?

Q Let's go to look at the very bottom of 110 where it

says,

Maier Gutierrez & Associates shall

contemporaneously provide CBC I with an

accounting of how Maier Gutierrez &
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Associates intends to distribute the judgment

funds amongst the collection professionals,

the First 100 priority creditors, the members

of First 100, including the distribution of

the creditors' judgment interest.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q Anywhere in there where it says it represents First

100 to the exclusion of SJCV?

A Well, I think it's imputed that they represent First

100 since they're collecting the funds on behalf of First 100,

but, no, it doesn't mention their representation of SJC.

Q Thank you.  All right.  Now I'd like you to take a

look at Exhibit 1, page 23.

A Okay.

Q Do you understand what that provision means?

A I'm on page 23.  Which provision are you referring --

Q 25.

A Yes.

Q And that says, Cumulative remedies; right?

A It does.

Q And you agreed to that at the time you executed the

contract; correct?

A On behalf of SJC, yes.

Q So let's take a look at Exhibit 5 now.
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A Okay.

Q Do you know what this agreement is?

A The cover page indicates it's a limited liability

company agreement of Spanish Heights Acquisition.

Q Why don't you take a minute and look at it.  Make

sure you check the signature page.

Do you see your signatures there?

A I do.

Q You signed both as the investor member and as the

manager; is that correct?

A Correct.

Q Do you believe this is a binding agreement?

A I do.

Q Well, let's take a look at what your obligations are.

Would you take a look at page 12, provision F2.

A Okay.

Q Do you see where it says,

Directly permit to exist any lien or

security interest on any of the assets of the

company unless such action results in the

satisfaction of the lender CBC Partners

receivable secured by the property?

A I do.

Q You, in fact, allowed the lien to be recorded, didn't

you?
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A No, I did not.

Q Well, you didn't pay the assessment, did you?

A I did pay the assessments.

Q No.  You were assessed $19,000 as a health and safety

violation; correct?

A That's not an assessment.  That's a compliance fine

and --

Q Sir, you were assessed --

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Your Honor, object.  Let him -- to

let the witness finish the question.

THE COURT:  He had finished, Mr. Gutierrez.

Okay.  Keep going.

THE WITNESS:  No, I was still answering, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Go on, Mr. Mushkin, please.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Mr. Bloom, isn't it true that you were assessed a

fine by the HOA of approximately $19,000?

A Yes.

Q And that fine was not paid by you, was it?

A That's correct.  It was --

Q You contested the fine; correct?

A Correct.

Q But there is a lien that's been filed by the HOA;

isn't that correct?

A Which is also being disputed.
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Q Well, I appreciate that, sir, but that isn't

responsive to my question.  It's a yes-or-no question.  There

was a lien filed by the HOA; correct?

A Correct.

Q You haven't paid that lien, have you?

A Correct.

Q You haven't bonded that lien, have you?

A I have not.  Nor did I directly permit the lien to

occur.

Q Now I want to direct your attention to page 20,

Section 8.02.

A Okay.

Q Do you see that?

A I do.

Q And did you understand these member -- investor

member covenants when you signed this document?

A I believe I did.

Q So the first one under I says provide a $150,000

reserve account within 90 days of the execution of this

agreement.  You did not do that, did you?

A That requirement was waived.  So no, I did not.

Q I didn't hear your answer, sir.

A That requirement was waived.  So, no, I did not.

Q Do you have a document that says it was waived?

Signed by the parties to the agreement?
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A No.  It was waived --

Q Thank you.

A -- by the performance --

Q Let's look at 2.

A Okay.

Q Provide a second funding of annual expense reserve

one year later in an additional amount of 150,000.

Did you do that?

A No, that provision was waived as well with the

prepayment --

Q You said --

A -- in lieu of the security deposit.

Q And you don't have a written document that says that,

do you?

A Other than the checks evidence in the prepayment, no.

Q So did you prepay the second year?

A I believe so.

Q Do you have a check that shows that?

A I believe the prepayments are shown.

Q Show me where it is, sir.

A Where are the checks in these hundred exhibits?  I

don't -- I don't know where the checks are in the exhibits.

Q Well, I'll represent to you that we have no such

check, and if you can find one, we'll let you come up with it

overnight or something.  Because we don't have --
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THE COURT:  Mr. Gutierrez, do you know where they

are?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  I don't even know what checks counsel

is referring to.  We've got several checks as exhibits between

115 to 128, but if he has --

MR. MUSHKIN:  I asked the witness if he prepaid the

second year's rent, and he said yes.

And I said, Do you have a check?

THE COURT:  And he said yes.

MR. MUSHKIN:  And he said yes --

THE WITNESS:  Actually I --

MR. MUSHKIN:  -- and I haven't seen such a check.

THE WITNESS:  Actually, I believe it was by wire

transfer.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Do have -- you were asked to produce evidence of

payments in this case; is that correct?

A I'm not sure what the requests were on the

production.

Q You don't recall being asked to provide proof of

payments?

A I don't think that it's at issue that the payments

were made.

Q Mr. Bloom, I'm asking a very specific question, sir.

Did you prepay year two?
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A Yes.

Q Where's the proof of it?

A In the -- well, there should be a wire transfer

evidence somewhere in these documents, but beyond that there's

no request or demand for payment for the entirety of the year

by CBC, which would have been the case had the payment not been

made.

Q Sir, that wasn't responsive to my question.  I'm just

asking if you have any proof of it.  You haven't produced any

proof of that in this case, have you?

A There is a wire transfer evidenced, but I don't know

where it is in these documents.

Q And it's your testimony that you produced a wire

transfer for approximately 12 times $8,000 for prepayment of

year two?

THE COURT:  96,000.

MR. MUSHKIN:  I'm sorry?

THE COURT:  96,000.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Thank you, Judge.

THE COURT:  I was --

MR. MUSHKIN:  It's a little more than 8,000.  So it

would be a little more than that but...

THE WITNESS:  I don't know if it was for the monthly

amount of the rent and the taxes or just the monthly amount of

the rent.  But, yes, it would be for the amount of the first
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year's obligations which were supposed to have been secured by

the security account, but was waived in favor of prepayment

negating the need for a security account which was originally

intended to secure the payments that were now being prepaid.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q So let's look at Item 3.  Item 3 says,

Caused the company to service the

nonmember CBC Partners receivable against the

subject property commencing 90 days after the

closing of this agreement.

Do you see that?

A I see it.

Q Did you do that?

A Yeah, I believe that was what the payments that were

prepaid represented.

Q Cause to -- look at 4,

Caused the company to effect repairs to

the premises to bring back to top quality

standard and working repair.

A Yes.

Q Do you see that?

A I do.

Q And you provided us less than $20,000 worth of

receipts; isn't that correct?

A In a subset of the receipts that's not exhaustive,
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yes.

Q Where are the rest of them?

A They haven't been produced in this case.  I'm not

sure why.

Q Thank you.  Your --

Caused the company to maintain and

provide all costs related to ongoing

maintenance of the property.

Do you see that?

A Yes.

Q Caused the company -- did you do that?

A Yes.

Q Caused the company to pay all utilities?

A Yes.

Q Now, I want to go back to maintain the property.  Is

it your testimony that the solar heating system works on the

pool?

A To the best of my knowledge.

Q Mr. Bloom, you know that's not true, don't you?

A No.  We've recently had somebody up there.  It had a

leak, and he repaired it, but I think it's working now.

Q Where's the -- I'm sorry.  I didn't mean to cut you

off.

A I believe it's working --

Q Have you provided any proof of repairs to the solar
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system?

A That was actually just recent subsequent to the

provision of documents.

Q So you haven't produced them, have you?

A No.

Q Thank you.

Pay all utilities, is that -- you've done that?

A Yes.

Q Caused the company to pay for all real property

insurance.  Have you done that?

A Yes.

Q Caused the company to pay all HOA assessments and

fines.  Have you done that?

A Assessments, yes.  Fines, no.

Q Thank you.

Caused the company to pay for all landscaping.

Do you see that?

A Yes.

Q And it talks -- the next one is the First 100.  Do

you see that?

A I do.

Q At the earlier of two years upon collection of the

judgment, pay the proceeds -- pay off the CBC receivable as it

relates to the property.

Do you see that?
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A I do.

Q And that was extended by three months by the amended

forbearance agreement; is that correct?

A That's correct.

Q But other than that it remains in effect; correct?

A I believe so.

Q Thank you.  And then the next one is,

The earlier of two years or upon

collection of the judgment proceeds either

assume service or retire either or both of

the first and second position lenders.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q Have you done that?

A Yes.

Q You've assumed the loans?

A It says or -- oh, I'm sorry.  Assume service of the

loans, yes.  I've been servicing the loans for almost a year

now.

Q Isn't it true that you did not assume or retire the

loans within two years?

A Is it true that -- I'm sorry.  Can you ask that

again.

Q Sure.

A Because what you're asking is different than what the
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document says.

Q Isn't it true that you did not assume or retire

either the first or the second within two years?

A I assumed service but not assume the loan, and it was

within the period of the extension.

Q Sir, you did not service that loan the first

24 months, did you?

A No.

Q Thank you.  And you didn't service the second loan

the first 24 months, did you?

A Same situation.  I assumed service at the end of the

extension.

Q And so that would be April 1?

A Correct.

Q And you did not make payments for January, February

and March of 2000, did you?

A Nobody did in January, February and March.

Q It's your testimony that those payments were never

made?

A No.  They were never made in a timely fashion as

required by the agreement --

Q And did you notice --

A They weren't -- they weren't made in January,

February and March by CBC under its obligation --

Q And did you --
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A They were later made, but there are late fees and

penalties that were assessed that still remain outstanding to

this day because of those late payments in several thousands of

dollars.

Q Did you notice default to CBC Partners at any time?

A I did not.

Q And then let's look at 13,

At the earlier of two years or upon

collection of the judgment proceeds pay off

past due and accrued property tax assessments

if not already addressed by first or second

lender.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q And did you pay those past due property taxes?

A I believe it was addressed by the first lender.

Q No, sir.  In fact, you testified in your contempt

hearing that you were paying only the postinjunction taxes

pursuant to the Court's order; correct?

A Correct.

Q So that you in the first two years did not pay the

property taxes that had accrued; isn't that correct?

A If not addressed by the first or second lender and it

was addressed by the first lender.

Q Sir, I'm not asking you that.  If you keep --
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MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor, I'd ask you to admonish the

witness to answer my questions, or we'll be here forever.

THE COURT:  I understand.  And when it's appropriate,

I will tell him to answer your question in a certain fashion,

but I'm not going to give that as a blanket.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Mr. Bloom, my question was, you did not pay the tax

arrears during the first two years, did you?

A Correct.

Q Thank you.  And then Number 14 is,

Utilize its lawyers to effectuate a

quiet-title action for the purposes of

extinguishing any and all judgment creditor

liens against the property.

You did not do that, did you?

A Correct.

Q Now, let's take a look at -- the next provision is at

Article XI.  It says books and records.

A Okay.

Q And it says that, The company shall maintain true and

correct books and records; is that correct?

A It is.

Q Isn't it true that the LLC Spanish Hills Acquisition

Company did not have its own bank account until April of 2000?

A Correct.
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Q Isn't it true that Spanish Hills Acquisition Company

issued no tax returns up through and including today?

A I believe so.

Q And isn't it true that there had been no reports to

members as required in the next provision 1102?

A I believe so.

Q Now let's take a look at 12.04 on page 26.

A Okay.

Q It says binding agreement; correct?

A Correct.

Q Do you believe this to be a binding agreement on the

members, managers and their respective heirs, executors,

administrators, personal representatives and successors?

A (No audible response.)

Q That would be a yes?

A I didn't hear a question.  I just heard you read the

paragraph.

Q I asked you isn't it true that this is a binding

agreement against the members, managers and their respective

heirs, executors, administrators, personal representatives and

successors?

A Yes.

Q Let's take a look at Exhibit 7.

Do you see that document?

A I do.
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Q Now, before we get into this document, I want to go

back over your testimony at the time of the first application

for extraordinary relief.  The suit -- we'll do this first.

I'm sorry.  Let's go back to the forbearance agreement.

Do you see Exhibit B to the forbearance agreement?

A Yes.

Q Okay.  Now, I'd like you to look at page B3, which is

00081.

A Okay.

Q It sets forth the accuracy of the recitals.  Do you

see that?

A I do.

Q And it says that,

The Antos parties and the SJC parties as

defined in the forbearance agreement

expressly acknowledge that the recitals set

forth are true, accurate and correct.

Do you see that?

A Well, I see that it says the Anton parties, but I

assume it means the Antos parties.

Q You're right.  I'm assuming that's a typo.

A The rest of the sentence, yes, I see that.

Q Thank you.  And it says,

CBC has relied on the Antos parties' and

the SJCV parties' express acknowledgment of
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these recitals.

Do you see that?

A With the same notation as to the Anton parties, yes.

Q No problem.  But there's no question that the SJCV is

spelled properly; is that true?

A Correct.

Q According to these recitals are incorporated into the

forbearance agreement pursuant to this Exhibit B, and these

recitals are material provisions of the forbearance agreement.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q Isn't it true that in the recitals it discloses KCI

and Preferred Brands as the makers of the note?

A It references KCI and Preferred Brands.  It doesn't

reference them as the makers of the note I don't believe.

Q It certainly references them as parties to the note;

is that fair?

A But not as makers of the note, yes.

Q Well, there's either a maker and a holder.  It's

pretty obvious that CBC is loaning them money; correct?

A Or they're guarantees or they're co-borrowers, or

there are a bunch of different parties potentially to a note.

Q We're now talking about KCI, sir.

A Correct.

Q KCI was the maker of the note; true?
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A Ultimately came to learn that, yes.

Q Thank you.  Now let's talk about that for a minute.

You've testified that you learned all of this stuff, this

all -- what is parol information after you filed the lawsuit;

is that correct?

A That's correct.

Q Well, sir, then why didn't you provide the assignment

of company interest pursuant to the demand made upon SHAC -- I

mean made upon SCJV -- SJCV --

A Mr. Mushkin, could you pull your mask up over your

nose, and then I would ask you to repeat the question.  Thank

you.

THE COURT:  Thanks for catching that, sir.  Okay.

MR. MUSHKIN:  I didn't know it had slipped.

THE COURT:  It's all right.  We're all going to keep

you honest with your mask.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Isn't it true that your testimony was that you didn't

know about this defect until after the litigation started?

A Yes.

Q Then why didn't you sign over the pledge like you

promised?

A I signed over the security interest in the portion of

the judgment like I promised.  That released the --

Q Sir?
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A -- obligation to provide the pledge.

Q It says in the forbearance agreement a hundred

percent interest; right?

A Yes.

Q It says in the amended forbearance a hundred percent

interest where you ratify it; correct?

A That's what it says.

Q And then in the pledge agreement it says a hundred

percent, and it says SJCV is a party; correct?

A SJC is not a party.  The signature block was removed.

Q I didn't say that, sir.

A And that was deliberate.

Q I said they're a party to the contract in the

beginning of the contract; isn't that true?

A They were referenced --

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Object to the form of the question.

THE COURT:  Overruled.

THE WITNESS:  They were referenced in the beginning

of the contract --

MR. MUSHKIN:  Thank you.

THE WITNESS:  -- but they are not a party to the

contract under -- as a signatory.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q But it says in both the forbearance agreement and the

amended forbearance agreement that a hundred percent is being
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pledged; correct?

A That's what the agreement says.

Q And you have testified that there's some legacy

language that's wrong?

A Correct.

Q Do you recall what I asked of you the first time you

said this?

A Not really.

Q I asked you if you had any proof of it, that there

was legacy language.

A Okay.

Q And I've now gone through your testimony and showed

where it said over and over again additional collateral.

Do you recall that?

A Yes.

Q So do you have any information that substantiates

your claim that these documents contained language that isn't

correct?

A Yes.

Q What document do you have?

A The pledge agreement to which SJC is not a signatory.

Q Sir, that's not my -- that's not my question.  I'm

asking you a question if you have any document that supports

your claim of legacy language?

A Yes.
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Q What document?

A It's a combination of documents.

Q What documents?

A You can see from the initial conversations by email

that there was originally discussions as to pledging the stock,

and you can see by later actual executed documents that the

signature block was taken out and removed, and the stock was

not pledged by SJC, solely by the Antos Trust.

Q You acknowledged earlier that the execution was not

proper by either SHAC -- Spanish Heights or by SJCV; isn't that

correct?

A I think it's accurate.  I think it's -- well, it's

definitely not signed by SJC, but I think it's accurate as to

SHAC listing me as the manager in my capacity as the manager of

SJC.

Q But it doesn't list you in your capacity as the

manager of SJC, does it?

A Well, it says as manager, but that's a rather

lengthy --

Q Thank you.  It doesn't say it, does it?

A Okay.

Q Okay.  But both of the forbearance agreements say

that you're pledging your stock, and you acknowledge that

you're pledging -- that SJCV continues to pledge; correct?

A Well, it's acknowledging something that doesn't
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exist --

Q I appreciate your -- but I'm just asking you what

those documents say.  They say that you pledged; right?

A That's what the documents say.

Q Okay.  And in your July letter, you talk about

additional collateral being the judgment; correct?  Your email.

A The original proposal, the initial proposal, yes.

Q Okay.  Now, I'm going to ask you again, is there any

document other than the pledge agreement itself that you can

show that this was language that was not agreed to?

A No.

Q The pledge language was not agreed to?

A No.  The pledge agreement is -- it says it all.

Q Okay.  Thank you.

Now, you understand that -- let's take a look at the

Exhibit 8, page 2.  It says the delivery of the pledge

collateral will be done in a certain way; correct?

A It does.

Q And it specifically says the secured party shall have

the right at any time in secured party's discretion after a

nonmonetary event of default, after notice and a 30-day-cure

period having been provided to pledge orders to transfer or to

register in the name of secured party or any secured parties

nominee any or all to pledge collateral.

Do you see that?
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A I do.

Q What makes you think you still own any interest in

SHAC?

A Well, that paragraph talks about pledge collateral,

but the pledge agreement was not signed by SJC, and this also

references a nonmonetary default, and you're alleging a

monetary default on the commercial restaurant loan.

Q Well, I don't think that's quite true, sir.  Let's go

take a look at the very first letter that I sent out in March.

And I want to look at the response as well.  Give me just a

moment.

(Pause in the proceedings.) 

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Let's take a look at Exhibit 66, sir.

A Okay.

Q You received that letter?

A I believe I recall seeing this, receiving this.

Q How long did it take you to provide evidence of

homeowners insurance?

A I don't recall how long the response was.

Q And you never did produce evidence of repairs

pursuant to paragraph 3C1, did you?

A I believe we did.

Q Not in response to this letter, did you?

A I believe we did.
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Q You believe we did.  Good.  Let's go on.

Evidence of Bank of America account.  Did you provide

that?

A No, that requirement was waived.  So it was never

produced because it didn't exist.

Q Opinion letter from SJC Ventures and First 100

Holdings' counsel regarding the judgment and security agreement

pursuant to paragraph 2.  Did you ever provide that?

A I don't believe so.

Q Evidence of corporate authority and First 100

holdings pursuant to 1A13 of amendment to forbearance agreement

related agreements.  Do you see that?

A I do see it.

Q Did you provide that?

A I don't know if it was provided or not.

Q And Item 6, evidence of SJC Ventures's filing of

applications for mortgages to refinance.  Did you see that --

did you provide that?

A I do see it, and that was all verbal communication

with private lenders.  So there was nothing to provide in

response.

Q Did you provide any response to that letter?

A I believe that there was a response.

Q Say it again.

A I believe that there was a response.
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Q Well, let's take a look at Exhibit 69.  Have you ever

seen this document before?

A Yes.

Q So you didn't provide any information in response to

that letter except this correspondence; is that correct?

A I believe additional documents were provided, such as

the repair bills that you provided in your exhibits that were

provided in response to this letter.

Q No, sir.  But you can testify to that all you want.

Do you have any proof of that?

A That's just my understanding.  I didn't initiate it.

It went through attorneys.

Q Okay.  And so your testimony is that you provided a

hundred thousand dollars worth of receipts?

A I provided -- I don't know what the total was, but

it --

Q Well, we just went over them.

A I'm sorry.  I'm in the middle of finishing my answer.

I provided receipts that are in that neighborhood,

but that was an estimate, not a guaranteed minimum payment

under the obligation.

Q It was an estimate, huh?

A Yeah.

Q It said a hundred thousand, didn't it?

A Estimated to be a hundred thousand.  We just read it.
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Q But it said not more than a hundred and twenty-five;

didn't it?

A Correct.

Q So the minimum was a hundred; correct?

A No.  It said estimated to be a hundred, not more than

one, twenty-five.

Q But there was a chart --

A But there was no minimum --

Q There was a chart given, wasn't there, of all the

things that you were supposed to do?

A Do you have it that I can --

Q I'm just asking you if you remember.

A -- look at?

THE COURT:  You've got to let him finish.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Sorry.

THE COURT:  Mr. Bloom, were you done?

THE WITNESS:  Yeah.  Not that I can remember, but if

it's -- if you have an exhibit you want me to look at to

refresh my recollection.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q So I'd like you to look at the third paragraph.

A Of Exhibit 69?

Q Yes.

A Okay.

Q It says,
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Accordingly, your notice of default

letter is in violation of the amended

forbearance agreement, which stays any

default until March 31st, 2020.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q That's not true, is it?

A I believe it is true.

Q Well, let's go back to Exhibit 1.  Take a look at

page 5, 000005.

A Okay.

Q Paragraph 4.1,

Forbearance limited to identified

defaults.  CBI's (sic) forbearance is limited

solely to the suspended exercise of its

respective rights and remedies arising under

the amended note and modified deed of trust

as a result of the identified defaults, and

CBC shall not be deemed to have suspended or

waived any rights or remedies it may have

with respect to any other existing breach,

default or event of default under the loan

documents, including the amended note and the

modified deed of trust.

Do you see that?
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A I do.

Q So the notice that you received is not in violation

of the amended forbearance agreement, is it?

A Bear with me while I review what you just asked me to

read.

THE COURT:  Once you've completed that, let us know,

sir.

THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

So in comparing the documents, I believe it is in

violation of the forbearance agreement.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Tell me why.

A Section 4.1 says CBC's forbearance is limited solely

to its suspended exercise of its respective rights and remedies

arising under the amended note and modified deed of trust.  In

your letter dated March 16th --

Q And see we got to read the rest of the sentence --

THE COURT:  Wait.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Your Honor --

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q -- sir.

THE COURT:  He's got to be able to finish.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Thank you.

THE COURT:  Please, Mr. Bloom, finish.

THE WITNESS:  Okay.  So in Exhibit 1, the forbearance
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is limited to identified defaults, and the forbearance is

limited solely to the suspended exercise of its respective

rights and remedies arising under the amended note and modified

deed of trust.

In your letter, Exhibit 66, it says,

The law firm has been retained to

represent the interest of CBC I as it relates

to the secured promissory note -- amended

secured promissory note, modified deed of

trust.

Right.  So the letter that you sent relates to the

actions that were considered to be forbeared (sic) under 4.1 of

Exhibit 1.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Really?

A That's what --

Q Doesn't it say just the opposite, sir?  It says only

the identified defaults.  All other defaults limited.

Do you see that, sir?

A So I guess my question would be to better understand

this what are the identified defaults?

Q Well, that's not my question.

A Because what it says --

Q -- sir.  My question --

A It says in that --
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THE COURT:  Wait.  One of us can speak at a time.

Mr. Bloom, can you finish, please.

THE WITNESS:  Yes.  Thank you.

What it says in that paragraph is it's limited solely

to the suspended exercise of rights and remedies arising under

the amended notes and modified deed.

So if the identified defaults are rights and remedies

arising under the amended note and modified deed, then they're

precluded from taking any action until March 31st.  So your

letter March 16th would be in violation of that.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Is it your testimony that any of the items requested

in the letter of March 23rd are identified defaults?

A It's my interpretation that as you referenced the

secured promissory note as being defaulted that that's what

you're referencing.  If you're --

Q So --

A If you're suggesting that you're noticing us of a

default of the operating agreement, that's not what your letter

says.

Q Mr. Bloom, the forbearance agreement sets out certain

things that you were going to do; correct?

A Correct.

Q And it references the operating agreement; correct?

A Correct.
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Q And in both of the agreements, the operating

agreement and the forbearance agreement, you promised to do

certain things, including provide evidence of homeowners

insurance, evidence of repairs, Bank of America account

balance, an opinion letter from counsel, and evidence of

corporate authority for SJCV, along with filing of applications

for mortgages.

Do you see those?

A I do.

Q They're all nonmonetary; right?

A Correct.

Q And none of them are identified defaults, are they?

A (No audible response.)

Q In fact, they are specific covenants that you agreed

to in these agreements?

A I think the confusion comes from your letter

referencing that you're writing regarding the promissory note

and modified deed of trust.  Because you're declaring -- you're

not declaring a breach of the operating agreement or the

forbearance agreement.  That's never mentioned in your letter.

The only thing mentioned is a breach of the promissory note and

the amended promissory note and the modified deed of trust.

Q And that's exactly what the paragraph in the

forbearance agreements references; isn't it, sir?

A But your letter does not.  So your letter references

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



131

JD Reporting, Inc.

A-20-813439-B | SHAC v. CBC Partners | 2021-02-02

the note and the deed of trust, which it's in violation.

Q Which are the subject matter of the forbearance

agreement; correct?

A It's related.

Q Thank you.

Now, I'd like you to take a look at Exhibit 68.  And

it's an email from my office to Ms. Barraza with copies to you,

Mr. Hallberg and Mr. Gutierrez.  Do you see that?

A I do.

Q Now, the -- it's interesting.  There's no lawsuit

pending at this point; right?

A I don't believe so, no.

Q But Mr. Gutierrez and Ms. Barraza are your attorneys;

right?

A At this point in time they were.

Q No?  And this email says.

Unfortunately, your letter is incorrect.

Both the forbearance and amended forbearance

agreement identify specific defaults that

were subject to forbearance.  The remaining

obligations under the various agreements are

to be followed.

In fact, the amended forbearance

agreement calls out specific items to be

provided, most of which are within my letter.
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As they have not been provided, you are

hereby defaulted.

Do you see that?

A (No audible response.)

Q Do you see that?

A I'm sorry.  I was looking at -- I was looking at

something else in continuation of my last answer.

THE COURT:  Do you need him to repeat his question,

sir?

THE WITNESS:  Yeah.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Would you repeat your question,

please.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Have you ever seen the email dated March 25th,

2020, at 11:19 from me to Ms. Barraza with copies to other

parties?

A I'm sure I did.  I'm copied on it.

Q And it says,

Unfortunately, your letter is incorrect.

Both the forbearance and the amendment to the

forbearance agreement identify specific

defaults that were to be subject to

forbearance.  The remaining obligations under

the various agreements are to be followed.

In fact, the amended forbearance
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agreement calls out specific items to be

provided, most of which are within my letter.

As they have not been provided, you are

hereby defaulted.

Do you see that?

A I do see that.

Q And do you see the response from Ms. Barraza just

above it?

A I do.

Q Did you authorize her to send this response?

A I don't believe we discussed it, but I'm in agreement

with it.

Q The documents speak for themselves.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q My client will be pursuing damages for any breach of

the governing forbearance agreement, including the improper

attempts to deem my client in default.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q I'd like to show you what's been admitted as

Exhibit 69.

A I'm there.

Q Which one did I point you to?

A 69.
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Q Okay.  Now, this is March 23rd of 2020.

A Correct.

Q Hold on.  I'm sorry.  We already did that one.  I'm

sorry.

A This is the one where we retained Maier Gutierrez for

the first time.

Q Yeah.  For some reason I have -- check your second

page or the third page.  Let's see.

MS. FOLEY:  It's the attachment to the letter.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q It's the amended forbearance agreement.  Do you see

the amended forbearance agreement attached?

A I do.  It's the second document on the third page of

Exhibit 69.

Q And you see again,

As such, no default has occurred.

Do you see that?

A Where are you looking?

Q In the letter:  As such, no default exists.

A Oh.  Okay.  I thought you were on the amended

forbearance.

Q It's the 722, the last line.

A Correct.

Q Now, you didn't make any claim that there was a

defect in the deed of trust at this time, did you?
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A We were unaware of it.

Q Okay.  So and you made no claim that the pledge had

not been given in these documents; correct?

A No claim was made under the pledge.  So we would have

no reason to reiterate that SJC was now participatory in the

pledge.

Q Mr. Bloom, is it your testimony that no demand was

made under the pledge?  I just went over the letter with you

that had the -- that went to you and Mr. Antos requesting your

assignments with your assignment.

A When was that?

Q March.

MS. FOLEY:  74.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Let's take a look at 74:

Dear Mr. Bloom and Mr. and Mrs. Antos.

A Wait a second.  74 I have an assignment of company

and membership interest.

Q You've got to look at the first page, sir.  It's a

letter:  000887.

A Okay.  That's --

THE COURT:  Are you there?

THE WITNESS:  -- the last page of 73.  Oh, wait, no.

It's not in 73.  The last page of 73 is 886.  The first page of

74 is 888.
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MS. FOLEY:  Well, we're missing 887.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q 887, sir.

A Yeah.  I --

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Yeah.  I might have --

THE COURT:  He may not have it.  Why don't you put it

up on the Elmo.

MR. MUSHKIN:  We just went over it in great length.

THE COURT:  Mr. Mushkin, it's okay.  Sometimes

documents are missing.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Do you see this letter, sir, dated April 1st?

A I do.

Q Do you see it's to Mr. Bloom and Mr. Antos?

A Correct.

Q It talks about, the second paragraph, Notice of

nonmonetary default was delivered on March 16th.  You see

that?

A The March 16th letter is the one we went through

previously.

Q Yes, sir.

A Yes.

Q Now, this is exercising the rights under the pledge

agreement.  Do you see that?

A Correct.
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Q And there's an assignment attached for you, which

is 888 -- I'm sorry, for Mr. Antos, which is 888; and one for

Jay Bloom, manager, 889.

Do you see that?

A I see 888 and 889 is both unsigned --

Q Both unsigned?

A Right.

Q Right.  But that's what those -- that's what came

with the letter; right?

A I don't remember those.  I do remember the letter.

Q Okay.

A And I do remember objecting to the assertion that

there was a pledge of --

Q Do you see the last paragraph, sir?

A Which paragraph?  Which page?

Q Of the letter?

MS. FOLEY:  You have to put it back on the Elmo.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Sorry.  Thank you, Karen.

MS. FOLEY:  No problem.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Do you see that last paragraph?

A I do.

Q Enclosed herein, please find an assignment of

membership interest for your review and signature.

Do you see that?
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A I do.

Q Any reason to believe that the assignment was not

attached?

A No.

Q Thank you.  But you didn't sign it, did you?

A No.

Q And you didn't make any claim that the pledge was not

effective at this time, did you?

A I believe I did.  That's why it wasn't signed.

Q Where did you make the claim?

A Well, we spoke through attorneys.  So it would have

been through the attorneys.

Q Any written document that says that?

A I don't know.

Q All right.  Let's go back to the amendment to

forbearance agreement.  It's Exhibit 16.

A Okay.  I'm there.

Q Hold on one second.  I don't want stuff to start

ricocheting around the courtroom.  Okay.

Have you ever seen this document before?

A I believe so.

Q I'd like you to look at 162, page 9 of the agreement.

You signed on behalf of Spanish Heights and on behalf

of SJC; right?

A Correct.
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Q The final "whereas" states that,

The parties desire to extend the

forbearance until March 31st of 2020.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q And then it recites consideration.  Do you see that?

A And now therefore in consideration, is that what

you're referring to?

Q Yes.  Mutual covenants and agreements.  Do you see

that?

A Yes.

Q And it goes to conditions to extension.  Do you see

that?

A I do.

Q And Item Number 5,

The membership pledge agreement executed

by SJCV and the Antos Trust shall remain in

effect, and the execution of this amendment

shall not be considered a waiver of CBC I's

rights under the membership pledge agreement.

Do you see that?

A I do see it.

Q And did you understand what you were signing when you

signed this document?

A Well, there is no membership pledge agreement --

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



140

JD Reporting, Inc.

A-20-813439-B | SHAC v. CBC Partners | 2021-02-02

Q Sir, it's not --

A -- executed by SJC.

THE COURT:  Could you rephrase your question.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Did you understand the terms of this amendment when

you signed it?

A I thought I did at the time.

Q Now, let's go back to the next paragraph,

SHAC will provide CBC I with evidence of

homeowners insurance coverage that is

effective through March 31st, 2020.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q And you ultimately provided that; did you not?

A I did.

Q The payment of the balloon is due on March 31st.

That's paragraph 7.

A Correct.

Q Did you pay that?

A No.

Q The parties acknowledge the extension of a lease

agreement and such agreement shall continue to govern the lease

of the parties.  Do you see that?

A I do.

Q The membership pledge executed by SJCV and the Antos
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Trust shall remain in effect, and the execution of this

amendment shall not be considered a waiver of CBC's rights

under the membership pledge agreement.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q That's actually a repeat of Number 5, isn't it?

A It is.

Q Twice they put that in there.

The assignment of rents will remain in

effect.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q And then 11,

The account control agreement shall

remain in effect.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q But you never funded the account control agreement,

did you?

A The account control agreement was not able to be set

up.  So prepayment was made in lieu of an account control

agreement that was supposed to secure the payments.

Q Mr. Bloom, that wasn't responsive to my question.  My

question is a real simple yes or no.

You never funded a control agreement, did you --
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excuse me, a control account, did you?

A No.

Q Thank you.  And then it goes on,

The security agreement shall remain in

effect.  Exercising of the amendment shall

not be considered a waiver of CBC's rights

under the security agreement.  In addition,

SJC agrees to obtain from counsel for SJCV

and First 1 Holdings dated as the effective

date of this agreement, the form and

substance reasonably satisfactory to CBC I to

the effect that the judgment lien pledge

agreement,

One, constitutes a valid and binding

obligation of SJCV and First 100, LLC, in

accordance with its terms;

Two, properly evidenced to CBC I's first

priority position and that no other party

apart from the collection professionals has

priority over CBC I to receive payments in

relation to the judgment;

And, three, no, ungiven notice to or

obtained consent, authorization, approval or

order of any court or governmental agency or

body is to be obtained by SC -- agency or
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body required to be obtained by SJCV or First

100 holdings is required for the consummation

of the transaction sets forth.

CBC I may require that the opinion of

counsel address any other matters incident to

the matters herein contemplated by CCV I may

-- sorry -- CBC I may reasonably request.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q And did you understand that term when you signed it?

When you signed the agreement?

A I believed I did at the time.

Q And did you ever provide that opinion letter?

A No.

Q Thank you.

A It wasn't requested until March, at the end of the

expiration of the forbearance agreement.

Q Well, this document is dated December of '19;

correct?

A The document that says that CBC may require --

Q Exhibit 16.

A Yes.

Q And you were requesting that information in the

middle of March; correct?

A Of 2020.
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Q Correct.

A Yes.

Q Approximately three months later.

And we already went through that the lease has been

terminated, and we went through that you signed it.

Okay.  So in spite of this document, is it still your

testimony that somehow SJCV is not obligated under the amended

note and -- the amended secured note and deed of trust?

A We have gone through the lease was not terminated to

correct your prior statement.

And no, SJC still has pledged its assignment of its

interest in the judgment if it's collected.

All it's saying is the house is not collateral

because the deed of trust was issued before an obligation

existed.

Q Now, is it still your testimony that you never saw

the note and the 10 amendments?

A I don't recall seeing it until this litigation.

Q Well, then how did you write that email that said you

wanted an 11th amendment if you hadn't seen the others?

A I don't even recall the email, but it must have been

from oral communications regarding that it was a note as

amended 10 times from telephonic communications.

Q And you do -- well, let's go back to that release

provision that I ended on.
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So let's take a look at page 18 to Exhibit 1.  Do you

see the paragraph Number 10?

A I do.

Q And take a minute and read it, would you.

Have you finished the paragraph, sir?

A Almost.  Okay.

Q So in the middle it starts that you release CBC,

hereby fully release, remise and forever discharge CBC, the

parents of CBC I -- sorry.  I said CBC -- CBC I and any other

affiliates and predecessors of CBC I and all past and present

officers, directors, agents, employees, servants, partners,

shareholders, attorneys and managers of CBC I from, for and

against any and all claims, counterclaims, liens, demands,

causes of action, controversies, offsets, obligations, losses,

damages and liabilities of every kind and character whatsoever,

including without limitation any action, omission,

misrepresentation or other basis of liability found either in

tort or contract and the duties arising thereunder that the

releasors or any one or more of them has had in the past or now

has, whether known or unknown, whether asserted or unasserted

by reason of any matter caused or things set forth in, relating

to or arising out of in any way connected with the resulting

from the amended note and modified deed of trust.  This

forbearance agreement and any other agreements executed in

connection with this forbearance agreement.
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Do you see that?

A I do.

Q And did you understand at the time that you were

signing this document that you were waiving these claims?

A In the context of there was a third mortgage on a

property, which we later learned did not exist, yes.

Q Thank you.  I'd like you to go to paragraph 4.2 on

page 6.

A Of Exhibit 1 still?

Q Yes.

It warrants that there will be no new events of

default; correct?

A Correct.

Q And you have violated that provision; correct?

A How so?

Q It's a yes or no.

A I'm asking you to clarify the question.

THE COURT:  So, sir, you can say yes or no.  If you

want, Mr. Gutierrez will have plenty of opportunity to follow

you -- follow up with you.

THE WITNESS:  Yeah, potentially.  Potentially there

could be a -- construed as a default, yes.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Thank you.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q And then in paragraph 4.5 where it talks about the
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exercise of rights and remedies, in the amended forbearance --

in the agreement, it says CBC I is free to exercise all of its

rights and remedies under the amended note and modified deed of

trust, including, but not limited to the rights and remedies

available to CBC I as a result of the identified defaults.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q Okay.  And you understood at the time that you signed

this; is that correct?

A I understood at the time I signed this?  I understood

what?

Q That provision?

A Oh.  Yes.

Q And then paragraph 25, we may have already gone over

this.  That says cumulative remedies?

A Wait.  Wait.  What page are you on?

Q 23.  Do you see that?

A I do.

Q And it says at the last line that CBC may pursue at

any time from time to time and in such order as CBC shall

determine in its sole discretion.  Do you see that?

A I do.

Q Thank you.  And you understood that provision when

you signed this; is that correct?

A Within the context of there was a third mortgage that
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didn't exist, yes.

Q Now, you made a separate promise to the Antoses;

isn't that correct?

A Could you be more specific in what you're referring

to?

Q Well, the Antoses are a party to the forbearance

agreements; correct?

A I believe so, yes.

Q And they're referred to as the Antos parties, which

is them individually and as trustees in the trust; is that

correct?

A I'd have to look again.  I know it's to them

individually.

Q Let's go back to the first page of Exhibit 1.

I take that back.  Let's do -- let's go to the

amended forbearance agreement, which is I believe 16.

A 16?

Q Let me just check.

Right.

Do you see in the second "whereas" where they refer

to the Antos parties?

A I do.

Q Okay.  Do you understand who the Antos parties are?

A It's referencing the loan documents, which was signed

by the Antos parties individually.
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Q Sir, it's referencing the first paragraph:

Kenneth and Sheila Antos Living Trust,

Kenneth and Sheila Antos Trust, Kenneth and

Sheila Antos as trustees, and as personal

guarantors of the secured promissory note

described below.

Do you see that?

A Well, I see that, but I don't see --

Q And those are the Antos parties, aren't they?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Objection, Your Honor.  He's got to

let him finish.

THE COURT:  You've got to let Mr. Bloom finish,

Mr. Mushkin.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Sure, Judge.

THE COURT:  Even if you don't like what he's saying.

MR. MUSHKIN:  I just didn't -- I can't hear him half

the time, Judge.

THE COURT:  It's okay.

Mr. Bloom, finish up.

THE WITNESS:  I don't see a definition of the Antos

parties other than a reference to the loan documents executed

which were executed by Sheila and Ken Antos in their individual

capacities, not by the Antos Trust.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Okay.  Let's take a look at page 6 of the amended
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forbearance agreement, and that provision is marked G.

A Okay.  I'm there.

Q And Exhibit G says,

The Antos parties and SJCV represent

they continue to lawfully possess and hold

100 percent ownership.

Is that correct?

A Correct.

Q The Antos parties and SJCV in paragraph H,

They continue to acknowledge that the

amended note, modified deed of trust and

forbearance agreement are legal, valid and

binding agreements of the Antos parties and

the SJCV parties.

Correct?

A Correct in that that's what it says, yes.

Q And Jay -- and you understood that when you signed

this agreement, didn't you?

A Well, we didn't have all the information on the

notes.  So within the context of the information I had, I

understood it.

Q Well, what information didn't you have, sir?

A I didn't have the notes to see that it was a

commercial loan to a restaurant where the Antoses individually

guaranteed it, and the Antos Trust did not.
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Q But doesn't it say that on the very first page of

the -- I just went through it with you, in the original

forbearance agreement it talks about KCI Investments and

Preferred Restaurant Brands, that they executed the note.

Explain that to the Court, please.

A I think we did explain it when we went through it and

that we don't know what capacity they participated.

I was told that there was a third mortgage on the

house.  The house was owned by the Antos Trust.  I don't know

who the restaurants were.  I didn't know it was a restaurant

loan.  I didn't know that the Antos Trust, the owner of the

house never signed the loan and that it didn't sign as a

borrower.  It didn't sign as a guarantor, and, quite frankly, I

should've paid more attention and asked more questions, but I

didn't.  I was told it was a third party -- it was a third

mortgage.  I accepted on its face the representation that it

was a third party and a third mortgage.

Q And, in fact, you were provided a preliminary title

report too, weren't you?

A I don't remember, but entirely possible.

Q And that preliminary title report has been admitted

as?

MS. FOLEY:  It's the blue tab.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Say it again.

MS. FOLEY:  It's the blue tab on the side.  It's
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Exhibit 104.  And it's attached to an email sent to Mr. Bloom.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q I would direct your attention to Exhibit 104.

MS. FOLEY:  The page before is the email where it --

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Page 003682.  It's about two thirds of the way down.

A Do you have a Bates number?

Q 003682.

A In Exhibit 104?

Q 104.

A So Exhibit 104 runs from Bates Number 1220 to 1348.

I don't have one that starts in the three thousands.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  He can have my copy if he needs it,

Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Mr. Bloom, why don't you go grab at

Mr. Gutierrez's from him.

THE WITNESS:  I am on my way.

THE COURT:  Great.  I'm trying to keep people out of

the well.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  You're doing a great job, Your Honor.

(Pause in the proceedings.) 

THE COURT:  Take the time you need to look at the

document, and then let us know when you're ready, sir.

THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

Starting on 3682?

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



153

JD Reporting, Inc.

A-20-813439-B | SHAC v. CBC Partners | 2021-02-02

MR. MUSHKIN:  Yes, sir.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Have you ever seen this document before?

A I don't remember it, but it's entirely possible I

did.

Q Let's take a look at the exceptions which start on

page 3686.

A Okay.

Q All right.  Do you understand what these exceptions

reference?

A I haven't read them in detail, but they look pretty

boilerplate.  So I believe so with a cursory review.

Q And through items 32, they're pretty boilerplate,

aren't they?  Easements, orders of vacation, things like that;

right?

A Right.

Q CC&Rs, reservations, patents, all that; right?

A Correct.

Q And then you get to Item 33, and that's a deed of

trust by Kenneth and Sheila Antos for 3,640,000, dated

October 6, 2010.  Do you see that?

A I do.

Q And is that the first deed of trust that is reflected

on the exceptions?

A I believe so.
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Q And then Item 34 is a revolving credit deed of trust

and assignment of rents to Northern Trust.  Do you see that?

A I do.

Q And is that the second deed of trust recorded on the

property?

A Yes.

Q And Item 35 is a deed of trust and assignment of

rents for the amount of $3 million in favor of CBC Partners I,

LLC, a Washington limited liability company.  Do you see that?

A I do.

Q Is that the third deed of trust on the property?

A Yes.

Q Thank you.  And I'd like you to look at Item 36.  And

that's a lien from Red Rock Financial Services.  Do you see

that?

A I do.

Q Do you know what that's for?

A I do not.

Q The next item I want to look at is a treasury of

certificate holding delinquent property taxes.  Do you see

that?

A I do.

Q Okay.  And then the next one is a judgment.  Do you

see that document?

A I do.
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Q And do you know how much that judgment is for?

A It's reflected on the title report as $87,213.05.

Q I'd like you to look at the next one, a judgment,

this one from E and H distributing.  Do you see that?

A I do.

Q How much is that one for?

A That one appears to be for $15,819.09.

Q And Item 40 is an application of foreign judgment,

and that is in the amount of $812,217.92.  Do you see that?

A I do.

Q Creditor CT Communications.  Do you see that one?

A I do.

Q And then 41 is a judgment.  Creditor is Shetakis, and

is 19,640.98.  Do you see that?

A I do.

Q The next one is a judgment dated May of '16.  The

creditor is Robert Walsh and the amount is 538,500.  Do you see

that?

A I do.

Q And then the next one is another application of

foreign judgment.  Do you see that one?

A I do.

Q And that's 93,190.49.  Do you see that?

A I do.

Q And then the next one is another application of
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foreign judgment in the amount of 89,524.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q And then finally, another judgment, the debtors --

creditor is Mengyun Han, and that's for $585,000.

Do you see that?

A I'm looking at one that it's 560,000.

Q I'm looking at 45.  Are you looking at 45?

A I am.

Q It says amount 560, and 585 and other amounts due

hereunder.  So I guess that one's a million, four.  Is that

fair?

A A million 45.

Q Thank you.  And you are obligated yourself to file a

quiet-title action; is that correct?

A As a method to resolve the liens.

Q And you didn't file that quiet-title action, did you?

A I did not.

Q And those judgments remain of record on the property

to this day; isn't that correct?

A They do.

Q Why haven't you filed the quiet-title action?

A Because I don't think a quiet-title action would be

necessary.  I think they made the same mistake that CBC did.

The judgments are against the Antoses individually, but at the
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time the lien was filed, it was filed against the Antos Trust

property, which is a separate entity.

Q Well, that's --

A So these liens never -- those liens never should have

been recorded, and I think a quiet-title action is probably not

necessary.  There's no reason to file a dozen litigations when

a demand would probably yield the same result.

Q Did you submit a demand?

A I have not.

Q You obligated yourself to file a quiet title; did you

not, sir?

A The intent was to resolve the liens, yes.

Q And you have not resolved those liens, have you, sir?

A Not yet.

Q Mr. Bloom, you promised Mr. Hallberg on a number of

occasions to pay off the note, didn't you?

A Upon recognizing liquidity, yes.

Q Well, I'm going to direct your attention to 104

again, this time the very first page of 104, 2717.

A What's the Bates number?

Q 2717.

MS. FOLEY:  That's the middle of 104.  104 starts

[inaudible].

MR. MUSHKIN:  I'm sorry.

/ / / 
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BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q It's the first one in the book that I'm looking at.

A That could not be less helpful.

MR. MUSHKIN:  I feel the exact same way, Judge.

THE COURT:  So, Mr. Bloom, if you want to go,

Mr. Gutierrez may have something for you there it looks like.

THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Should I return this book to

him?

MR. MUSHKIN:  No, leave it up there.

THE COURT:  No.  You're going to gather all the books

you have and keep them until you're done.

THE WITNESS:  Okay.

(Pause in the proceedings.) 

MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor, would you like to take the

afternoon break now?

THE COURT:  If you think it's a convenient time.

How much longer do you think given the pace that is

currently going?

MR. MUSHKIN:  Today is Tuesday; is that right?  My

expectation is all week.

THE COURT:  You can't see my face under the mask.

And it is a good --

MR. MUSHKIN:  That was a yes, today is -- I'm bad

with days of the week.

THE COURT:  Yeah.
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MR. MUSHKIN:  I work all seven.  At least I try to do

a little.

THE COURT:  Today was Tuesday.

MR. MUSHKIN:  It's almost gone.

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. MUSHKIN:  My expectation that I'll be done maybe

by the end of Thursday.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  And, Your Honor, I'd like to know

exactly what's going to take another two and a half days.

THE COURT:  Are you going to just examine Mr. Bloom?

MR. MUSHKIN:  Yes, sir -- yes, ma'am, absolutely.

THE COURT:  Because at some point I'm going to tell

you you're done if that's how we're going.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Well, I'm doing the best I can, Judge.

THE COURT:  I understand, but at some point it's like

no matter how much difference you guys have there's only so

much we can do.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Well --

MR. GUTIERREZ:  And, Your Honor, I'd object just

given the limited scope of this trial.  I want to make sure

he's addressing the issues, and obviously going till

Thursday --

THE COURT:  Well, he is addressing the issues.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  He is, but not until Thursday.

THE COURT:  I'm not saying this is Mr. Mushkin's
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fault.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Right.  But --

THE COURT:  And as --

MR. GUTIERREZ:  -- going to till Thursday --

THE COURT:  Wait.  I don't know that you heard me,

Mr. Gutierrez, but I almost granted the 50(a) motion.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Understood.

THE COURT:  The only reason I didn't grant the 50(a)

motion is there's a case, I don't remember if it's published or

not, that says I'm not supposed to weigh evidence at the 50(a)

stage.  So I didn't.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Understood.

THE COURT:  But if I had weighed evidence at the

50(a) stage, we wouldn't still be here.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Understood, Your Honor, and --

THE COURT:  So --

MR. GUTIERREZ:  And these are serious issues that we

take serious.  We want to make sure the record is complete, but

I want to make sure that the record is limited to what we are

actually addressing --

THE COURT:  Absolutely.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  -- in this case.

THE COURT:  The five issues that we're addressing --

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Absolutely.

THE COURT:  -- plus the preliminary injunction.
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But at some point, Mr. Mushkin, for purposes of the

limited trial we have on this issue, we're beating a dead

horse.  That's all I'm trying to say.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor...

THE COURT:  I'm going to take the afternoon break and

let you guys think and talk.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Fifteen

minutes?

THE COURT:  Sure.

(Proceedings recessed at 2:41 p.m., until 2:50 p.m.) 

(Pause in the proceedings.)  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Keep going.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor, I'm going to try and get

through this as quickly as I can.

THE COURT:  I know you tried cases in front of Stu

Bell and Sally Loehrer before.  So...

MR. MUSHKIN:  You know, Your Honor, I have and --

(Pause in the proceedings.) 

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Okay.  Mr. Bloom, you contracted to pay the HOA dues;

is that correct?

A Spanish Heights did, yes.

Q And you failed to do that for a period of time,

didn't you?

A Spanish Heights did.
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Q They failed?

A Yes.

Q In fact, the HOA was going to go to foreclosure;

correct?

A Nobody would have allowed it to go to foreclosure.

Q Well, you didn't pay it, did you?

A No.

Q In fact, my client had to pay it the day before the

sale, didn't he?

A I don't remember it being the day before the sale,

no.

Q Well, isn't it true, Mr. Bloom, that you were trying

to steal position on title by letting that accrue and then

buying it at an auction?

A No, that's not true.

Q Why didn't you pay the HOAs?

A I don't remember the circumstances, but, no, that is

not --

Q Thank you.

A -- I was not looking to steal title --

Q You don't remember.  I appreciate that, sir. okay.

And do you know what the amount of the HOA notice of

default was?

A I do not.

Q It was -- would you be surprised if it was $8,507.83?
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A Not necessarily.

Q Let's take a look at 3230.  It's in Exhibit 4.

(Pause in the proceedings.) 

THE WITNESS:  So it's not in my Exhibit 4, and I

don't know that Mr. Gutierrez had it either.

MR. MUSHKIN:  That's all right.  We'll put it on the

Elmo.  I'm such an expert.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Do you see this email on January --

THE COURT:  You've got to lower it a little bit.

Thank you.

MR. MUSHKIN:  I've got to look up.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q All right.  Do you see that email?

A I do.

Q And that's your email address, Jay Bloom at F 100

LLC, dot, com?

A Yes.

Q And it goes to Alan Hallberg.  Do you see that?

A I do.

Q Below is the email that you respond to.  There's one

from Alan to you.

A Okay.

Q It says,

It looks like the HOA dues are owing,
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and the association is taking action.  Would

you please take care of this.  Please let me

know if you'd like to chat first.

And what was your response, sir?

A The response in the email was,

I'll take care of this.  I prepaid for a

period of time and forgot about it when the

property -- when the prepay ran out.  It went

to NOD.  Easy fix.

Q You didn't fix it though, did you, sir?

A I think they advanced it to the payoff.

Q Sir, my question is you did not take care of the HOA

dues, did you?

A Mr. Mushkin, could you pull up your mask, please.

Q No.  I'm asking you a question.  My mask is fine.

THE COURT:  Pull your mask back over your nose,

please.

MR. MUSHKIN:  It was over my nose.

THE COURT:  No, it wasn't.  It had fallen down.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Only to there.

THE COURT:  All right.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Mr. Bloom, you did not take care of the HOA dues, did

you, sir?

A I spoke with CBC, and CBC --

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



165

JD Reporting, Inc.

A-20-813439-B | SHAC v. CBC Partners | 2021-02-02

Q Sir, it's a yes-or-no answer.

A Yes.

Q Show me the payment, sir.

A It wasn't by payment.  It was by arrangement with

CBC.

Q What?

A I spoke with CBC, and we made an arrangement where

they would pay it and add it to the balance.

Q That they would pay it?

A Yes.

Q Do you have that in writing anywhere?

A It was evidenced by the actions of the parties.

Q Oh, I see.

My question again, sir, you did not pay the HOA dues,

did you?

A I paid a great number of HOA dues.

Q Sir, I'm referring to the HOA dues represented in the

notice of default.  You did not pay those dues, did you?

A Those particular dues, no.

Q Thank you.

MR. MUSHKIN:  We may be here that long, Judge.

THE COURT:  I'm just telling you I understand,

Mr. Mushkin, but...

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Is it fair to say that SHAC made no payments pursuant
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to these agreements until May of 2020?

A No.

Q SHAC never had a bank account until April 30th,

2020; correct?

A Correct.

Q So how would SHAC make payments?

A SHAC was due rent from SJC and assigned its rent

payments to satisfy the obligations directly.  So it did it by

way of assignment of rents receivable.

Q Who assigned what rents to who?

A SHAC assigned SJC rents to SHAC's obligations.

Q Sir.  I'm asking a real simple question.  You're

making this a lot harder.

Isn't it true that SHAC did not make any payments

pursuant to this agreement until May of 2020 when they opened

their bank account?  It's a yes-or-no answer.

A No, that's not true.

Q Isn't it true that others made payments on behalf of

SHAC until April -- until May of 2020?

A Others made payments to SHAC obligations on behalf of

SHAC obligations in satisfaction of their obligations to SHAC.

So SJC owed Spanish Heights rent.  Spanish Heights assigned

those rent receivables to satisfy Spanish Heights obligations

to pay them.

Q I'm not asking about assignment, sir.  I'm asking who
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made payments, and isn't it true that all the payments made up

until May of 2020, all payments made to CBC I were made by a

party other than SHAC?

A Yes.

Q Thank you.  Do you recall my asking in the deposition

for proof of the hundred thousand and repairs?

A Not offhand, but I'm not specifically denying that

you asked that.

Q And do you also recall I'll leave a blank in the

transcript for you to add whatever you have not produced up

until now?  Do you recall that?

A No, but I'm sure you said that.

Q I'm going to direct your attention -- are you

acknowledging that you made that statement, sir, with the deny

or don't deny?  Which is your answer?  Did you recall it, or do

you not recall?

A You're referencing a statement that you made.  I

didn't make that statement.

Q I'm asking if you recall hearing it, sir?

A Okay.  Sort of.  Vaguely.

Q Have you produced everything you have showing that

you made a hundred thousand in repairs?

It says, I'd have to go back and check to see what

production I gave to the attorneys.

Question, I'll leave a blank in the transcript for
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you to add whatever you have not produced up until now.

Do you see that?

A I see that.

Q Did you produce anything subsequent to your

deposition?

A I don't know if the production of the home automation

repairs was prior to or subsequent to my deposition and other

expenses.

Q Are you saying you don't know?

A I don't know if it was prior to or subsequent.

Q We've gone through the produced receipts.  You saw

those earlier?

A I did.

Q Did you provide anything in addition to those

receipts?

A Yes.

Q Pursuant to the depo?

A I provided things in addition to the receipts.  I

don't remember if it was pursuant to the depo or prior to the

depo.

Q Where are those documents, sir?

A They've been provided.

Q Where?  Show me them.

A Well, I don't see them in the exhibits beyond the

HVAC repairs.

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



169

JD Reporting, Inc.

A-20-813439-B | SHAC v. CBC Partners | 2021-02-02

Q So there aren't any, are there, sir?

A There are.

Q Where are they?

A They're not --

Q There have been no other --

THE COURT:  You've got to let him finish.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Sorry.  I thought he was done, Judge.

THE COURT:  Mr. Bloom, could you finish, please.

THE WITNESS:  They're not in the exhibits, but there

are more documents.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q But you have not produced them in this case?

A I provided them to counsel.  I don't see them.  They

didn't make the exhibit pack.

Q So you answered a question that said that -- we were

talking about SJCV as the investor member and the covenants

that you agreed to upon entering into and taking management of

SHAC.

And your response to that was, When you say "you,"

you mean SJCV?  And your answer is, Yes, sir.

And then you add, Subject to modification of the

parties subsequent to this agreement, yes.  Okay.

And I ask you, Are you aware of any modifications

other than the amended forbearance agreement?

Do you recall that question?
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A If you could put it on the Elmo, it would be helpful.

Q Do you recall that question?

A I don't specifically recall that question.

Q I'm asking you today, are you aware of any written

modifications to the documents other than the amended

forbearance agreement?

A No.

Q I asked you a question:

Did you ever have any agreement from

Mr. Antos that you were not obligated to do

what you promised Mr. Antos in the operating

agreement.

Do you recall that question?

A I do not.

Q Well, I'm going to ask it now.  Do you have any

agreement from Mr. Antos that you were not obligated to do what

you promised Mr. Antos in the operating agreement?

A No.

Q Do you remember what your response was to that

question at the time of your deposition?

A I do not.

Q Your answer was, Mr. Antos directed me to speak to

CBC.

A Okay.

Q Why did you answer that way at the deposition?
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A By "that way," you mean truthful?

As I said at the beginning of this trial, the

beginning of my testimony, I spoke to Mr. Antos maybe once.

Every other time he directed me to speak to CBC.

Q So in answer to the question, Did you have any

agreement from Mr. Antos that you were not obligated to do what

you promised in the operating agreement, you responded,

Mr. Antos directed me to speak to CBC?

A Apparently.  That's what the transcript says --

Q And you believe that to be a truthful answer --

A I don't recall that.

Q -- to the question?

THE COURT:  Wait.  You've got to let him finish.

Sir.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Well, I didn't finish my question

first.

THE COURT:  Sir, were you done with your answer?

THE WITNESS:  I'm not sure what the question was at

this point.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Could you start over.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Did you ever have a written agreement from Mr. Antos

that you were not obligated to do what you promised Mr. Antos

in the operating agreement?

A Is that the end of the question?
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Q Yes.

A No.

Q When I asked that question at your deposition you

answered, Mr. Antos directed me to speak to CBC.

Why did you give that answer?

A It's a truthful answer.  That's --

Q Well -- sorry.

A That's what I -- that's what I recalled in the moment

in response to that question.

Q It's not responsive to the question, is it, sir?

A You know, I'm not sure that it isn't.

Q Thank you.

A I'm not sure that it is.

Q Thank you, Mr. Bloom.  So I asked you a question, and

I'm asking it to you again today.  Are there other

modifications other than the amended forbearance agreement?

A None that I can recall in the moment.

Q When I asked you that question, your answer was as

follows:  There are potentially other email communications

which would be subsequent modifications, and then there are

telephone conversations.

Is it your testimony that the contracts can be

modified by an email?

A I would think they could.

Q You believe they can.  Okay.  And I asked you,
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Doesn't it say in the operating

agreement as well as the forbearance

agreement that all modifications must be in

writing, signed by the parties?

A I believe so.

Q Thank you.  Why did you tell me you don't know at the

time of your deposition to the same question?

A Pull your mask up.  Thank you.

Could you repeat that.

Q The question is,

Doesn't it say in this document that all

modifications must be in writing?

Your answer is, I don't know.

I answered -- I asked you the same question just now,

and you said yes.  Why did you say I don't know at the time of

your deposition?

A Well, I think we just reviewed the document, and I

saw it here.  I think.

Q There are no amendments to the operating agreement.

Is that fair?

A No.  No.

Q There are no amendment -- isn't it true there are no

amendments to the operating agreement?

A Yes, I believe that's the case.

Q Now, when I asked you that question, you equivocated,
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and your answer was,

There are no formal amendment to the

operating agreement, but the agreement terms

are modified by the amendment to the

forbearance agreement, which we've

acknowledged, and emails that occurred

between the parties.

Right?  That was your answer?

A I'll accept your representation, but I don't have the

transcript in front of me.

Q Didn't you just testify that you rarely had any

conversations with Mr. Antos?

A Yes.

Q And Mr. Antos and you are the only parties to the

operating agreement; right?

A Correct.

Q The operating agreement is referenced in the

forbearance agreement; right?

A Correct.

Q And the same covenants appear in both the 150, the

quiet title, all those things that were under investor.

Remember, those appear in the forbearance agreement; correct?

A I believe so.

Q Okay.  And -- but in your answer it says,

But the agreement terms are modified by
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the amendment to the forbearance agreement

and emails occurred between the parties.

Have you produced any emails with Mr. Antos?

A I don't believe so.

Q Thank you.  There's no modification by emails to the

operating agreement; correct?

A None that I can recall as I sit here today.

Q I may have covered this already, but you were aware

that Preferred Restaurant Brands and KCI were parties to the

note before you entered into the agreement on September 27th;

correct?

A Well, the language was included in the document, no,

it was not.

Q Well, when I asked you that question -- let me read

the two questions I asked you:  

Are you talking about paragraph 1 that it says that

the note -- sorry.

I'll represent to you that it's CBC I, but I don't

really care.  And then it talks about the original note on June

22nd, 2012, and its origination.  Do you see that?

Can't hear you.  Are you talking about paragraph 1,

which it says the notes have been executed by KC Investments

and Preferred Brands?

Your answer, yes.  Yes, I see that.

Question, and you saw that at the time you entered
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into the agreement.  Is that also true?

Do you know what your answer was?

A I do not.

Q Well, I'm going to ask you now:  Did you see the KCI

and Preferred names at the time you entered into the agreement?

A I don't recall seeing that.

Q At the time of your deposition you answered yes.  Why

are you answering differently today?

A Well, I think during my deposition I made a mistake.

Q So at the time of your deposition I asked you this

question:  Pursuant to the terms hereunder, SHAC intends to

acquire the property and make certain payments to CBC and other

parties pursuant to the terms of this forbearance agreement.

Do you recall that provision in the forbearance

agreement?

A I'm sorry.  Are you asking a question now, or are you

reading the transcript?

Q I am asking you a question.  Pursuant to the terms of

the agreement, the terms hereunder, SHAC intends to acquire the

property and make certain payments to CBC and other parties

pursuant to the terms of this forbearance agreement.

Is that in fact the provision within the forbearance

agreement?

A I believe so.

Q And did you agree to that provision at the time of
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you signed the agreement?

A I believe so.

Q Thank you.  Now, I asked you, and the question is --

I'll read it:  And, finally, in addition amounts -- in

additional amounts for accrued interest, recoverable costs,

including reasonable attorneys' fees, certain indemnities,

postforbearance protection payments and other note expenses as

described below, and I asked you if you saw that provision.

Do you know what you responded?

A I do not.

Q Well, did you see the -- do you recall seeing the

provision at the time of your depo?

A No.

Q And have you reviewed these documents in advance of

today?

A No.

Q So do you -- are you able to affirm or deny that the

forbearance agreement covered accrued interest, recoverable

costs, reasonable attorneys' fees, indemnities, postforbearance

protection payments and other note expenses as described below.

That's what's covered in the forbearance agreement; correct?

A I believe so.

Q And you agree to pay all of those sums; isn't that

correct?

A Uh --
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Q SJCV?

A Yes.

Q Thank you.  And, in fact, as we've shown you on the

preliminary title report, the CBC note is in third position.

That's also correct, isn't it?

A There is a deed of trust recorded in the third

position for the benefit of CBC securing a note to which the

Antos Trust as the pledgor has no nexus.

Q Now, you have now claimed that something was

misrepresented to you; is that correct?

A I believe so.

Q What was misrepresented?

A The existence of the third mortgage.  There was no

third mortgage.  It was a commercial loan to a restaurant, and

I only found that out through the course of this proceeding.

Q Well, if you only found -- the day you filed this was

April 9th of 2020; right?

A I believe about then, yes.

Q Okay.  If you didn't find out about any of this

defect, why didn't you make the balloon payment on March

31st, 2020, as required by the amendment to the forbearance

agreement?

A I don't -- I think because we were arguing about the

default that you had sent two weeks prior.

Q Who is we?
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A Me and MGA.

Q Well, I showed you the letter.  You claimed there

couldn't be a default; right?

A Well, the defaults that you were claiming weren't

defaults.

Q Okay.

A Yeah.

Q Well, but you acknowledged that the document matures

March 31st; right?  That's the end of the forbearance period?

A Correct.

Q Well, you testified that you didn't know about any

defect until the course of this litigation.  I'm assuming that

was when discovery was taking place; is that fair?

A That's correct.

Q Well, then why didn't you pay on March 31st, like

you were obligated to?

A You noticed a default improperly two weeks prior.

Q And that's the --

A And it set us down this path.

Q And you're testifying to this Court that the notice

of default is a defense to payment of a matured note?

A Mr. Mushkin, your mask is down again.

There are several.  We have a breach of the

forbearance agreement by CBC in January, February and March.

Q Did you notice default?
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A Not at that time.

Q Okay.

A We didn't know about the default to notice the

default.

Q Well, if you didn't know about the default, then how

can that be a defense to payment on March 31st?  I'm asking

you what you knew on March 31st that you can tell this Court

that's a defense to payment of this balloon payment?

A We knew that you noticed a default improperly.

Q That's all?

A And then we found out there were subsequent --

subsequently we found out other issues.

Q Well, but you didn't find out until sometime in May

or June; right?

A Right.

Q March 31st the obligation was due; right?

A Correct.

Q Now, through the course of this you spoke directly to

me on a number of occasions, didn't you?

A I did.

Q And, in fact, there was consent given by your counsel

to speak with me; isn't that correct?

A Correct.

Q What were you trying to accomplish in speaking to me?

A I don't recall.  I think we were talking about
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extending the forbearance.

Q You wanted more time; right?

A Correct.

Q And you asked that of Mr. Hallberg; correct?

A Correct.

Q And Mr. Hallberg said no; correct?

A Correct.

Q And, in fact, Mr. Hallberg told you all

communications were to go through my office; right?

A Yes.

Q And you communicated with Mr. Hallberg after that,

didn't you?

A I did.

Q You sent him an email, didn't you -- I mean a text

message, didn't you?

A Possibly.

Q Do you know what that -- do you remember what the

text message said?

A No.  What did it say?

Q Do you recall?

A I do not.

Q It said, Your attorney is going to get you into

trouble.

Do you recall that?

A Probably.  That sounds -- yes.
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Q Okay.  Now, you were instructed not to communicate

with him; correct?

A Uh --

Q You just said, yes, all communications through

counsel.

A It was -- it was a request to communicate with you.

Q Okay.

A That's not an instruction not to communicate with

him.

Q But then you decided you would try and interfere with

my relationship with my client; is that correct?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Objection, Your Honor.

Argumentative.

THE COURT:  Overruled.

THE WITNESS:  It was not intended to interfere with

your relationship.  It was intended to inform your client as to

some of the actions you were taking are improper.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q So can you tell me today what was falsely represented

to you?

A The existence of a third mortgage.

Q But we've just gone through it that it's the third

deed on the property; correct?

A It is a third deed, but the deed is not the

obligation.  The deed secures an obligation, and it was an
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obligation that didn't exist that represented that it -- which

was represented as a (indiscernible).

So when CBC says there's a third mortgage, I

understand that to be an obligation of the Antos Trust.  What

came out later is that the Antos Trust never really did have

that obligation, that it was a commercial restaurant loan.

Q Well, what document revealed this to you?

A When we finally got the note.

Q Sir, you referenced a note before the documents are

assigned.  You're creating the 11th modification.

A Right.  Based on telephone --

Q You saw the note before you signed.

A That's not true.

Q Okay.  Do you have any proof of that?

A I don't think you can prove the absence of something.

I mean, clearly if there was an email that said the note is

attached we would have provided it, but you've provided every

email except that critical one.  The note was never provided.

Q Well, did you ever ask for it?

A No.  I accepted it on face value of the

representation that there was a third mortgage, that the Antos

Trust was a borrower.

Q And you have now seen the documents that set forth

the Antos -- the certificate of borrowing.  You saw that

document; correct?
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A Certificate of borrowing?

Q The certificate of authority to borrow, sir, do you

recall that document?

A There's a certificate of trust -- I don't know which

document you're referring to, and I don't want to guess.

MS. FOLEY:  34.

THE COURT:  Maybe it's 34.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Let's take a look at 34.

A Okay.  So 34 is a certificate of the trust existence

and authority.

Q You got that document, didn't you, sir?

A In discovery.

Q And there's also a document that is the guarantee of

the trust, isn't there?

A Yes.

Q Okay.

A In discovery.

Q Tell me why you can't -- you're not obligated to pay,

sir.

A Well, it's really not as complicated as you're making

it.  In 2014, the Antos Trust was not a borrower and not a

guarantor, but it issued a deed of trust.  The deed of trust is

supposed to secure an obligation of the Antos Trust as a

pledgor.  No obligation existed for the Antos Trust.  It
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existed for the Antoses individually and for KCI and Preferred

Restaurant Brands at some point either prior or subsequent.  In

2016, there was a confirmation, but the confirmation didn't

create the liability, and there was an amended deed of trust,

but again, against no obligation of the Antos Trust.  So there

was no obligation for the pledgor to secure.

In 2017, there first appears a guarantee by the Antos

Trust which creates the obligation, but there's no deed of

trust that's issued afterwards.  The prior ones are defective,

and the subsequent one -- there is no subsequent one.

Q But you waived --

A And then the trust transferred the ownership of the

property.

Q Okay.  And you've released and waived all these

claims, haven't you?

A You can't waive what you don't know about.

THE COURT:  You don't think so?

THE WITNESS:  Not intentionally.

THE COURT:  Okay.

BY MR. GUTIERREZ:  

Q It says right in here known or unknown, doesn't it,

sir?

A It may, but that wasn't my intent to waive something

that was misrepresented.

Q How many years have you been in the real estate
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business, sir?

A Probably 20.

Q And your testimony doesn't change from these

documents.  You still think you don't have to pay?

A Well, I think SJC has an obligation under its

assignment of proceeds or its security agreement under the

judgment, but that's a different question than whether or not

the property is pledged as collateral.

Q I didn't ask you if the property was pledged as

collateral.  Sir, I asked you if you had to pay.  You think you

don't have to pay?

A No.  I think when the judgment -- when the judgment

is collected there's an obligation under the security agreement

that remains.

Q What about your obligation to the Antos parties?

A Which obligation specifically?

Q Well, what did you pay for the 51 percent in SHAC?

A Well, I put over a million dollars into that house so

far, maybe under a million dollars, but close to it.

Q Sir, that's not what you paid to the Antoses.  That's

what you put in the house.  I had asked you a very specific

question.  What did you pay the Antoses for your 51 percent of

the property?

A The Antoses were upside down millions of dollars in

equity in the property.  There was nothing to be paid to them
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other than to alleviate some of their liability.

Q So you paid nothing to them; is that correct?

A They didn't have any equity.  They were upside down

by millions.

 

Q Sir, I'm not asking about equity.  I'm just asking

you simple questions.  Hopefully you can answer yes or no so we

can get off of this merry-go-round quicker than we're going to

get off the way you're answering questions.  Please answer yes

or no when I ask a yes or no question.

You paid the Antos parties nothing; correct?

A Correct.

Q So they have received no consideration for the

51 percent that you got in Spanish Heights Acquisition Company;

isn't that correct?

A That is not correct.

Q Tell me what you paid them.

A Consideration comes in forms other than direct cash

payments to the Antoses.

Q And isn't the very same thing true of the deed of

trust that the Antos Trust pledged for the benefit of CBC I?

A No.

Q Okay.  Even though the documents recite that; no?

A The Antoses got specific consideration in the form of

relief.  But the Antos Trust got no consideration for issuing
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that deed of trust.  CBC testified to it.  The Antoses

testified to it, and, yes, there's language in the document

that says for consideration, but it doesn't say what

consideration, and the testimony both in the depositions and

here at trial is that no consideration had been provided.

Q So you know that's not what their testimony is, sir.

You heard Mr. Antos testify --

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Objection.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q He testified --

MR. GUTIERREZ:  -- misstates testimony.

THE COURT:  Overruled.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q He testified that he got exactly what he wanted.  He

got an extension of credit; correct?

A He got a benefit individually, but he didn't

testify --

Q And the Antos --

A I'm sorry.  You didn't --

THE COURT:  Wait.  You've got to let him finish.

THE WITNESS:  He did not testify that the Antos Trust

received a benefit.  He testified that he as a beneficiary of

the trust individually got a benefit, and KCI got a benefit

because they got additional extensions of credit for their

working capital.
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BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q And the document itself recites that the trust and

its beneficiaries receive both the direct and indirect benefits

from the forbearance agreement; isn't that correct?

A Correct.

Q Thank you.

Now, you keep making an issue about this being a

commercial note.  You always knew it was a commercial note;

correct?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Objection.  Asked and answered.

THE WITNESS:  Not correct.

THE COURT:  Overruled.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q So and when I asked you a question at your

deposition,

It is a third-position mortgage.  It's

reported -- recorded against the property.

Let's go back to the first representation

executed by KCI Investments and Preferred

Brands; correct?

Answer, I said commercial note.

So you knew right from the get-go it was a commercial

note; isn't that correct?

A No, that's not what my testimony in the deposition

says either.
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MR. MUSHKIN:  I would bring the Court's attention to

page 48 of his deposition.

THE COURT:  Okay.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Now, I asked you, And so because the Antos Trust was

not a borrower, you believe that's a defense to payment under

this agreement.

And Ms. Barraza objected as to form.

And do you know what your answer was?

A I do not.

Q To the extent it calls for a legal conclusion, I

would object, but that's my belief, and you can -- that you

can't pledge a deed of trust against a loan where there's no

obligation to pledgor.  That's not a mortgage.

Do you see that?

A I don't have that testimony in front of me.

If you could slide it over.

Q Oh, thank you.

Do you see that?

A Yes.

Q And is that still your belief today?

A Yes.

Q What is the basis of that belief, sir?

A My experience in real estate.

Q Any other?
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A My understanding of what a deed of trust comprises

of.

Q So you keep -- you said over and over again that the

trust owed zero, and I've shown you the documents that obligate

the trust.  Is that still your testimony today that in view of

the certificate of trust that authorizes the deed of trust and

in view of the recitation of consideration, both direct and

indirect, it's still your testimony that the trust is not

obligated to pay anything?

A No.

Q So the trust is obligated to pay?

A Yes, but just not -- it didn't secure its debt with

the real property.

Q So you made a separate promise to the Antoses, both

individually and as the trust in the forbearance agreement;

correct?

A I didn't make promises to the trust to anybody, not

the trust.  The Antoses own the trust or are the beneficiaries

of the trust.

Q Well, the parties -- the Antoses are a party -- the

trust is a party to the agreement; correct?

A I believe so.

Q And they're referred to as the Antos parties?

A The Antos parties I think refers to Ken and Sheila

Antos individually.
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Q Oh, okay.  You made a promise to them to pay the CBC

I note; did you not?

A SJC and SHAC made a promise to pay the Antos Trust

obligation under the deed of trust.

Q SHAC didn't make that promise, did they?  SCJV (sic)

did, didn't they?

A I'm not clear.

Q In fact, you made that promise in order to get your

51 percent and become the irrevocable manager; isn't that

correct?

A That's not correct.

Q Well, then how do you become the manager?  How do you

get your 51 percent?  What did you pay for it?

A All the other aspects of the agreement.

Q And you didn't perform any of them, did you?

A Yes, I did.

Q You didn't get a quiet title, did you?

A I did pay the utilities.  I did pay the repairs.  I

did pay the improvements.  I did pay the first and second for

almost a year now.  Yeah, there's --

Q Sir --

A -- there's material performance under the contract.

Q Those promises you made to CBC I, sir, you have not

fulfilled a single promise you made to the Antoses, have you?

A What promises do you think I made to the Antoses?
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Q Quiet title?  No?

A That was to CBC.

Q No.  It's in the operating agreement, sir.

A So are the other performance issues that I --

Q Exactly.  You made a separate promise to the

Antoses --

A Your mask is --

Q -- and the Antos Trust to retire this obligation;

isn't that true?

A So you said --

Q Yes or no, sir?

THE COURT:  That's a yes or no, sir.

THE WITNESS:  Can you ask the question again.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q No, I can't.  You heard it.

A No.  I was hearing something different.

THE COURT:  You're going to have to repeat it,

please, Mr. Mushkin.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Isn't it true that you made a promise to the Antos

parties to pay the CBC I obligation?

A SJC did.

Q Thank you.

Now, I asked you a question, and the question is --

the first question is, well, how much do you think the note is
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off?

The balance that is owed by the trust is zero.  They

are not a borrower.  They are not a guarantor.

Do you recall that question and answer, sir?

A Not specifically, but I agree with it.

Q But that's false, isn't it?

A No.

Q We've shown you the guarantee of the trust.

A This proceeding is the first time I've seen it.

Q It recites all over these documents, doesn't it, that

the Antos Trust owes this money?

A Well, it didn't prior to this document, which was the

2017 document.  The Antos Trust did not owe this money in 2014

when it issued the deed, the deed of trust, and it didn't in

2016 when it reconfirmed the deed of trust.

Q So what?  What's the effect?

A The effect is the deed of trust is to secure, to

provide security for an obligation under a different

instrument.

Q Is it executed wrong?

A Well, I don't know if it's executed wrong or not.  It

just doesn't exist.

Q So you're just claiming this defect based upon your

testimony.  You have no other document to support it; is that

correct?
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A All of these documents support it.

Q Sir?

A They have the 2014 -- we have the 2000 --

THE COURT:  Let him finish.  Thank you.

THE WITNESS:  We have the 2014 deed of trust.  We

have the note and the 10 amendments, none of which add the

Antos Trust as a guarantor or a borrower.  The first time the

Antos Trust has a nexus to the note is in 2017, the year after

it issued the deed of trust.  So the deed of trust, when it was

issued and when it was reconfirmed in 2014 and 2016 had no

obligation to secure.  There was nothing for the pledgor to

secure.

Q So it doesn't matter that Mr. Antos is obligated as a

guarantor, and he's the beneficiary?  That has no consequence

to you?

A That's defeats the purpose of trust.

Q And where do you come up with this understanding of

trust law, sir?

A I mean, I think it's plain on the face; right?  The

Antos Trust would have to be a borrower or a guarantor to have

an obligation for which it could secure.

Q Do you know what a living trust is, sir?

A Somewhat.

Q What is it?

A It's a -- it's an instrument that's used by
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individuals to safeguard assets and separate assets from

themselves individually.

Q Do you know that a revocable living trust has no

separate existence?

A No.

Q Do you know that a revocable living trust has no tax

return?

THE COURT:  Separate and apart from the trustors.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Separate and apart from the trustors?

A Okay.

Q But you stand by your testimony that somehow the

trust cannot obligate itself under this deed of trust.  Is that

your testimony?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Objection.  Misstates the testimony.

THE COURT:  Overruled.

THE WITNESS:  That's my understanding that the trust

would have to obligate itself and is not obligated by an

obligation of the guarantors by an obligation of the

beneficiaries of the trust outside of the trust itself.

Otherwise every trust would be subject to obligations of the

beneficiaries' pledges.

Q But you clearly promised the Antoses to pay this

debt; correct?

A SJC has an obligation under its agreement when it
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collects the judgment to pay the debt.

Q Where does it say that, that you only have the

obligation --

A I think it's in the.

Q -- when it collects its judgment?

A I think it's in the forbearance agreement.

Q Show me.  It's Exhibit 1.

A Or maybe the -- where's the security agreement?

Which exhibit?

Security agreement, Exhibit 10.  I'm going to look at

that for a second.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you for telling us.

THE WITNESS:  All right.  It's not that document.

I'd have to go through the documents to find it.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Mr. Bloom, there's nowhere in any of these documents

that says that the sole remedy for CBC or its successors is

collection under that judgment, is there?

A I don't think it's the sole remedy.

Q In fact --

A CBC has cumulative remedies.

Q Thank you.

A So they can look to KCI.  They can look to Preferred

Restaurant Brands.  They can look to the Antoses individually.

Q And they can look to the property that was secured by
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a deed of trust.  Thank you, sir.

A No, they cannot.

Q That's -- I'm talking about the third.  The agreement

by SJCV to pay off the third within 24 months is a condition to

the conveyance of the property to SHAC; isn't that correct?

Do you know what your answer was?

A What's that?

Q Well, what's your answer today?

A Today, my answer today is there was no third.

Q Okay.  With the caveat that there is no third, and it

was misrepresented, the commercial note to KCI was

misrepresented by CBI as constituting a third mortgage and two,

subject to the extension by the parties.  Yes.

Do you see that answer?

A I don't have the transcript in front of me.

THE COURT:  Could you put it on the Elmo, please.

That's lovely.  Thank you.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Sorry, Judge.

THE COURT:  That's all right.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q So the first caveat is there is no third; right?

A Correct.

Q And you're claiming it was misrepresented as a

commercial note; right?

A No.  It was misrepresented as a mortgage when, in
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fact, it was a commercial note.

Q And, in fact, it is a third mortgage; isn't it, sir?

It's the third deed of trust on the property?

A No.  It's a commercial loan to a restaurant.  It's

not a mortgage.  There is a deed of trust by an entity that

owns the property that's not party to the commercial loan to

the restaurant.  It's very different from a third mortgage.

Q So then why did you say yes at the end of this

answer?

A Can you put it back up so I can see it.

Q You had caveats, and then you said, yes, but the

conveyance is subject to the condition that SJCV pay off the

note.

That's not what I'm talking about.  It's talking

about the payment of the third.  The agreement by SJCV to pay

off the third within 24 months is a condition to the conveyance

of the property to SHAC; isn't that correct?

And then you give me a bunch of caveats, and then

ultimately you say yes; isn't that correct?

A Okay.

Q So the payment of the CBC obligation was a condition

precedent to the transfer of property to SHAC.  That is a true

statement; correct?

A Had there been a third mortgage, yes.

Q That's not what I said, sir.  I said the payment of
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the obligation to CBC I is a condition to precedent -- the

eventual payment is a condition precedent to the transfer of

the real property from the Antos Trust to SHAC?

A I don't think it's a condition precedent.

Q Then why did you say yes?

A Well, because I still think that SJC has an

obligation.  It's just the house isn't pledged as collateral.

Those are two separate issues that you're conflating.

Q When I asked you if you agreed to pay those balloon

payments, do you know what your answer was?

A I do not.

Q The answer -- what's your answer today?  Are you

obligated?  Is SJC obligated to pay those balloon payments?

A I think so.

Q If you're obligated to make those payments, why

haven't you made them?

A Because I think the payments are going to be made out

of the liquidity event that was discussed.

Q Where in this -- well, you -- let's talk about that

for a minute, Mr. Bloom.  You provided Mr. Hallberg with

various emails saying you were about to pay him, didn't you?

A Correct.

Q Why didn't you pay him?

A Because the liquidity events that were referenced in

those emails didn't come to pass.
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Q Well, but you didn't reference liquidity events in

all the emails, did you?

A I think I did.

Q Well, let's take a look at 2717.  It's part of 104.

Do you see that email?

A I do.

Q That's from you, isn't it?

A I believe so.

Q And it's to Mr. Hallberg, and it's dated January

22nd of 2018.

A Correct.

Q I'll read the relevant part:

Hi, Alan.  All parties are en route to

or have already arrived in Hong Kong.

Closing this week for funding the hedge fund

which is buying out our judgment out of their

management fees.  Subscription agreements

drafted and being reviewed today and

tomorrow.  Signatures this week.  Funding by

February 16th, Chinese new year is the

goal.

I have not yet seen the prefunded

interest check.  I am looking at a month end.

I'm supposed to pick up a check from someone

for 260 K this week against which I will

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



202

JD Reporting, Inc.

A-20-813439-B | SHAC v. CBC Partners | 2021-02-02

issue a CBC check.

Talking a little bit.

Did you send that email?

A I believe so.

Q Did you ever send CBC a check?

A No.

Q Why?

A I believe that was a litigation funding source that

was -- there had been discussions about funding against the

judgment, and ultimately they didn't fund.

Q Did you ever tell Mr. Hallberg that you didn't have

the money?

A I believe so.

Q When?

A We had numerous phone conversations, but it would

have been on or about that following week, whatever the day was

in the email.

Q Did you ever send him an email?

A I don't recall.  It would have been an email or a

telephone call.  Those were our two primary methods of

communicating.

Q So let's take a look at 2913.

THE COURT:  And this is still in 104?

MR. MUSHKIN:  Yes, ma'am.  Still in 104.

THE COURT:  Just checking.

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



203

JD Reporting, Inc.

A-20-813439-B | SHAC v. CBC Partners | 2021-02-02

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q I'll try and make it a little easier for you by

putting it up here.

A All right.  Okay.

Q Have you ever seen this document?

MS. FOLEY:  You need to move it --

MR. MUSHKIN:  Oops.  Sorry.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Have you ever seen this email before?

A (No audible response.)

Q Do you see that?

A I do.

Q And do you see that it references a complete set of

executed documents from the closing this morning?

A I see that.

Q And did you get a complete set of documents?

A I got a set of documents.

Q Thank you.  So I'd like to direct your attention to

2929.  Have you ever seen this document?

A I don't believe I have.

THE COURT:  Drop it down a little.

THE WITNESS:  The other direction.

THE COURT:  Does that help, sir?

THE WITNESS:  It does.  Okay.

/ / / 
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BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q And can you see that this is March of '18?

A I do.

Q And this is regarding hazard insurance; is that

correct?

A Yes.

Q Thank you.

(Pause in the proceedings.) 

THE COURT:  Mr. Gutierrez, put your mask back on.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  I was getting a mint, Your Honor.

I'm sorry.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Now, in regards to the insurance, there was quite a

back and forth on this issue; is that correct?

A I believe so.

Q And for a while you had insurance in your personal

name; is that correct?

A I gave -- yes.

Q And then it was after I became into the case and gave

you several written demands you ultimately went and got

insurance in the name of SHAC; is that correct?

A Well, after your first written request, I asked the

insurance company to modify the policy, and ultimately they

did.

Q Thank you.  And that was in March of 2020; correct?
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A Could be.

Q Thank you.  I would direct your attention to 3226 of

104.

A I don't believe I have that in my packet.

Q I'm just going to show you the first page.

Have you ever seen this document before?

A If you can scroll down.

Yes.

Q And that is a recorded notice of default for failure

to pay HOA assessments; is that correct?

A Correct.

Q You never did pay that, did you?

A No.  I believe CBC paid that.

Q Thank you.  Now, you promised on more than one

occasion to pay that, didn't you?

A Not that I can recall.  I think I had conversations

with Mr. Hallberg, and they agreed to pay it, and add it to the

balance.

Q Well, don't you recall the email I just showed you

that said I'll take care of it?

A Oh.  I'm sorry.  I'm thinking of the taxes.

Q No.  This is the assessments.

A Right.

Q You agreed to take care of it, didn't you?

A I believe so.
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Q And then let's look at 3233, and this is to Ken

Antos.

I indicated to Alan I would take care of

this.  I don't think I mentioned today.  I'm

jammed up the rest of the week.  The NOD file

provides no less than 90 days pursuant to

NRS 116.  I'll probably have time to cure it

next week.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q You didn't cure it, did you, sir?

A No.

Q That would be a no?  You did not cure that, did you?

A That's correct.

Q Okay.  Now let's take a look at the next one, and

that's 3255.  Do you see that?  Do you recall seeing it?

A I don't recall seeing it, but that's my email

address.

Q And it says the liquidity expected on March 5th and

any, slash, all other sources.  Do you see that?

A I do.

Q Isn't it true that you represented to Mr. Hallberg

that you had multiple sources for payment of this obligation?

A That's correct.

Q But in your deposition, why did you keep answering,
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when I asked this that you intended to pay only from the

collection of the note?

A Can you show me in the deposition what you're

referring to?

Q No.  I'm asking you a question.

A Well, you're referencing the deposition.  So I'd like

to confirm that that's the testimony.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Sir, I --

THE COURT:  Sir, do you recall one way or the other?

If you don't recall, that's fine.

THE WITNESS:  I don't.  I don't recall.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. MUSHKIN:  That's fine.  The deposition has been

published.

We published the deposition.  Is that correct, Your

Honor?

THE COURT:  Both volumes.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Oh, yes.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  So objection.  Is there a cite that

he has for (Indiscernible) or is he not going to --

THE COURT:  He doesn't have to give him one.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Okay.  I just want to make sure that

the record is accurate of what he's referencing.

(Pause in the proceedings.) 
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BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Mr. Bloom, I like to direct your attention to 3341,

part of Exhibit 4 -- 104.

Can you read that?

A I can.

Q And this is March 28th of '19.  You're in the

property about 18 months at this point; right?  August of '17

to March of '19?

A Okay.

Q Is there any mention in here of applying to assume or

refinance the mortgage?

A No.

Q And did any of these sources of income come through,

Mr. Bloom?

A Not yet.

Q And you don't have five and a half million dollars

available to you today to retire this note, do you?

A I would have to free it up.

Q I didn't hear you, sir.

A I would have to free it up.

Q You don't have $5 million of cash available to pay

this note today, do you, sir?

A Not in liquidity.

Q Thank you.  I want to direct your attention to 3349.

Do you see that?
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A I do.

Q And you're forwarding an email from Andersen Law

Firm; is that correct?

A Correct.

Q And who are the Andersen Law Firm?

A The Andersen Law Firm is local counsel here in Vegas

for First 100.  They represented First 100 as a judgment

creditor in our judgment debtor's bankruptcy petition.

Q And you were never able to collect anything; is that

correct?

A Not yet.

Q Thank you.  Now, you claim to have some sort of

copper powder; is that correct?

A Correct.

Q Where is it?

A It's in a storage facility here in Las Vegas.

Q What's the address?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Objection, Your Honor.  Relevance.

THE COURT:  Sustained.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Well, Your Honor, I have a security

interest.

THE COURT:  The address -- well, but if you want

access to that, we'll go through a different kind of procedure,

if you have a judgment debtor exam.  I understand you have a

security interest, but that doesn't mean you get the location

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



210

JD Reporting, Inc.

A-20-813439-B | SHAC v. CBC Partners | 2021-02-02

of it at this point in time.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Isn't it true that that isotope was stored in your

home in the garage?

A It has been on occasion.

Q And it was recently moved; is that fair?

A It's moved in between my home and storage locations.

Q And have you managed to sell any of that?

A Not yet.

Q Why?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Objection.  Relevance.

THE COURT:  Overruled.

THE WITNESS:  It's a fairly rare isotope that has a

handful of end users and very rare.  Very little of it exists.

So it's extremely valuable, but it's not very liquid.  It's not

like gold or silver.

Q How do you know this?

A Because we've been dealing with this for years trying

to liquidate it.

Q So I'm going to direct your attention to 3372,

another email from you to Mr. Hallberg.  Who is Benjamin Wei?

A Benjamin Wei is somebody out of San Francisco that

contacted me that he was a victim in a transaction of our

judgment debtor, and he read about our judgment.

Q So you represent to Mr. Hallberg in April of '19
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that, We seized 861 million in copper and found 321 million --

I take it MM means million; correct?

A Correct.

Q -- in Bitcoin.

A Correct.

Q Have you been able to -- do you still have the

Bitcoin?

A We found it on a computer that our judgment debtor

had in a Bitcoin wallet.  We have not been able to access it.

Q So you didn't find 320 million in Bitcoin, did you?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Objection.  Misstates the testimony.

THE COURT:  Overruled.

You can explain.

THE WITNESS:  Yes.  We found a significant sum of

Bitcoin in our judgment debtor's cryptocurrency wallet, and

we're trying to access it.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q You have not been able to access it until now, have

you, up through today?

A As of today we have not accessed it.

Q And when did you find it?

A Sometime around the date of that email.

Q Back in April of '19?

A Correct.

Q So, Mr. Bloom, do you recall our discussion at your
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deposition about the commission agreement for the sale of this

property of the house to SHAC?

A Not really.

Q And do you recall that I asked you who was obligated

to pay the commission?  Do you recall that?

A I don't.

Q And do you recall testifying that the seller was

obligated to pay the commission?

A I don't recall that testimony.

Q You don't recall any of it?

A Not that particular line of questions.

Q And you don't recall me pointing out the commission

agreement to you where it says that the buyer is to pay the

commission on the transaction?

A I'm not denying that the conversation took place.

Clearly there's a record on the transcript.  I just don't

recall it.

Q You don't recall any of this?

A No.

Q Do you know today who is supposed to pay the

commission for the sale of the property to SHAC?

A I'm not sure.

Q I'm going to show you 3412.

Do you recall receiving this?

A I don't recall receiving it, but that's my email
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address.

Q Isn't it true that as of November 29th of '19 you

were in arrears --

MS. FOLEY:  The book's going to fall.  Mike, the

book's going to fall.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q You were in arrears pursuant to the --

THE COURT:  Good catch.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Great catch.  That was good.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Thank you, Karen.  That would have gone

everywhere.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q You were in arrears under the forbearance agreement

of $70,360.94?

A I don't believe so.  I think that relates to a

prepayment that was coming up.

Q The email says.

Per our earlier call, here's what I'm

coming up with.  Let me know if there's

anything -- if you're arriving at the same

number.

Do you see that?

A No.  You took the page away.

Q Do you see it now?

A I do.
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Q Did you respond to this in any way?

A Can you slide it down a little.

Yeah.  So this is definitely for prepayments of rents

at the end of the second extension -- or at the end of the

second year of the initial term.  I don't know if I responded

or not.

Q Sir, this isn't for prepayments.  This shows that

you're in arrears as of 11/29/19, of 70,360.94; isn't that

correct?

A No, it's not arrears.  It's 11/29/19, is the email,

and it's amounts owing to 3/31 of 2020.  So that's a

prepayment.  That's for the next however many months.

Q Well, that's 25 of it.  Fair?

A That's 25 of it, and the amount owing --

Q And the amount owing is 70,000; correct?

A For a prepayment.

Q No.  It says you're in arrears.  Amount owing to

12/27/19, forty-four, six, seventy-nine, sixty-eight.

A But the email is dated prior to 12/27/19.

Q I appreciate that, sir.  So your December payment

would be 8,600 -- $8,560.42, and you were in arrears four

months at that time, weren't you?

A So we were at the end of the second year's

prepayment, and we were discussing an extension and a continued

prepayment for the extension.
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Q It's a yes or no.  You were in arrears four months as

of the date of that email; correct, sir?

A No.

Q Explain it to me.

A Okay.  I had prepaid for the second year, and we went

through a period of several months figuring out what we were

going to do, and this was for under the extension rents that

would be due, both from the period of the end of the prepay to

the current point and forward as future prepayments.  But, no,

it wasn't arrears because we didn't have a controlling document

at that point.

Q Sir, this is 11/29 of '19; correct?

A Right.

Q And as of that time, it says you owe forty-four, six,

seventy-nine, sixty-eight, through 12/27 of '19; isn't that

correct?

A Correct.

Q So there's one month that's not technically due, but

there are four months approximately that are in arrears as of

11/29/19; isn't that correct?

A Yeah.  I had prepaid the year through -- I guess it

would be July or August.

Q Thank you.

A All right.  So --

Q So by November you were in arrears four months?

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



216

JD Reporting, Inc.

A-20-813439-B | SHAC v. CBC Partners | 2021-02-02

That's correct, isn't it, sir?

A No, it's not arrears because we were figuring out

what we were going to do to structure it.  Once we had an

agreement, then it became rent due at the point of the

agreement.

Q Sir?

A And then the agreement contemplated forward rent, as

had been the case for the prior two periods.

Q Mr. Bloom, you had a forbearance agreement for 24

months; correct?

A Correct.

Q And you had paid only through July of the second

year; correct?

A Which would be the end of the 24th month.

Q No, sir.  The 24 months goes farther, doesn't it?

Doesn't it go until August?

A Well, then it would've been through August.

Q So from August on you're in default; is that fair?

A Until we signed the extension.

Q Until you signed the extension.  Thank you very much.

So can you locate in your book 3417.

A Yes.

Q And you see this is a redline; is that correct?

A I do.

Q I direct your attention to paragraph 5.
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A Which page?

Q 3418.

A Okay.

Q And a condition to extension, membership pledge

agreement executed by SJCV and Antos Trust shall remain in

effect, and the execution of this amendment shall not be

considered a waiver by CBC of the rights under the membership

pledge agreement.  Do you see that?

A I do.

Q Do you see any redline changes to that?

A I do not.

Q Thank you.  And you see on page 8 where it says

options to extend have terminated?  B1.

A Yes.

Q Do you see any redline there?

A I do.

Q Where?

A The last sentence of B1 where it says the parties

acknowledge the conditions to which the options were subject

have been satisfied, and the SJC options have been exercised.

Q Right.

A That's the top of Bates page --

Q Okay.  There's one word, not have been exercised.

Those are the changes; right?

A Right.
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Q Okay.  Nothing about substitute security or anything

like that; right?

A No.

Q Thank you.  And do you recall when you executed the

amended forbearance agreement?

A I do not.

Q All right.  Now let's take a look at March 18th

exhibit -- that's 3456.  Can you pull that one up.

A Okay.

Q And it's sort of in the middle of the page.  It says,

Just an update.  We had a visit this

week from representatives.  The Chinese

government for the purchase of copper

isotopes.  They wanted it and wanted it to

physically verify that the quantity we

represented actually existed.

The second bullet point.

We are 30 to 60 days out from

$180 million investment tax credit

monetization on 4100 mobile solar generators

worth 150 K each.

Final,

I am negotiating refinancing of all

three loans now.  We are with the recent Fed

rate drop to zero percent, it's getting
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easier to negotiate this refinance.

As you may or may not be aware, 5116

Spanish Heights Drive, two doors over on the

same side of the street, comparable, just

sold for 4,950,000 on 12/20/19, after 203

days on the market.  I really believe that an

amicable resolution is around the corner

which will provide a hundred percent recovery

for CBC Partners despite the property being

upside down in equity by 2 million, and it is

a much shorter time frame than would be

otherwise realized through an adversarial

action, and I'm willing to bear all costs

from April forward in order to prevent CBC no

longer need front any money during these

final months.

I look forward to hearing back from you

soon and hopefully with acceptance of this

proposal.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q Did you get the tax credit monetization?

A We did not.

Q Did you sell the isotope to the Chinese government?

A Not yet.
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Q And did you refinance the loans?

A No.

Q And have you provided any evidence of effort to so

refinance?

A No.

Q Thank you.

All right.  I'm going to show you 3459.  This is

March 20 of 2020.  Do you recall sending this email?

A I don't, but that's my email address, and I'm sure I

sent it.

Q So the negotiations for further extension have broken

down at this point; is that correct?

A I believe so.

Q And you've been advised to communicate solely with my

office; is that correct?

A I had been requested to communicate with you for

questions.

Q And here you are communicating with Alan again:

Hi, Alan.  You know, sometimes the

universe just works in our favor.  We were

just approached by SPAC on NASDAQ with

200 million in cash.  They formed in 2018 and

have a deadline to close the acquisition no

later than June 10th, 2020, or the SPAC is

going to be dissolved with millions in
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penalties.  They are -- they had an

acquisition that just fell through, and they

are pursuing us pretty aggressively.  I am on

with their co-CEOs.  One is out of Sac

(phonetic) and more recently Steve Cohen's

family office, and as I'm typing this

email --

I'm sorry.  I may have skipped -- no.

I'm in touch with their co-CEOs.  One is

out of Sac and more recently Steve Cohen's

family office as I am typing this email.

So as the property -- so as to the

property, as there is a moratorium on any

foreclosure activity right now, nothing is

happening for the next 90 days I would

venture.  Even a nonjudicial foreclosure

would require 90-day notice of default

starting after the moratorium is lifted and

then an additional 30-day notice if opposed.

It could be forced to a judicial foreclosure,

and then a foreclosure start might force a

Chapter 11 restructure for Spanish Heights

Acquisition Company, which would cause a cram

down and hurt your ability to sell the note

or force reduction on the face value.
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Either I can pay the first and second

for the next three months under an extension

or CBC can absent an extension.  Either way

it looks like I will have the funds from SPAC

if nothing else by June.

I'm trying to get CBC every dollar, and

I'm hoping that CBC acts rationally in its

own best interest.  It would seem to me that

if you are looking to sell the note an

extension and resultant performing note would

sell better than a nonperforming note which

is upside down in equity and subject to cram

down.  Help me help you.

Talk soon, buddy.

Did you write that email?

A I believe I did.

Q And did you ever get the 200 million in cash?

A This doesn't say that I was getting 200 million in

cash?

Q It says, We were approached by SPAC on NASDAQ with

200 million in cash.  That's what it says, sir.

A Right.  So and SPAC is a "spack."  It's a special

purpose acquisition company.  It's an entity that goes public

and raises cash and looks for a venture.  So that's not

intended to say that I had $200 million coming to me from the
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SPAC, but that that entity had $200 million in cash.

Q Did you get any money from the SPAC?

A No.  We didn't fit their profile for --

Q Thank you.

A And by the way, this email was in response to Alan's

email 15 minutes earlier.  So this was not in spite of

instructions not to contact Alan.

Q All right.  We've already gone over the July 21, '17,

email.  I don't want to repeat that.

You don't dispute that you owe the property taxes;

correct?

A That SHAC owes the property taxes.

Q Sorry.  SHAC owes them.  You don't dispute that, do

you?

A I do not.

Q Okay.  Now, let's take a look at 3626.  No, I take

that back -- oh, yes, that is correct.

Would you take a look at 3627.

Do you see where at the second paragraph you offer

$150,000 one-year reserve?

A I do.

Q And then do you see the list of items that set forth

that amount?

A I do.

Q Almost one forty-three, five, thirty-nine,
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twenty-two?

A I do.

Q And did you ever provide that reserve?

A This was that security account that we referenced

earlier.  So this was an initial proposal from July of 2017

that ultimately turned into a prepayment instead.

Q The answer is no, you never provided it, did you?

A There was nothing to reserve against.  It was

prepaid.

Q Now, you know in March -- I'm sorry, in December

of '19, you agreed again to create the reserve account in the

amended forbearance agreement.  You acknowledge that; right?

A That's what the document reflects --

Q Thank you.

A -- but that's different than the parties agreed to.

Q And you never did create that 150,000 reserve, did

you?

A As with the prior year, we prepaid the year.  So

there was no requirement to establish a reserve.  And, in fact,

Bank of America wouldn't let us.

Q That would be a yes, you never funded the account,

did you?

A Correct.

Q I may have asked you this.  You don't -- did you tell

me you didn't recall who was to pay the commission?
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A I did not.  I don't recall.

Q You do not recall?

A No.

Q Do you know who Gavin Ernstone is?

A I do.

Q And do you recall the testimony and the deposition

where I took you through the commission agreement where it said

that the buyer is to pay the commission?

A I don't really have a very good recollection of that

conversation, but I --

Q Do you have any reason to dispute that the commission

agreement says that the buyer will pay?

A No.

Q So you do not dispute it?

A I do not dispute it.

Q Thank you.  Though you testified that it was the

seller's obligation.

A I would imagine that was my understanding at the time

of the testimony.

Q Okay.

A Or at least my recollection during the testimony.

Q Now, are you aware that there were arrears on the

first and second as well?

A At what point in time?

Q At the time in September, '17.
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A No, I don't think I was.  At the time we entered the

agreements?

Q Well, it's true that CBC undertook to make the

payments on the first and second; correct?

A That's my understanding.

Q And do you recall why they did that?

A They represented it as a protective advance.

Q Wasn't it true that they had contacted City National

and asked them for a standstill?

A I don't know about the conversations with City

National.

Q You didn't receive the emails?

A Not that I recall.  If you have a specific exhibit

you want to look at, I'd be happy to.

Q I just want your recollection, sir.

A Not that I recall.

Q Mr. Bloom, do you know how much is due on the second

loan on the property?

A Approximately.

Q Approximately what?

A Just under 600,000.

Q Would $584,079.35 sound right?

A At some point in time.  It's been --

Q Yeah, I agree.  Do you know when that's due and

payable?
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A I believe March 31st.

Q So now the second is due and payable; is that

correct?

A Not yet.

Q No, as of March, the loan will be due and payable;

correct?

A I believe so.

Q And have you made arrangements to pay that off?

A I'm in discussions with the bank about having

somebody purchase the note from me.

Q But you haven't paid it off?  You haven't made

arrangements to pay it off?

A No.  I've made arrangements to purchase it.

Q And do you have good funds in your possession of

$584,079.35?

A The entity that I made arrangements to purchase it

does, yes.

Q I'm not asking if the entity does, sir.  I'm asking

if you do.

A I have access to capital to purchase that note.

Q Where?

A Through my relationships.

Q Oh.  And but do your relationships know the number of

judgments that you have against you personally?

A That would be zero and, yes.
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Q Zero?

A Yes.

Q You don't have a tax lien?

A The tax lien was paid.

Q Your testimony to this Court today is that all your

tax liens are paid?

A To the best of my knowledge.

Q Okay.  Now, do you know in '17 that there were tax

arrears?

A On this property?

Q Yeah, on this property.

A I'm not sure.  I'm not sure if I knew it at the time.

Q Isn't it true that City National advanced money to

pay the prior property taxes?

A I believe so, but I don't know for what period of

time.

Q Thank you.

THE COURT:  So we've got 13 minutes until we break.

We're coming back at 9:30 tomorrow, and if we don't finish

tomorrow, we're coming back Tuesday at 10:00.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Today is Tuesday; right?  Yeah?

THE COURT:  Wednesday --

MR. MUSHKIN:  Today is Wednesday?

THE COURT:  -- is tomorrow?

MR. MUSHKIN:  Wednesday is tomorrow.  We don't get
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Thursday?

THE COURT:  Oh, yeah, you get Thursday.

Is today Tuesday?

MR. MUSHKIN:  Stop doing this to me.  Stop it.  I

confuse easily.

THE COURT:  I am --

MR. GUTIERREZ:  I thought she pulled Thursday from

us.

MR. MUSHKIN:  What's going on here?

THE COURT:  So tomorrow you're 9:30, and Tuesday -- I

mean Thursday, Thursday it looks like -- what's that thing

that's on there Thursday?  Is that a special setting on 9:30 on

Thursday?

THE CLERK:  No, that's empty, Judge.

THE COURT:  It's empty?

THE CLERK:  Yeah.

MR. MUSHKIN:  It's a fake out.

THE COURT:  9:30 on Wednesday and Thursday, and then

if you don't finish on Thursday --

MR. MUSHKIN:  I will finish.

THE COURT:  Then you will be Tuesday at 9:30.

MR. MUSHKIN:  What happened to Friday?

THE COURT:  Friday I have a personal appointment in

the morning, and I can't move it.  I tried.

MR. MUSHKIN:  No problem.  Whatever you want, Judge.
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THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. MUSHKIN:  And if you'd like to end, it's a good

point to break right now if you'd like to thirteen minutes --

THE COURT:  No, I'd like to use 11 more minutes.

MR. MUSHKIN:  I will be happy to use 11 more minutes.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Mr. Bloom, would you turn to 1232.  That's going to

be in a prior book.  You have the second book.  You need to go

to the first book of emails.

A Do you have an exhibit number?

Q It's part of 104, and it's 001232.  Do you see that

email?

A I'm turning to it now.  Okay.

Q So in Item 1, it asks, it says,

If I understand correctly, once a

judgment is domesticated in any given

jurisdiction, there's an automatic stay.

Do you see your answer?  Is that your answer in red?

A I believe so.

Q How do you come to know that when you domesticate a

judgment there's 120 day stay?

A Somebody -- well, somebody must have told me that,

one of the attorneys that was working on the collection of the

judgment.

Q Then down a little farther it says,
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At the time of the writ service, the

defendant has approximately three weeks to

mount a defense based upon the assets covered

by the writ being exempt.  Is this basically

correct?

You say,

Correct.  An important note is that

during the period the account is frozen, and

all funds -- and should funds be released,

the financial institution assumes liability

for any funds.

Do you see that?

A I do.

Q And where did you learn that?

A That would have been from one of the attorneys that

was working on the collection of the judgment.

Q Okay.  Then it says.

Offshore the judgment has been

domesticated in Hong Kong.

Is that right?

A I think that was a question by Alan.

Q Are these your responses, sir?

A Yeah.  What you read, Offshore the judgment has been

domesticated in Hong Kong, which is in black, would be part of

Alan's initial email.
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Q Correct.  And your response is in red; is that right?

A Correct.

Q Did you get anything in Hong Kong?

A No.

Q And then it says.

And is pending in Bahrain.  An attempt

that would be made to summary judgment in the

Cayman Islands.

Do you see that?

A Correct.

Q Was that ever done?

A We were unable to recover assets from there.

Q So these are representations that you made to CBC in

July of 17; is that correct?

A That's correct.

Q Thank you.  You drafted the operating agreement; is

that correct?

A Yes.

Q And did you have counsel?

A No.

Q And you provided a K-1 from First 100 Holdings; is

that correct?

A Entirely possible.  I do have a --

Q Thank you.  Okay.  You represented to Mr. Hallberg

that there was $6 million in -- verified in a Morgan Stanley
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account; is that correct?

A What are you referencing?

Q I'm just asking for your recollection.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Your Honor, objection.  Vague.

THE COURT:  If you remember, sir.

Overruled.

THE WITNESS:  No, I don't represent -- I don't recall

that representation.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q And didn't you represent to Mr. Hallberg that somehow

the money had been transferred from Morgan Stanley to bank

Muscat (phonetic).  Does that refresh your recollection?

A I think you're talking about we found -- our

investigators found our judgment debtor had money at Merrill

Lynch and that he transferred it from a Merrill Lynch account.

We're not sure where it went, but our investigators found that

he had money at Bank Muscat as well.

Q And were you able to collect any of that money?

A No.

Q Now, are you sure you didn't have counsel during this

time?

A I had not retained counsel for this, no.

Q I'd like to direct your attention to 1340.  In the

middle of the page.

THE CLERK:  I'm sorry.  Mr. Mushkin, what's the Bates

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



234

JD Reporting, Inc.

A-20-813439-B | SHAC v. CBC Partners | 2021-02-02

again?

MR. MUSHKIN:  1340.

And if it's all right with you, Judge, I'll end with

this question.

THE COURT:  That would be lovely.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Mr. Bloom, I'd like you to look at the

middle of the page where it says from Jay Bloom to Alan

Hallberg dated August 1, 2017.

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Okay.  Below is Mr. Hallberg's email to you that I

believe you're responding to, and it starts out,

Just got out of my meeting.  We're okay

to proceed on the terms as we discussed.

And you say,

That's great.  Please let me know when

your attorneys would like to speak with ours.

Mr. Bloom?

A Yes.

Q You sure you didn't have counsel?

A Yeah, I don't believe I retained counsel for

preparing these documents for this transaction.

Q So why did you misrepresent that to Mr. Hallberg?

A It's not a representation.

Q It isn't a representation when it says would like to

speak with ours?
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A Yeah, no.  I was considering getting counsel.

Q Oh, I see.

A And then subsequently I decided to do it myself.

Q I see.

A And Mr. Hallberg's attorneys, CBC's attorneys

certainly had an opportunity to speak to counsel.

Q And in spite of all the emails to Mr. Gutierrez, he

wasn't your attorney?

A No.

Q Okay.

A Not on this matter.

Q Okay.  How many members are there to First 100?

A 40 or 50.

Q What type of entity is First 100?

A It's a limited liability company.

Q And is it registered with the Securities and Exchange

Commission?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Objection.  Relevance, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Overruled.

THE WITNESS:  It filed a what's called a Reg D 506

exemption, safe harbor exemption.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Thank you.

Judge, I promise that was the last question for

today.  It will be the last question for today.

THE COURT:  All right.  How long do you think you're
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going to need in addition to tomorrow?  Tomorrow is Wednesday.

MR. MUSHKIN:  I will finish -- I believe I will

finish my examination of Mr. Bloom tomorrow without a problem.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.

And then what additional evidence do you think?

Because I know Mr. Hallberg is leaving on Thursday.

MR. MUSHKIN:  I have about 5 or 10 minutes with

Mr. Hallberg.  That's about it.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Just to confirm certain documents and

this and that.  I mean, with cross-examination I guess it could

be an hour.

THE COURT:  And then after that?

MR. MUSHKIN:  That's it.

THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Gutierrez, you're going

to do some examination of Mr. Bloom after Mr. Mushkin finishes.

You might ask some follow-up questions.  Mr. Mushkin then

rests.

Do you have additional witnesses you think you're

going to call in a rebuttal case?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Not at this time, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  So you guys think you'll be done on.

Thursday? 

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Yes.  Yeah, I think so.

(Proceedings recessed for the evening at 4:44 p.m.) 
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CERTIFICATION 

 

I CERTIFY THAT THE FOREGOING IS A CORRECT TRANSCRIPT FROM THE 
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MATTER. 

 

AFFIRMATION 

 

I AFFIRM THAT THIS TRANSCRIPT DOES NOT CONTAIN THE SOCIAL 

SECURITY OR TAX IDENTIFICATION NUMBER OF ANY PERSON OR ENTITY. 
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27th [3]  71/12 80/3
 175/10
28th [1]  208/6
29 [1]  215/12
2913 [1]  202/22
2929 [1]  203/19
29th [1]  213/2
2:41 p.m [1]  161/10
2:50 p.m [1]  161/10

3
3 million [1]  67/6
3,640,000 [1]  153/20
3/31 [1]  214/11
30 [3]  51/20 51/25
 218/18
30-day [1]  221/19
30-day-cure [1]  121/21
30th [1]  166/3
31 [1]  214/11
31st [14]  37/12 37/13
 126/4 129/9 139/3
 140/11 140/16 178/21
 179/9 179/15 180/6
 180/7 180/16 227/1
32 [1]  153/13
320 million [1]  211/10
321 million [1]  211/1
3226 [1]  205/2
3230 [1]  163/2
3233 [1]  206/1
3255 [1]  206/16
33 [1]  153/19
3341 [1]  208/2
3349 [1]  208/24
3372 [1]  210/20
34 [5]  154/1 184/6

 184/7 184/9 184/10
3412 [1]  212/23
3417 [1]  216/21
3418 [1]  217/2
3456 [1]  218/8
3459 [1]  220/7
35 [1]  154/7
3500 [1]  91/19
36 [1]  154/13
3618 [1]  43/11
3626 [1]  223/16
3627 [1]  223/18
3682 [1]  152/25
3686 [1]  153/7
3C1 [1]  122/22

4
4 on [2]  73/1 73/13
4,950,000 [1]  219/5
4.1 [3]  126/12 127/13
 128/12
4.2 [1]  146/7
4.5 [2]  76/19 146/25
40 [2]  155/8 235/13
41 [1]  155/13
4100 [1]  218/20
45 [3]  156/8 156/8
 156/13
48 [1]  190/2
49 percent [9]  8/1 8/16
 16/15 23/2 23/9 23/20
 25/14 25/19 41/10
4:44 p.m [1]  236/25
4s [1]  73/1

5
5.1 [1]  77/6
5.11.2 [1]  82/6
5.5 million [1]  26/7
5.8 [1]  79/2
5.9 [1]  81/22
50 [16]  32/12 32/18
 32/19 33/6 37/25 39/5
 39/10 41/21 44/16
 44/18 46/4 160/6 160/8
 160/10 160/14 235/13
50 percent [1]  7/23
506 [1]  235/20
51 [1]  94/3
51 percent [13]  7/24
 8/17 8/17 23/2 25/19
 25/22 25/25 48/1
 186/17 186/22 187/14
 192/9 192/13
5116 [1]  219/2
5148 [8]  5/21 5/22 27/2
 27/5 27/15 27/21 31/15
 83/3
5148SH 000887 [1] 
 25/8
5212's [1]  83/16
538,500 [1]  155/17
560 [1]  156/10
560,000 [1]  156/7
585 [1]  156/10
5th [1]  206/19

6
6 feet [1]  49/22

6.2 [1]  85/12
60 [1]  218/18
600,000 [1]  226/21
64 [1]  90/9
66 [2]  122/14 128/5
68 [1]  131/6
69 [5]  124/1 125/22
 133/22 133/25 134/14

7
70,000 [1]  214/15
70,360.94 [1]  214/8
722 [1]  134/22
73 [3]  135/23 135/24
 135/24
74 [8]  24/4 24/19 25/7
 33/17 135/13 135/15
 135/17 135/25

8
8,000 [1]  106/21
8,600 [1]  214/21
8.02 [1]  103/11
8.2 [1]  86/8
8.3 [1]  86/11
8.4 [1]  87/8
8.7 [1]  87/11
8/27/2017 [1]  61/7
81 [1]  15/8
82 [2]  18/20 18/21
861 million [1]  211/1
886 [1]  135/24
887 [2]  136/1 136/3
888 [4]  135/25 137/2
 137/2 137/5
889 [2]  137/3 137/5
89,524 [1]  156/1
89183 [1]  237/12

9
9.7 [1]  88/14
90 [4]  103/19 107/9
 206/6 221/15
90-day [1]  221/17
93,190.49 [1]  155/23
96,000 [2]  106/16
 106/18
97 [1]  16/18
98 [6]  89/20 90/1 90/2
 90/7 91/12 91/13
9:00 [1]  46/22
9:00 o'clock [1]  5/15
9:30 [3]  46/21 229/10
 229/21
9:30 on [2]  229/12
 229/18
9:30 tomorrow [1] 
 228/19
9:59 [1]  3/1
9th [1]  178/17

A
a.m [3]  3/1 61/7 89/14
ability [2]  54/22 221/24
able [11]  32/23 56/24
 58/4 127/22 141/20
 177/17 209/9 211/6
 211/9 211/18 233/18
about [89]  4/10 6/16

 9/13 9/16 9/22 10/8
 11/14 12/12 13/6 16/22
 17/22 19/5 19/23 20/24
 22/21 27/5 32/4 35/18
 39/14 40/8 40/20 42/22
 44/9 46/10 48/20 54/21
 56/1 57/3 57/5 57/11
 57/19 57/20 58/3 58/7
 58/10 58/14 63/15
 65/22 67/5 67/6 70/25
 81/25 83/1 83/10 83/19
 87/8 99/6 116/23 117/2
 117/19 121/5 122/4
 136/16 146/25 151/3
 152/6 164/7 166/25
 169/16 175/16 175/19
 175/21 178/18 178/19
 178/23 179/11 180/3
 180/5 180/25 185/16
 186/15 187/6 189/7
 198/3 199/14 199/15
 200/19 200/21 202/9
 202/16 208/7 210/24
 212/1 218/1 226/10
 227/9 233/13 236/7
 236/8
above [6]  61/10 70/20
 79/7 79/12 133/8 237/4
ABOVE-ENTITLED [1] 
 237/4
absence [1]  183/15
absent [1]  222/3
absolutely [4]  31/24
 159/11 160/21 160/24
accept [1]  174/9
acceptance [1]  219/18
accepted [2]  151/16
 183/20
access [6]  84/5 209/23
 211/9 211/16 211/18
 227/20
accessed [1]  211/20
accomplish [1]  180/24
accordance [3]  78/13
 87/20 142/16
According [1]  116/7
Accordingly [1]  126/1
account [25]  21/14
 21/22 21/25 22/2 22/4
 22/7 103/19 107/2
 107/3 113/24 123/2
 130/4 141/14 141/18
 141/20 141/21 142/1
 166/3 166/16 224/4
 224/11 224/21 231/8
 233/1 233/15
accounting [1]  99/25
accrue [1]  162/13
accrued [4]  112/10
 112/22 177/5 177/18
accuracy [2]  86/4
 115/10
accurate [4]  115/17
 120/12 120/13 207/24
accusing [1]  34/4
acknowledge [7]  20/13
 115/16 120/23 140/21
 150/10 217/19 224/12
acknowledged [5] 

 20/7 33/5 120/9 174/6
 179/8
acknowledging [2] 
 120/25 167/14
acknowledgment [3] 
 20/11 37/7 115/25
acknowledgments [1] 
 88/12
acquire [4]  9/8 83/5
 176/12 176/19
acquired [6]  23/5 23/7
 39/7 39/8 41/9 82/14
acquiring [1]  41/17
acquisition [41]  1/4
 7/7 7/9 7/19 7/24 8/23
 10/8 14/13 16/15 16/20
 17/20 19/6 21/6 21/22
 22/22 23/1 23/6 25/13
 25/15 25/18 25/25 36/3
 36/5 39/6 41/8 41/11
 44/24 48/1 59/12 59/17
 70/2 70/10 84/9 101/4
 113/23 114/1 187/14
 220/23 221/2 221/23
 222/23
acting [1]  91/7
action [18]  14/24 14/24
 38/11 41/16 57/22
 58/10 101/20 113/12
 129/9 145/14 145/16
 156/15 156/17 156/22
 156/23 157/5 164/1
 219/13
actions [4]  15/2 128/12
 165/12 182/17
activity [2]  20/5 221/14
acts [1]  222/7
actual [1]  120/6
actually [14]  3/8 6/21
 7/24 27/13 40/17 82/22
 84/8 96/23 105/11
 105/13 109/2 141/6
 160/20 218/16
add [8]  40/17 83/22
 165/8 167/10 168/1
 169/21 195/6 205/17
added [5]  14/1 14/3
 28/7 40/15 40/16
addition [5]  142/7
 168/14 168/18 177/4
 236/1
additional [22]  14/5
 30/2 30/13 40/15 40/16
 40/17 45/14 67/14
 67/17 67/18 67/23
 80/24 81/24 104/7
 119/13 121/6 124/6
 177/5 188/24 221/19
 236/5 236/19
address [10]  41/3
 56/19 57/11 143/5
 163/16 206/18 209/17
 209/22 213/1 220/9
addressed [4]  112/11
 112/16 112/23 112/24
addresses [1]  71/2
addressing [4]  159/21
 159/23 160/20 160/23
administrative [1]  4/9



A
administrators [2] 
 114/13 114/20
admitted [14]  24/3
 24/16 24/18 27/20 31/7
 32/5 42/21 59/8 80/21
 89/22 90/3 92/10
 133/21 151/21
admonish [1]  113/1
advance [7]  42/5 59/7
 71/11 73/6 80/3 177/14
 226/7
advanced [2]  164/11
 228/13
advances [4]  14/5
 45/12 50/18 67/22
adversarial [1]  219/12
advised [1]  220/14
affecting [1]  87/2
affiliated [1]  82/16
affiliates [1]  145/10
affirm [2]  177/17 237/9
AFFIRMATION [1] 
 237/7
after [32]  7/13 7/21
 13/25 16/2 18/6 18/25
 22/6 22/25 30/7 38/13
 40/18 42/6 55/16 55/23
 81/7 81/8 81/10 81/16
 92/20 107/9 117/4
 117/19 121/20 121/21
 181/11 195/8 204/19
 204/22 219/5 221/18
 236/13 236/16
afternoon [2]  158/15
 161/5
afterwards [1]  185/9
again [31]  3/11 13/24
 21/16 26/10 32/8 36/25
 46/20 53/25 54/2 66/5
 68/16 72/13 76/5 96/22
 110/23 119/13 121/8
 123/24 134/15 148/12
 151/24 157/19 165/14
 172/15 179/22 185/5
 191/3 193/13 220/18
 224/11 234/1
against [22]  13/20 15/2
 15/2 20/6 38/24 45/24
 75/20 77/16 87/18
 107/8 113/14 114/19
 145/13 156/25 157/1
 185/5 189/17 190/13
 201/25 202/9 224/8
 227/24
age [1]  44/9
agency [2]  142/24
 142/25
agents [1]  145/11
aggressively [1]  221/3
agree [6]  85/12 88/6
 176/25 177/23 194/5
 226/24
agreed [13]  18/14 22/2
 79/4 100/22 121/10
 121/12 130/14 169/17
 200/9 205/17 205/24
 224/11 224/15

agreement [204]  14/15
 14/21 15/5 15/11 16/2
 16/7 16/10 17/3 17/8
 17/17 18/19 19/23 20/3
 20/5 20/20 21/5 21/24
 22/12 25/16 31/19
 31/22 35/1 35/2 35/10
 36/13 36/13 36/15
 36/22 36/25 37/8 37/15
 40/21 42/6 42/7 48/21
 59/8 60/16 66/12 68/12
 68/24 69/2 69/3 69/4
 69/10 69/23 70/5 71/21
 75/10 78/14 80/14
 85/10 86/5 86/16 87/17
 87/22 87/25 88/1 88/7
 88/18 97/5 98/11 98/25
 101/2 101/4 101/12
 103/20 103/25 107/10
 110/3 111/21 114/9
 114/11 114/19 115/4
 115/5 115/15 116/8
 116/9 118/2 118/8
 118/24 118/25 119/2
 119/21 121/9 121/13
 122/5 123/7 123/11
 126/3 127/3 127/10
 129/19 129/21 129/24
 130/2 130/2 130/19
 130/20 131/3 131/19
 131/24 132/21 133/1
 133/11 133/17 134/11
 134/12 136/24 138/16
 138/22 139/16 139/20
 139/25 140/22 140/22
 141/3 141/14 141/18
 141/20 141/22 141/25
 142/4 142/7 142/10
 142/13 143/11 143/17
 145/24 145/25 147/2
 148/16 150/1 150/12
 150/18 151/3 166/15
 169/22 169/24 170/6
 170/9 170/12 170/16
 170/17 171/6 171/7
 171/22 171/24 172/16
 173/2 173/3 173/19
 173/23 174/3 174/3
 174/5 174/15 174/17
 174/18 174/22 174/25
 175/1 175/6 175/10
 176/1 176/5 176/13
 176/15 176/19 176/21
 176/23 177/1 177/18
 177/21 178/22 179/24
 186/6 186/13 189/4
 190/7 191/15 191/21
 192/14 193/3 196/25
 197/6 197/8 197/10
 198/3 199/15 212/1
 212/13 213/13 216/4
 216/5 216/7 216/9
 217/5 217/8 218/5
 224/12 225/7 225/12
 232/16
agreements [27]  21/14
 48/19 57/4 72/7 72/8
 72/9 72/15 72/16 87/18
 87/19 95/15 97/22

 97/25 120/22 123/12
 130/1 130/15 130/24
 131/21 132/24 139/9
 145/24 148/7 150/13
 166/1 201/17 226/2
agrees [1]  142/8
Air [1]  89/23
Alan [11]  6/24 62/3
 163/19 163/22 201/13
 206/3 220/18 220/19
 223/7 231/21 234/7
Alan's [2]  223/5 231/25
Albert [2]  47/20 47/23
all [110]  3/21 4/16 5/7
 20/19 30/9 30/17 31/7
 32/22 33/9 33/9 34/21
 35/15 38/21 40/22
 44/14 44/15 44/21
 45/12 46/11 50/11
 56/23 61/15 61/18
 62/19 63/25 64/1 66/3
 66/4 67/21 69/16 71/6
 74/25 75/3 75/11 76/23
 78/21 83/6 86/3 86/19
 88/15 90/1 92/20 93/17
 94/16 95/25 100/13
 108/7 108/13 109/7
 109/9 109/12 109/16
 113/13 117/3 117/4
 117/15 117/15 121/13
 121/24 123/19 124/9
 125/9 128/18 130/10
 138/15 144/13 145/10
 145/13 147/2 150/19
 153/9 153/17 158/10
 158/20 159/1 161/3
 163/6 163/14 164/21
 167/1 167/2 173/3
 173/11 174/21 177/23
 180/10 181/8 182/4
 185/14 192/14 194/10
 195/1 197/13 198/19
 201/2 201/13 203/4
 206/20 215/24 218/7
 218/23 219/13 220/7
 223/8 228/5 231/9
 234/3 235/7 235/25
 236/15
allegation [1]  84/17
allegations [1]  21/12
alleged [1]  68/15
allegedly [1]  39/22
alleging [1]  122/6
alleviate [1]  187/1
allow [5]  26/24 42/19
 76/15 80/8 82/12
allowed [5]  77/8 77/10
 82/21 101/24 162/5
almost [9]  21/8 23/8
 41/17 110/18 145/6
 159/4 160/6 192/20
 223/25
along [3]  51/1 84/12
 130/6
already [10]  40/19
 46/20 89/6 112/11
 134/3 144/4 147/14
 175/8 201/14 223/8
also [13]  14/8 20/7

 21/9 70/2 72/6 95/12
 97/17 102/25 122/5
 167/9 176/1 178/5
 184/14
alternative [1]  78/10
although [3]  12/19
 69/1 95/2
always [3]  11/16 96/20
 189/8
am [16]  17/21 24/22
 32/9 34/3 46/5 50/5
 51/24 52/2 152/17
 156/9 176/18 201/23
 218/23 221/3 221/11
 229/6
ambiguity [1]  31/4
ambiguous [1]  6/19
amended [58]  13/7
 20/2 20/20 31/22 36/15
 36/17 69/7 69/10 70/13
 70/18 72/2 72/6 73/6
 75/12 78/12 82/11 86/5
 86/20 87/11 87/16
 88/17 95/25 96/3 97/5
 110/2 118/5 118/25
 126/2 126/17 126/23
 127/3 127/15 128/3
 128/8 129/6 129/8
 130/22 131/18 131/23
 132/25 134/11 134/12
 134/20 144/7 144/8
 144/23 145/23 147/1
 147/3 148/16 149/25
 150/11 169/24 170/5
 172/16 185/4 218/5
 224/12
amendment [17]  14/1
 14/7 19/23 123/11
 132/20 138/15 139/18
 140/5 141/2 142/5
 144/20 173/22 174/2
 174/4 175/1 178/21
 217/6
amendments [8]  14/1
 28/7 40/14 95/25
 144/17 173/19 173/23
 195/6
America [4]  21/24
 123/2 130/4 224/20
amicable [1]  219/7
amongst [1]  100/2
amount [16]  79/7
 91/16 104/7 106/24
 106/24 106/25 154/8
 155/9 155/17 156/1
 156/10 162/22 214/14
 214/15 214/17 223/23
amounts [4]  156/10
 177/4 177/5 214/11
Andersen [3]  209/2
 209/5 209/6
annual [1]  104/6
another [9]  12/22 28/1
 28/1 81/18 155/20
 155/25 156/4 159/9
 210/21
answer [71]  15/20
 21/19 26/15 48/10
 48/17 50/24 51/1 51/6

 51/14 52/8 52/10 52/11
 52/16 52/21 53/2 53/22
 53/25 55/15 55/21
 55/23 55/24 56/1 56/14
 56/23 56/25 58/4 60/8
 66/18 76/6 80/18 83/21
 83/23 103/22 113/2
 113/4 124/18 132/7
 165/1 166/16 167/15
 169/20 170/22 170/25
 171/5 171/10 171/17
 172/5 172/6 172/18
 173/13 174/1 174/8
 174/24 175/24 176/2
 187/7 187/9 189/21
 190/9 194/4 198/6
 198/8 198/9 198/14
 199/9 200/10 200/12
 200/12 224/7 230/18
 230/18
answered [10]  55/14
 56/7 56/7 59/2 59/4
 169/15 172/4 173/14
 176/7 189/10
answering [8]  48/20
 55/16 57/23 74/8
 102/13 176/8 187/9
 206/25
Anton [2]  115/19 116/3
Antos [146]  7/12 7/21
 7/22 9/17 9/23 10/24
 11/1 11/1 11/3 11/19
 11/20 12/1 12/3 12/15
 12/16 12/16 12/18
 12/19 12/23 13/15
 13/16 13/21 14/1 14/9
 14/11 16/3 16/16 20/23
 23/2 23/6 24/1 25/14
 26/16 26/17 26/21
 26/22 28/9 31/11 31/12
 31/25 34/22 34/24
 36/21 39/15 40/11
 40/17 45/22 69/24
 69/25 70/21 72/4 72/19
 73/17 73/18 74/13
 75/10 78/5 79/5 82/12
 82/15 85/18 86/12
 86/19 87/3 87/19 88/2
 88/9 88/10 88/11 88/16
 115/14 115/20 115/24
 120/8 135/9 135/16
 136/14 137/2 139/17
 140/25 148/9 148/21
 148/23 148/25 149/2
 149/3 149/4 149/9
 149/20 149/22 149/23
 150/4 150/9 150/13
 150/25 151/9 151/11
 153/20 157/1 170/10
 170/11 170/16 170/17
 170/22 171/3 171/6
 171/8 171/22 171/23
 172/4 174/12 174/14
 175/3 178/8 183/4
 183/5 183/21 183/24
 184/22 184/24 184/25
 185/5 185/7 186/15
 187/11 187/21 187/25
 188/7 188/18 188/21



A
Antos... [16]  190/5
 191/23 191/24 191/25
 192/3 193/8 193/20
 194/11 194/13 195/7
 195/8 195/13 195/20
 200/3 206/2 217/5
Antos' [2]  10/10 16/14
Antos's [1]  95/13
Antoses [34]  8/16 10/2
 11/5 22/16 22/19 23/7
 23/9 23/17 23/19 23/20
 27/9 28/8 33/22 40/13
 41/7 148/2 148/6
 150/24 156/25 185/1
 186/20 186/22 186/24
 187/19 187/24 188/1
 191/14 191/18 191/20
 192/24 192/25 193/6
 196/23 197/24
Antoses' [1]  9/19
any [122]  3/12 3/14
 3/17 4/13 11/25 12/24
 15/2 16/24 17/4 18/12
 20/5 21/18 30/2 30/13
 32/23 40/3 40/4 41/21
 41/25 52/20 56/4 56/4
 57/6 57/13 58/1 58/24
 59/14 66/22 71/17
 78/11 78/17 78/19 79/5
 79/10 79/15 80/11
 80/16 82/13 82/15
 84/24 84/24 86/21
 86/22 87/2 87/4 87/21
 88/1 92/8 93/4 93/24
 101/18 101/19 106/9
 106/9 108/25 112/5
 113/13 119/9 119/16
 119/23 121/8 121/20
 121/23 121/24 122/2
 123/22 124/4 124/10
 126/3 126/20 126/21
 129/9 129/12 133/16
 134/24 138/2 138/7
 138/13 142/24 143/5
 145/9 145/13 145/16
 145/19 145/21 145/22
 145/24 147/20 166/14
 169/1 169/23 170/4
 170/9 170/15 171/5
 174/11 175/3 178/19
 179/11 183/14 187/3
 190/25 192/15 197/16
 206/20 208/10 208/13
 210/8 212/10 212/18
 214/1 217/10 217/15
 219/15 220/3 221/13
 223/2 225/11 230/16
 231/11 233/18 237/10
anybody [5]  25/22
 28/17 46/12 99/7
 191/17
anymore [2]  24/9
 54/17
anything [10]  38/19
 42/3 83/22 168/4
 168/14 191/9 209/9
 213/20 218/1 232/3

anyway [1]  82/21
anywhere [8]  65/21
 81/25 98/9 98/10 98/25
 99/6 100/8 165/11
apart [3]  142/19 196/8
 196/10
apologize [2]  29/19
 30/24
Apparently [1]  171/9
appear [2]  174/20
 174/22
APPEARANCES [1] 
 1/17
appears [2]  155/7
 185/7
appellate [2]  53/15
 53/16
applicability [1]  53/5
applicable [5]  37/7
 74/17 77/21 86/12 97/7
application [4]  115/2
 155/8 155/20 155/25
applications [3]  38/11
 123/17 130/6
applies [1]  41/13
apply [1]  41/23
applying [1]  208/10
appointed [1]  53/13
appointment [3]  53/14
 53/16 229/23
appreciate [5]  76/6
 103/1 121/2 162/21
 214/20
approach [4]  24/5 24/9
 24/11 49/20
approached [2]  220/21
 222/20
appropriate [1]  113/3
appropriately [1]  91/7
appropriateness [1] 
 53/6
approval [1]  142/23
approximately [7] 
 102/17 106/14 144/3
 215/19 226/19 226/20
 231/2
April [14]  25/6 25/17
 27/16 34/19 92/23
 111/13 113/24 136/12
 166/3 166/19 178/17
 210/25 211/23 219/14
April 1 [1]  111/13
are [152]  3/3 5/12 5/24
 9/13 15/6 17/22 30/4
 34/22 34/25 38/2 40/25
 41/20 44/25 47/7 48/6
 48/18 49/10 50/2 50/12
 50/15 51/11 51/23
 51/25 54/2 54/4 55/16
 56/9 56/12 59/10 64/18
 67/19 69/15 69/22 70/3
 70/14 73/3 80/23 80/24
 83/15 83/19 86/6 87/17
 88/18 89/2 89/13 89/22
 89/24 90/13 91/5 92/20
 93/7 94/20 98/10 98/13
 100/17 101/14 104/19
 104/21 104/22 105/2
 108/2 112/1 115/17

 116/7 116/9 116/22
 118/21 124/19 128/21
 129/7 129/13 130/12
 130/12 130/14 131/2
 131/13 131/21 131/25
 132/1 132/24 133/2
 133/3 134/18 135/22
 136/10 147/16 148/6
 148/23 149/9 150/12
 156/8 156/14 156/25
 159/10 160/17 160/19
 163/25 167/13 168/9
 168/21 169/1 169/2
 169/3 169/10 169/23
 170/4 172/15 172/19
 172/20 173/19 173/22
 173/22 174/2 174/4
 174/14 174/25 175/16
 175/21 176/8 176/16
 176/16 177/17 179/23
 182/17 183/9 185/9
 191/18 191/20 193/4
 194/3 194/3 200/8
 200/12 200/17 201/13
 209/5 215/19 215/19
 217/24 218/18 218/24
 220/18 221/1 221/3
 222/9 225/22 228/6
 231/22 232/13 233/2
 233/20 235/12
aren't [5]  24/17 47/8
 149/9 153/14 169/1
argue [4]  68/12 68/24
 69/7 69/13
arguing [1]  178/23
argument [3]  32/15
 41/5 46/2
Argumentative [2] 
 52/25 182/13
arguments [3]  40/8
 41/3 46/6
arise [1]  21/23
arising [8]  82/10
 126/16 127/15 128/3
 129/5 129/8 145/18
 145/22
around [4]  47/24
 138/19 211/22 219/7
arrangement [2]  165/4
 165/7
arrangements [5] 
 47/11 227/8 227/12
 227/13 227/16
arrears [15]  113/8
 213/3 213/7 213/13
 214/8 214/10 214/17
 214/21 215/1 215/10
 215/19 215/25 216/2
 225/22 228/9
arrived [1]  201/14
arriving [1]  213/20
Article [1]  113/18
Article XI [1]  113/18
as [164]  4/1 4/2 4/9 6/5
 6/19 7/20 8/10 8/20
 10/24 11/8 11/9 14/2
 14/4 16/15 16/16 17/13
 17/24 19/2 19/2 21/3
 21/14 22/8 24/3 25/12

 25/17 25/24 26/8 27/9
 28/7 28/8 31/25 37/15
 40/17 41/1 42/17 44/25
 46/9 46/24 46/25 48/7
 51/20 53/4 55/12 56/8
 56/17 62/6 62/11 70/7
 71/14 73/20 73/22
 73/24 75/9 76/3 80/1
 80/21 82/23 84/6 90/7
 90/7 92/10 94/16 95/11
 98/4 98/12 101/9 101/9
 102/4 104/9 105/4
 109/23 111/20 113/5
 114/5 115/14 116/3
 116/13 116/15 116/16
 116/18 118/22 120/5
 120/13 120/14 120/14
 120/16 120/18 122/10
 124/6 126/18 128/7
 129/14 129/15 132/1
 133/3 133/21 134/16
 134/19 142/9 144/22
 146/22 147/5 147/20
 148/9 148/10 149/4
 149/4 151/12 151/13
 151/22 155/2 156/16
 160/3 161/14 161/14
 169/16 171/2 172/18
 173/2 173/2 175/7
 177/7 177/20 178/3
 178/8 178/21 182/16
 183/2 184/21 184/21
 184/24 186/8 186/9
 188/22 190/8 191/15
 191/23 195/7 195/13
 198/12 198/23 198/25
 200/7 209/7 211/20
 213/2 214/8 215/1
 215/9 215/14 215/19
 216/7 219/2 221/6
 221/11 221/12 221/12
 221/13 224/18 225/23
 226/7 227/5 233/17
 234/13
ask [23]  3/13 29/15
 29/17 30/1 30/2 30/8
 54/2 57/3 57/10 76/5
 81/5 110/22 113/1
 117/11 121/8 169/23
 170/15 176/4 183/19
 186/9 187/10 193/13
 236/17
asked [52]  31/21 40/20
 43/23 48/21 50/17
 53/25 54/10 54/23 55/6
 58/3 58/9 58/12 58/25
 59/13 59/14 91/6 93/17
 97/13 105/6 105/16
 105/20 114/18 119/6
 119/9 127/4 151/14
 167/8 170/8 172/3
 172/14 172/18 172/25
 173/14 173/25 175/14
 175/15 176/10 177/3
 177/8 181/4 186/10
 186/21 189/10 189/14
 190/5 193/24 200/9
 204/22 207/1 212/4
 224/24 226/9

asking [41]  20/24
 21/25 48/20 50/21
 56/11 56/22 57/3 57/5
 58/19 62/19 63/15
 63/16 63/16 63/17
 70/25 79/14 105/24
 106/9 110/25 112/25
 119/23 121/2 125/12
 146/17 164/15 166/12
 166/25 166/25 167/5
 167/19 170/4 172/15
 176/16 176/18 180/6
 187/6 187/6 207/5
 227/18 227/18 233/3
asks [1]  230/14
aspects [1]  192/14
asserted [1]  145/20
assertion [1]  137/12
assessed [4]  102/4
 102/8 102/16 112/2
assessment [2]  102/2
 102/6
assessments [6]  102/3
 109/12 109/14 112/10
 205/10 205/22
assets [5]  101/19
 196/1 196/1 231/3
 232/12
assigned [6]  41/7
 166/7 166/10 166/11
 166/22 183/10
assignment [21]  9/2
 25/21 34/23 34/23
 62/15 72/8 89/18 90/5
 117/7 135/10 135/17
 137/1 137/23 138/2
 141/9 144/11 154/2
 154/7 166/9 166/25
 186/6
assignments [1] 
 135/10
Associates [3]  17/13
 99/23 100/1
association [2]  82/20
 164/1
assume [7]  110/10
 110/17 110/20 111/2
 111/4 115/20 208/10
assumed [3]  110/16
 111/4 111/11
assumes [1]  231/10
assuming [2]  115/21
 179/12
assure [1]  21/23
at [241] 
attached [7]  34/24 62/8
 134/12 137/1 138/3
 152/1 183/17
attachment [1]  134/9
attacks [2]  21/18 33/25
attempt [1]  232/6
attempting [2]  23/5
 26/3
attempts [2]  4/20
 133/18
attention [21]  14/14
 16/6 42/23 59/18 69/21
 91/18 94/12 99/3
 103/10 151/14 152/3



A
attention... [10]  157/18
 167/13 190/1 203/18
 205/2 208/2 208/24
 210/20 216/25 233/23
attorney [8]  51/18
 51/23 56/4 61/5 62/12
 62/13 181/22 235/8
attorneys [22]  17/13
 40/23 62/8 65/5 98/3
 98/4 98/6 98/10 98/12
 98/15 99/19 124/12
 131/13 138/11 138/12
 145/12 167/24 230/23
 231/15 234/16 235/5
 235/5
attorneys' [2]  177/6
 177/19
auction [1]  162/14
audible [10]  14/17
 28/24 46/15 54/14
 56/16 85/9 114/14
 130/13 132/4 203/10
AUDIO [1]  237/4
AUDIO-VISUAL [1] 
 237/4
August [10]  80/6 92/21
 93/2 94/13 208/7
 215/22 216/16 216/17
 216/18 234/8
August 1 [1]  234/8
authenticity [2]  32/2
 32/11
authority [5]  31/4
 123/10 130/6 184/2
 184/11
authorization [1] 
 142/23
authorize [2]  17/13
 133/10
authorizes [1]  191/6
automatic [1]  230/17
automation [4]  18/5
 79/23 79/23 168/6
available [3]  147/5
 208/17 208/21
avoid [1]  33/1
avoiding [1]  33/25
aware [10]  11/25 23/4
 51/25 72/11 83/8
 169/23 170/4 175/8
 219/2 225/22
away [4]  8/24 49/22
 66/17 213/23

B
B-l-o-o-m [1]  4/5
B1 [3]  20/12 217/13
 217/18
B1 where [1]  217/18
B3 [1]  115/7
back [41]  4/25 7/13
 8/20 9/12 10/14 18/18
 40/4 46/9 46/19 49/17
 49/19 55/2 66/20 76/16
 80/2 85/22 89/5 89/16
 98/19 107/18 108/15
 115/2 115/4 126/9

 137/17 138/15 140/8
 144/24 148/14 148/15
 164/16 167/23 189/18
 199/10 204/9 204/14
 211/23 219/17 223/17
 228/19 228/20
bad [1]  158/23
Bahrain [1]  232/6
balance [7]  45/5 45/11
 67/21 130/5 165/8
 194/2 205/18
balloon [10]  20/22
 22/12 26/8 58/14 58/16
 140/16 178/20 180/8
 200/9 200/13
bank [10]  21/24 113/24
 123/2 130/4 166/3
 166/16 224/20 227/9
 233/11 233/17
bankruptcy [1]  209/8
bar [1]  49/9
Barraza [6]  55/12
 131/7 131/13 132/15
 133/7 190/8
bars [1]  38/21
based [3]  183/11
 194/23 231/3
basically [1]  231/4
basis [5]  9/7 10/22
 94/5 145/17 190/23
Bates [7]  25/7 25/8
 152/7 152/11 157/20
 217/22 233/25
be [117]  4/23 5/7 7/10
 19/5 26/24 27/22 30/3
 31/14 39/1 41/4 41/6
 41/22 41/25 42/25
 43/14 53/17 56/1 56/19
 57/11 57/17 59/11
 59/16 66/12 67/5 69/16
 70/5 74/17 75/20 76/3
 77/8 77/10 80/8 80/13
 82/13 87/23 94/24
 95/12 96/13 96/14 97/6
 97/8 101/24 106/3
 106/22 106/25 111/13
 113/2 114/11 114/15
 121/17 124/25 125/5
 126/19 127/22 128/12
 128/20 129/10 131/22
 131/24 132/22 132/24
 133/1 133/16 139/19
 141/2 141/20 142/6
 142/25 143/1 146/11
 146/22 148/4 155/7
 156/23 158/3 159/6
 160/14 162/25 165/21
 170/1 171/10 172/20
 172/22 173/3 173/12
 179/3 180/6 183/4
 186/25 195/20 196/21
 200/17 205/1 206/13
 214/21 215/8 215/22
 216/14 217/6 219/2
 219/11 220/25 221/20
 224/21 226/14 227/5
 227/25 229/21 230/5
 230/8 231/9 231/24
 232/7 234/5 235/24

 236/12 236/22
bear [2]  127/4 219/13
beating [1]  161/2
became [6]  31/8 42/14
 42/16 42/17 204/19
 216/4
because [40]  22/4
 24/17 26/12 32/5 34/12
 35/21 36/4 37/11 41/13
 43/9 43/19 46/22 48/18
 49/20 50/4 59/10 62/14
 64/1 67/17 70/4 96/19
 104/25 110/25 112/3
 123/5 128/23 130/18
 144/14 156/23 159/12
 178/23 188/24 190/5
 200/6 200/17 200/24
 210/18 215/10 216/2
 236/6
become [4]  23/4 41/14
 192/9 192/12
been [84]  4/1 5/13 5/15
 5/16 5/22 6/22 16/22
 20/14 20/14 21/6 21/9
 21/12 24/3 31/7 32/3
 32/23 33/12 38/10
 38/10 38/21 39/17
 42/21 46/20 46/24 53/9
 53/11 55/25 58/4 71/6
 83/25 84/8 89/22 90/23
 92/13 93/12 95/2 95/10
 96/1 98/6 102/23 106/6
 106/6 107/1 108/3
 110/18 114/4 121/22
 128/6 132/1 133/3
 133/21 135/3 138/12
 144/4 144/21 151/21
 157/5 168/22 169/5
 175/22 185/25 188/5
 199/24 202/9 202/16
 202/19 207/14 210/5
 210/18 211/6 211/9
 211/18 216/8 216/17
 217/20 217/20 217/23
 220/14 220/16 226/23
 231/15 231/18 231/23
 233/11
before [47]  1/13 10/8
 14/12 21/3 28/17 28/20
 28/22 29/2 29/12 30/2
 32/4 35/18 37/1 38/14
 39/19 39/23 39/24 40/7
 40/9 40/25 41/12 41/20
 41/24 46/7 48/16 52/11
 53/11 57/4 57/12 62/23
 80/5 85/21 96/6 115/1
 124/2 138/20 144/14
 152/4 153/3 161/16
 162/8 162/10 175/10
 183/9 183/12 203/9
 205/6
beginning [6]  21/20
 74/7 118/14 118/18
 171/2 171/3
begun [1]  12/6
behalf [13]  16/19 23/25
 25/22 50/18 73/8 73/9
 73/10 100/11 100/24
 138/23 138/23 166/18

 166/20
being [21]  4/1 22/22
 34/5 53/13 65/12 77/17
 82/22 82/22 85/16 93/4
 102/25 105/20 107/4
 118/25 121/6 129/15
 162/10 189/7 201/18
 219/9 231/4
belief [3]  190/12
 190/21 190/23
believe [85]  5/11 6/9
 10/20 12/19 15/7 16/7
 27/11 33/11 33/17
 39/11 40/25 41/22 74/1
 74/1 79/22 80/5 80/19
 81/3 98/11 98/17
 101/12 103/17 104/17
 104/19 105/13 107/14
 108/24 110/6 112/16
 114/3 114/6 114/11
 116/15 122/17 122/23
 122/25 123/1 123/9
 123/23 123/25 124/6
 126/8 127/9 131/12
 133/11 138/2 138/9
 138/21 148/8 148/16
 153/12 153/25 171/10
 172/25 173/5 173/24
 174/23 175/4 176/24
 177/2 177/22 178/11
 178/18 190/6 191/22
 201/8 202/4 202/8
 202/13 203/20 204/15
 205/4 205/13 205/25
 213/15 219/6 220/13
 222/16 227/1 227/7
 228/15 230/19 234/11
 234/20 236/2
believed [2]  96/23
 143/12
Bell [1]  161/16
below [6]  62/8 149/6
 163/21 177/8 177/20
 234/10
beneficial [4]  8/11 9/3
 17/4 67/3
beneficiaries [4]  39/18
 189/3 191/18 196/20
beneficiaries' [1] 
 196/22
beneficiary [2]  188/22
 195/14
benefit [8]  31/10 39/17
 178/7 187/21 188/16
 188/22 188/23 188/23
benefits [1]  189/3
Benjamin [2]  210/21
 210/22
best [5]  20/21 108/18
 159/14 222/8 228/7
better [4]  3/19 5/8
 128/20 222/11
between [6]  10/24 11/5
 105/4 174/7 175/2
 210/7
beyond [2]  106/4
 168/24
big [1]  43/19
bill [1]  85/16

bills [1]  124/7
binder [2]  4/7 50/6
binders [1]  81/15
binding [8]  87/18
 87/24 101/12 114/9
 114/11 114/18 142/14
 150/13
bit [8]  24/20 30/25 45/6
 64/4 80/2 88/25 163/10
 202/2
Bitcoin [5]  211/4 211/7
 211/9 211/10 211/15
black [1]  231/24
blank [2]  167/9 167/25
blanket [1]  113/5
block [3]  16/25 118/10
 120/7
Bloom [102]  3/14 3/25
 4/5 4/20 5/3 5/19 8/10
 11/13 12/6 13/6 14/14
 14/18 14/20 15/4 16/6
 18/1 18/18 20/19 21/13
 22/20 25/4 25/8 27/21
 28/13 28/25 29/15
 29/21 30/5 30/11 31/20
 33/14 33/21 34/23 36/4
 36/6 39/20 42/21 46/18
 46/19 46/23 47/3 49/15
 49/17 50/5 50/15 52/9
 60/23 61/7 61/8 61/10
 61/24 62/3 62/24 63/6
 64/5 64/7 69/22 74/11
 74/23 75/1 89/5 89/16
 91/12 102/16 105/24
 108/19 113/7 125/16
 127/24 129/2 129/21
 135/7 135/16 136/14
 137/3 141/23 149/12
 149/19 152/1 152/15
 157/15 158/5 159/10
 161/20 162/12 163/16
 164/23 169/8 172/14
 197/16 200/20 208/2
 208/14 211/25 216/9
 226/17 230/7 234/6
 234/7 234/17 236/3
 236/16
Bloom's [1]  31/5
blow [2]  24/20 44/3
blue [3]  65/17 151/23
 151/25
board [2]  82/23 83/2
body [3]  98/25 142/25
 143/1
boilerplate [2]  153/12
 153/13
bold [2]  37/2 37/10
bonded [2]  77/18
 103/7
book [7]  90/14 158/2
 158/7 216/21 230/8
 230/8 230/9
book's [2]  213/4 213/5
books [3]  113/18
 113/21 158/10
borrow [1]  184/2
borrowed [1]  27/11
borrower [21]  12/20
 12/24 14/2 14/4 26/17



B
borrower... [16]  28/8
 31/8 40/15 40/16 41/14
 42/6 42/13 72/16 74/14
 151/13 183/22 184/22
 190/6 194/3 195/7
 195/20
borrowers [2]  71/17
 116/21
borrowing [2]  183/24
 184/1
both [28]  13/8 34/24
 39/15 39/19 41/1 41/14
 45/22 50/1 50/12 96/15
 96/15 97/19 101/9
 110/10 118/24 120/22
 130/1 131/18 132/20
 137/5 137/6 174/20
 188/4 189/3 191/7
 191/14 207/18 215/8
bother [1]  33/23
bottom [12]  45/2 63/21
 63/22 63/24 65/23
 65/25 66/4 66/10 73/5
 73/14 99/4 99/21
bought [6]  6/17 9/20
 10/9 18/7 20/23 83/10
bound [2]  88/3 97/8
Boy [1]  25/1
Brands [20]  14/4 28/6
 32/22 71/7 71/16 72/17
 75/23 76/8 96/2 96/8
 96/12 96/18 116/13
 116/14 151/4 175/9
 175/23 185/2 189/20
 197/24
breach [7]  33/8 40/2
 126/21 130/19 130/21
 133/16 179/23
breached [1]  40/6
break [13]  3/17 28/17
 28/22 29/2 46/7 46/10
 46/13 46/14 89/1
 158/15 161/5 228/18
 230/3
briefly [1]  42/4
bring [3]  79/16 107/18
 190/1
broad [4]  54/6 56/8
 56/12 56/24
broken [1]  220/11
brought [3]  6/5 33/17
 82/23
buddy [1]  222/14
Bulla [2]  53/17 53/22
bullet [1]  218/17
bunch [2]  116/22
 199/18
burden [5]  29/7 39/11
 39/13 44/19 44/20
Burn [2]  47/21 47/23
business [5]  47/23
 51/7 51/11 54/6 186/1
businesses [1]  53/10
but [171]  3/4 4/13 4/22
 5/6 13/15 13/24 14/6
 14/9 14/11 16/23 18/16
 24/24 26/18 26/21 28/8

 32/6 32/9 32/16 33/25
 34/4 34/21 35/12 37/15
 37/25 38/13 39/12 40/9
 40/16 42/9 44/8 44/16
 49/20 50/5 56/13 58/17
 59/3 66/15 67/11 70/13
 71/24 72/13 77/18
 79/14 80/21 81/4 81/12
 81/17 82/21 83/8 83/23
 84/24 90/11 90/24
 92/11 94/5 96/14 96/19
 96/24 98/7 98/15 98/19
 99/10 100/12 102/23
 103/1 105/5 106/4
 106/11 106/22 106/25
 107/2 108/21 110/5
 111/4 112/1 113/5
 115/19 116/4 116/18
 118/21 118/24 120/13
 120/16 120/18 120/22
 121/2 122/5 124/9
 124/15 124/20 125/1
 125/7 125/8 125/17
 130/25 131/13 133/11
 137/8 138/5 141/18
 144/21 147/4 149/8
 151/1 151/14 151/20
 153/4 153/11 156/25
 159/15 159/24 160/2
 160/6 160/13 160/18
 161/1 162/17 165/23
 167/7 167/12 169/9
 169/12 174/3 174/9
 174/24 174/25 175/8
 175/18 179/8 180/13
 182/10 182/22 182/24
 183/17 184/23 185/3
 185/5 185/8 185/11
 185/23 186/7 186/19
 187/25 188/3 188/16
 190/12 191/12 194/5
 194/6 196/12 196/23
 199/11 201/1 202/15
 206/17 206/25 209/22
 209/25 210/15 212/25
 214/19 215/9 215/18
 220/9 223/1 224/15
 225/10 227/11 227/23
 228/15 233/16
buy [1]  82/25
buyer [4]  44/25 212/13
 225/8 225/12
buying [3]  15/3 162/14
 201/16

C
calculus [1]  4/24
call [4]  30/5 202/20
 213/18 236/20
called [6]  4/1 10/11
 27/2 32/3 42/7 235/20
calling [1]  5/22
calls [4]  78/21 131/24
 133/1 190/11
came [5]  7/13 40/3
 117/1 137/8 183/5
can [99]  3/7 4/15 4/23
 5/19 6/16 8/14 9/22
 15/8 15/10 16/9 17/10

 18/18 24/8 24/20 24/21
 26/15 30/11 41/21
 41/23 43/15 43/24
 43/24 44/19 48/10
 49/15 49/18 49/24
 50/20 51/1 53/2 55/21
 55/25 55/25 56/1 56/13
 57/25 58/5 60/23 60/24
 61/2 62/6 64/5 64/7
 64/11 65/13 80/20 81/6
 81/10 84/6 84/6 89/5
 89/10 90/11 98/19
 104/24 110/22 120/4
 120/6 121/9 124/9
 125/11 125/17 129/1
 129/2 146/18 152/13
 159/14 159/17 161/14
 172/17 172/22 172/25
 175/7 180/6 180/7
 182/19 183/15 187/7
 187/8 190/12 193/13
 197/23 197/23 197/24
 197/25 199/10 199/10
 204/2 205/7 205/16
 207/3 208/4 208/5
 211/13 214/2 216/21
 218/8 222/1 222/3
can't [23]  7/14 7/14
 24/5 24/9 33/15 34/5
 39/22 43/10 43/18 49/5
 49/6 49/8 50/9 58/21
 68/22 149/16 158/21
 175/21 184/19 185/16
 190/13 193/15 229/24
candor [1]  37/1
cannot [4]  46/4 52/1
 196/13 198/2
capable [1]  3/4
capacities [1]  149/23
capacity [3]  120/14
 120/16 151/7
capital [3]  79/6 188/25
 227/20
care [8]  164/2 164/6
 164/12 164/23 175/19
 205/20 205/24 206/3
careful [2]  34/10 34/11
case [32]  1/6 5/24 12/6
 21/13 26/6 27/6 28/2
 28/5 28/11 29/6 29/22
 30/4 30/6 44/22 46/5
 46/7 57/5 59/7 76/4
 92/12 96/17 105/17
 106/6 106/10 108/3
 160/9 160/22 169/12
 173/24 204/19 216/8
 236/20
cases [2]  98/7 161/15
cash [10]  45/13 67/22
 187/18 208/21 220/22
 222/17 222/19 222/21
 222/24 223/1
catch [2]  213/8 213/9
catching [1]  117/13
cause [2]  107/16
 221/23
caused [9]  107/7
 107/17 108/6 108/11
 108/13 109/9 109/12

 109/16 145/21
causes [1]  145/14
caveat [2]  198/10
 198/21
caveats [2]  199/11
 199/18
Cayman [1]  232/8
CBC [145]  1/8 1/20
 6/24 7/11 7/14 8/20 9/6
 9/7 9/13 9/14 10/1 10/4
 10/25 11/2 11/3 11/5
 14/25 15/10 15/12
 15/15 15/23 16/23
 17/14 20/5 20/17 20/18
 20/19 20/24 20/24 21/1
 21/3 21/13 21/25 22/1
 22/2 22/6 22/11 22/16
 22/25 23/5 23/7 23/25
 24/1 25/15 25/19 27/8
 27/14 27/16 27/16
 27/17 27/19 27/21
 27/24 31/15 34/16
 37/14 38/4 38/14 41/8
 54/3 55/7 57/6 60/5
 61/5 62/15 65/5 69/24
 75/12 76/23 79/4 85/12
 86/24 87/5 94/20 95/23
 98/14 99/24 101/21
 106/6 107/8 109/23
 111/24 112/5 115/24
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 63/5 65/6 65/8 65/10
 67/11 69/1 74/14 74/14
 76/12 77/17 80/17
 82/21 82/22 89/20
 89/22 90/7 91/1 91/1
 92/6 93/22 94/6 95/4
 95/7 95/9 96/19 97/14
 100/10 101/3 103/2
 105/22 106/13 106/21
 108/21 108/24 111/18
 113/3 116/19 117/15
 120/2 120/12 120/12
 120/12 120/13 120/25
 125/18 129/4 129/14
 131/1 131/4 131/7
 131/10 134/9 134/11
 134/13 134/22 135/19
 135/24 136/9 136/14
 138/16 140/1 144/12
 144/13 146/16 148/12

 148/24 149/1 149/18
 151/23 151/25 151/25
 152/1 152/6 153/4
 155/2 156/7 158/2
 158/16 159/4 159/15
 160/9 163/2 163/4
 165/1 166/16 172/6
 172/10 175/18 182/22
 184/7 184/21 189/16
 191/8 193/3 194/21
 195/19 195/25 195/25
 197/4 197/6 197/7
 197/13 197/19 199/3
 199/4 199/4 199/7
 199/14 200/4 200/7
 201/4 201/9 201/9
 209/16 210/7 210/13
 210/15 210/15 210/15
 214/10 214/10 214/11
 215/1 216/2 218/10
 218/25 222/22 222/23
 226/3 226/23 229/15
 229/17 230/2 230/11
 230/11 234/3 234/23
 235/15
item [13]  88/23 97/1
 107/6 107/6 123/16
 139/15 153/19 154/1
 154/7 154/13 154/19
 155/8 230/14
Item 1 [1]  230/14
Item 10 [1]  88/23
Item 15 [1]  97/1
Item 3 [2]  107/6 107/6
Item 33 [1]  153/19
Item 34 [1]  154/1
Item 35 [1]  154/7
Item 36 [1]  154/13
Item 40 [1]  155/8
Item 6 [1]  123/16
items [6]  77/22 129/12
 131/24 133/1 153/13
 223/22
its [48]  7/20 8/11 8/17
 9/2 9/2 16/23 20/19
 20/25 22/4 23/1 27/6
 27/15 27/16 27/21
 27/24 31/9 31/14 31/15
 45/4 45/11 54/7 67/21
 76/23 94/25 98/5
 111/24 113/11 113/24
 126/15 127/14 127/14
 128/2 142/16 144/11
 144/11 147/2 147/21
 151/16 166/7 175/20
 186/5 186/6 189/3
 191/12 196/25 197/5
 197/17 222/7
itself [10]  8/2 31/20
 36/13 36/14 52/1 121/9
 189/2 196/13 196/18
 196/20

J
James [2]  47/20 47/23
jammed [1]  206/5
January [11]  15/17
 15/22 21/4 34/15 40/1
 111/15 111/17 111/23



J
January... [3]  163/9
 179/24 201/9
JAY [12]  3/25 4/5 46/23
 61/7 61/7 61/10 62/3
 65/7 137/3 150/17
 163/16 234/7
JD [1]  1/25
JILL [1]  1/24
job [2]  35/8 152/20
Joe [1]  62/5
John [1]  20/18
JOSEPH [2]  1/18 62/4
JUDGE [52]  1/13 24/18
 24/22 28/20 31/13
 31/23 32/17 33/1 33/13
 33/17 34/8 34/11 34/19
 34/21 34/25 35/3 35/11
 35/14 35/19 35/21 36/2
 36/12 36/22 37/10
 38/18 38/25 42/4 43/20
 44/3 44/10 44/12 50/3
 52/16 52/24 53/3 53/21
 53/23 61/19 68/21 91/5
 106/19 149/14 149/17
 158/4 159/14 165/21
 169/7 198/18 229/14
 229/25 234/3 235/23
Judge's [1]  52/18
judgment [58]  8/12 9/4
 17/6 17/15 44/23 62/15
 67/4 78/5 78/11 78/13
 87/8 99/12 99/13 99/19
 100/1 100/5 109/23
 110/9 112/9 113/13
 117/24 121/6 123/7
 142/12 142/21 144/12
 154/23 155/1 155/3
 155/8 155/13 155/16
 155/21 156/1 156/4
 186/7 186/12 186/12
 197/1 197/5 197/18
 201/16 202/10 209/7
 209/8 209/24 210/24
 210/24 211/8 211/15
 230/16 230/21 230/24
 231/16 231/18 231/23
 232/7 233/14
judgments [3]  156/19
 156/25 227/24
judicial [1]  221/20
July [9]  27/17 27/20
 45/19 121/5 215/22
 216/12 223/8 224/5
 232/14
July 2020 [1]  27/20
July 21 [1]  223/8
jumped [1]  29/19
jumping [1]  30/24
June [11]  34/19 70/22
 71/2 89/24 92/20 92/25
 95/24 175/19 180/14
 220/24 222/5
June 2018 [1]  89/24
jurisdiction [1]  230/17
just [83]  3/6 3/18 4/6
 9/11 11/16 21/19 22/1
 30/8 30/25 31/1 33/24

 35/2 35/15 36/22 38/13
 46/9 52/16 54/18 56/18
 60/10 61/14 62/19
 63/16 63/23 64/6 66/17
 68/15 68/22 70/20
 74/22 77/12 90/4 90/16
 91/1 91/1 91/5 93/22
 106/8 106/24 109/2
 114/16 121/2 122/10
 124/11 124/17 124/25
 125/12 127/4 128/17
 133/7 135/8 136/8
 148/18 149/16 151/2
 159/10 159/19 165/22
 173/14 173/17 174/11
 182/4 182/22 187/6
 191/12 194/22 194/23
 200/7 202/25 205/5
 205/19 207/23 212/16
 218/11 219/4 220/20
 220/21 221/2 226/15
 226/21 233/3 234/12
 236/10

K
K-1 [1]  232/21
Karen [2]  137/18
 213/10
KC [1]  175/22
KCI [27]  10/11 12/10
 27/9 28/6 32/22 71/6
 71/12 71/15 72/16
 75/23 76/8 96/1 96/7
 96/11 96/18 116/12
 116/14 116/23 116/25
 151/3 175/9 176/4
 185/1 188/23 189/19
 197/23 198/11
keep [12]  49/21 68/19
 81/19 102/12 112/25
 117/15 152/18 158/11
 161/12 189/7 191/3
 206/25
Ken [7]  9/23 11/19 12/3
 88/9 149/22 191/24
 206/1
Kenneth [10]  16/16
 69/24 69/25 70/21 72/4
 73/18 149/2 149/3
 149/3 153/20
killing [3]  91/1 91/2
 91/5
kind [7]  10/16 18/5
 21/25 44/1 44/12
 145/15 209/23
knew [9]  40/15 40/22
 58/16 61/22 180/7
 180/9 189/8 189/22
 228/12
know [122]  3/18 5/6
 5/11 9/6 11/16 12/20
 13/25 19/24 24/16
 24/21 27/5 27/7 32/9
 33/23 35/20 35/23
 35/23 36/9 39/10 39/20
 39/23 40/8 43/23 43/25
 44/16 49/6 50/4 50/24
 52/10 52/11 56/6 61/10
 61/21 63/23 64/10

 65/23 71/15 79/25
 80/13 80/21 83/1 83/6
 83/7 83/9 91/6 91/8
 91/9 91/9 92/4 92/10
 93/13 93/25 94/24 95/7
 95/10 101/2 104/22
 105/1 105/3 106/11
 106/23 108/19 117/14
 117/19 123/15 124/15
 127/6 138/14 148/12
 151/7 151/9 151/10
 151/11 152/23 154/17
 155/1 159/8 160/5
 161/15 161/17 162/22
 163/5 164/3 168/6
 168/9 168/10 172/11
 173/6 173/13 173/15
 176/2 177/9 179/11
 180/3 180/5 181/17
 184/4 185/16 188/6
 190/9 194/21 195/22
 196/3 196/6 198/6
 200/10 210/17 212/20
 213/19 214/5 220/19
 224/10 225/4 226/10
 226/17 226/24 227/23
 228/8 228/15 230/20
 234/15 236/6
knowledge [3]  20/21
 108/18 228/7
known [2]  145/20
 185/21
knows [3]  44/5 44/7
 44/8
Kong [4]  201/14
 231/19 231/24 232/3

L
lack [1]  37/1
landscaping [1] 
 109/16
language [11]  38/23
 67/5 67/11 119/4
 119/10 119/17 119/24
 121/10 121/12 175/12
 188/2
LAS [4]  2/9 5/21
 209/16 237/12
last [19]  12/7 20/12
 42/18 56/24 93/2 97/3
 97/12 97/14 98/7 132/7
 134/22 135/23 135/24
 137/14 137/21 147/19
 217/18 235/23 235/24
late [3]  40/4 112/1
 112/3
later [11]  14/4 27/17
 28/7 40/4 104/7 112/1
 120/6 144/3 146/6
 183/5 220/24
Laurentiu [1]  27/11
law [10]  6/5 25/6 41/1
 41/24 88/1 128/6
 195/18 209/2 209/5
 209/6
lawfully [2]  86/13
 150/5
laws [1]  47/4
lawsuit [2]  117/4

 131/10
lawyer [1]  56/13
lawyers [2]  7/14
 113/11
lead [1]  7/1
leak [1]  108/21
learn [6]  12/12 53/8
 53/21 72/15 117/1
 231/14
learned [7]  12/14 12/16
 12/17 12/20 14/8 117/3
 146/6
lease [17]  19/9 19/14
 19/16 19/19 20/7 20/8
 20/11 22/9 22/10 37/8
 37/14 37/15 37/16
 140/21 140/22 144/4
 144/9
least [3]  49/21 159/1
 225/21
leave [4]  81/15 158/9
 167/9 167/25
leaving [1]  236/6
led [1]  8/21
left [3]  64/3 64/20 68/4
legacy [3]  119/3
 119/10 119/24
legal [8]  41/3 41/5
 41/12 41/20 87/17
 87/23 150/12 190/11
legitimacy [1]  53/4
legitimate [1]  77/12
lender [14]  25/16 41/14
 45/1 45/4 45/16 67/21
 67/24 82/25 83/3
 101/21 112/12 112/16
 112/23 112/24
lenders [5]  77/20 78/22
 78/23 110/11 123/20
length [1]  136/8
lengthy [2]  54/21
 120/19
less [4]  92/6 107/23
 158/3 206/6
let [33]  3/18 19/24 24/9
 29/25 32/15 49/20
 57/24 63/23 64/10 74/9
 80/2 83/20 90/24 99/3
 102/9 102/10 104/24
 125/14 127/6 148/18
 149/11 149/12 152/23
 161/6 164/2 169/6
 171/13 175/14 188/20
 195/4 213/19 224/20
 234/15
let's [68]  10/14 31/19
 31/21 32/18 35/2 36/2
 44/12 47/3 48/15 48/24
 57/16 62/2 63/2 71/19
 72/2 74/20 75/5 76/19
 77/3 86/3 90/7 91/21
 91/24 94/11 95/15
 95/20 98/18 98/23 99/9
 99/15 99/21 100/25
 101/14 104/4 107/6
 112/7 113/17 114/7
 114/23 115/4 117/2
 121/15 122/8 122/14
 123/1 124/1 126/9

 134/8 135/15 138/15
 140/8 144/24 145/1
 148/14 148/15 148/15
 149/25 153/6 163/2
 184/9 189/18 200/19
 201/4 202/22 206/1
 206/15 218/7 223/16
letter [48]  17/12 23/24
 25/4 25/6 25/10 25/12
 26/3 33/18 33/19 33/23
 34/24 35/25 66/14
 121/5 122/9 122/16
 122/24 123/6 123/22
 124/5 124/8 126/2
 127/16 128/5 128/11
 129/10 129/13 129/19
 130/5 130/16 130/20
 130/25 130/25 131/17
 131/25 132/19 133/2
 134/9 134/19 135/8
 135/20 136/12 136/19
 137/9 137/10 137/16
 143/13 179/2
letting [1]  162/13
level [1]  48/20
liabilities [1]  145/15
liability [8]  79/5 101/3
 145/17 154/9 185/4
 187/1 231/10 235/15
liar [1]  34/5
lien [19]  77/8 77/10
 77/12 77/16 77/18
 78/14 82/19 101/18
 101/24 102/23 103/3
 103/5 103/7 103/8
 142/12 154/14 157/1
 228/3 228/4
liens [12]  82/10 82/13
 86/22 86/23 113/14
 145/13 156/16 157/4
 157/4 157/12 157/13
 228/6
lieu [5]  8/21 23/8 41/18
 104/12 141/21
lifted [1]  221/18
like [63]  3/13 3/15
 28/16 28/19 29/16
 29/23 30/14 33/24
 36/22 40/21 41/17
 42/18 46/7 49/3 49/25
 51/2 55/2 56/18 57/10
 59/9 81/12 81/22 82/6
 85/1 92/16 94/19 96/25
 97/3 97/17 100/13
 115/7 117/21 117/24
 125/21 131/6 133/21
 138/22 146/7 149/15
 153/14 154/13 155/3
 158/6 158/14 159/8
 159/15 163/25 164/3
 179/15 203/18 207/6
 208/2 210/16 218/2
 222/4 229/11 230/2
 230/3 230/4 233/23
 234/6 234/16 234/24
likelihood [1]  45/20
limitation [1]  145/16
limited [14]  101/3
 126/13 126/14 127/13



L
limited... [10]  128/1
 128/2 128/18 129/4
 147/4 154/9 159/20
 160/19 161/2 235/15
line [12]  35/10 36/2
 55/9 55/10 71/4 71/5
 97/3 97/12 97/14
 134/22 147/19 212/11
liquid [1]  210/15
liquidate [1]  210/19
liquidity [6]  157/17
 200/18 200/24 201/1
 206/19 208/23
list [3]  58/22 120/16
 223/22
listed [1]  6/22
listing [1]  120/14
literally [1]  44/14
litigate [1]  77/15
litigated [1]  82/22
litigating [1]  77/14
litigation [7]  12/6 14/8
 16/5 117/19 144/18
 179/12 202/8
litigations [2]  53/9
 157/6
little [21]  6/9 24/20
 30/25 45/2 45/6 63/2
 64/4 64/20 65/9 80/2
 99/9 106/21 106/22
 159/2 163/10 202/2
 203/2 203/21 210/14
 214/2 230/25
live [7]  5/20 6/2 6/4 6/5
 11/24 47/5 47/7
lived [1]  6/7
living [8]  16/16 47/11
 47/17 69/24 149/2
 195/22 196/3 196/6
LLC [13]  1/5 1/8 8/12
 27/3 27/5 27/15 27/22
 70/10 96/2 113/23
 142/15 154/9 163/17
loan [37]  10/11 11/4
 12/14 13/21 22/15
 22/18 27/9 28/2 28/6
 40/12 42/5 60/25 62/4
 63/8 73/24 74/5 74/12
 74/14 75/21 75/23
 111/4 111/6 111/9
 122/7 126/22 148/24
 149/21 150/24 151/11
 151/12 178/14 183/6
 190/13 199/4 199/6
 226/18 227/5
loaning [1]  116/20
loans [7]  75/7 110/16
 110/18 110/18 110/21
 218/24 220/1
local [1]  209/6
locate [1]  216/21
location [1]  209/25
locations [1]  210/7
lodge [1]  4/12
Loehrer [1]  161/16
logic [1]  44/15
long [7]  6/7 90/7 94/5

 122/18 122/20 165/21
 235/25
longer [3]  47/14
 158/17 219/15
look [93]  13/18 31/19
 31/21 31/23 32/18
 36/12 61/6 62/2 63/13
 63/17 63/19 70/3 70/9
 71/20 72/2 75/5 76/19
 77/3 81/22 82/6 85/1
 86/3 89/5 90/7 92/16
 94/11 94/19 95/15
 95/20 96/25 97/3 97/13
 97/17 98/18 98/19
 98/23 98/23 99/9 99/15
 99/21 100/14 100/25
 101/5 101/14 101/15
 104/4 107/6 107/16
 112/7 113/17 114/7
 114/23 115/7 121/15
 122/9 122/10 122/14
 124/1 125/13 125/18
 125/21 126/9 131/6
 135/15 135/19 138/22
 145/1 148/12 149/25
 152/22 153/6 153/11
 154/13 154/19 155/3
 163/2 163/12 184/9
 197/10 197/23 197/23
 197/24 197/25 201/4
 202/22 206/1 206/15
 218/7 219/17 223/16
 223/18 226/14 234/6
looked [2]  36/25 66/3
looking [16]  4/6 8/20
 67/19 70/4 71/1 97/12
 132/6 132/6 134/18
 156/7 156/8 156/8
 158/2 162/20 201/23
 222/9
looks [5]  158/6 163/25
 222/4 222/24 229/11
loop [1]  33/16
losses [1]  145/14
lost [1]  68/22
lot [6]  10/18 10/18 40/8
 54/23 60/14 166/13
lovely [2]  198/17 234/5
lower [1]  163/10
Luckily [1]  4/15
lunch [6]  46/10 81/5
 81/6 81/7 81/8 81/10
lying [1]  59/20
Lynch [2]  233/15
 233/15

M
ma'am [5]  3/9 37/22
 81/20 159/11 202/24
made [67]  10/21 11/13
 19/4 21/12 31/14 34/14
 34/16 34/19 40/4 41/4
 41/6 42/6 51/16 52/3
 55/6 57/4 57/6 57/14
 80/9 80/12 80/14 84/16
 88/15 93/4 105/23
 106/7 111/19 111/20
 111/23 112/1 117/8
 117/9 135/2 135/4

 135/8 141/21 148/2
 156/24 165/7 165/25
 166/18 166/20 167/1
 167/1 167/2 167/2
 167/14 167/17 167/22
 176/9 191/14 192/1
 192/3 192/8 192/23
 192/24 192/25 193/5
 193/20 200/16 200/17
 227/8 227/11 227/13
 227/16 232/7 232/13
Maier [9]  17/13 97/23
 98/6 99/7 99/16 99/18
 99/23 99/25 134/5
maintain [4]  18/24
 108/6 108/15 113/20
maintained [1]  96/20
maintenance [1]  108/8
make [48]  4/13 4/23
 15/12 15/15 15/23 18/6
 18/12 21/3 28/19 29/12
 29/24 30/3 32/13 38/17
 39/10 40/1 40/6 41/2
 44/22 45/20 46/6 56/13
 56/18 78/17 85/21
 85/22 90/5 101/5
 111/15 134/24 138/7
 138/10 159/20 160/18
 160/19 166/6 166/14
 167/18 169/14 176/12
 176/20 178/20 191/17
 192/5 200/15 203/2
 207/23 226/3
maker [2]  116/19
 116/25
makers [3]  116/13
 116/15 116/18
makes [4]  31/24 37/15
 44/20 122/2
making [8]  22/12 32/15
 46/2 50/18 90/23
 166/13 184/21 189/7
managed [1]  210/8
management [2] 
 169/17 201/17
manager [17]  8/9
 17/19 17/21 17/24
 25/12 36/4 36/6 36/7
 36/8 101/10 120/14
 120/14 120/17 120/18
 137/3 192/9 192/12
managers [3]  114/12
 114/19 145/12
manages [1]  8/8
many [4]  93/25 185/25
 214/12 235/12
March [43]  15/17 15/22
 21/4 34/15 37/11 40/1
 82/17 111/16 111/17
 111/24 122/9 126/4
 127/16 129/9 129/10
 129/13 132/14 134/1
 135/12 136/17 136/19
 139/3 140/11 140/16
 143/16 143/24 178/20
 179/9 179/15 179/24
 180/6 180/7 180/16
 204/2 204/25 206/19
 208/6 208/8 218/7

 220/8 224/10 227/1
 227/5
March 20 [1]  220/8
March 2020 [1]  21/4
mark [1]  54/18
marked [1]  150/1
market [1]  219/6
mask [12]  3/15 5/10
 117/10 117/16 158/21
 164/14 164/15 164/16
 173/8 179/22 193/7
 204/9
masks [1]  3/6
material [5]  33/7 33/8
 40/2 116/9 192/22
matter [12]  4/9 13/20
 54/7 93/14 98/1 98/8
 131/2 145/21 159/16
 195/13 235/11 237/5
matters [2]  143/5
 143/6
matured [1]  179/21
matures [1]  179/8
may [32]  3/11 3/12 4/8
 18/15 32/1 39/17 61/13
 90/18 90/20 90/22
 126/20 136/6 143/4
 143/6 143/7 143/20
 147/14 147/19 155/16
 158/6 165/21 166/1
 166/15 166/19 167/2
 175/8 180/13 185/23
 219/2 219/2 221/8
 224/24
maybe [6]  24/7 159/6
 171/3 184/7 186/19
 197/8
me [88]  5/11 9/10
 17/24 19/24 20/1 21/18
 24/12 24/12 29/25 43/3
 43/6 43/18 43/23 50/20
 52/13 54/18 55/2 56/12
 57/10 58/3 58/9 58/12
 59/9 61/3 63/15 63/23
 67/10 68/11 68/11
 69/17 71/1 80/2 80/20
 81/12 83/10 83/15 91/1
 91/2 91/5 95/10 97/13
 98/22 99/3 104/20
 120/14 122/10 125/18
 127/4 127/4 127/12
 132/15 142/1 148/18
 160/5 164/2 165/3
 168/23 170/22 171/4
 171/8 172/4 173/6
 174/10 175/14 179/1
 180/19 180/22 180/24
 182/19 184/19 187/17
 190/16 197/7 198/15
 199/18 207/3 210/23
 212/12 213/19 215/4
 222/8 222/13 222/25
 224/25 227/10 229/4
 230/22 234/15
mean [13]  43/21 62/16
 81/7 108/22 117/9
 169/20 171/1 181/14
 183/16 195/19 209/25
 229/11 236/11

meaning [2]  16/12
 38/24
means [3]  100/16
 115/20 211/2
meant [1]  62/17
Mechanically [1]  18/3
meet [2]  44/19 84/4
meeting [1]  234/12
member [5]  82/23
 101/9 103/15 103/16
 169/16
members [6]  99/14
 100/3 114/5 114/12
 114/19 235/12
membership [11]  7/19
 8/22 135/18 137/24
 139/16 139/20 139/25
 140/25 141/3 217/4
 217/7
memorialized [1]  11/4
Mengyun [1]  156/5
mention [2]  100/12
 208/10
mentioned [4]  21/3
 130/20 130/21 206/4
mentions [1]  11/18
merge [1]  41/15
merger [5]  22/21 41/5
 41/13 69/14 69/15
merits [1]  45/21
Merrill [2]  233/14
 233/15
merry [1]  187/8
merry-go-round [1] 
 187/8
message [2]  181/15
 181/18
met [4]  38/10 39/11
 39/13 83/8
method [1]  156/16
methods [1]  202/20
MGA [1]  179/1
MICHAEL [3]  1/20
 64/11 68/4
middle [7]  124/18
 143/24 145/7 157/22
 218/10 233/24 234/7
might [4]  44/9 136/5
 221/21 236/17
Mike [1]  213/4
million [23]  26/7 67/6
 67/6 154/8 156/11
 156/13 186/18 186/19
 208/16 208/21 211/1
 211/1 211/2 211/10
 218/19 219/10 220/22
 222/17 222/18 222/21
 222/25 223/1 232/25
millions [3]  186/24
 187/4 220/25
mind [2]  4/25 90/8
mindful [1]  32/19
Mine [1]  43/13
minimum [3]  124/20
 125/4 125/8
mint [1]  204/10
minute [10]  31/1 35/3
 38/3 60/19 63/13 98/23
 101/5 117/2 145/4



M
minute... [1]  200/20
minutes [9]  81/16
 81/18 161/8 223/6
 228/18 230/3 230/4
 230/5 236/7
misexecution [1] 
 36/11
misrepresent [1] 
 234/22
misrepresentation [6] 
 32/21 32/24 32/25
 34/17 39/21 145/17
misrepresented [8] 
 32/20 178/10 178/12
 185/24 198/11 198/12
 198/23 198/25
missed [4]  96/11 96/16
 96/17 96/17
missing [4]  3/3 90/13
 136/1 136/10
misstates [4]  55/18
 188/11 196/15 211/11
mistake [3]  90/15
 156/24 176/9
MM [1]  211/2
mobile [1]  218/20
modification [7]  14/3
 94/21 94/25 97/4
 169/21 175/5 183/10
modifications [10] 
 12/17 13/25 69/16 95/1
 169/23 170/5 172/16
 172/20 173/3 173/12
modified [23]  75/9
 75/13 82/11 86/20
 87/11 87/16 88/17 97/5
 126/17 126/24 127/15
 128/3 128/9 129/6
 129/8 130/18 130/22
 145/23 147/3 150/11
 172/23 174/4 174/25
modify [1]  204/23
moment [3]  122/11
 172/8 172/17
monetary [1]  122/7
monetization [2] 
 218/20 219/22
money [17]  8/20 9/7
 9/11 18/9 27/10 42/5
 116/20 194/11 194/13
 202/12 219/15 223/2
 228/13 233/11 233/14
 233/17 233/18
monies [1]  78/11
monitor [1]  25/4
month [4]  80/25
 201/23 215/18 216/14
monthly [2]  106/23
 106/24
months [18]  27/17
 110/2 111/7 111/10
 144/3 198/4 199/16
 208/7 214/12 214/22
 215/1 215/6 215/19
 215/25 216/10 216/15
 219/16 222/2
mooted [1]  22/5

moratorium [2]  221/13
 221/18
more [27]  4/8 18/16
 19/6 19/7 31/13 37/15
 42/1 56/18 61/10 64/14
 64/22 67/16 106/21
 106/22 125/1 125/5
 145/19 148/4 151/14
 151/14 169/10 181/2
 205/14 221/5 221/10
 230/4 230/5
Morgan [2]  232/25
 233/11
morning [3]  5/19
 203/14 229/24
mortgage [34]  11/2
 11/16 11/17 14/23 15/1
 15/2 15/13 15/14 15/16
 20/6 75/20 76/3 88/9
 95/11 96/21 146/5
 147/25 151/8 151/16
 151/17 178/13 178/14
 182/21 183/3 183/21
 189/16 190/14 198/12
 198/25 199/2 199/5
 199/7 199/24 208/11
mortgages [3]  21/7
 123/17 130/7
most [2]  131/25 133/2
mother [1]  6/5
mother-in-law [1]  6/5
motion [15]  28/19 29/5
 29/12 29/24 30/4 31/13
 31/25 32/1 37/18 37/25
 39/5 42/20 46/5 160/6
 160/9
mount [1]  231/3
move [5]  64/3 64/11
 81/11 203/6 229/24
moved [5]  47/15 47/20
 47/21 210/6 210/7
moving [1]  10/22
Mr [4]  2/5 2/8 83/4
 95/13
Mr. [216]  3/3 3/14 4/20
 5/3 5/19 7/13 8/10 10/6
 11/3 11/13 12/6 12/15
 12/16 13/6 14/14 14/18
 14/20 15/4 16/6 18/1
 18/18 20/19 21/13
 21/16 22/20 25/4 25/8
 27/7 27/21 28/13 28/25
 29/15 29/15 29/21 30/1
 30/5 30/7 30/11 30/20
 31/5 31/11 31/12 31/20
 33/14 33/21 34/12
 34/22 34/23 34/24 36/4
 36/6 39/3 39/15 39/15
 39/20 40/9 40/10 40/11
 40/20 41/6 41/10 42/3
 42/21 44/7 44/8 45/22
 45/22 46/2 46/18 46/19
 47/3 48/25 49/15 49/17
 50/5 50/15 52/9 56/17
 57/24 60/23 61/24
 62/13 62/24 63/6 64/5
 64/7 69/22 74/10 74/11
 74/23 75/1 75/3 76/15
 81/14 81/19 83/2 83/3

 83/6 83/7 83/23 84/12
 89/4 89/5 89/16 89/18
 89/19 90/4 90/10 90/22
 91/12 94/12 96/13
 96/23 98/2 98/2 102/11
 102/14 102/16 105/1
 105/24 108/19 113/7
 117/10 125/16 127/24
 129/2 129/21 131/8
 131/8 131/13 135/7
 135/9 135/16 135/16
 136/9 136/14 136/14
 137/2 141/23 146/19
 149/12 149/13 149/19
 152/1 152/15 152/16
 157/15 157/15 158/5
 158/6 159/10 159/25
 160/6 161/1 161/20
 162/12 163/5 164/14
 164/23 165/23 169/8
 170/10 170/11 170/16
 170/17 170/22 171/3
 171/6 171/8 171/22
 171/23 172/4 172/14
 174/12 174/14 175/3
 179/22 181/4 181/6
 181/8 181/11 188/7
 193/18 195/13 197/16
 200/20 200/20 201/9
 202/11 204/9 205/17
 206/22 208/2 208/14
 210/21 210/25 211/25
 216/9 226/17 230/7
 232/24 233/10 233/25
 234/6 234/10 234/17
 234/22 235/5 235/7
 236/3 236/6 236/8
 236/15 236/16 236/16
 236/17
Mr. and [1]  135/16
Mr. Antos [29]  11/3
 12/15 12/16 31/11
 31/12 34/22 34/24
 39/15 40/11 45/22
 135/9 136/14 137/2
 170/10 170/11 170/16
 170/17 170/22 171/3
 171/6 171/8 171/22
 171/23 172/4 174/12
 174/14 175/3 188/7
 195/13
Mr. Bloom [92]  3/14
 4/20 5/3 5/19 8/10
 11/13 12/6 13/6 14/14
 14/18 14/20 15/4 16/6
 18/1 18/18 20/19 21/13
 22/20 25/4 25/8 27/21
 28/13 28/25 29/15
 29/21 30/5 30/11 31/20
 33/14 33/21 34/23 36/4
 36/6 39/20 42/21 46/18
 46/19 47/3 49/15 49/17
 50/5 50/15 52/9 60/23
 61/24 62/24 63/6 64/5
 64/7 69/22 74/11 74/23
 75/1 89/5 89/16 91/12
 102/16 105/24 108/19
 113/7 125/16 127/24
 129/2 129/21 135/7

 135/16 136/14 141/23
 149/12 149/19 152/1
 152/15 157/15 158/5
 159/10 161/20 162/12
 164/23 169/8 172/14
 197/16 200/20 208/2
 208/14 211/25 216/9
 226/17 230/7 234/6
 234/17 236/3 236/16
Mr. Bloom's [1]  31/5
Mr. Coppedge [2]  3/3
 34/12
Mr. Gutierrez [26] 
 29/15 30/1 30/7 39/3
 44/7 48/25 62/13 76/15
 81/14 83/23 89/4 89/19
 90/4 90/10 90/22
 102/11 105/1 131/8
 131/13 146/19 158/6
 160/6 163/5 204/9
 235/7 236/15
Mr. Gutierrez's [1] 
 152/16
Mr. Hallberg [30]  7/13
 10/6 39/15 40/10 40/20
 41/6 41/10 45/22 94/12
 96/13 96/23 98/2 131/8
 157/15 181/4 181/6
 181/8 181/11 200/20
 201/9 202/11 205/17
 206/22 210/21 210/25
 232/24 233/10 234/22
 236/6 236/8
Mr. Hallberg's [2] 
 234/10 235/5
Mr. Mushkin [25] 
 21/16 27/7 30/20 40/9
 42/3 44/8 46/2 56/17
 57/24 74/10 75/3 81/19
 89/18 102/14 117/10
 136/9 149/13 161/1
 164/14 165/23 179/22
 193/18 233/25 236/16
 236/17
Mr. Mushkin's [1] 
 159/25
Mr. Nelson [1]  98/2
Mr. Rhodes [1]  84/12
Mr. Russo [4]  83/2
 83/3 83/6 83/7
Mrs. [2]  12/16 135/16
Mrs. Antos [2]  12/16
 135/16
MS. [8]  35/6 35/9 55/12
 131/7 131/13 132/15
 133/7 190/8
Ms. Barraza [6]  55/12
 131/7 131/13 132/15
 133/7 190/8
MS. FOLEY [2]  35/6
 35/9
much [15]  3/19 10/2
 18/9 65/7 79/25 92/4
 155/1 155/6 158/17
 159/16 159/17 193/25
 216/20 219/11 226/17
multiple [1]  206/23
Muscat [2]  233/12
 233/17

MUSHKIN [29]  1/20 2/8
 21/16 23/24 25/7 27/7
 30/20 40/9 42/3 44/8
 46/2 56/17 57/24 74/10
 75/3 81/19 89/18
 102/14 117/10 136/9
 149/13 161/1 164/14
 165/23 179/22 193/18
 233/25 236/16 236/17
Mushkin's [1]  159/25
must [7]  31/23 38/17
 85/11 144/21 173/3
 173/12 230/22
Mutual [1]  139/9
my [117]  3/11 4/9 4/12
 4/25 6/4 6/4 6/4 6/5
 6/21 7/11 9/9 12/20
 18/14 20/21 29/16
 29/24 32/12 32/14
 37/25 38/2 42/19 45/3
 48/19 49/14 52/18 53/3
 53/9 53/24 54/25 55/2
 55/25 56/10 56/12
 56/14 57/9 58/4 60/9
 62/5 62/6 62/16 62/17
 67/20 76/6 77/13 80/15
 80/16 84/6 84/10 90/9
 90/11 95/9 96/9 96/17
 98/4 98/6 103/2 106/8
 108/18 113/2 113/7
 119/22 119/22 120/14
 124/11 124/18 125/19
 128/20 128/22 128/24
 129/14 131/7 131/25
 132/7 133/2 133/16
 133/18 141/23 141/23
 152/13 152/17 158/19
 158/21 159/6 162/8
 163/4 164/12 164/15
 164/18 165/14 167/5
 168/7 171/3 171/15
 176/9 181/9 182/11
 182/11 185/23 189/24
 190/12 190/24 191/1
 196/17 198/9 205/4
 206/17 210/7 212/25
 220/9 220/14 225/18
 225/21 226/5 227/22
 228/7 234/12 236/3
myself [1]  235/3

N
name [7]  4/4 7/3 7/6
 27/11 121/23 204/17
 204/21
names [5]  71/21 71/25
 78/23 96/11 176/5
napkin [1]  49/9
narrative [1]  84/25
NASDAQ [2]  220/21
 222/20
National [3]  226/8
 226/11 228/13
nature [1]  71/15
necessarily [1]  163/1
necessary [3]  67/4
 156/24 157/6
need [21]  3/17 22/2
 24/6 24/11 28/17 28/22



N
need... [15]  29/2 34/5
 44/3 46/14 49/21 50/13
 67/6 76/12 107/3 132/8
 152/22 203/6 219/15
 230/8 236/1
needed [1]  90/1
needs [4]  46/12 76/16
 83/21 152/13
negate [1]  31/6
negating [2]  22/2
 107/3
negative [1]  82/3
negotiate [1]  219/1
negotiating [1]  218/23
negotiations [4]  6/25
 8/19 11/17 220/11
neighborhood [1] 
 124/19
neighboring [2]  27/12
 27/12
neither [2]  12/24 35/21
Nelson [6]  61/5 61/7
 61/10 62/3 63/5 98/2
NEVADA [5]  1/2 3/1
 5/21 49/8 237/12
never [30]  14/1 14/11
 24/25 40/13 40/17
 71/15 75/24 76/1 77/10
 83/8 98/7 111/18
 111/20 122/21 123/4
 130/20 141/18 141/25
 144/16 151/12 157/4
 157/4 166/3 183/5
 183/18 205/12 209/9
 224/7 224/16 224/21
Nevermind [1]  54/15
new [4]  77/6 82/13
 146/11 201/20
next [37]  20/16 39/14
 39/25 46/17 52/8 63/23
 64/14 66/6 77/22 77/25
 78/3 88/11 90/14 91/18
 91/24 92/2 92/21 92/23
 92/25 99/17 99/20
 109/19 110/7 113/17
 114/5 140/8 154/19
 154/23 155/3 155/16
 155/20 155/25 206/8
 206/15 214/12 221/15
 222/2
nexus [4]  13/21 74/14
 178/8 195/8
nice [1]  3/15
nine [3]  214/18 215/15
 223/25
no [275] 
Nobody [2]  111/17
 162/5
NOD [2]  164/9 206/5
nominee [1]  121/24
none [4]  130/12 172/17
 175/7 195/6
nonexisting [1]  14/6
nonjudicial [1]  221/16
nonmember [1]  107/8
nonmonetary [4] 
 121/21 122/6 130/10

 136/17
nonperforming [1] 
 222/11
noon [1]  46/10
nor [2]  12/24 103/8
Northern [1]  154/2
nose [3]  117/11 164/16
 164/18
not [313] 
notation [1]  116/3
note [116]  10/10 11/4
 12/8 12/13 12/20 13/3
 13/25 22/14 22/15
 22/17 26/17 27/15
 27/16 28/7 28/10 42/11
 45/4 45/11 67/21 70/13
 70/18 70/23 71/13
 71/16 72/3 72/6 73/6
 73/21 73/23 74/17
 75/12 76/7 78/7 78/12
 82/11 82/25 86/20
 87/11 87/16 88/17 94/8
 94/9 94/22 94/25 95/5
 95/6 95/8 95/10 95/12
 95/24 96/3 96/8 97/5
 116/13 116/15 116/16
 116/18 116/22 116/25
 126/17 126/23 127/15
 128/3 128/8 128/9
 129/8 129/15 130/17
 130/21 130/22 131/1
 144/8 144/8 144/17
 144/22 145/23 147/3
 149/5 150/11 151/4
 157/16 175/10 175/17
 175/19 177/7 177/20
 178/4 178/7 179/21
 183/8 183/9 183/12
 183/16 183/18 189/8
 189/8 189/21 189/23
 192/2 193/25 195/6
 195/8 198/11 198/24
 199/1 199/13 207/2
 208/17 208/22 221/24
 222/9 222/10 222/11
 227/10 227/20 231/7
notes [5]  79/1 129/6
 150/20 150/23 175/22
nothing [13]  13/16
 13/22 33/9 65/25
 123/20 186/25 187/2
 187/11 195/11 218/1
 221/14 222/5 224/8
notice [24]  26/2 26/4
 27/18 27/19 45/1 55/14
 97/17 97/19 97/22
 111/22 112/5 121/21
 126/1 127/2 136/16
 142/22 162/22 165/18
 179/20 179/25 180/3
 205/9 221/17 221/19
noticed [2]  179/17
 180/9
noticing [1]  129/18
November [3]  26/19
 213/2 215/25
now [126]  4/12 9/15
 11/18 12/7 13/6 13/11
 14/3 14/14 16/6 16/9

 18/1 20/19 21/8 21/12
 22/11 23/4 30/1 30/8
 30/19 31/3 31/19 32/2
 32/8 32/13 32/14 32/18
 32/19 32/21 33/12 35/2
 36/2 36/24 37/17 41/12
 41/14 41/18 50/13
 55/14 58/5 60/1 62/2
 63/2 63/14 64/7 68/19
 69/22 72/2 75/3 75/5
 76/19 77/3 81/4 81/11
 81/22 82/6 85/21 85/22
 88/9 88/11 88/25 89/2
 91/21 91/24 94/7
 100/13 100/25 103/10
 107/4 108/15 108/21
 110/19 113/17 114/7
 115/1 115/7 116/23
 117/2 119/12 121/8
 121/15 131/6 131/10
 134/1 134/24 135/5
 136/23 139/7 140/8
 144/16 145/19 148/2
 158/15 167/11 168/1
 170/15 173/14 173/25
 176/4 176/16 177/3
 178/9 178/9 180/18
 182/1 183/23 189/7
 190/5 192/20 193/24
 204/13 205/14 206/15
 209/12 211/18 213/24
 218/7 218/24 221/14
 223/16 224/10 225/22
 227/2 228/8 230/3
 230/13 233/20
nowhere [1]  197/16
NRS [2]  42/5 206/7
NRS 106.320 [1]  42/5
NRS 116 [1]  206/7
number [22]  8/5 8/6
 35/4 36/16 42/24 48/13
 90/1 98/6 113/10
 139/15 141/6 145/2
 152/7 152/11 157/15
 157/20 165/16 180/19
 213/21 227/23 230/10
 237/10
Number 10 [1]  145/2
Number 1220 [1] 
 152/11
Number 14 [1]  113/10
Number 5 [2]  139/15
 141/6
numbered [1]  49/10
numbers [5]  73/11
 73/19 73/20 73/22
 73/24
numerous [1]  202/15

O
o'clock [4]  5/15 46/22
 81/15 89/11
oath [1]  89/17
object [13]  4/21 11/8
 48/7 52/20 52/22 54/22
 56/14 61/14 74/23
 102/9 118/16 159/19
 190/12
objected [2]  52/7 190/8

objecting [1]  137/12
objection [36]  4/12
 4/23 6/18 7/16 12/2
 13/2 13/4 16/11 23/11
 26/13 28/3 39/10 51/16
 52/19 52/25 53/23
 55/17 55/18 55/23
 55/24 56/13 65/11
 66/16 83/20 84/15
 149/10 182/12 188/8
 189/10 196/15 207/20
 209/18 210/11 211/11
 233/4 235/18
objections [2]  52/3
 56/17
objects [1]  55/12
obligate [3]  191/4
 196/13 196/18
obligated [18]  144/7
 156/14 157/10 170/10
 170/16 171/6 171/23
 179/16 184/19 191/9
 191/11 195/13 196/18
 200/13 200/13 200/15
 212/4 212/8
obligates [1]  26/21
obligation [55]  9/2
 12/21 12/22 12/24
 13/12 18/24 20/23
 23/22 26/11 27/25 28/1
 28/10 28/11 28/12
 31/25 38/19 74/18 87/3
 88/2 111/24 118/1
 124/21 142/15 144/14
 180/16 182/25 182/25
 183/1 183/4 183/6
 184/24 184/25 185/5
 185/6 185/8 186/5
 186/13 186/15 186/16
 190/14 192/4 193/8
 193/21 194/18 195/11
 195/21 196/19 196/19
 196/25 197/3 199/21
 200/1 200/7 206/23
 225/17
obligations [24]  15/10
 19/3 20/20 20/25 21/5
 21/23 33/2 38/9 44/25
 45/1 54/3 75/11 101/14
 107/1 131/21 132/23
 145/14 166/8 166/11
 166/20 166/21 166/21
 166/23 196/21
obtain [4]  38/15 78/7
 78/9 142/8
obtained [3]  142/23
 142/25 143/1
obvious [1]  116/20
obviously [3]  41/3
 61/23 159/21
occasion [2]  205/15
 210/5
occasions [2]  157/16
 180/19
occupancy [1]  37/18
occur [2]  26/24 103/9
occurred [4]  96/10
 134/16 174/6 175/2
October [1]  153/21

October 6 [1]  153/21
off [25]  3/5 3/11 3/12
 20/17 39/1 57/9 62/14
 62/15 63/20 65/6 65/10
 67/5 108/23 109/23
 112/9 157/16 187/8
 187/9 194/1 198/4
 199/12 199/16 227/8
 227/11 227/12
offer [1]  223/19
offered [1]  22/1
offering [1]  17/4
offhand [1]  167/7
office [6]  87/4 131/7
 181/9 220/15 221/6
 221/11
officers [1]  145/11
offsets [1]  145/14
Offshore [2]  231/18
 231/23
often [1]  10/2
oh [27]  3/15 21/1 35/13
 45/2 45/10 53/15 59/20
 66/1 69/3 84/11 84/13
 84/23 89/8 90/15
 110/17 134/20 135/23
 147/13 165/13 190/18
 192/1 205/21 207/19
 223/17 227/23 229/2
 235/2
okay [199]  3/7 3/10
 3/18 3/24 4/18 5/8 5/10
 5/12 5/14 5/24 6/7 7/25
 8/10 9/15 9/22 10/7
 11/18 14/20 15/8 16/22
 17/2 17/10 17/16 17/19
 17/25 18/23 19/9 19/22
 20/2 20/19 21/12 24/3
 24/6 25/17 25/24 28/21
 29/4 29/5 29/13 29/18
 29/25 30/11 30/12
 30/17 32/18 33/20
 41/11 43/7 43/9 44/6
 45/9 49/15 50/24 51/5
 51/5 52/3 52/14 53/19
 58/24 59/18 60/20
 62/19 62/22 63/19
 63/24 64/3 64/10 64/13
 64/23 65/19 65/21
 66/21 68/12 69/18 71/1
 71/19 71/22 72/22 73/1
 73/5 73/11 73/15 76/17
 76/20 77/5 77/20 80/7
 81/4 81/13 82/5 85/6
 86/3 89/2 89/12 90/2
 91/13 92/7 92/17 93/20
 95/17 95/21 97/16
 97/16 97/18 99/5 99/20
 100/15 101/1 101/16
 102/12 103/12 104/5
 113/19 114/8 115/7
 115/9 117/13 119/11
 120/21 120/22 121/5
 121/8 121/14 122/15
 124/13 125/24 126/11
 127/25 132/11 134/1
 134/20 135/2 135/21
 136/9 137/11 138/17
 138/19 144/6 145/6



O
okay... [60]  147/8
 148/23 149/18 149/25
 150/2 153/8 154/23
 158/7 158/12 161/12
 161/20 162/21 163/23
 167/20 169/22 170/24
 171/20 172/25 174/24
 178/19 179/6 180/2
 182/1 182/7 183/14
 184/10 184/17 185/14
 185/19 187/23 190/3
 192/1 196/11 197/12
 198/10 199/20 203/4
 203/24 206/15 207/13
 207/23 208/9 215/5
 217/3 217/23 218/1
 218/9 223/16 225/20
 228/8 230/1 230/13
 231/17 232/24 234/10
 234/12 235/10 235/12
 236/4 236/9
old [2]  49/7 49/7
omission [1]  145/16
on [206]  3/7 4/25 5/6
 9/4 10/19 11/14 11/19
 11/21 13/8 14/4 15/12
 16/3 16/19 16/24 19/3
 19/9 21/7 21/10 21/15
 22/8 22/14 23/25 24/6
 24/13 25/4 25/22 26/7
 26/8 26/23 27/14 27/22
 28/21 29/7 31/13 31/15
 34/6 37/9 37/20 38/20
 39/6 39/25 40/2 40/3
 40/8 40/9 41/21 42/19
 43/1 43/4 44/16 45/20
 45/24 46/9 46/19 49/2
 49/19 50/2 50/18 50/20
 53/15 53/23 55/16 57/3
 61/9 61/15 62/6 62/14
 62/15 63/21 64/1 64/14
 64/22 73/1 73/4 73/8
 73/9 73/10 73/13 73/16
 76/16 77/8 78/11 81/11
 83/2 83/25 84/1 84/8
 85/1 88/25 89/16 90/8
 90/16 92/9 95/17 96/9
 97/10 97/12 97/12
 97/14 97/20 98/1 98/6
 98/11 99/19 99/20
 100/11 100/17 100/24
 101/19 102/14 105/18
 108/16 114/7 114/11
 115/24 122/7 123/1
 132/17 134/3 134/13
 134/20 136/7 136/17
 137/17 138/18 138/23
 138/23 140/16 142/3
 144/25 146/5 146/7
 147/16 150/19 151/1
 151/8 151/16 151/25
 152/17 152/25 153/6
 153/24 154/4 154/11
 155/2 156/19 157/15
 161/2 162/13 163/6
 163/9 166/18 166/20
 170/1 175/10 175/19

 178/3 178/20 179/15
 180/6 180/7 180/19
 182/23 183/11 183/20
 195/19 198/16 199/3
 202/16 204/9 204/14
 205/14 206/19 210/5
 211/8 212/14 212/16
 216/18 217/12 218/20
 219/3 219/5 219/6
 220/21 221/3 221/13
 221/25 222/20 225/22
 226/4 226/17 226/18
 228/10 228/11 229/9
 229/12 229/12 229/12
 229/18 229/19 230/23
 231/16 234/13 235/11
 236/6 236/22
once [6]  5/6 14/10
 127/6 171/3 216/3
 230/15
one [85]  3/7 7/10 7/11
 7/11 21/12 24/17 28/7
 31/1 31/16 33/16 34/4
 35/13 35/16 35/18
 36/16 36/21 36/24 38/3
 41/16 42/18 43/20
 54/24 60/19 67/16
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 126/25 127/17 128/19
 130/8 131/8 132/3
 132/5 133/5 133/6
 133/7 133/14 133/19
 134/8 134/11 134/15
 134/17 136/12 136/14
 136/17 136/24 137/4
 137/5 137/14 137/21
 137/25 139/4 139/6
 139/9 139/12 139/21
 139/22 140/12 140/23
 141/4 141/11 141/16
 143/8 145/2 146/1
 147/6 147/17 147/21
 148/20 149/7 149/8
 149/8 149/20 150/23
 153/21 154/2 154/9
 154/14 154/20 154/24
 155/4 155/9 155/11



S
see... [49]  155/14
 155/17 155/21 155/23
 156/2 156/6 158/21
 163/9 163/14 163/19
 165/13 167/23 168/2
 168/3 168/24 169/13
 175/20 175/24 176/4
 177/11 190/15 190/19
 198/14 199/10 201/5
 203/11 203/13 203/15
 204/2 206/9 206/16
 206/20 208/25 213/22
 213/24 216/23 217/8
 217/10 217/12 217/15
 219/20 223/19 223/22
 230/11 230/18 231/12
 232/9 235/2 235/4
seeing [8]  70/7 95/6
 122/17 144/18 176/6
 177/11 206/16 206/17
seek [1]  56/4
seeking [1]  34/23
seem [1]  222/8
seemed [1]  63/20
seems [1]  21/17
seen [16]  24/24 64/24
 94/25 105/12 124/2
 132/14 138/20 144/20
 153/3 183/23 194/9
 201/22 203/5 203/9
 203/19 205/6
seized [1]  211/1
selected [1]  41/16
sell [5]  210/8 219/24
 221/24 222/9 222/11
seller [2]  7/12 212/7
seller's [1]  225/17
selling [1]  14/12
send [5]  43/3 133/10
 202/3 202/5 202/18
sending [1]  220/8
sense [2]  31/24 44/20
sent [8]  23/24 68/10
 122/9 128/11 152/1
 178/24 181/14 220/10
sentence [4]  20/12
 115/22 127/17 217/18
separate [9]  148/2
 157/2 191/14 193/5
 196/1 196/4 196/8
 196/10 200/8
September [5]  36/12
 71/12 80/3 175/10
 225/25
September 27th [1] 
 71/12
series [1]  82/3
serious [2]  160/17
 160/18
servants [1]  145/11
serve [1]  20/4
service [8]  107/7
 110/10 110/17 111/4
 111/6 111/9 111/11
 231/1
Services [1]  154/14
servicing [3]  21/7

 34/18 110/18
set [10]  21/13 115/16
 141/20 145/21 179/19
 183/23 203/13 203/16
 203/17 223/22
sets [3]  115/10 129/21
 143/3
setting [2]  22/7 229/12
seven [1]  159/1
seventy [2]  214/18
 215/15
seventy-nine [2] 
 214/18 215/15
several [7]  20/4 40/24
 105/4 112/3 179/23
 204/20 215/6
SHAC [47]  8/23 8/24
 16/23 18/25 19/3 19/4
 19/6 22/11 25/22 36/14
 38/5 44/25 50/18 72/20
 72/22 73/8 117/8
 120/10 120/14 122/3
 140/9 165/25 166/3
 166/6 166/7 166/11
 166/14 166/19 166/20
 166/21 166/21 167/3
 169/18 176/11 176/19
 186/17 192/3 192/5
 198/5 199/17 199/22
 200/3 204/21 212/2
 212/21 223/12 223/13
SHAC's [3]  18/24 54/3
 166/11
shall [17]  78/9 97/6
 99/23 113/20 121/19
 126/19 139/17 139/19
 140/22 141/1 141/2
 141/14 142/4 142/5
 147/20 217/5 217/6
shape [1]  18/3
share [1]  49/1
shareholders [1] 
 145/12
she [3]  51/18 56/6
 229/7
she's [1]  53/15
Sheila [13]  16/16 69/24
 69/25 70/21 72/4 73/18
 88/10 149/2 149/3
 149/4 149/22 153/20
 191/24
Shetakis [1]  155/13
short [1]  60/14
shorter [1]  219/11
Shortly [1]  80/5
should [8]  27/21 39/1
 43/14 90/16 106/3
 157/4 158/7 231/9
should've [1]  151/14
show [28]  24/3 41/7
 44/11 44/21 59/9 60/1
 67/10 67/16 69/17
 69/18 78/19 79/10
 80/11 80/20 81/1 81/6
 81/10 81/12 104/20
 121/10 133/21 165/3
 168/23 197/7 205/5
 207/3 212/23 220/7
showed [4]  66/2

 119/12 179/2 205/19
showing [7]  31/14
 38/17 38/19 45/20
 61/15 84/22 167/21
shown [5]  65/12
 104/19 178/3 191/4
 194/8
shows [6]  34/15 34/16
 42/13 42/16 104/18
 214/7
sic [4]  56/14 126/14
 128/12 192/5
side [2]  151/25 219/4
sift [1]  4/16
sign [8]  25/21 62/14
 62/15 70/5 117/21
 138/5 151/12 151/13
signatory [3]  70/7
 118/22 119/21
signature [10]  16/19
 16/25 35/12 35/22 36/2
 70/4 101/6 118/10
 120/7 137/24
signatures [2]  101/7
 201/19
signed [45]  16/16
 20/16 23/9 23/19 36/22
 57/4 69/1 69/4 69/10
 70/21 72/3 73/8 73/10
 75/16 75/20 77/1 85/10
 85/22 85/24 88/6 97/7
 101/9 103/16 103/25
 117/23 120/13 122/5
 138/9 138/23 139/24
 140/6 143/10 143/11
 144/5 147/8 147/10
 147/24 148/24 150/17
 151/12 173/4 177/1
 183/12 216/19 216/20
signer [1]  16/23
significant [2]  46/1
 211/14
signing [2]  139/23
 146/4
silver [1]  210/16
similarly [1]  87/23
simple [5]  36/11 80/17
 141/24 166/12 187/7
simply [1]  37/25
since [7]  5/15 12/6
 49/24 83/17 84/1 84/8
 100/11
single [1]  192/24
sir [144]  15/21 21/18
 28/22 48/15 51/16 53/8
 54/22 54/25 55/16 56/5
 57/8 57/16 57/25 59/7
 60/12 61/12 62/9 63/16
 65/4 66/24 67/10 67/17
 70/3 70/20 70/25 75/6
 76/5 76/9 76/12 76/13
 77/13 79/14 79/21
 80/15 81/23 83/19
 83/22 92/4 94/1 95/15
 96/4 97/11 98/16 99/15
 102/8 103/1 103/22
 104/20 105/24 106/8
 111/6 112/17 112/25
 116/23 117/7 117/13

 117/25 118/11 119/22
 122/8 122/14 124/9
 127/7 127/21 128/17
 128/19 128/24 130/24
 132/9 135/19 136/3
 136/12 136/21 137/14
 140/1 145/5 146/18
 149/1 150/22 152/23
 153/1 157/11 157/13
 159/11 162/21 164/4
 164/10 164/12 164/24
 165/1 165/3 165/14
 165/17 166/12 166/25
 167/14 167/19 168/21
 169/1 169/20 171/14
 171/17 172/10 183/9
 184/2 184/12 184/20
 185/22 186/1 186/10
 186/20 187/6 188/6
 190/23 192/21 192/23
 193/3 193/11 193/12
 194/4 195/2 195/18
 195/22 198/1 199/2
 199/25 203/23 206/11
 207/9 207/10 208/19
 208/22 214/7 214/20
 215/2 215/12 216/1
 216/6 216/15 222/21
 226/15 227/18 231/22
 233/5
sit [2]  25/24 175/7
sitting [1]  5/16
situation [1]  111/11
six [2]  214/18 215/14
sixty [2]  214/18 215/15
sixty-eight [2]  214/18
 215/15
SJC [67]  7/11 7/20
 7/24 8/4 8/5 8/8 8/9
 8/11 8/16 8/22 16/23
 16/23 16/25 17/13
 17/23 17/24 17/24
 19/13 20/13 20/14 23/2
 25/19 25/24 35/11
 36/21 51/7 67/3 70/1
 70/10 73/10 78/6 78/10
 82/12 82/15 85/24
 86/13 87/3 87/19 97/20
 98/13 100/12 100/24
 115/14 118/10 119/21
 120/8 120/13 120/15
 120/17 122/5 123/6
 123/16 135/5 138/24
 140/2 142/8 144/11
 166/7 166/11 166/22
 186/5 192/3 193/22
 196/25 200/6 200/13
 217/20
SJC Ventures [1]  70/1
SJC's [4]  17/4 17/5
 25/22 54/6
SJCV [48]  36/6 36/8
 36/23 38/9 47/25 48/4
 50/17 54/3 68/16 68/18
 68/24 69/1 69/5 69/11
 72/23 73/9 75/11 85/18
 85/22 86/19 88/3 88/16
 99/7 99/8 100/9 115/25
 116/4 117/9 118/9

 120/10 120/24 130/6
 139/17 140/25 142/8
 142/15 143/1 144/7
 150/4 150/9 150/14
 169/16 169/20 178/1
 198/4 199/12 199/15
 217/5
skimmed [1]  96/10
skipped [2]  31/16
 221/8
slash [1]  206/20
slide [3]  64/22 190/17
 214/2
slipped [1]  117/14
small [1]  99/4
sniffed [1]  33/13
so [268] 
social [2]  50/8 237/9
solar [3]  108/16 108/25
 218/20
sold [6]  27/15 27/16
 27/16 83/18 84/2 219/5
sole [4]  17/21 147/21
 197/17 197/19
solely [6]  120/8 126/15
 127/13 128/2 129/4
 220/14
some [17]  6/13 18/4
 18/4 23/4 96/16 119/3
 134/7 159/12 159/15
 161/1 182/17 185/2
 187/1 209/12 226/23
 236/16 236/17
somebody [9]  34/5
 47/14 55/15 91/6
 108/20 210/22 227/10
 230/22 230/22
somehow [15]  31/5
 31/17 32/20 33/3 33/10
 33/10 33/12 38/14
 38/22 53/22 74/2 96/7
 144/7 196/12 233/10
someone [1]  201/24
something [10]  30/19
 44/9 104/25 120/25
 132/7 158/6 178/9
 183/15 185/23 193/16
sometime [3]  80/6
 180/13 211/22
sometimes [3]  3/21
 136/9 220/19
Somewhat [1]  195/23
somewhere [1]  106/4
son [4]  6/4 47/4 84/6
 84/8
soon [3]  46/9 219/18
 222/14
sorry [44]  15/19 16/7
 18/21 19/15 20/24 21/1
 24/10 29/1 30/22 43/17
 45/8 57/23 61/24 74/8
 74/24 81/8 106/17
 108/22 110/17 110/22
 115/4 124/18 125/15
 132/6 134/3 134/4
 137/2 137/18 143/7
 145/9 157/24 169/7
 172/7 175/17 176/16
 188/19 198/18 203/7



S
sorry... [6]  204/11
 205/21 221/8 223/13
 224/10 233/25
sort [5]  56/4 76/10
 167/20 209/12 218/10
sound [1]  226/22
sounds [2]  49/25
 181/25
source [3]  50/17 54/3
 202/8
sources [5]  54/4 54/4
 206/20 206/23 208/13
SPAC [7]  220/21
 220/24 222/4 222/20
 222/22 223/1 223/2
spack [1]  222/22
SPANISH [68]  1/4 5/21
 5/22 5/23 6/2 6/7 6/10
 6/13 6/17 7/2 7/7 7/9
 7/19 7/22 7/23 8/23
 9/18 10/8 10/17 14/12
 16/15 16/19 17/19 18/1
 19/6 19/9 21/6 21/9
 21/21 22/21 23/1 23/6
 25/13 25/15 25/18
 25/25 27/2 27/5 27/15
 27/22 27/23 36/3 36/4
 39/6 41/8 41/11 44/24
 48/1 59/11 59/16 70/2
 70/7 70/9 83/2 97/20
 101/4 113/23 114/1
 120/10 138/23 161/22
 161/25 166/22 166/22
 166/23 187/14 219/3
 221/22
speak [13]  10/2 10/4
 54/5 129/1 133/13
 170/22 171/4 171/8
 172/4 180/22 234/16
 234/25 235/6
speaking [2]  7/13
 180/24
special [3]  7/4 222/22
 229/12
specific [17]  43/2 56/8
 56/18 57/5 57/9 79/15
 93/24 105/24 130/14
 131/19 131/24 132/21
 133/1 148/4 186/21
 187/24 226/13
specifically [8]  42/7
 58/2 73/21 121/19
 167/7 170/3 186/16
 194/5
specificity [2]  54/24
 55/1
specifics [1]  48/18
spell [1]  4/4
spelled [1]  116/5
spend [4]  19/6 19/7
 79/12 88/24
spent [2]  79/10 79/16
spite [3]  144/6 223/6
 235/7
spoke [5]  138/11
 164/25 165/7 171/3
 180/18

staff [1]  46/12
stage [4]  40/7 41/22
 160/11 160/14
stamp [2]  25/7 25/8
stand [1]  196/12
standard [5]  32/12
 32/13 32/18 39/10
 107/19
standing [3]  31/6 39/6
 39/9
standstill [1]  226/9
Stanley [2]  232/25
 233/11
start [14]  28/18 28/20
 28/22 29/2 46/7 46/21
 49/13 63/17 81/16
 89/10 138/18 153/6
 171/20 221/21
started [1]  117/19
starting [2]  152/25
 221/18
starts [6]  73/5 85/1
 145/7 152/12 157/22
 234/11
state [1]  4/3
stated [2]  19/24 21/14
statement [9]  4/9 32/2
 87/2 87/4 144/10
 167/14 167/17 167/18
 199/23
states [2]  42/8 139/1
stating [1]  26/7
statute [1]  42/7
stay [3]  8/24 230/17
 230/21
stayed [1]  18/16
stays [1]  126/3
steal [2]  162/13 162/20
step [4]  30/11 34/5
 38/13 38/13
Steve [2]  221/5 221/10
still [30]  32/7 52/3 52/8
 52/14 54/13 57/23
 60/11 74/8 74/23 89/16
 95/4 95/7 95/9 97/24
 102/13 112/2 122/2
 144/6 144/11 144/16
 146/9 160/14 186/4
 190/21 191/5 191/8
 200/6 202/23 202/24
 211/6
stipulated [1]  37/23
stock [3]  120/5 120/7
 120/23
stop [5]  37/19 64/4
 89/2 229/4 229/4
stopping [1]  81/18
storage [2]  209/16
 210/7
stored [1]  210/3
street [3]  84/6 84/7
 219/4
streets [1]  84/5
structure [2]  23/9
 216/3
Stu [1]  161/15
stuck [1]  5/6
stuff [4]  4/16 38/21
 117/3 138/18

subject [12]  20/14
 60/25 107/9 131/2
 131/20 132/22 169/21
 196/21 198/13 199/12
 217/19 222/12
submit [2]  30/14 157/8
submitted [1]  33/12
Subscription [1] 
 201/17
subsequent [17]  8/19
 12/17 14/9 26/21 80/25
 81/2 95/25 109/2 168/4
 168/7 168/10 169/22
 172/20 180/11 185/2
 185/10 185/10
subsequently [2] 
 180/12 235/3
subset [1]  107/25
subsidiary [1]  72/7
substance [1]  142/11
substantiates [1] 
 119/16
substitute [6]  65/22
 67/2 67/7 67/8 81/25
 218/1
substituted [1]  38/23
success [1]  45/20
successive [2]  19/17
 20/9
successor [5]  22/17
 27/21 27/24 31/15
 34/17
successors [3]  114/13
 114/21 197/17
such [11]  19/7 78/9
 101/20 104/23 105/12
 124/6 134/16 134/19
 140/22 147/20 163/7
suggesting [1]  129/18
suit [1]  115/3
sum [1]  211/14
summary [1]  232/7
sums [1]  177/23
support [4]  46/2 79/15
 194/24 195/1
supports [1]  119/23
supposed [9]  13/14
 44/16 107/1 125/10
 141/22 160/10 184/24
 201/24 212/20
Supreme [1]  53/14
sure [28]  54/25 85/11
 85/21 85/22 90/5 93/16
 101/6 105/18 108/4
 110/24 132/17 149/14
 159/20 160/18 160/19
 161/9 167/12 171/18
 172/11 172/13 207/23
 212/22 220/9 228/12
 228/12 233/16 233/20
 234/19
surprised [1]  162/25
suspended [5]  126/15
 126/19 127/14 128/2
 129/5
Sustained [1]  209/19
swear [1]  46/20
switching [1]  3/6
sworn [3]  4/1 46/20

 46/24
system [3]  79/24
 108/16 109/1
systems [1]  18/4

T
tab [2]  151/23 151/25
table [3]  39/1 49/18
 90/24
tad [1]  64/6
take [69]  3/5 3/11 3/12
 3/17 4/24 26/4 31/19
 34/5 42/18 49/6 62/2
 63/13 63/17 63/19 70/9
 75/5 77/3 85/21 90/7
 90/18 90/22 94/11
 98/18 98/23 98/23
 99/15 100/13 100/25
 101/5 101/14 101/15
 113/17 114/7 114/23
 121/15 122/9 122/14
 122/18 124/1 126/9
 131/6 135/15 145/1
 145/4 148/15 149/25
 152/22 153/6 158/14
 159/9 160/18 161/5
 163/2 164/2 164/6
 164/12 164/23 184/9
 201/4 202/22 205/20
 205/24 206/3 206/15
 211/2 218/7 223/16
 223/16 223/18
taken [1]  120/7
taking [6]  15/2 129/9
 164/1 169/17 179/13
 182/17
talk [10]  13/6 19/22
 83/10 83/16 84/6 117/2
 121/5 161/6 200/19
 222/14
talked [2]  35/18 84/7
talking [16]  9/13 10/8
 17/22 59/10 83/1 83/19
 116/23 169/16 175/16
 175/21 180/25 198/3
 199/14 199/14 202/2
 233/13
talks [9]  65/21 81/25
 99/6 109/19 122/4
 136/16 146/25 151/3
 175/19
tax [21]  58/25 59/7
 59/10 59/11 59/13
 59/14 59/16 60/1 60/5
 60/10 112/10 113/7
 114/2 196/6 218/19
 219/22 228/3 228/4
 228/6 228/8 237/10
taxes [9]  106/24
 112/15 112/18 112/22
 154/20 205/21 223/10
 223/12 228/14
teams [1]  50/9
tech [1]  44/1
technically [1]  215/18
telephone [3]  172/21
 183/11 202/20
telephonic [1]  144/23
telephonically [1] 

 96/10
tell [26]  5/19 6/16 9/6
 9/22 13/11 15/10 16/9
 17/2 17/10 20/2 25/12
 33/24 43/6 54/18 56/12
 98/2 113/4 127/12
 159/12 173/6 180/7
 182/19 184/19 187/17
 202/11 224/24
telling [3]  83/15 165/22
 197/12
tells [1]  70/17
ten [1]  94/25
tenant [2]  19/12 19/18
term [7]  19/14 19/16
 22/9 22/10 82/17
 143/10 214/5
terminate [1]  37/14
terminated [5]  37/8
 37/10 144/5 144/9
 217/13
terminating [1]  37/16
termination [1]  78/8
terms [18]  4/20 13/3
 20/9 38/1 58/17 72/18
 78/13 87/21 140/5
 142/16 174/3 174/25
 176/11 176/13 176/18
 176/19 176/21 234/13
testified [29]  4/2 11/23
 11/24 22/21 27/7 31/11
 31/12 33/21 34/14
 34/18 38/21 39/19
 42/22 46/25 47/4 47/10
 48/4 74/2 94/7 112/17
 117/3 119/3 179/11
 188/1 188/2 188/10
 188/14 188/22 225/16
testify [5]  124/9 174/11
 188/7 188/17 188/21
testifying [2]  179/20
 212/7
testimony [70]  4/13
 11/22 11/24 13/3 31/5
 31/23 32/20 32/21
 33/14 37/1 38/4 38/6
 38/7 38/8 38/14 38/22
 39/12 39/14 39/21
 40/10 41/6 45/22 47/3
 47/16 47/25 52/14
 52/17 52/18 52/20
 55/19 57/12 62/20 74/1
 93/22 95/4 95/7 95/9
 97/24 106/13 108/16
 111/18 115/2 117/18
 119/12 124/13 129/12
 135/7 144/7 144/16
 171/3 172/22 186/3
 188/4 188/6 188/11
 189/24 190/16 191/5
 191/8 194/24 196/12
 196/14 196/15 207/7
 211/11 212/9 225/6
 225/19 225/21 228/5
text [2]  181/14 181/18
than [37]  3/20 18/16
 19/6 19/7 31/5 32/13
 38/19 42/1 86/9 86/23
 92/6 99/7 99/11 104/15



T
than... [23]  106/21
 106/22 107/23 110/5
 110/25 121/9 125/1
 125/5 149/21 167/3
 169/24 170/5 172/16
 186/7 187/1 187/8
 187/18 205/14 206/6
 219/11 220/24 222/11
 224/15
thank [100]  3/16 3/19
 4/3 5/1 5/2 28/13 35/7
 35/9 36/19 36/20 39/2
 39/4 45/25 50/2 50/3
 50/7 50/8 51/20 52/6
 59/25 61/16 61/19
 64/11 67/16 85/5 89/3
 89/21 90/4 91/3 92/14
 100/13 104/2 106/19
 108/5 109/6 109/15
 110/7 111/9 113/10
 115/23 117/2 117/11
 118/20 120/20 121/14
 127/8 127/23 129/3
 131/5 137/18 138/5
 142/3 143/15 146/7
 146/23 147/23 152/24
 154/13 156/14 161/7
 162/19 163/11 165/20
 167/5 172/12 172/14
 173/6 173/8 175/5
 177/3 178/3 189/6
 190/18 193/23 195/4
 197/12 197/22 198/1
 198/17 203/18 204/7
 204/25 205/2 205/14
 208/24 209/12 213/10
 215/23 216/20 217/12
 218/4 220/6 223/4
 224/14 225/16 228/17
 232/16 232/24 235/22
 236/4
thanks [3]  8/25 65/7
 117/13
that [1091] 
that's [166]  3/15 21/12
 26/1 26/23 32/14 32/16
 32/20 33/12 33/19
 33/22 35/25 36/11 39/9
 39/16 39/19 39/23
 39/24 40/6 40/7 40/9
 41/5 41/12 41/24 45/19
 47/6 47/10 48/3 49/15
 52/17 53/3 53/24 55/22
 59/5 59/6 62/20 65/12
 67/7 67/9 67/11 68/6
 70/4 76/9 77/13 79/19
 80/15 90/2 91/16 91/19
 91/21 91/24 92/18
 95/16 96/23 96/24
 98/11 102/6 102/6
 102/20 102/23 107/25
 108/19 110/4 115/21
 117/6 118/7 119/2
 119/4 119/22 119/22
 120/18 121/4 122/8
 124/11 126/7 128/16
 128/22 129/15 129/19

 130/20 130/23 135/21
 137/8 137/8 138/9
 140/17 141/6 150/16
 153/19 154/14 154/17
 155/23 156/5 157/3
 157/22 159/13 161/3
 162/15 163/6 163/16
 166/17 171/9 172/6
 172/8 172/8 173/24
 177/21 178/5 179/9
 179/14 179/18 180/8
 180/10 182/8 183/13
 185/9 186/7 186/20
 186/20 188/6 189/24
 190/6 190/12 190/14
 192/11 193/12 194/6
 195/16 195/25 196/17
 198/3 198/17 198/19
 199/6 199/14 199/25
 201/7 206/14 206/16
 206/17 206/24 207/7
 207/11 207/14 212/25
 214/11 214/12 214/13
 214/14 215/18 216/1
 217/22 218/8 220/9
 222/21 222/24 224/13
 224/15 226/5 226/24
 229/12 229/14 230/7
 232/15 234/15 236/8
 236/14
their [35]  8/16 8/20
 9/11 10/3 14/25 21/4
 22/17 23/9 23/19 29/8
 31/13 32/20 33/2 33/22
 34/16 34/25 40/2 40/23
 41/7 71/20 82/15 87/20
 100/12 114/12 114/19
 149/22 166/16 166/21
 187/1 188/6 188/24
 201/16 221/4 221/9
 223/3
them [53]  15/1 32/5
 41/18 44/3 45/24 48/13
 48/15 50/1 54/18 57/7
 57/11 57/16 58/22
 58/24 59/8 59/9 80/20
 81/6 81/10 81/10 81/17
 89/6 92/12 93/9 93/10
 96/19 98/4 108/2 109/4
 116/15 116/16 116/20
 124/17 130/12 145/19
 148/10 148/12 153/11
 158/11 166/24 168/23
 168/24 169/12 169/13
 169/13 186/25 187/2
 187/17 192/1 192/15
 200/16 223/13 226/9
themselves [3]  54/5
 133/13 196/2
then [92]  7/21 13/7
 20/2 26/18 26/22 27/17
 29/15 30/3 30/3 30/3
 30/4 36/14 37/8 40/14
 40/16 42/19 43/6 46/6
 46/10 52/7 55/16 56/7
 56/15 56/23 57/3 58/25
 59/18 59/21 66/6 66/10
 66/14 70/13 73/5 84/4
 86/8 86/11 87/8 110/7

 112/7 113/10 117/7
 117/11 117/21 118/8
 129/8 139/6 141/13
 142/3 144/19 146/25
 147/14 152/23 153/19
 154/1 154/23 155/13
 155/20 155/25 156/4
 162/13 169/21 172/20
 175/19 178/18 179/15
 180/5 180/11 182/10
 185/12 192/12 199/8
 199/11 199/18 199/18
 200/5 204/19 206/1
 216/4 216/7 216/17
 221/19 221/21 223/22
 229/18 229/21 230/25
 231/17 232/5 235/3
 236/5 236/13 236/17
there [157]  6/24 10/18
 10/20 11/23 11/24
 12/17 12/18 13/15
 13/16 14/1 14/10 14/23
 14/23 14/24 19/9 21/20
 22/3 22/3 22/14 26/12
 26/16 29/12 32/2 32/21
 33/16 35/5 35/12 37/6
 37/13 38/8 38/8 38/9
 38/10 38/19 38/22 39/7
 39/16 39/17 40/8 40/14
 43/14 45/10 46/1 47/7
 47/8 47/17 49/17 49/25
 54/4 57/22 58/16 60/13
 62/25 64/4 64/14 65/14
 66/6 66/14 66/22 72/11
 74/13 78/25 80/24
 82/19 82/20 85/6 87/2
 88/8 94/24 98/22 98/25
 99/6 100/8 101/7
 102/23 103/2 106/3
 106/11 108/20 112/1
 114/4 116/22 119/9
 120/5 121/8 123/20
 123/23 123/25 125/7
 125/8 125/9 125/9
 133/23 134/24 135/22
 137/13 138/17 139/25
 141/8 146/5 146/11
 146/21 147/25 150/2
 151/8 158/6 158/9
 164/20 169/1 169/1
 169/2 169/5 169/9
 172/15 172/19 172/20
 173/19 173/22 173/22
 174/2 178/6 178/13
 179/2 179/23 180/11
 180/21 183/16 183/21
 184/15 185/3 185/4
 185/5 185/7 185/10
 186/25 195/11 197/18
 198/9 198/10 198/21
 199/5 199/24 202/9
 204/13 207/20 208/10
 215/19 217/15 221/13
 224/8 224/19 225/22
 228/8 229/12 232/12
 232/25 235/12
there's [57]  9/10 9/10
 10/19 13/20 13/22
 13/24 13/24 14/6 14/8

 16/22 26/21 26/23
 29/11 33/3 35/17 38/13
 38/21 44/20 48/12
 48/13 57/18 61/10
 62/23 65/25 74/5 74/6
 74/12 82/3 84/21 86/8
 106/4 116/4 116/19
 119/3 131/10 137/1
 157/6 159/16 160/9
 163/21 175/5 183/3
 184/4 184/14 185/8
 186/13 188/2 190/13
 192/20 192/22 197/16
 212/16 213/19 215/18
 217/23 230/17 230/21
thereby [1]  97/8
therefore [2]  7/18
 139/7
thereunder [1]  145/18
these [39]  40/22 41/2
 41/3 56/5 73/19 75/17
 75/18 89/22 89/24
 92/20 96/10 97/22
 97/25 103/15 104/21
 106/4 106/12 116/1
 116/7 116/8 119/17
 130/15 135/3 146/4
 153/9 157/4 160/17
 166/1 177/14 185/14
 186/3 194/10 195/1
 197/16 208/13 219/15
 231/22 232/13 234/21
they [146]  9/11 9/13
 9/19 10/2 15/17 21/25
 23/25 26/6 29/9 29/11
 31/14 31/16 31/17
 31/17 32/19 32/23 33/2
 33/3 33/4 33/6 33/9
 33/10 33/10 33/13
 33/14 33/17 34/22
 34/25 38/12 38/14
 38/15 38/16 38/18 39/7
 39/8 39/9 39/16 39/17
 39/18 39/20 39/25 40/3
 40/5 40/14 40/15 40/15
 40/16 40/16 40/17 41/9
 41/13 41/16 44/18
 45/20 46/16 48/11
 49/10 54/18 54/18
 63/22 70/3 70/5 71/17
 73/20 73/22 73/24 76/2
 78/21 78/24 80/21
 82/21 84/13 84/14 86/6
 91/8 93/7 93/10 93/12
 97/24 98/3 98/7 98/10
 98/12 99/1 100/10
 105/1 108/3 111/20
 111/23 111/23 112/1
 118/15 118/18 118/21
 121/3 130/12 130/14
 131/15 132/1 133/3
 141/8 148/20 149/9
 150/5 150/10 151/4
 151/7 153/11 153/14
 156/21 156/24 162/1
 164/11 165/8 165/9
 166/15 169/3 169/13
 172/24 172/25 187/3
 187/3 187/13 188/24

 192/5 192/6 194/2
 194/3 195/3 197/23
 197/23 197/24 197/25
 198/2 202/10 204/23
 205/17 209/7 218/14
 220/22 221/1 221/1
 221/2 226/6 226/7
 226/8
they're [20]  33/1 33/8
 33/8 80/22 92/10 93/8
 93/10 93/11 98/15
 100/11 116/21 116/21
 118/13 129/8 130/10
 148/9 153/13 169/4
 169/9 191/23
they've [9]  29/8 31/4
 31/4 33/4 33/5 38/11
 38/12 92/13 168/22
thing [10]  5/6 18/5
 22/8 33/14 34/4 49/8
 64/7 130/21 187/20
 229/11
things [11]  4/25 29/11
 37/21 96/16 125/10
 129/22 130/3 145/21
 153/14 168/18 174/21
think [72]  14/11 18/15
 27/11 29/4 39/5 40/22
 41/3 58/17 60/17 61/6
 63/15 77/20 92/13 96/7
 96/13 96/15 96/22
 96/23 96/24 98/22
 100/10 105/22 108/21
 120/12 120/12 120/13
 122/2 122/8 130/16
 151/6 156/23 156/24
 157/5 158/16 158/17
 161/6 164/11 172/24
 173/17 173/18 176/9
 178/23 180/25 183/15
 185/17 186/4 186/5
 186/10 186/12 191/24
 192/25 193/25 195/19
 197/4 197/6 197/19
 200/4 200/6 200/14
 200/17 201/3 205/16
 206/4 213/15 226/1
 231/21 233/13 235/25
 236/5 236/19 236/22
 236/24
thinking [2]  9/16
 205/21
third [62]  3/22 7/10
 7/11 7/11 11/2 11/14
 11/15 11/16 13/7 14/23
 14/25 15/2 20/6 22/22
 22/22 29/8 39/21 45/1
 45/4 45/15 67/20 67/24
 68/2 71/4 75/20 76/3
 78/24 95/11 96/21
 125/21 134/8 134/13
 146/5 147/25 151/8
 151/15 151/15 151/17
 151/17 154/11 178/4
 178/6 178/13 178/14
 182/21 182/22 182/24
 183/3 183/21 189/16
 198/3 198/4 198/9
 198/10 198/12 198/21



T
third... [6]  199/2 199/3
 199/7 199/15 199/16
 199/24
third-position [1] 
 189/16
thirds [1]  152/6
thirteen [1]  230/3
thirty [2]  91/22 223/25
thirty-nine [1]  223/25
thirty-one [1]  91/22
this [303] 
those [46]  5/24 13/8
 34/12 34/16 40/4 40/6
 41/20 47/19 47/22 48/6
 51/11 69/13 78/23 81/1
 89/5 92/4 99/16 99/18
 111/18 112/3 112/15
 121/3 130/8 137/8
 137/10 149/9 156/19
 157/4 157/13 165/18
 165/19 166/23 168/12
 168/14 168/21 174/21
 174/22 177/23 192/23
 200/8 200/9 200/13
 200/15 200/25 202/20
 217/24
though [8]  22/15 27/15
 32/21 75/25 84/16
 164/10 187/23 225/16
thought [8]  14/25
 61/22 74/24 83/23
 134/20 140/7 169/7
 229/7
thoughts [2]  45/3
 67/20
thousand [17]  18/11
 18/13 18/15 18/16 19/5
 43/9 57/18 57/19 57/20
 58/7 79/16 91/25
 124/14 124/24 124/25
 167/6 167/22
thousands [3]  43/21
 112/3 152/12
three [13]  6/9 24/17
 27/17 43/14 80/25
 110/2 142/22 144/3
 152/12 218/24 222/2
 223/25 231/2
three 104s [1]  43/14
through [53]  3/8 4/16
 6/21 7/3 9/2 9/3 9/10
 13/19 14/4 14/8 28/7
 32/7 39/12 40/11 44/12
 48/15 53/10 57/16
 63/25 90/9 114/2
 119/12 124/12 136/19
 138/11 138/12 140/11
 144/4 144/5 144/9
 151/2 151/6 153/13
 161/14 168/11 178/15
 180/18 181/9 182/4
 182/22 197/14 208/13
 209/23 211/19 215/6
 215/15 215/21 216/12
 216/17 219/12 221/2
 225/7 227/22
throughout [3]  4/13

 11/17 52/3
thrown [1]  10/3
Thursday [15]  159/7
 159/22 159/24 160/4
 229/1 229/2 229/7
 229/11 229/11 229/12
 229/13 229/18 229/19
 236/6 236/23
till [2]  159/21 160/4
time [96]  3/12 3/14
 3/17 4/14 6/23 7/8 9/25
 10/7 10/10 10/23 13/19
 20/6 26/11 28/9 29/22
 30/3 30/14 46/4 48/17
 52/10 52/12 52/20
 57/13 58/9 58/12 60/13
 60/14 67/17 72/13
 74/18 75/16 75/19
 80/12 80/14 80/17
 80/24 81/16 85/10
 85/21 88/25 88/25 94/9
 100/22 112/5 115/2
 119/6 121/20 129/1
 131/15 134/6 134/25
 138/8 140/7 143/12
 146/3 147/8 147/10
 147/20 147/20 147/20
 149/17 152/22 157/1
 157/19 158/16 161/23
 164/7 170/20 171/4
 173/7 173/15 175/25
 176/5 176/7 176/10
 176/25 177/12 180/1
 181/2 194/9 195/7
 206/7 210/1 214/22
 215/14 219/11 225/18
 225/24 225/25 226/1
 226/23 228/12 228/16
 231/1 233/21 236/21
timeline [2]  13/6 44/22
timely [1]  111/20
times [5]  24/24 93/25
 94/3 106/14 144/23
timing [1]  44/21
tip [1]  84/13
title [23]  33/11 38/10
 57/22 58/10 75/6 81/23
 86/21 113/12 151/18
 151/21 155/2 156/15
 156/17 156/22 156/23
 157/5 157/10 162/13
 162/20 174/21 178/4
 192/17 193/1
today [38]  3/3 25/24
 31/24 37/18 37/18
 46/20 46/22 47/25
 52/17 114/2 158/19
 158/23 159/3 170/4
 172/15 175/7 176/8
 177/15 182/19 190/21
 191/5 198/8 198/9
 198/9 200/12 201/18
 206/4 208/17 208/22
 211/19 211/20 212/20
 228/5 228/21 228/23
 229/3 235/24 235/24
Together [1]  44/11
told [12]  10/7 10/9 22/1
 32/6 52/16 94/3 96/7

 98/12 151/8 151/15
 181/8 230/22
tomorrow [10]  46/21
 201/19 228/19 228/20
 228/24 228/25 229/10
 236/1 236/1 236/3
too [6]  43/19 47/7
 49/21 49/24 49/25
 151/19
took [4]  84/20 212/15
 213/23 225/7
top [8]  50/2 57/9 61/6
 61/9 65/17 79/17
 107/18 217/22
top-quality [1]  79/17
topic [1]  95/2
tort [1]  145/18
total [2]  92/4 124/15
touch [2]  6/23 221/9
TRAN [1]  1/1
transaction [15]  7/21
 8/10 8/14 10/5 10/22
 11/6 40/12 42/17 55/7
 62/12 94/10 143/3
 210/23 212/14 234/21
TRANSCRIBED [1] 
 1/25
TRANSCRIBER [1] 
 237/16
transcript [11]  1/8 59/4
 167/10 167/25 171/9
 174/10 176/17 198/15
 212/16 237/3 237/9
transfer [7]  105/14
 106/3 106/11 106/14
 121/22 199/22 200/2
transferred [8]  7/22
 7/23 25/15 33/22 34/22
 185/12 233/11 233/15
transferring [1]  24/1
transfers [1]  26/22
treasury [1]  154/19
trespassed [1]  83/15
trial [7]  1/15 37/21 41/2
 159/20 161/2 171/2
 188/5
tried [2]  161/15 229/24
trier [2]  41/1 41/1
trouble [1]  181/23
true [45]  34/9 34/9 59/5
 59/6 75/22 76/7 86/6
 102/16 108/19 110/20
 110/22 111/2 113/20
 113/23 114/1 114/4
 114/18 115/17 116/5
 116/12 116/25 117/18
 118/14 122/8 126/7
 126/8 162/12 162/15
 166/14 166/17 166/18
 167/1 173/22 176/1
 183/13 187/20 193/9
 193/20 199/22 206/22
 210/3 213/2 226/3
 226/8 228/13
trust [197]  7/12 7/21
 7/23 9/17 10/24 11/1
 11/1 11/14 11/18 11/20
 11/21 12/1 12/18 12/18
 12/19 12/21 12/23

 12/25 13/7 13/7 13/12
 13/14 13/15 13/16
 13/16 13/20 13/21
 13/23 14/2 14/7 14/9
 14/10 14/11 16/3 16/3
 16/16 20/23 23/3 23/6
 24/1 25/14 26/10 26/11
 26/17 26/17 26/19
 26/21 26/22 27/25
 27/25 28/9 28/10 28/11
 31/6 31/6 31/7 31/8
 31/8 31/8 31/9 31/16
 38/20 39/9 39/18 39/22
 40/17 40/18 42/8 42/10
 42/12 42/14 42/15
 42/16 42/16 69/24 72/8
 72/19 73/21 73/23 74/3
 74/13 74/13 74/16
 74/17 74/18 75/13
 82/11 86/5 86/20 87/12
 87/17 88/18 97/6 120/8
 126/17 126/24 127/15
 128/4 128/10 130/18
 130/22 131/1 134/25
 139/17 141/1 144/8
 144/14 145/23 147/4
 148/10 149/2 149/3
 149/23 150/11 150/25
 151/9 151/11 153/20
 153/23 154/1 154/2
 154/4 154/7 154/11
 157/1 178/6 178/8
 183/4 183/5 183/22
 184/4 184/10 184/15
 184/22 184/23 184/23
 184/24 184/25 185/4
 185/5 185/8 185/9
 185/12 187/21 187/21
 187/25 188/1 188/21
 188/23 189/2 190/5
 190/13 191/1 191/4
 191/5 191/6 191/6
 191/8 191/11 191/15
 191/17 191/18 191/18
 191/19 191/21 192/3
 192/4 193/8 194/2
 194/8 194/11 194/13
 194/14 194/15 194/17
 195/5 195/7 195/8
 195/9 195/9 195/16
 195/18 195/20 195/22
 196/3 196/6 196/13
 196/13 196/17 196/20
 196/20 196/21 198/1
 199/3 199/5 200/3
 217/5
trustees [2]  148/10
 149/4
trustors [2]  196/8
 196/10
truth [2]  33/24 35/21
truthful [4]  96/14 171/1
 171/10 172/6
try [5]  4/13 159/1
 161/13 182/10 203/2
trying [16]  26/4 27/14
 33/1 34/25 66/18 74/4
 83/5 91/8 96/14 152/18
 161/3 162/12 180/24

 210/18 211/16 222/6
TUESDAY [8]  1/14
 158/19 159/3 228/20
 228/21 229/3 229/10
 229/21
turn [14]  14/14 15/4
 15/8 16/6 16/18 17/7
 17/10 19/19 19/22
 20/10 22/20 24/13
 91/12 230/7
turned [2]  76/3 224/6
turning [1]  230/13
twenty [4]  91/21 125/1
 125/6 224/1
twenty-five [3]  91/21
 125/1 125/6
twenty-two [1]  224/1
twice [2]  33/5 141/8
two [34]  19/17 19/17
 19/17 20/8 20/8 20/9
 24/17 27/12 40/18 41/3
 47/16 73/1 91/25
 105/25 106/15 109/22
 110/8 110/21 111/3
 112/8 112/21 113/8
 142/17 152/6 159/9
 175/15 178/24 179/17
 198/12 200/8 202/20
 216/8 219/3 224/1
two-year [2]  19/17
 20/9
type [2]  23/8 235/14
typing [2]  221/6 221/11
typo [1]  115/21

U
U.S [1]  60/5
Uh [4]  4/11 159/5
 177/25 182/3
Uh-huh [2]  4/11 159/5
ultimately [8]  6/25
 117/1 140/14 199/19
 202/10 204/20 204/23
 224/6
Um [1]  57/15
unable [1]  232/12
unambiguous [1] 
 38/25
unasserted [1]  145/20
unaware [2]  96/19
 135/1
under [78]  4/21 11/8
 12/20 12/22 14/23
 14/25 15/8 15/11 15/15
 17/5 18/22 20/10 20/20
 21/4 21/5 21/23 21/24
 21/24 22/12 25/16
 26/17 28/1 28/10 33/6
 35/1 39/10 40/1 42/10
 45/19 46/4 51/25 62/15
 75/6 75/12 80/14 82/10
 88/17 89/17 96/25
 103/18 111/24 118/22
 124/21 126/16 126/22
 127/15 128/3 128/12
 129/5 129/8 131/21
 132/23 135/4 135/8
 136/23 139/20 141/3
 142/7 144/7 147/3



U
under... [18]  158/21
 174/21 186/5 186/6
 186/13 186/19 190/6
 192/4 192/22 194/18
 196/13 196/25 197/18
 213/13 215/7 217/7
 222/2 226/21
underlying [3]  11/4
 12/8 12/13
understand [26]  4/17
 4/22 27/8 32/6 32/15
 32/17 34/1 74/1 75/16
 79/14 100/16 103/15
 113/3 121/15 128/20
 139/23 140/5 143/10
 146/3 148/23 153/9
 159/15 165/22 183/4
 209/24 230/15
understanding [18] 
 9/7 9/18 10/24 13/11
 14/20 14/23 25/17 26/2
 53/3 53/24 55/15 84/10
 124/11 191/1 195/17
 196/17 225/18 226/5
understood [15]  11/1
 20/6 59/11 59/15 75/19
 88/8 147/8 147/10
 147/10 147/23 150/17
 150/21 160/7 160/12
 160/15
undertake [1]  78/6
undertook [1]  226/3
unequivocally [1] 
 32/24
Unfortunately [2] 
 131/17 132/19
ungiven [1]  142/22
universe [1]  220/20
unknown [2]  145/20
 185/21
unless [4]  46/12 79/3
 97/6 101/20
unreasonable [1] 
 31/15
unsealing [1]  49/9
unsecured [3]  45/16
 67/25 68/5
unsigned [2]  137/5
 137/6
until [37]  16/5 29/17
 29/23 34/19 40/18
 46/10 52/18 52/24 53/3
 53/22 55/15 89/14
 113/24 117/19 126/4
 129/9 139/3 143/16
 144/18 158/11 159/24
 161/10 166/1 166/3
 166/15 166/19 166/19
 167/2 167/11 168/1
 179/12 180/13 211/18
 216/16 216/19 216/20
 228/18
up [50]  5/5 10/3 10/15
 21/13 22/7 24/20 39/16
 43/13 44/3 45/6 46/19
 49/19 52/18 59/23 64/6
 66/7 71/24 76/16 79/17

 80/2 81/6 89/16 92/4
 104/24 108/20 114/2
 117/10 136/7 141/21
 146/20 149/19 158/9
 163/12 164/14 167/1
 167/10 168/1 173/8
 195/17 199/10 201/24
 203/3 206/5 208/18
 208/20 211/19 213/16
 213/19 218/8 236/17
update [1]  218/11
upon [11]  17/14 55/7
 109/22 110/8 112/8
 117/8 117/9 157/17
 169/17 194/23 231/3
upside [4]  186/24
 187/3 219/10 222/12
us [30]  3/18 5/19 6/5
 6/16 6/23 9/6 9/22
 10/21 13/11 15/10 16/9
 17/2 17/10 20/2 24/8
 47/14 49/2 50/8 64/10
 81/6 107/23 127/6
 129/1 129/18 152/23
 179/19 197/12 221/3
 224/20 229/8
use [12]  24/5 24/21
 34/10 34/11 43/15
 43/24 61/21 61/22
 78/11 84/5 230/4 230/5
used [7]  24/7 24/24
 24/25 54/3 60/18 62/18
 195/25
users [1]  210/14
using [1]  5/24
utilities [3]  108/13
 109/7 192/18
Utilize [1]  113/11

V
vacate [2]  26/3 26/4
vacation [1]  153/14
vaccine [1]  3/22
Vague [2]  6/19 233/4
Vaguely [2]  50/23
 167/20
valid [5]  27/24 87/18
 87/24 142/14 150/12
valuable [2]  11/19
 210/15
value [6]  45/15 67/24
 68/1 88/20 183/20
 221/25
various [9]  38/9 51/7
 51/11 53/10 54/4 54/4
 131/21 132/24 200/21
VEGAS [5]  3/1 5/21
 209/6 209/16 237/12
venture [2]  221/16
 222/24
Ventures [14]  8/4 8/5
 8/8 8/9 8/11 17/23
 17/24 19/13 35/11 70/1
 70/10 85/24 97/20
 123/6
Ventures's [1]  123/16
veracity [1]  34/7
verbal [2]  96/20 123/19
verdict [1]  41/22

verified [1]  232/25
verify [1]  218/15
Vernon [5]  61/5 61/7
 61/10 62/3 63/5
versions [1]  50/13
versus [1]  9/8
very [23]  9/9 10/2
 34/11 42/4 60/14 74/7
 91/8 91/8 94/5 99/4
 99/21 105/24 122/9
 151/1 157/19 186/21
 187/20 199/7 210/14
 210/14 210/15 216/20
 225/9
victim [1]  210/23
video [2]  84/21 91/6
view [2]  191/5 191/7
violated [2]  82/17
 146/14
violates [1]  38/23
violation [6]  102/5
 126/2 127/2 127/10
 129/10 131/1
visit [1]  218/11
VISUAL [1]  237/4
Volume [5]  49/12
 49/13 49/23 49/24 51/4
Volume 2 too [1]  49/24
Volume I [4]  49/12
 49/13 49/23 51/4
volumes [1]  207/18

W
wait [9]  127/18 129/1
 135/17 135/23 147/16
 147/16 160/5 171/13
 188/20
waive [3]  39/22 185/16
 185/23
waived [11]  33/5
 103/21 103/23 103/24
 104/1 104/9 107/2
 123/4 126/20 185/11
 185/14
waiver [4]  139/19
 141/2 142/6 217/7
waiving [1]  146/4
walked [1]  40/11
wallet [2]  211/9 211/15
Walsh [1]  155/17
want [47]  4/12 9/11
 13/6 14/14 16/6 19/22
 24/3 29/14 29/21 29/22
 30/5 30/8 30/9 30/19
 36/24 38/1 44/21 49/1
 49/2 50/11 64/21 64/22
 81/4 81/15 85/21 96/13
 103/10 108/15 115/1
 122/10 124/9 125/18
 138/18 146/19 154/19
 158/5 159/20 160/18
 160/19 184/5 207/23
 208/24 209/22 223/9
 226/14 226/15 229/25
wanted [9]  9/6 9/7
 67/16 90/4 144/20
 181/2 188/14 218/14
 218/14
warranties [4]  10/19

 11/10 31/20 85/19
warrants [3]  31/21
 99/11 146/11
was [373] 
Washington [2]  40/23
 154/9
wasn't [17]  10/18
 34/19 35/12 64/1 75/25
 77/12 106/8 125/9
 138/9 141/23 143/16
 164/19 165/4 185/23
 215/10 226/8 235/8
way [18]  29/25 38/16
 63/25 66/4 66/4 121/17
 145/22 152/6 152/17
 158/4 166/9 170/25
 171/1 187/9 207/10
 214/1 222/3 223/5
we [138]  3/3 3/4 3/7
 5/11 6/23 7/20 7/20
 9/25 14/8 17/17 18/14
 20/22 20/23 22/8 26/20
 28/17 28/20 28/22 29/2
 32/14 34/5 34/19 35/19
 36/12 36/15 37/23
 39/11 39/11 39/12
 40/10 40/11 40/24
 41/10 42/15 44/3 44/11
 46/7 46/21 47/14 54/21
 62/6 66/3 66/5 67/6
 73/1 79/22 81/6 84/7
 89/10 89/13 90/12
 90/16 96/15 96/15
 98/19 104/23 104/25
 115/1 122/23 122/25
 123/1 124/17 124/25
 127/17 133/11 134/3
 134/5 135/1 135/4
 136/8 136/19 138/11
 144/4 144/5 144/9
 146/6 147/14 150/19
 151/6 151/6 151/7
 159/17 160/14 160/17
 160/18 160/19 161/2
 165/7 165/21 169/15
 173/17 178/23 178/25
 179/23 180/3 180/9
 180/11 180/12 180/25
 183/8 183/17 187/7
 195/3 195/5 195/5
 202/15 207/16 211/1
 211/8 211/9 211/14
 211/20 214/23 214/24
 215/5 215/6 215/10
 216/2 216/3 216/3
 216/19 218/11 218/15
 218/18 218/24 219/23
 220/20 222/20 223/3
 224/4 224/18 226/1
 228/18 228/19 228/25
 232/12 233/13 234/13
we'd [1]  32/5
we'll [12]  46/21 61/18
 81/10 81/14 81/16 89/4
 89/12 104/24 113/2
 115/3 163/6 209/23
we're [20]  10/8 33/25
 35/13 35/16 49/25
 59/23 65/1 81/17

 116/23 117/15 136/1
 159/13 160/23 161/2
 187/8 211/16 228/19
 228/20 233/16 234/12
we've [18]  5/22 13/19
 32/7 32/8 35/17 42/13
 59/8 72/15 105/4
 108/20 168/11 174/5
 178/3 182/22 194/8
 210/18 223/8 228/18
Wednesday [5]  228/22
 228/23 228/25 229/18
 236/1
week [9]  158/20
 158/24 201/15 201/19
 201/25 202/16 206/5
 206/8 218/12
weeks [3]  178/24
 179/17 231/2
Wei [2]  210/21 210/22
weigh [5]  41/23 44/17
 44/19 46/3 160/10
weighed [1]  160/13
welcome [1]  91/4
well [137]  3/21 6/6
 7/21 10/4 10/14 13/14
 22/9 22/9 23/24 26/10
 27/7 27/24 29/10 29/23
 36/11 37/15 39/8 39/17
 41/11 47/10 48/15
 48/18 48/21 48/24 49/5
 49/21 50/21 52/11
 52/16 56/8 56/17 57/16
 62/6 64/24 65/23 68/10
 69/17 70/18 71/19
 73/22 74/5 75/22 80/1
 83/6 92/6 92/12 94/16
 95/15 98/2 98/4 98/9
 98/18 99/9 100/10
 101/14 102/2 103/1
 104/9 104/23 106/3
 115/19 116/19 117/7
 120/12 120/18 120/25
 122/4 122/8 122/10
 124/1 124/17 126/9
 128/22 136/1 138/11
 139/25 143/18 144/19
 144/24 148/6 149/8
 150/19 150/22 152/19
 157/3 157/18 159/14
 159/18 159/23 162/6
 162/12 168/24 170/15
 171/15 172/7 173/2
 173/17 175/12 175/14
 176/4 176/9 177/11
 178/16 179/2 179/4
 179/8 179/11 179/15
 180/5 180/13 183/7
 183/19 184/21 186/5
 186/17 186/18 191/20
 192/12 193/25 194/12
 194/21 198/8 200/6
 200/19 201/1 201/4
 204/22 205/19 207/6
 209/20 209/22 214/13
 216/17 225/23 226/3
 230/22 233/17
went [16]  21/24 39/25
 124/12 124/17 135/8



W
went... [11]  135/9
 136/8 136/19 144/4
 144/5 151/2 151/6
 164/8 204/20 215/5
 233/16
were [126]  6/25 9/15
 9/23 9/25 10/1 10/7
 10/9 10/14 10/16 10/20
 11/13 11/15 12/17
 15/10 18/12 20/13
 23/24 31/3 31/18 34/16
 34/24 40/14 40/15
 40/22 47/19 48/20
 51/20 60/13 63/19
 71/12 71/17 72/11
 72/11 74/24 75/17 76/2
 78/21 78/24 80/12
 80/13 80/21 93/17
 93/22 96/7 97/24 98/3
 98/7 98/12 102/4 102/8
 102/16 105/16 105/18
 105/23 107/1 107/4
 107/14 111/18 111/20
 112/1 112/2 112/18
 118/15 118/18 124/6
 124/7 125/10 125/16
 128/12 129/22 131/15
 131/20 132/22 134/20
 135/1 139/23 143/23
 146/3 146/4 149/22
 151/10 151/18 162/12
 167/2 169/15 170/10
 170/16 171/6 171/17
 171/23 174/21 175/8
 175/9 178/23 179/4
 179/16 180/11 180/24
 180/25 181/9 182/1
 182/17 186/24 187/3
 200/21 200/24 202/20
 209/9 213/3 213/7
 213/13 214/21 214/23
 214/24 215/1 215/6
 215/25 216/2 216/3
 217/19 220/20 222/20
 225/22 228/8 232/12
 233/18
weren't [5]  111/23
 111/23 151/19 179/4
 214/22
what [190]  3/22 8/4
 10/16 10/23 11/7 11/13
 11/20 12/20 13/11
 13/12 14/20 14/25
 15/10 16/9 17/11 18/1
 19/16 20/6 21/14 22/25
 25/12 26/2 26/2 26/8
 27/5 30/2 32/18 32/19
 33/1 33/8 33/22 35/4
 35/25 36/10 36/16
 37/17 38/1 39/16 39/22
 39/22 40/15 42/24
 43/25 44/5 47/10 47/22
 48/6 50/13 50/17 50/24
 51/11 51/14 52/10
 52/11 54/2 55/6 55/22
 57/8 59/2 59/10 59/19
 60/8 62/20 67/12 68/6

 71/22 74/2 74/2 74/4
 75/19 76/2 79/14 79/18
 79/19 79/21 81/12 82/8
 83/1 83/19 84/14 90/13
 93/19 96/14 96/23
 96/24 99/10 100/16
 101/2 101/14 105/3
 105/18 107/14 110/25
 110/25 117/4 118/7
 119/2 119/6 119/20
 120/1 120/3 121/2
 121/4 122/2 124/15
 127/4 128/16 128/21
 128/23 129/4 129/15
 129/19 130/23 137/8
 137/8 139/7 139/23
 147/11 147/16 148/4
 149/15 150/16 150/22
 151/7 153/9 154/17
 160/19 162/22 164/4
 165/6 166/10 167/23
 170/11 170/16 170/19
 171/6 171/9 171/18
 171/23 172/8 172/8
 176/2 177/9 178/12
 180/7 180/24 181/17
 181/17 181/19 182/19
 183/4 183/7 185/16
 186/15 186/17 186/20
 186/21 186/22 187/17
 188/3 188/6 188/14
 189/24 190/9 190/23
 191/1 192/13 192/25
 194/16 195/22 195/24
 198/6 199/14 199/25
 200/10 207/3 207/24
 213/18 215/6 216/3
 222/21 224/13 225/24
 226/20 228/15 229/22
 231/23 233/2 235/14
 236/5
what's [24]  7/6 14/20
 19/14 22/13 24/3 40/7
 47/13 50/4 64/21 75/6
 81/22 133/21 157/20
 159/9 177/21 194/16
 198/7 198/8 200/12
 209/17 229/9 229/11
 233/25 235/20
whatever [4]  167/10
 168/1 202/16 229/25
whatsoever [1]  145/15
when [71]  3/21 9/13
 9/15 9/19 9/23 10/14
 10/16 17/22 18/2 19/24
 20/23 30/9 31/2 34/10
 40/11 40/16 60/11
 63/17 63/19 63/22
 64/10 76/16 81/6 83/6
 87/22 88/6 96/19 98/4
 103/16 113/3 135/11
 139/23 140/5 143/10
 143/11 147/23 150/17
 151/6 152/23 157/6
 164/7 164/8 166/15
 169/19 172/3 172/18
 173/25 175/14 179/13
 183/3 183/8 186/12
 186/12 187/10 189/14

 194/14 194/15 195/9
 195/10 196/25 197/5
 198/25 200/9 202/14
 207/1 211/21 218/4
 226/24 230/20 234/15
 234/24
where [72]  5/19 7/21
 8/21 12/12 17/12 23/9
 23/25 28/6 31/20 31/22
 37/12 39/18 40/14
 45/14 50/11 53/8 65/4
 65/21 66/5 67/8 67/10
 67/19 67/23 68/1 70/14
 81/25 85/24 93/7 94/19
 97/3 97/19 98/11 98/12
 98/25 99/21 100/8
 101/17 104/20 104/21
 104/22 105/1 106/12
 108/2 118/6 119/13
 134/5 134/18 138/10
 146/25 148/20 150/24
 152/4 165/7 168/21
 168/23 169/3 190/13
 195/17 197/2 200/19
 209/15 212/13 217/12
 217/17 217/18 223/19
 225/7 225/7 227/21
 231/14 233/16 234/7
where's [3]  106/2
 108/22 197/8
whereas [2]  139/1
 148/20
whether [8]  9/23 41/12
 56/1 56/12 71/16
 145/20 145/20 186/7
which [90]  6/25 7/11
 7/12 10/21 12/15 12/25
 13/21 14/15 15/4 16/7
 18/19 20/13 20/22
 26/19 26/20 30/2 32/13
 34/24 36/7 39/11 40/18
 41/4 41/5 50/9 51/3
 51/8 55/9 55/9 56/9
 58/19 69/15 71/6 71/18
 72/15 74/7 74/14 74/21
 76/3 82/14 83/5 88/2
 95/24 96/1 98/21
 100/17 102/25 106/6
 107/1 107/3 115/7
 119/21 126/3 131/1
 131/2 131/25 133/2
 133/24 137/1 137/2
 137/15 137/15 146/6
 148/9 148/16 148/24
 149/22 153/6 157/2
 167/15 172/20 174/5
 175/22 178/7 183/1
 184/4 185/8 186/16
 194/12 195/6 195/21
 197/9 201/16 201/25
 216/14 217/1 217/19
 219/8 221/23 222/11
 231/24
while [6]  14/22 24/7
 46/1 76/1 127/4 204/16
who [35]  6/2 7/8 7/9
 8/8 9/15 10/4 17/19
 19/12 27/12 47/19 61/2
 61/4 62/11 69/22 82/25

 83/1 83/8 83/9 83/10
 83/12 91/9 91/10 97/22
 148/23 151/10 166/10
 166/10 166/25 178/25
 209/5 210/21 212/4
 212/20 224/25 225/4
who's [1]  70/5
whole [4]  44/11 49/8
 58/22 64/7
why [37]  17/2 27/21
 37/10 48/16 48/16
 55/16 58/19 63/13
 93/12 98/2 101/5 108/4
 117/7 117/21 127/12
 136/6 138/9 152/15
 156/22 162/16 170/25
 172/5 173/6 173/15
 176/7 178/20 179/15
 184/19 199/8 200/5
 200/15 200/23 202/7
 206/25 210/10 226/6
 234/22
wife [4]  6/4 6/4 6/21
 47/4
will [34]  4/24 5/1 11/8
 19/6 19/7 30/15 34/11
 41/2 41/4 49/18 76/15
 78/6 79/5 82/12 87/23
 91/8 113/4 121/17
 133/16 140/9 141/9
 146/11 146/19 201/25
 219/8 222/4 225/12
 227/5 229/20 229/21
 230/5 235/24 236/2
 236/2
WILLIAMS [2]  237/12
 237/16
willing [1]  219/13
wire [4]  105/13 106/3
 106/11 106/13
within [14]  11/10 18/16
 50/9 103/19 110/21
 111/3 111/5 131/25
 133/2 147/25 150/20
 176/22 198/4 199/16
without [3]  19/8
 145/16 236/3
witness [15]  4/1 28/14
 29/8 34/7 34/14 44/15
 46/17 46/24 49/1 90/14
 90/18 90/23 102/10
 105/6 113/2
witnesses [4]  2/3 2/6
 30/14 236/19
won't [1]  79/12
word [1]  217/23
words [3]  34/10 34/11
 34/12
work [4]  44/8 83/13
 83/14 159/1
worked [1]  47/14
worker [3]  84/6 84/7
 84/10
workers [6]  83/13
 83/14 83/16 83/19 84/4
 84/5
working [7]  5/16
 107/19 108/21 108/24
 188/25 230/23 231/16

works [2]  108/16
 220/20
worth [3]  107/23
 124/14 218/21
would [102]  4/21 4/22
 8/17 9/1 9/1 21/22
 26/23 26/24 29/16 30/3
 30/14 31/6 31/14 31/17
 41/4 41/20 41/22 42/22
 46/1 46/2 46/7 48/16
 48/19 53/17 55/2 56/18
 57/10 57/17 58/3 59/9
 66/12 69/21 74/17
 91/12 92/16 94/3 94/11
 94/24 94/24 101/15
 106/6 106/22 106/25
 111/13 114/15 117/11
 128/20 129/10 132/11
 135/4 138/11 145/4
 152/3 156/23 157/7
 158/14 162/5 162/25
 164/1 165/8 165/9
 166/6 170/1 172/20
 172/24 182/10 183/17
 190/1 190/12 195/20
 196/18 196/21 202/15
 202/19 205/2 206/3
 206/13 208/18 208/20
 213/10 214/21 215/8
 215/22 216/14 219/11
 221/15 221/17 221/23
 222/8 222/10 223/18
 224/21 225/18 226/22
 227/25 230/7 231/15
 231/24 232/7 234/5
 234/16 234/24
would've [3]  23/21
 58/4 216/17
wouldn't [2]  160/14
 224/20
writ [2]  231/1 231/4
write [2]  144/19 222/15
writing [8]  33/5 69/16
 79/4 97/7 130/17
 165/11 173/4 173/12
written [8]  13/3 68/11
 104/13 138/13 170/4
 171/22 204/20 204/22
wrong [5]  33/13 38/23
 119/4 194/20 194/21
wrote [2]  68/9 68/10

X
XI [2]  1/6 113/18

Y
yeah [40]  5/9 11/16
 16/8 19/4 21/2 32/6
 39/16 44/4 50/1 54/19
 57/17 62/18 62/21
 65/18 67/3 67/7 73/17
 89/9 107/14 124/23
 125/17 132/10 134/7
 136/4 136/5 146/21
 158/25 179/7 192/20
 214/3 215/21 226/24
 228/11 228/21 229/2
 229/16 231/23 234/20
 235/1 236/24



Y
year [21]  12/7 19/17
 20/9 21/8 22/9 104/7
 104/16 105/25 106/5
 106/15 110/18 192/20
 195/8 201/20 214/5
 215/5 215/21 216/13
 223/20 224/18 224/18
year's [3]  105/7 107/1
 214/23
years [13]  6/9 19/17
 56/24 98/7 109/22
 110/8 110/21 111/3
 112/8 112/21 113/8
 185/25 210/18
yell [1]  34/13
yes [197]  3/9 5/4 6/1
 6/12 6/15 8/13 8/15
 9/21 12/11 15/7 17/9
 18/8 18/22 19/1 19/11
 19/21 20/12 21/8 21/11
 23/7 24/2 24/18 25/9
 25/9 26/1 27/16 30/21
 37/22 37/24 43/16
 47/12 47/18 50/16
 52/15 53/18 56/11 57/2
 59/3 60/4 60/24 62/21
 64/9 64/16 64/19 67/15
 68/6 69/1 69/3 69/4
 70/16 71/2 72/13 72/21
 72/25 73/4 74/16 75/2
 76/9 76/12 76/13 76/14
 76/17 77/2 79/19 80/5
 80/17 80/19 81/3 81/20
 82/5 82/7 85/4 86/1
 88/10 92/11 93/6 93/10
 95/9 97/11 98/1 100/19
 100/24 102/18 103/2
 105/7 105/9 105/10
 106/1 106/25 107/20
 108/1 108/10 108/12
 108/14 109/8 109/11
 109/14 109/18 110/15
 110/18 114/15 114/22
 115/6 115/22 116/3
 116/18 117/1 117/20
 118/4 119/15 119/19
 119/25 121/7 124/3
 125/23 129/3 136/21
 136/22 139/9 139/11
 141/24 143/22 144/2
 146/6 146/10 146/16
 146/18 146/22 147/13
 148/1 148/8 150/16
 153/1 154/6 154/12
 157/12 157/17 158/23
 159/11 159/11 161/22
 162/2 163/18 165/1
 165/2 165/10 166/16
 167/4 168/16 169/20
 169/22 172/1 173/15
 173/24 174/13 175/24
 175/24 176/7 178/2
 178/18 181/10 181/25
 182/4 184/16 187/7
 187/9 187/10 188/2
 190/20 190/22 191/12
 192/16 193/11 193/12

 198/13 199/8 199/11
 199/19 199/24 200/5
 202/24 204/6 204/18
 205/8 207/19 211/14
 215/1 216/22 217/14
 223/17 224/21 227/17
 227/25 228/2 232/18
 234/18 236/24
yes-or-no [4]  80/17
 103/2 165/1 166/16
yesterday [6]  3/20 35/8
 40/20 41/10 90/12 91/7
yet [14]  29/9 29/11
 29/12 38/13 52/3 63/16
 68/15 157/14 201/22
 208/15 209/11 210/9
 219/25 227/4
yield [1]  157/7
you [1474] 
you'd [7]  3/12 51/2
 69/17 76/6 164/3 230/2
 230/3
you'll [2]  5/7 236/22
you're [67]  3/7 5/5 13/8
 17/8 25/1 32/15 35/22
 50/20 60/11 62/16
 63/15 63/17 63/22
 64/10 71/22 74/2 74/4
 83/1 84/20 89/16 91/4
 110/25 115/21 120/23
 120/24 122/6 129/16
 129/16 129/18 129/18
 130/17 130/18 130/18
 139/8 148/4 152/20
 152/23 158/10 158/11
 159/13 166/12 167/17
 179/20 183/10 184/5
 184/19 184/21 187/9
 193/17 194/23 198/23
 200/8 200/15 207/3
 207/6 208/6 209/2
 213/20 214/8 214/17
 216/18 229/10 233/13
 234/11 235/25 236/15
 236/19
you've [21]  45/6 46/19
 48/4 74/9 81/12 83/15
 92/8 109/7 110/16
 117/3 125/14 127/6
 135/19 149/12 163/10
 169/6 171/13 183/17
 185/14 188/20 220/14
young [1]  25/1
your [322] 
yourself [3]  15/21
 156/14 157/10

Z
zero [7]  28/12 74/18
 191/4 194/2 218/25
 227/25 228/1
zero percent [1] 
 218/25



EXHIBIT “M”  
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FFCL 
 

 
DISTRICT COURT 

 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
SPANISH HEIGHTS ACQUISITION 
COMPANY, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability 
Company; SJC VENTURES HOLDING 
COMPANY, LLC, d/b/a SJC VENTURES, 
LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company, 
 

Plaintiffs, 
v. 
 
CBC PARTNERS I, LLC, a foreign Limited 
Liability Company; CBC PARTNERS, LLC, a 
foreign Limited Liability Company; 5148 
SPANISH HEIGHTS, LLC, a Nevada Limited 
Liability Company; KENNETH ANTOS AND 
SHEILA NEUMANN-ANTOS, as Trustees of 
the Kenneth & Sheila Antos Living Trust and 
the Kenneth M. Antos & Sheila M. Neumann-
Antos Trust; DACIA, LLC, a foreign Limited 
Liability Company; DOES I through X; and 
ROE CORPORATIONS I through X, 
inclusive, 
 

Defendants. 

 
Case No. A-20-813439-B 
 
Dept. No.: XI 
 
 
 
 

FINDINGS OF FACT AND 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 
5148 SPANISH HEIGHTS, LLC, a Nevada 
limited liability company; and CBC 
PARTNERS I, LLC, a Washington limited 
liability company, 
 
Counterclaimants, 
 
v. 
 
SPANISH HEIGHTS ACQUISITION 
COMPANY, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability 
Company; SJC VENTURES, LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company; SJC VENTURES 
HOLDING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company; JAY BLOOM, 
individually and as Manager, DOE 

 

Case Number: A-20-813439-B

Electronically Filed
4/6/2021 12:19 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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DEFENDANTS 1-10; and ROE 
DEFENDANTS 11-20, 
 
Counterdefendants. 

 
FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 
This matter having come on for preliminary injunction and consolidated non-jury trial on 

related issues pursuant to NRCP 65(a)(2)1 before the Honorable Elizabeth Gonzalez beginning 

on February 1, 2021, February 2, 2021 , February 3, 2021,2  and March 15, 2021; Plaintiffs 

SPANISH HEIGHTS ACQUISITION COMPANY, LLC, (“Spanish Heights”)3 and SJC 

VENTURES HOLDING COMPANY, LLC, d/b/a SJC VENTURES, LLC (“SJCV”) appearing 

by and through their representative Jay Bloom and their counsel of record JOSEPH A. 

GUTIERREZ, ESQ. and DANIELLE J. BARRAZA, ESQ. of the law firm of MAIER 

                                                 
1  Pursuant to NRCP 65(a)(2), the parties have stipulated that the following legal issues surrounding the 
claims and counterclaims are advanced for trial to be heard in conjunction with the hearing on the preliminary 
injunction hearing: 
 

a) Contractual interpretation and/or validity of the underlying “Secured Promissory Note” between 
CBC Partners I, LLC, and KCI Investments, LLC, and all modifications (Counterclaim  First, Fourth, 
Ninth, and Twelfth Claim for Relief); 
b) Interpretation and/or validity of the claimed third-position Deed of Trust and all modifications 
thereto, and determination as to whether any consideration was provided in exchange for the Deed of Trust 
(Counterclaim  First, Fourth, Ninth, and Twelfth Claim for Relief); 
c) Contractual interpretation and/or validity of the Forbearance Agreement, Amended Forbearance 
Agreement and all associated documents/contracts (Counterclaim  First, Fourth, Ninth, and Twelfth Claim 
for Relief); 
d) Whether the Doctrine of Merger applies to the claims at issue (Amended Complaint Fourth, 
Seventh Cause of Action); and 
e) Whether the One Action Rule applies to the claims at issue (Amended Complaint Third Cause of 
Action). 
 

The injunctive relief claims are contained in the Amended Complaint Sixth Cause of Action. 
 
2  The Court was advised on February 3, 2021, that Spanish Heights filed for bankruptcy protection.  The 
Court suspended these proceedings and stayed the matter for 30 days as to all parties for Defendants to seek relief 
from the stay.  As no order lifting the stay has been entered by the Bankruptcy Court, nothing in this order creates 
any obligations or liabilities directly related to Spanish Heights; however, factual findings related to Spanish Heights 
are included in this decision. The term “Plaintiffs” as used in these Findings of fact and Conclusions of Law is not 
intended to imply any action by this Court against the debtor, Spanish Heights. 
 
3  As a result of the bankruptcy filing, Spanish Heights did not participate in these proceedings on March 15, 
2021.   
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GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES and Defendants CBC PARTNERS I, LLC, CBC PARTNERS, 

LLC, appearing by and through its representative Alan Hallberg (“Hallberg”); 5148 SPANISH 

HEIGHTS, LLC, KENNETH ANTOS and SHEILA NEUMANN-ANTOS, as Trustees of the 

Kenneth & Sheila Antos Living Trust and the Kenneth M. Antos & Sheila M. Neumann-Antos 

Trust; DACIA, LLC, (collectively “Defendants”)  all Defendants appearing by and through their 

counsel of record MICHAEL R. MUSHKIN, ESQ. and L. JOE COPPEDGE, ESQ. of the law 

firm of MUSHKIN & COPPEDGE; the Court having read and considered the pleadings filed by 

the parties; having reviewed the evidence admitted during the trial; having heard and carefully 

considered the testimony of the witnesses called to testify and weighing their credibility; having 

considered the oral and written arguments of counsel, and with the intent of rendering a decision 

on the limited claims before the Court at this time, pursuant to NRCP 52(a) and 58; the Court 

makes the following findings of fact and conclusions of law: 

I. Procedural Posture 

On April 9, 2020, the original complaint was filed and a Temporary Restraining Order 

was issued without notice by the then assigned judge.4  

Spanish Heights and SJCV initiated this action against CBC PARTNERS I, LLC, CBC 

PARTNERS, LLC, 5148 SPANISH HEIGHTS, LLC, KENNETH ANTOS AND SHEILA 

NEUMANN-ANTOS, as Trustees of the Kenneth & Sheila Antos Living Trust and the Kenneth 

M. Antos & Sheila M. Neumann-Antos Trust (“Antos Trust”); DACIA, LLC, with the First 

Amended Complaint being filed on May 15, 2020.   

By Order filed May 29, 2020, the Court granted Plaintiffs’ Motion for Preliminary 

Injunction on a limited basis that remained in effect until after expiration of the Governor’s 

                                                 
4  This matter was reassigned to this department after an April 13, 2020, Request for Transfer to Business 
Court was made by the Defendants. 
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Emergency Directive 008.  

On June 10, 2020, defendants CBC PARTNERS I, LLC, CBC PARTNERS, LLC, and 

5148 Spanish Heights, LLC, filed their answer to the first amended complaint.   

Defendants CBC PARTNERS I, LLC, and 5148 Spanish Heights, LLC, have also filed a 

counterclaim against plaintiffs, and Jay Bloom.  

On September 3, 2020, Defendant Antos Trust filed an answer and counterclaim against 

SJCV, which SJCV answered on September 28, 2020.5   

II. Findings of Fact 

1. This action involves residential real property located at 5148 Spanish Heights 

Drive, Las Vegas, Nevada 89148, with Assessor’s Parcel Number 163-29-615-007 (“Property”).  

2. The original owners of the Property were Kenneth and Sheila Antos as joint 

tenants, with the original deed recorded in April 2007.   

3. On or about October 14, 2010, Kenneth M. Antos and Sheila M. Neumann-Antos 

(collectively, “Antos”) transferred the Property to Kenneth M. Antos and Sheila M. Neumann-

Antos, as Trustees of the Kenneth and Shelia Antos Living Trust dated April 26, 2007 (the 

“Antos Trust”, and together with “Antos”, the “Antos Parties”).  

4. Nonparty City National Bank is the beneficiary of a first-position Deed of Trust 

recorded on the Property.   

5. Nonparty Northern Trust Bank is the beneficiary of a second-position Deed of 

Trust recorded on the Property.   

6. The Property is currently owned by Spanish Heights6 which has entered into a 

                                                 
5  The Antos have a pending motion for summary judgment. 
 
6  The manager of Spanish Heights is SJCV. 
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written lease agreement with SJCV.7  

7. Although the Property is residential, it is not owner occupied, but is occupied by 

Jay Bloom (“Mr. Bloom”) and his family.  

8. On or about June 22, 2012, nonparty KCI entered into a Secured Promissory Note 

(the “Note”) with CBC Partners I, LLC, a Washington limited liability company (“CBCI”).  

9. The Note memorialized a $300,000 commercial loan that CBCI made to Antos’ 

restaurant company KCI to be used for the restaurant business.   

10. On or around June 22, 2012, Kenneth and Sheila Antos, in their individual 

capacities, signed a “Guaranty” in which they personally guaranteed payment of the Note.  

11. The Note was secured by a “Security Agreement” dated June 22, 2012, where the 

security interest includes KCI’s intellectual property, goods, tools, furnishings, furniture, 

equipment and fixtures, accounts, deposit accounts, chattel paper, and receivables.  

12. The Property was not included as collateral for the original Note. 

13. The Note was modified and amended several times.  

14. On November 13, 2013, a Fourth Modification to Secured Promissory Note 

(“Fourth Modification”) was executed.  

15. Paragraph 4 of the Fourth Modification amended Paragraph 6.12 of the Note as 

follows:  

6.12 Antos Debt. Permit guarantor Kenneth M. Antos (“Antos”) to incur, 
create, assume or permit to exist any debt secured by the real property 
located at 5148 Spanish Heights Drive, Las Vegas, Nevada 89148. 
 

16. Along with the Fourth Modification, the Antos Trust provided a Security 

Agreement with Respect to Interest in Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release (the “Security 

                                                                                                                                                             
 
7  The manager of SJCV is Bloom. 
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Agreement”).  

17.  This Security Agreement not only granted a security interest in a Settlement 

Agreement, but also contained certain Representations, Warranties and Covenants of the Antos 

Parties, including: 

3.3 Sale, Encumbrance or Disposition.  Without the prior written consent 
of the Secured Party, Antos will not (a) allow the sale or encumbrance of 
any portion of the Collateral and (b) incur, create, assume or permit to 
exist any debt secured by the real property located at 5148 Spanish 
Heights Drive, Las Vegas, NV 89148, other than the first and second 
position deeds of trust or mortgages… 
 

18. KCI was acquired by Preferred Restaurant Brands, Inc. formerly known as Dixie 

Foods International, Inc. (“Dixie”). 

19. The Note was assumed by Dixie with the Antos Parties continuing to guaranty the 

obligation.  

20. On or about October 31, 2014, a Seventh Modification to Secured Promissory 

Note and Waiver of Defaults (“Seventh Modification”) was entered.  

21. CBCI determined that prior to extension of additional credit; additional security 

was required to replace a previously released security interest in other collateral. 

22. Paragraph 18(f) of the Seventh Modification provided for a condition precedent: 

Execution and delivery by Kenneth M. Antos and Sheila M. Neumann-
Antos, as Trustees of the Kenneth and Sheila Antos Living Trust dated 
April 26, 2007, and any amendments thereto (the “Antos Trust”) to Lender 
of a Deed of Trust on the real property located at 5148 Spanish Heights 
Drive, Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 (the “Real Property”), in form and 
substance satisfactory to Lender in its sole discretion. 
 

23. On or about December 17, 2014, the Antos Trust delivered to CBCI a Certificate 

of Trust Existence and Authority (“Certificate of Trust”).  

24. The Certificate of Trust provides in part: 

Kenneth M. Antos and Sheila M. Neumann-Antos, as trustees (each, a 
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“Trustee”) acting on behalf of the Trust, are each authorized and 
empowered in the name of the Trust without the approval or consent of the 
other Trustee, the beneficiaries, or any other person: 
 

To execute and deliver a Deed of Trust, Assignment of Rents, 
Security Agreement and Fixture Filing (the “Deed of Trust”), to 
secure (i) obligations owing to Lender by KCI Investments, LLC, a 
Nevada limited liability company, and Preferred Restaurant 
Brands, Inc., a Florida corporation (individually and collectively, 
“Borrower”), (ii) that certain Secured Promissory Note dated as of 
June 22, 2012, in the maximum principal amount of $3,250,000.00 
(the “Note”) executed by Borrower in favor of Lender, (iii) that 
certain Guaranty dated June 22, 2012, executed by the Grantors as 
individuals and not in their capacity as trustees, and (iv) the other 
documents and instruments executed or delivered in connection 
with the foregoing. 
 

25. The Certificate of Trust further provides:  

The Deed of Trust and Lender’s provision of credit under the terms of the 
Note will directly and indirectly benefit the Trust and its beneficiaries.  

 
The Trustees of the Trust have the authority to enter into the transactions 
with respect to which this Certificate is being delivered, and such 
transactions will create binding obligations on the assets of the Trust. 
 

26. On or about December 29, 2014, a Deed of Trust, Assignment of Rents, Security 

Agreement and Fixture Filing (the “Deed of Trust”) was recorded against the Property in the 

Clark County Recorder’s Office as Instrument No. 201412290002856 for the purpose of 

securing the Note.  

27. The revocable trust indirectly benefitted from this additional credit that was 

issued to Antos and his business by CBCI. 

28. The Deed of Trust is subordinate to the first mortgage to City National in the 

principal amount of approximately $3,240,000.00 with a monthly payment of $19,181.07, and a 

second mortgage to Northern Trust Bank in the principal amount of approximately $599,000.00 

with monthly payments of $3,034.00. 

29. On or about April 30, 2015, a Ninth Modification to Secured Promissory Note 
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and Waiver of Defaults (“Ninth Modification”) was executed.  

30. Paragraph 14(c) of the Ninth Modification provides for a condition precedent as 

follows: 

Execution by the Trustees of the Kenneth and Sheila Antos Living Trust 
dated April 26, 2007, and any amendments thereto, and delivery to Lender 
of the Correction to Deed of Trust Assignment of Rents, Security 
Agreement and Fixture Filing, in form and substance satisfactory to 
Lender.  
 

31. On July 22, 2015, a Correction to Deed of Trust, Assignment of Rent, Security 

Agreement and Fixture Filing (“Correction to Deed of Trust”) was recorded in the Clark County 

Recorder’s Office as Instrument No. 201507220001146.  

32. This Correction to Deed of Trust modified Paragraph One of the Deed of Trust to 

read: 

One: Payment of any and all amounts (collectively, the “Guarantied 
Obligations”) due and owing by Trustor under that certain Guaranty from 
Kenneth Antos and Sheila Antos (individually and collectively, 
“Guarantor”) dated June 22, 2012, in favor of Beneficiary (the 
“Guaranty”), guarantying the indebtedness evidenced by that certain 
Secured Promissory Note (and any renewals, extensions, modifications 
and substitutions thereof) (collectively, the “Note”), executed by KCI 
Investments, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, and Preferred 
Restaurant Brands, Inc., a Florida corporation (individually and 
collectively, “Borrower”), dated June 22, 2012, as modified, in the 
maximum principal sum of THREE MILLION AND NO/100 DOLLARS 
($3,000,000.00), together with interest thereon, late charges and collection 
costs as provided in the Note. 
 

33. On or about December 2, 2016, CBCI sold a portion of the monetary obligations 

of the Note in the amount of $15,000.00 to Southridge Partners II, LP.  

34. On or about December 2, 2016, CBCI and KCI entered into a Forbearance 

Agreement.  

35. As part of the Forbearance Agreement, the Antos Trust executed a Consent, 

Reaffirmation, and General Release by the Trust wherein the Antos Trust agreed  
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to join in and be bound to the terms of the Representations and Warranties 
contained in Sections 4 and 7, and the General Release contained in 
Section 8 of the Agreement applicable as though the Trust were a Credit 
Party. 
 

36. On or about December 2, 2016, a Tenth Modification to Secured Promissory Note 

(“Tenth Modification”) was entered into.  

37. Paragraph 6(e) of the Tenth Modification provides for a condition precedent as 

follows:  

Delivery to Lender of a duly executed First Modification to Deed of Trust, 
Assignment of Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing, by Kenneth 
M. Antos and Sheila M. Neumann-Antos, Trustees of the Kenneth and 
Sheila Antos Living Trust dated April 26, 2007, and any amendments 
thereto, as trustor, related to that certain Deed of Trust, Assignment of 
Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing made December 17, 2014, 
and recorded in the Official Records of Clark County, Nevada, on 
December 29, 2014, as instrument number 20141229-0002856. 
 

38. On December 19, 2016, the First Modification to Deed of Trust, Assignment of 

Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing was recorded in the Clark County Recorder’s 

Office as Instrument No. 201612190002739.  

39. On or about July 21, 2017, Mr. Bloom proposed to service the CBCI Note in 

exchange for the ownership in the Property. Specifically, Mr. Bloom wrote,   

My thought is that this proposal gets the 3rd lender: 
 a full recovery of its Note balance plus all protective advances past and future, 
 interim cash flow and 
 provides interim additional full collateral where, given the current value of the 

property, the 3rd position lender is currently unsecured. 
As to the Seller, he: 

 gets out from under a potential deficiency judgment from the 3rd position 
lender and 

 unburdens himself from any additional assets that may have been pledged. 
 

40. Spanish Heights was created to facilitate this transaction. 

41. On September 27, 2017, CBCI, the Antos Trust, Spanish Heights and Mr. 
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Bloom’s company, SJCV, entered into the 2017 Forbearance Agreement.  

42. The September 27, 2017 Forbearance Agreement indicates that Mr. Bloom’s 

company Spanish Heights intends to acquire the Property and make certain payments to CBCI 

pursuant to the terms of the 2017 Forbearance Agreement.  

43. Mr. Bloom testified that he was not provided with a complete set of documents 

reflecting the prior transactions between the Antos and KCI8 and that misrepresentations were 

made regarding the prior transactions by CBCI. 

44. In the 2017 Forbearance Agreement, the Antos Parties, Spanish Heights and 

SJCV acknowledged default and affirmed CBCI has fully performed.  

45. The 2017 Forbearance Agreement contains an acknowledgement that the prior 

agreements between the Antos and CBCI are valid.  

Par. 8.7 Enforceable Amended Note and Modified Deed of Trust/No Conflicts.  The 
Amended Note and Modified Deed of Trust and the Forbearance Agreement, are legal, 
valid, and binding agreements of Antos Parties and the SJCV Parties, enforceable in 
accordance with their respective terms, and any instrument or agreement required 
hereunder or thereunder, when executed and delivered, is (or will be) similarly legal, 
valid, binding and enforceable.  This Forbearance Agreement does not conflict with any 
law, agreement, or obligation by which Antos Parties and the SJCV parties is bound. 
 
46. In connection with the 2017 Forbearance Agreement, on November 3, 2017, the 

Antos Trust conveyed the Property to Spanish Heights. 

47. A lease agreement between Spanish Heights as the Landlord, and SJCV as the 

Tenant, was executed by both Spanish Heights and SJCV on or around August 15, 2017.   

48. The lease agreement between Spanish Heights and SJCV indicates that the lease 

term is two years, with an option for SJCV to exercise two additional consecutive lease 

                                                 
8  The Court finds that regardless of whether all of the prior transactional documents were provided to Mr. 
Bloom, Mr. Bloom was on notice of the prior transactions.  The 2017 Forbearance Agreement clearly identifies the 
nature of the prior transactions in the section entitled “The Parties and Background” which begins on page 1 of the 
document. 
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extensions.   

49. Pursuant to the terms of the 2017 Forbearance Agreement, Spanish Heights was 

to make certain payments to CBCI and other parties. In addition, a balloon payment of the total 

amount owing, under the Note, was due on August 31, 2019. 

50. Pursuant to the 2017 Forbearance Agreement, SJCV affirmed all obligations due 

to CBCI under the Note and Modified Deed of Trust.  

51. The 2017 Forbearance Agreement provides in pertinent part, “CBCI is free to 

exercise all of its rights and remedies under the Note and Modified Deed of Trust…”  

52. The 2017 Forbearance Agreement states the rights and remedies are cumulative 

and not exclusive, and may be pursued at any time.  

53. As part of the 2017 Forbearance Agreement, there were certain requirements of 

Spanish Heights attached as Exhibit B to the 2017 Forbearance Agreement.  

54. Among the requirements was the understanding that the First Lien holder would 

pay the real property taxes, that CBCI would pay the 1st and 2nd Mortgage payments to prevent 

default, that Spanish Heights would make certain repairs and improvements to the Property, 

Spanish Heights would maintain the Property, and Spanish Heights would pay for a customary 

homeowner’s insurance policy and all Homeowner’s Association dues. 

55. In addition to the requirements of the 2017 Forbearance Agreement, there was 

additional security to be provided by Spanish Heights, SJCV, and others.  

56. Among the additional security was a Pledge Agreement, through which the 

members of Spanish Heights pledged 100% of the membership interest in Spanish Heights.9  

                                                 
9  The Pledge Agreement states in pertinent part: 
 

THIS PLEDGE AGREEMENT dated 27th (sic)(this “Agreement”) is made by Kenneth & Sheila Antos 
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57. The Pledge Agreement provides in pertinent part, “Secured Party shall have the 

right, at any time in Secured Party’s discretion after a Non-Monetary Event of Default … to 

transfer to or to register in the name of Secured Party or any of Secured Party’s nominees any or 

all of the Pledged Collateral.”  

58. Pursuant to the Pledge Agreement, upon an event of default, Pledgors (SJCV and 

Antos) appointed CBCI as Pledgors’ attorney-in-fact to execute any instrument which Secured 

Party may deem necessary or advisable to accomplish the purposes of the Pledge Agreement.  

59. The Pledge Agreement was signed on September 27, 2017, by the Antos and Mr. 

Bloom as purported manager on behalf of Spanish Heights.  No separate signature block for 

SJCV appears on the Pledge Agreement. 

60. Paragraph 17 of the Pledge Agreement contained a notice provision which 

required notice to the Pledgors to be given to Pledgors through Plaintiffs’ current counsel, Maier 

Gutierrez & Associates. 

61. As additional required security, SJCV agreed to a Security Agreement to grant 

CBCI a Security Interest in a Judgment described as: 

 
SJCV represents that First 100, LLC, and 1st One Hundred Holdings, 
LLC, obtained a Judgment in the amount of $2,221,039,718.46 against 
Raymond Ngan and other Defendants in the matter styled First 100, LLC, 

Plaintiff(s) vs. Raymond Ngan, Defendant(s), Case No, A-17-753459-C in 
the 8th Judicial District Court for Clark County, Nevada (the “Judgment”), 
SJCV represents It holds a 24,912% Membership Interest in 1st One 
Hundred Holdings, LLC. SJCV represents and warrant that no party, other 

                                                                                                                                                             
Living Trust (the Antos Trust”), SJC Ventures, LLC (“SJCV”)(collectively the “Pledgors”) to  CBC 
Partners I, LLC, a Washington limited-liability company (“Secured Party” or “CBCI”). 

 
*** 
 

WHEREAS, Pledgors are the owners of 100%, of the membership interests (the “Membership Interests”) 
of Spanish Heights Acquisition Company, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company (“SHAC”), which has 
been organized pursuant to the terms of the Limited Liability Company Agreement of Spanish Heights 
Acquisition Company, LLC. 
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than the Collection Professionals engaged to collect the Judgment, have a 
priority to receive net Judgment proceeds attributable to SJCV before 
SJCV; and that SJCV shall receive Its interest at a minimum in pari passu 
with other parties who hold interests in the Judgment. 1st One Hundred 
Holdings, LLC, represents and warrant that no party, other than the 
Collection Professionals engaged to collect the Judgment and certain other 
creditors of 1st One Hundred Holdings, have a priority to receive net 
Judgment proceeds prior to distributions to 1st One Hundred Holdings 
Members; and that SJCV shall receive Its interest at a minimum in pari 
passu with other parties who hold interests in the Judgment. 
 

62. In addition to the other consideration in the 2017 Forbearance Agreement, the 

Antos Trust signed a Personal Guaranty Agreement, guaranteeing to CBCI the full and punctual 

performance of all the obligations described in the 2017 Forbearance Agreement.  

63. Pursuant to the Amendment to Forbearance Agreement and Related Agreements, 

dated December 1, 2019 (the “Amendment to 2017 Forbearance Agreement”), SJCV10 

acknowledged that it pledged its membership interest in Spanish Heights as collateral for the 

2017 Forbearance Agreement.11 

                                                 
10  An argument has been made that SJCV did not pledge its stock under the original Pledge Agreement.  
Given the notice provision in the original Pledge Agreement, Mr. Bloom’s signature as manager on behalf of 
Spanish Heights, rather than SJCV, and the language of the Pledge Agreement reflecting a pledge of 100% of the 
interest in membership of Spanish Heights, it appears the signature line for Mr. Bloom may have been incorrect.  
Mr. Bloom is not the manager of Spanish Heights; Mr. Bloom is the manager of SJCV, which serves as the manager 
of Spanish Heights. The language in  paragraphs 5 and 9 of the Amendment to the 2017 Forbearance Agreement 
reaffirms SJCV’s pledge of its membership interest. 
 
11  The Amendment to the 2017 Forbearance Agreement states in pertinent part: 
 

WHEREAS, on or about September 27, 2017, the parties executed a Forbearance Agreement whereby 
CBCI agreed to forbear from exercising the rights and remedies under certain loan documents executed by 
the “Antos Parties.”  In addition to the Forbearance Agreement, the parties executed “Exhibit B” to the 
Forbearance Agreement, a Lease Agreement, an Account Control Agreement, a Membership Pledge 
Agreement, an Assignment of Rents, and a Security Agreement (collectively “the Related Agreements”). 

 
*** 
 

5.  The Membership Pledge Agreement executed by SJCV and the Antos Trust shall remain in effect and 
the execution of this Amendment shall not be considered a waiver of CBCI’s rights under the Membership 
Pledge Agreement. 

 
*** 
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64. On or about December 1, 2019, CBCI, the Antos, Spanish Heights and SJCV 

entered into an Amendment to the 2017 Forbearance Agreement, extending the date of the 

balloon payment to March 31, 2020.    

65. The Amendment to 2017 Forbearance Agreement was signed by the Antos, 

Bloom as purported manager on behalf of Spanish Heights, and Bloom as manager of SJCV.  

66. Pursuant to the Amendment to 2017 Forbearance Agreement, the Security 

Agreement “shall remain in effect and the execution of this Amendment shall not be considered 

a waiver of CBCI’s rights under the Security Agreement…”  

67. Pursuant to the Amendment to 2017 Forbearance Agreement, any amendment 

must be in writing.  

68. On March 12, 2020, Spanish Hills Community Association recorded a Health and 

Safety Lien against the Property.  This Lien was for Nuisances and Hazardous Activities.  

69. On or about March 16, 2020, CBCI mailed a Notice of Non-Monetary Defaults to 

Spanish Heights and SJCV.  This Notice of Non-Monetary Default delineated the following 

defaults: 

1. Evidence of homeowner’s insurance coverage Pursuant to Paragraph 
1(A)(6) of Amendment to Forbearance Agreement and Related 
Agreements; 

2. Evidence of repairs pursuant to Paragraph 3(c)(1) of Exhibit B to 
Forbearance Agreement; 

3. Evidence of Bank of America account balance of $150,000.00 
pursuant to Paragraph 6(c) of Exhibit B to Forbearance Agreement; 

4. Opinion letter from SJC Ventures and 1st One Hundred Holdings 
counsel regarding the Judgment and Security Agreement pursuant to 
Paragraph 1(A)(12) of Amendment to Forbearance Agreement and 
Related Agreements; 

                                                                                                                                                             
9.  The Membership Pledge Agreement executed by SJCV and the Antos Trust shall remain in effect and 
the execution of this Amendment shall not be considered a waiver of CBCI’s rights under the Membership 
Pledge Agreement.    
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5. Evidence of corporate authority for SJC Ventures and 1st One 
Hundred Holdings pursuant to Paragraph 1(A)(13) of Amendment to 
Forbearance Agreement and Related Agreements; and 

6. Evidence of SJC Ventures filing of applications for mortgages to 
refinance 5148 Spanish Heights Drive, pursuant to paragraph 1(C) of 
Amendment to Forbearance Agreement and Related Agreements. 

 
70. On April 1, 2020, a Notice of Default and Demand for Payment was sent to 

Spanish Heights and SJCV.  This letter had a typo on the date of final balloon payment being due 

on March 31, 2021.  This was corrected and emailed to Spanish Height’s and SJCV’s counsel 

noting that the default date was corrected to March 31, 2020.  

71. On April 1, 2020, under separate cover, counsel for CBCI sent a Notice to 

Spanish Heights, SJCV, and Antos that CBCI would exercise its rights under the Pledge 

Agreement by transferring the pledged collateral to CBCI’s nominee CBC Partners, LLC.  

72. On April 1, 2020, CBC Partners received the Assignment of Company and 

Membership Interest of Spanish Heights from the Antos Trust.  

73. On April 3, 2020, a Notice to Vacate was sent to SJCV.  

74. On April 6, 2020, CBCI sold the Note and security associated with the Note, to 

5148 Spanish Heights, LLC.  

75. On May 28, 2020, the Assignment of Interest in Deed of Trust was recorded in 

the Clark County Recorder’s Office as Instrument No 202005280002508. 

76. On September 15, 2020, Notice of Breach and Election to Sell Under Deed of 

Trust was recorded in the Clark County Recorder’s Office as Instrument No 202009150001405.  

77. On December 15, 2020, Notice of Trustee’s Sale was recorded in the Clark 

County Recorder’s Office Instrument No 20201215-0000746. The Sale was scheduled for 

January 5, 2021. 

78. CBCI, through Hallberg, and Mr. Antos, both individually and as Trustee of the 



 

Page 16 of 21 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

  

 

 

 

revocable living trust as makers; confirm the original debt and the Deed of Trust as collateral for 

the Note.  

79. 5148 Spanish Heights, LLC, issued a new Notice of Default on January 4, 2021. 

80. NRS 107.080 sets forth the notice requirements that were followed by 5148 

Spanish Heights, LLC, and Nevada Trust Deed Services.  

81. Plaintiff has shown no defect or lack of adequate statutory notice in the current 

notice. 

82. NRS 47.240 provides for conclusive presumptions relevant to certain provisions 

of the relevant documents.12   

83. Nothing in the evidence presented during these proceedings provides any basis for 

departure from the conclusive presumptions recited in the agreements between the parties.13  

84. At this time, CBCI has acquired the Antos interest in Spanish Heights through the 

Pledge Agreement.  The membership interest in a limited liability company is not an interest in 

                                                 
12  NRS 47.240  Conclusive presumptions.  The following presumptions, and no others, are conclusive: 
     
  *** 

 
2.  The truth of the fact recited, from the recital in a written instrument between the parties thereto, or their 
successors in interest by a subsequent title, but this rule does not apply to the recital of a consideration. 

 
13  For purposes of this proceeding, the Court applies the conclusive presumptions of  NRS 47.240 to the 
following : 
 

From the Pledge Agreement:   
 
WHEREAS, Pledgors are the owners of 100%, of the membership interests (the “Membership Interests”) 
of Spanish Heights Acquisition Company, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company (“SHAC”), which has 
been organized pursuant to the terms of the Limited Liability Company Agreement of Spanish Heights 
Acquisition Company, LLC. 
 
From the Amendment to the 2017 Forbearance Agreement:  
 
WHEREAS, on or about September 27, 2017, the parties executed a Forbearance Agreement whereby 
CBCI agreed to forbear from exercising the rights and remedies under certain loan documents executed by 
the “Antos Parties.”  In addition to the Forbearance Agreement, the parties executed “Exhibit B” to the 
Forbearance Agreement, a Lease Agreement, an Account Control Agreement, a Membership Pledge 
Agreement, an Assignment of Rents, and a Security Agreement (collectively “the Related Agreements”). 
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real property.  Title to the Property remains in Spanish Heights. 

85. Plaintiff has not established unanimity of interest in title to the Property. 

86. Plaintiff has not established an intent on behalf of the creditor to merge their lien 

with equitable title. 

87. Plaintiff has provided no evidence that the 2017 Forbearance Agreement and 

Amendment to the 2017 Forbearance Agreement are vague or ambiguous. 

88. Plaintiff has provided no evidence of fraud or misrepresentation by any 

Defendant. 

89. If any findings of fact are properly conclusions of law, they shall be treated as if 

appropriately identified and designated. 

III. Conclusions of Law 

 

1. The legal standard for granting injunctive relief is set forth in NRS 33.010, which 

provides: 

Cases in which injunction may be granted. An injunction may be 
granted in the following cases: 
 
1. When it shall appear by the complaint that the plaintiff is 
entitled to the relief demanded, and such relief or any part thereof 
consists in restraining the commission or continuance of the act 
complained of, either for a limited period or perpetually. 
 
2. When it shall appear by the complaint or affidavit that the 
commission or continuance of some act, during the litigation, 
would produce great or irreparable injury to the plaintiff. 
 
3. When it shall appear, during the litigation, that the 
defendant is doing or threatens, or is about to do, or is procuring or 
suffering to be done, some act in violation of the plaintiff’s rights 
respecting the subject of the action, and tending to render the 
judgment ineffectual. 

 
 

2. Given the current bankruptcy stay, the Court extends the existing injunctive relief 
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entered January 5, 2021, pending further order from the Bankruptcy Court.  

3. The relevant documents, including, but not limited to, the 2017 Forbearance 

Agreement and Amendment to Forbearance Agreement and Related Agreements, dated 

December 1, 2019, are clear and unambiguous as a matter of law 

4. The Note is secured by the Property. 

5. As a condition precedent to the Fourth, Seventh, Ninth, and Tenth Modifications 

to the Note, a Deed of Trust encumbering the Property was required. 

6. The Antos Parties had authority, individually and as Trustees of the Antos Trust, 

to encumber the Property with the Deed of Trust to CBCI. 

7. Plaintiffs have waived any defects, acknowledged the encumbrance and agreed, in 

writing to pay twice; first in the 2017 Forbearance Agreement and second, in the Amendment to 

the 2017 Forbearance Agreement. 

8. Plaintiffs agreed in the 2017 Forbearance Agreements to pay the amounts in 

question by separate promise to the Antos Parties.  

9. The Antos Trust received an indirect benefit from the transactions related to the 

Deed of Trust. 

10. Mr. Antos testified that the Property was used as security in exchange for 

additional capital and release of other collateral from CBCI . 

11. Mr. Antos agrees with CBCI that Plaintiffs have failed to perform. 

12. NRS 107.500 is only required of owner-occupied housing.  

13. The doctrine of merger provides that “[w]henever a greater and a less estate 

coincide and meet in one and the same person, without any intermediate estate, the less is 

immediately merged in the greater, and thus annihilated.”  31 C.J.S. Estates § 153.  
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14. Plaintiffs have made no showing of the applications of the doctrine of merger in 

this case. As no interests have merged, and there is no showing of intent to merge 

15. The one-action rule “does not excuse the underlying debt.” Bonicamp v. Vazquez, 

120 Nev. 377, 382-83, 91 P.3d 584, 587 (2004).  

16. The One-Action Rule prohibits a creditor from “first seeking the personal 

recovery and then attempting, in an additional suit, to recover against the collateral.” Bonicamp, 

120 Nev. at 383, 91 P.3d at 587 (2004).  When suing a debtor on a secured debt, a creditor may 

initially elect to proceed against the debtor or the security.  If the creditor sues the debtor 

personally on the debt, the debtor may then either assert the one-action rule, forcing the creditor 

to proceed against the security first before seeking a deficiency from the debtor, or decline to 

assert the one-action rule, accepting a personal judgment and depriving the creditor of its ability 

to proceed against the security. NRS 40.435(3); Bonicamp, 120 Nev. at 383, 91 P.3d at 587 

(2004).  

17. The “One-Action Rule” was specifically waived by the debtor.  The Deed of Trust 

paragraph 6.21(a) states:  

Trustor and Guarantor each waive all benefits of the one-action 
rule under NRS 40.430, which means, without limitation, Trustor 
and Guarantor each waive the right to require Lender to (i) proceed 
against Borrower, any other guarantor of the Loan, any pledgor of 
collateral for any person’s obligations to Lender or any other 
person related to the Note and Loan Documents, (ii) proceed 
against or exhaust any other security or collateral Lender may 
hold, or (iii) pursue any other right or remedy for Guarantors’ 
benefit. 
 

18. The 2017 Forbearance Agreement paragraph 25 gives the benefit of cumulative 

remedies.  

The rights and remedies of CBCI under this Forbearance 
Agreement and the Amended Note and Modified Deed of Trust are 
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cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies that CBCI 
would otherwise have, and may be pursued at any time and from 
time to time and in such order as CBCI shall determine in its sole 
discretion. 
 

19. The Court concludes as a matter of law that the Plaintiffs have not established 

facts or law to support the claim that the One-Action Rule bars recovery under the defaulted 

Note and Security documents.  

20. The Court’s Temporary Restraining Order, filed January 5, 2021, will remain in 

place pending further order of the Bankruptcy Court. 

21. If any conclusions of law are properly findings of fact, they shall be treated as if 

appropriately identified and designated. 

JUDGMENT 

 Based upon the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, and other good 

cause appearing: 

  IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that as to the 

Claims for Declaratory Relief, the Court declares the third position Deed of Trust is a valid 

existing obligation against the Property.  

  IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that as to the 

Claims for Declaratory Relief, the Court declares that the Note is a valid existing obligation. 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that as to the 

Claims for Declaratory Relief, the Court declares that the Pledge Agreement is a valid existing 

obligation of SJCV. 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that as to the 

Claims for Declaratory Relief, the Court declares that the acquisition of a membership interest in 

Spanish Heights does not merge the Defendants interests.  
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 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that as to the 

Claims for Declaratory Relief, the Court declares that there has been a valid waiver of the One-

Action Rule. 

Dated this 6th day of April, 2021 

 

_________________________________ 
Elizabeth Gonzalez, District Court Judge 

 
 

Certificate of Service 

I hereby certify that on the date filed, a copy of the foregoing Findings of Fact and 

Conclusions of Law was electronically served, pursuant to N.E.F.C.R. Rule 9, to all registered parties in 

the Eighth Judicial District Court Electronic Filing Program.  

           /s/ Dan Kutinac  
         Dan Kutinac, JEA 
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Michael R. Mushkin, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 2421 
L. Joe Coppedge, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 4954 
MUSHKIN & COPPEDGE 
6070 South Eastern Ave Ste 270  
Las Vegas, NV 89119 
Telephone: 702-454-3333 
Facsimile: 702-386-4979 
Michael@mccnvlaw.com 
jcoppedge@mccnvlaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Defendant and Counterclaimants 
5148 Spanish Heights, LLC, CBC Partners I, LLC 
and Dacia, LLC 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
SPANISH HEIGHTS ACQUISITION 
COMPANY, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability 
Company; SJC VENTURES HOLDING 
COMPANY, LLC, d/b/a SJC VENTURES, 
LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company, 
 

Plaintiffs, 
v. 
 
CBC PARTNERS I, LLC, a foreign Limited 
Liability Company; CBC PARTNERS, LLC, a 
foreign Limited Liability Company; 5148 
SPANISH HEIGHTS, LLC, a Nevada Limited 
Liability Company; KENNETH ANTOS AND 
SHEILA NEUMANN-ANTOS, as Trustees of 
the Kenneth & Sheila Antos Living Trust and 
the Kenneth M. Antos & Sheila M. Neumann-
Antos Trust; DACIA, LLC, a foreign Limited 
Liability Company; DOES I through X; and 
ROE CORPORATIONS I through X, 
inclusive, 
 

Defendants. 

 
Case No. A-20-813439-B 
 
Dept. No.: 11 
 
 
 
 
 

ORDER GRANTING IN PART 
KENNETH ANTOS AND SHEILA 

NEUMANN-ANTOS MOTION FOR 
SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

 
CAPTION CONTINUES BELOW 

 

 

Electronically Filed
08/10/2021 1:00 PM

Case Number: A-20-813439-B

ELECTRONICALLY SERVED
8/10/2021 1:01 PM
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5148 SPANISH HEIGHTS, LLC, a Nevada 
limited liability company; and CBC 
PARTNERS I, LLC, a Washington limited 
liability company, 
 
Counterclaimants, 
 
v. 
 
SPANISH HEIGHTS ACQUISITION 
COMPANY, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability 
Company; SJC VENTURES, LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company; SJC VENTURES 
HOLDING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company; JAY BLOOM, 
individually and as Manager, DOE 
DEFENDANTS 1-10; and ROE 
DEFENDANTS 11-20, 
 
Counterdefendants. 

 

 
ORDER GRANTING IN PART KENNETH ANTOS AND 

SHEILA NEUMANN-ANTOS MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 
 

This matter having come before the Court, in Chambers, on April 9, 2021, on Kenneth 

Antos and Sheila Neumann-Antos’ Motion for Summary Judgment. As no order lifting the stay 

has been entered by the Bankruptcy Court, nothing in this order creates any obligations or 

liabilities directly related to Spanish Heights Acquisition Company, LLC; however, factual 

findings related to Spanish Heights Acquisition Company, LLC, are included in this decision. 

The Court having reviewed the related briefing and considered the pleadings and papers on file 

herein and being fully advised, finds as follows: 

THE COURT FINDS that the Kenneth Antos and Sheila Neumann-Antos Trust, as the 

contracting party to the Forbearance Agreement and attached Spanish Heights Acquisition 

Company, LLC Operating Agreement, has standing to pursue the Breach of Contract claim based 

on a breach of the terms of the various agreements, despite the Assignment of Interest in Spanish 

Heights Acquisition Company, LLC. 

THE COURT FURTHER FINDS that there has been a lack of performance by 
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Plaintiff/Counterdefendant SJC Ventures Holding Company, LLC, under the Forbearance 

Agreement and attached Spanish Heights Acquisition Company, LLC Operating Agreement, 

entered into with Kenneth Antos and Sheila Neumann-Antos, Trustees of the Kenneth & Sheila 

Antos Living Trust and the Kenneth M. Antos & Sheila M. Neumann-Antos Trust; 

THE COURT FURTHER FINDS that the Court does not make any determination related 

to what damages are appropriate related to the granting of this relief; therefore 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the Kenneth Antos and 

Sheila Neumann-Antos’ Motion for Summary Judgment is GRANTED IN PART as to the breach 

of the Forbearance Agreement and attached Spanish Heights Acquisition Company, LLC 

Operating Agreement, and the Kenneth Antos and Sheila Neumann-Antos Trust, as the 

contracting party to the Forbearance Agreement and attached Spanish Heights Acquisition 

Company, LLC Operating Agreement, has standing to pursue the Breach of Contract claim 

despite the Assignment of Interest in Spanish Heights Acquisition Company, LLC. 

 

 

_________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Respectfully Submitted by: 
MUSHKIN & COPPEDGE 
 

/s/Michael R. Mushkin   
MICHAEL R. MUSHKIN, ESQ.,  
Nevada Bar No. 2421 
L. JOE COPPEDGE, ESQ.,  
Nevada Bar. No. 4954 
6070 S. Eastern Ave., Suite 270 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 
 
Attorneys for Defendants/Counterclaimants  

Read and Approved: 
MAIER GUTIERREZ &ASSOCIATES 

 

Did Not Respond    
JOSEPH A. GUTIERREZ, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9046 
DANIELLE J. BARRAZA, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 13822 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs/Counterdefendants  
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CSERV

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASE NO: A-20-813439-BSpanish Heights Acquisition 
Company LLC, Plaintiff(s)

vs.

CBC Partners I LLC, 
Defendant(s)

DEPT. NO.  Department 11

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This automated certificate of service was generated by the Eighth Judicial District 
Court. The foregoing Order Granting Summary Judgment was served via the court’s 
electronic eFile system to all recipients registered for e-Service on the above entitled case as 
listed below:

Service Date: 8/10/2021

MGA Docketing docket@mgalaw.com

Karen Foley kfoley@mccnvlaw.com

Michael Mushkin michael@mccnvlaw.com

Kimberly Yoder kyoder@mccnvlaw.com

Jadyn Hayes jhayes@mccnvlaw.com
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Michael R. Mushkin, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 2421 
L. Joe Coppedge, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 4954 
MUSHKIN & COPPEDGE 
6070 South Eastern Ave Ste 270  
Las Vegas, NV 89119 
Telephone: 702-454-3333 
Facsimile: 702-386-4979 
Michael@mccnvlaw.com  
jcoppedge@mccnvlaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Defendant and Counterclaimants 
5148 Spanish Heights, LLC and  
CBC Partners I, LLC 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
SPANISH HEIGHTS ACQUISITION 
COMPANY, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability 
Company; SJC VENTURES HOLDING 
COMPANY, LLC, d/b/a SJC VENTURES, 
LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company, 
 

Plaintiffs, 
v. 
 
CBC PARTNERS I, LLC, a foreign Limited 
Liability Company; CBC PARTNERS, LLC, a 
foreign Limited Liability Company; 5148 
SPANISH HEIGHTS, LLC, a Nevada Limited 
Liability Company; KENNETH ANTOS AND 
SHEILA NEUMANN-ANTOS, as Trustees of 
the Kenneth & Sheila Antos Living Trust and the 
Kenneth M. Antos & Sheila M. Neumann-Antos 
Trust; DACIA, LLC, a foreign Limited Liability 
Company; DOES I through X; and ROE 
CORPORATIONS I through X, inclusive, 
 

Defendants. 

 
Case No. A-20-813439-B 
 
Dept. No.: 11 
 
 
 
 
 

STATUS REPORT REGARDING 
LIFTING OF BANKRUPTCY STAY 

 
CAPTION CONTINUES BELOW 

 

 

 

Case Number: A-20-813439-B

Electronically Filed
7/28/2021 12:12 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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5148 SPANISH HEIGHTS, LLC, a Nevada 
limited liability company; and CBC PARTNERS 
I, LLC, a Washington limited liability company, 
 
Counterclaimants, 
 
v. 
 
SPANISH HEIGHTS ACQUISITION 
COMPANY, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability 
Company; SJC VENTURES, LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company; SJC VENTURES 
HOLDING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company; JAY BLOOM, 
individually and as Manager, DOE 
DEFENDANTS 1-10; and ROE DEFENDANTS 
11-20, 
 
Counterdefendants. 

 

 
STATUS REPORT REGARDING LIFTING OF BANKRUPTCY STAY 

 
Defendants/Counterclaimants, 5148 Spanish Heights, LLC, and CBC Partners I, LLC, by 

and through their attorney, Michael R. Mushkin, of the law firm of Mushkin & Coppedge, hereby 

submit THIS Status Report to advise the Court that the automatic stay pursuant to 11 U.S.C. §362, 

in Spanish Heights Acquisition Company, LLC’s bankruptcy case was lifted by order of the 

Bankruptcy Court in Case No. BK-21-10501-nmc and entered on July 27, 2021, attached hereto 

as Exhibit A. 

DATED this 28th day of July, 2021 

MUSHKIN & COPPEDGE 

 
/s/Michael R. Mushkin   
MICHAEL R. MUSHKIN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 2421 
L. JOE COPPEDGE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 4954 
6070 South Eastern Ave Ste 270  
Las Vegas, NV 89119 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that the foregoing Status Report Regarding Lifting of Bankruptcy Stay 

was submitted electronically for filing and/or service with the Eighth Judicial District Court on 

this 28th day of July, 2021. Electronic service of the foregoing document shall be upon all parties 

listed on the Odyssey eFileNV service contact list.  

 

/s/Karen L. Foley   
An Employee of  
MUSHKIN & COPPEDGE 
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Michael R. Mushkin, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 2421 
L. Joe Coppedge, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 4954 
MUSHKIN & COPPEDGE 
6070 South Eastern Ave Ste 270  
Las Vegas, NV 89119 
Telephone: 702-454-3333 
Facsimile: 702-386-4979 
Michael@mccnvlaw.com  
jcoppedge@mccnvlaw.com 
 
Attorneys for 5148 Spanish Heights, LLC, 
CBC Partners I, LLC &CBC Partners, LLC  
 

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
 

DISTRICT OF NEVADA 
 

In re: 
 
SPANISH HEIGHTS ACQUISITION 
COMPANY, LLC, 
 

Debtor 

Case No.: 21-10501-NMC 
CHAPTER 11 
 
ORDER GRANTING RELIEF FROM 

THE AUTOMATIC STAY TO 
PROCEED WITH STATE COURT 
LITIGATION AGAINST DEBTOR 

AND NONDEBTOR PARTIES 
 

 Motion for Relief From the Automatic Stay to Proceed With State Court Litigation 

Against Debtor and Nondebtor Parties [ECF 140] filed by Secured Creditor, 5148 Spanish 

Heights, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company (“Movant” or “5148”), successor-in-interest to 

CBC Partners I, LLC, a Washington limited liability company (“Lender”) came on for oral ruling 

before this Court on July 22, 2021, at 9:30 am, the Honorable Natalie M. Cox, United States 

__________________________________________________________________
Entered on Docket 
July 27, 2021

Case 21-10501-nmc    Doc 161    Entered 07/27/21 13:18:34    Page 1 of 3
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Bankruptcy Judge, presiding. Movants were represented by Michael R. Mushkin, of Mushkin & 

Coppedge, and Debtor Spanish Heights Acquisition Company, LLC was represented by James 

D. Greene, of Greene Infuso, LLP; Secured Creditor City National Bank was represented by 

Andrea M. Gandara, of Holley Driggs; and Secured Creditor The Northern Trust Company, 

successor by merger to Northern Trust Bank, FSB was represented by Blakely E. Griffith, of Snell 

& Wilmer. The Court having reviewed the Motion, Opposition, Declarations, and related filings 

and having considered the arguments of the parties, and with good cause appearing, 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that, for the reasons stated on the record, which the Court 

adopts as its findings of fact and conclusions of law pursuant to Federal Rule of Bankruptcy 

Procedure 7052, the Motion is GRANTED. 

Respectfully submitted by: 

MUSHKIN & COPPEDGE 

/s/Michael R. Mushkin   
MICHAEL R. MUSHKIN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 2421 
6070 South Eastern Avenue, Ste 270  
Las Vegas, NV 89119 

Approved by: 

GREENE INFUSO, LLP 

/s/James D. Greene   
JAMES D. GREENE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 2647 
3030 South Jones Boulevard, Ste 101 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89146 

Approved by: 
 
HOLLEY DRIGGS 

/s/Andrea M. Gandara    
RICHARD F. HOLLEY ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 3077 
ANDREA M. GANDARA, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 12580 
400 South Fourth Street, Third Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

Approved by: 
 
SNELL & WILMER LLP 

/s/Blakeley E. Griffith    
BLAKELEY E. GRIFFITH, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No 12386 
3883 Howard Hughes Pkwy., Ste 1100 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
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LOCAL RULE 9021 CERTIFICATION 

 In accordance with LR 9021, counsel submitting this document certifies that the order 

accurately reflects the court’s ruling and that (check one): 

 The court has waived the requirement set forth LR 9021(b)(1). 

 No party appeared at the hearing or filed an objection to the motion. 

 I have delivered a copy of this proposed order to all counsel who appeared at the 

hearing, and any unrepresented parties who appeared at the hearing, and each has approved or 

disapproved the order, or failed to respond, as indicated below [list each party and whether the 

party has approved, disapproved, or failed to respond to the document]: 

James D. Greene, Andrea M. Gandara, and Blakeley E. Griffith 

 I certify that this is a chapter 7 or 13 case, that I have served a copy of this order 

with the motion pursuant to LR 9014(g), and that no party has objected to the form or content of 

the order. 

 

Case 21-10501-nmc    Doc 161    Entered 07/27/21 13:18:34    Page 3 of 3
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1

TRAN 

DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

* * * * * 
 
 
SPANISH HEIGHTS ACQUISITION   ) 
COMPANY LLC,                  ) 
 )  

Plaintiff,          )  CASE NO. A-20-813439-B 
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LAS VEGAS, CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA, NOVEMBER 15, 2021, 2:50 P.M. 

* * * * * 

THE COURT:  Spanish Heights Acquisition versus CBC

Partners.

Is anybody -- I see Mr. Mushkin, and I see

Mr. Gutierrez.  I also see that there is an Ian Hughes and a

Jay Bloom.  Of course, this is a public courtroom.  So I'm

going to ask the court recorder to go on the record, please.

And then I can give my intro blurb, please.

THE COURT RECORDER:  We are on the record.

THE COURT:  We're on the record.  Okay.  I appreciate

it.  Thank you so very much.

Okay.  We're on the record in Case Number 813439.

And just as a heads up, as you can see, you all are BlueJeans.

It looks like I've got a couple of people that I can see

audiovisually and a couple of people that I see names

underneath, but do not see themselves by picture.

This is a public courtroom regardless if people are

here present in court, which at present there's nobody present

here in court.  But also it's a public courtroom.

Audiovisually, if people wish to get the BlueJeans link, they

are more than welcome to do so with caveats being that if

parties ask for certain things to be sealed and/or redacted.  

If there is a confidential issue under Supreme Court

Rule 3, of course, the Court has to be made aware of that and
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then would hear the reasoning for that.  And then if I need to

ask anybody not to be a part, then I would address that only at

that time.  But otherwise, as I said, everyone is welcome.

It's a public courtroom.

And at this juncture, it is a few moments before the

3:00 o'clock hour.  You all know I always am on the bench

early, but is anyone waiting for anyone, or should we get

started in Case 813439, Spanish Heights Acquisition Company,

plaintiffs, versus CBC Partners and related counterclaims?

Because I didn't see counsel for the receivers.

Is counsel for the receiver going to be a part of

this?  Do we know?

Let me go first to appearances first on behalf of SJC

Ventures, Spanish Heights Acquisition Company, LLC, in the --

and then a variety of different counterdefendants.

So, Mr. Gutierrez, do want to make your appearance,

please.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Yes, Your Honor.  Good afternoon.

Joseph Gutierrez on behalf of Spanish Heights Acquisition

Company, LLC, and counterdefendants SJC Ventures, LLC, and Jay

Bloom in his individual capacity as a third-party defendant.

With me on the call as well is Mr. Bloom.

THE COURT:  I'm sorry.  I did not hear who you said

was also on the call with you.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Jay Bloom, third-party defendant,
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he's also on the call.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Like I said.  Everyone is welcome.

It's a public courtroom.  Okay.  Thank you.

Counsel on behalf of a variety of defendants and

counterclaimants, would you like to make your appearance,

please.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Good afternoon, Your Honor.  Mike

Mushkin, Bar Number 2421 on behalf of all defendants and

counterclaimants.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Wait.  So you're, just so we're

clear, so all defendants, what we show is -- so let's make sure

we're clear because remember there was a little issue with how

our records show.  Let me make sure we're on the same page.

So it was the Kenneth M. Antos --

MR. MUSHKIN:  We do this every time.

THE COURT:  I know because remember they had at one

point had you listed on behalf --

MR. MUSHKIN:  I like it on both sides.  That way I

can control the case.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  I changed that, Judge.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Okay.  So, you're here on behalf

of all of defendants, and then you're also on behalf of

counterclaimants; correct, and then also third-party plaintiff,

5148 Spanish Heights, LLC; is that correct?

MR. MUSHKIN:  That's correct, Your Honor.
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THE COURT:  Okay.  Now, I saw that this does say Ian

Hughes has not appeared at other hearings but is listed as a

pro se.

So Mr. Hughes, is he still --

Well, I'm going to ask counsel.  Mr. Mushkin, is he

still a part of this case?

MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor, he was subpoenaed by

Mr. Gutierrez.  And I believe he's here to make sure he is not

needed for trial on the 17th.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So let me go.  Mr. Gutierrez, as I

recall, remember Mr. Hughes was here in the courtroom, and we

had the procedural issue.  So, Mr. Gutierrez, should we address

that first?  Do we need anything with regards to Mr. Hughes?

Go ahead, please.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  (Video interference), Your Honor, I

e-mailed Mr. Hughes and told him that we withdrew the subpoena

and (video interference) appearance is no longer necessary.  In

light of the settlement (video interference).

THE COURT:  Okay.  So is it correct then to state

that Mr. Hughes is more than welcome to stay listening in

because it's a public courtroom, if he wishes to do so, but he

has -- he is excused from any subpoena that would require his

attendance at a trial in Case Number 813439, or is it something

different?

Counsel, Mr. Gutierrez, please.
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MR. GUTIERREZ:  That's correct.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So, Mr. Hughes, you heard that;

right?  It's a public courtroom.  You're more than welcome to

listen in if you wish to, and if you have other things you need

to do, you're also welcome not to listen in.

Is there anything you need address, Mr. Hughes, or

should we just move forward?

MR. HUGHES:  No, Your Honor.  Thank you so much.

I'll leave the hearing now.  Thank you for your time, Your

Honor.

THE COURT:  Like I said, you're more than welcome to

say.  It is a public courtroom.

Okay.  It looks like some, one or two people also may

have additionally logged on.  So let me restate what I said a

moment ago.

And that is, as we all know, it's a public courtroom

regardless of people are here in person.  We have noted that

nobody is in person currently in this courtroom, but it's also

a public courtroom remotely.  So people are more than welcome

to ask us for the BlueJeans link and are more than welcome to

listen into any hearing.

A couple of the ground rules, of course, with regards

to anyone who is not counsel or a party is, of course, they

have to keep themselves on mute --

When I say counsel or a party, that would in this
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case also include a trustee -- I mean, a receiver and

receiver's counsel.

-- but does need to keep themselves on mute.  And, of

course, everybody knows no one can record or take pictures or

anything during a hearing unless there's certain exceptions if

there had been a media request that had been signed.  In this

case, there is no media request that has been signed.  So

really we don't have those exceptions in this regard, but

everyone is, of course, welcome to listen in or audiovisually

or just audio, whatever they choose to do so.

So other than if we end up having a Supreme Court

Rule 3 issue on sealing and/or redacting or if there's some

confidentiality aspect that somebody asked the Court, after the

Court would hear any said request and any basis for said

request, then there may be an exception, but I don't know at

this juncture.  So the Court takes no position on something

that has not yet been brought before me.

Without further ado, I'm going to go to counsel for

plaintiff/counterdefendants.  Are you going to be speaking with

regards to this case, or is opposing counsel going to speak on

regards to this case?

And let's just make sure we're not waiting for

anybody else before we move forward.  It is a few minutes after

the 3:00 o'clock hour.

So is anybody waiting for anybody that we should be
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waiting -- hold off for?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  No, there is not.  Nobody elsewhere

waiting on.  And I think at this stage Mr. Mushkin will read

the 14 points for the (indiscernible) points of the settlement

agreement.

THE COURT:  Okay.  And you all understand that this

is a public courtroom.  So at this juncture, you know,

everything is available to anyone since...

Okay.  So go ahead, Mr. Mushkin.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Thank you, Your Honor.  And we are

pleased to report to the Court that we have settled the matter.

THE COURT:  Congratulations.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Plaintiffs --

THE COURT:  Go ahead, please.

MR. MUSHKIN:  I'm sorry?

THE COURT:  I said congratulations.  Please feel free

to go ahead.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Oh, thank you, Judge.

THE COURT:  And you know everything is being

recorded.

MR. MUSHKIN:  For whatever reason, the sun is just

right in my window, coming right in (indiscernible).

Plaintiff/counterdefendants third-party defendant SJC

Ventures, LLC, Spanish Heights Acquisition Company and Jay

Bloom, collectively referred to as plaintiffs, on the one
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hand --

THE COURT:  Wait.

MR. MUSHKIN:  -- and defendant counterclaimant CBC I,

CBC Partners, 5148, Kenneth and Sheila Antos as trustees for

the Kenneth and Sheila Antos Living Trust, Kenneth and Sheila

Antos trust parties, Dacia, LLC, on the other hand are referred

to as defendants or 5148 parties.

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Mr. Mushkin, before you

continue --

MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor --

THE COURT:  Wait.  Mr. Mushkin.  Mr. Mushkin.  Before

you continue, I just want to confirm, is nobody had requested

this Court that anything be sealed or treated as confidential.

So, but sometimes people do with regards to settlement terms.

I did not hear anybody say that.  So this is just being

publicly recorded just like any other hearing, and, you know,

would be available.  So I just want to make sure everyone

understood that just in case anyone did not hear me earlier,

like I said, it's really up to you that you --

MR. GUTIERREZ:  And, Your Honor, on behalf of the

plaintiff/counterdefendant, we would prefer the terms kept

outside the public realm.  We just would like to put on the

record that there is a settlement, and Mr. Bloom can confirm

the settlement, but we have agreed upon deal points that we can

submit for the Court.  We'd much rather have that done (video
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interference) off the record.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, the Court would have to do

an analysis --

MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor.

THE COURT:  -- under --

Well, first let me hear from Mr. Mushkin on behalf of

his clients, and then I'm going to have to address Supreme

Court Rule 3.

Go ahead, please, Mr. Mushkin.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor, normally, I wouldn't have

an objection, but I don't think we can do so in this matter

because these are stated terms of claims that will then be

disclosed in the bankruptcy court as part of the claims under

the plan.  So while normally I would agree with Mr. Gutierrez,

in this particular circumstance, these numbers are going to be

public as a matter of law in the federal court.  No sense in

creating a burden (video interference).  That would be my

point.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  If I could just address that, Your

Honor.

THE COURT:  Sure.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  There will be certain terms of

repayment in the bankruptcy, but there are other terms in here

that have no business being in the public record.  And I'm
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looking at the list of people that are on the hearing, I see a

David Ferrera (phonetic), who I understand to be a reporter.

And at this time my client just would rather have

these terms which have been agreed upon remain confidential.

And whatever is publicly filed in bankruptcy court can be

reported on then.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Remember, the Court has the

obligation under Supreme Court Rule 3, if any party, right, is

requesting something to either be sealed or redacted, which in

this case, since you are on, excuse me, audiovisually and it's

being recorded, it implicitly is what I'm hearing you say,

Mr. Gutierrez, is that you're requesting that part of today's

transcript either be sealed or recorded, or what --

Can you please give me the scope of your request and

then give me your bases for the request, particularly in light

of the fact that Mr. Mushkin said that these are going to be

disclosed terms in a public proceeding in a bankruptcy court

just so the Court has a full understanding because as you can

appreciate, I know many things about this case, but what you

all agreed upon, that I don't know yet.

Go ahead, please, sir.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  There will be repayment terms as part

of the settlement agreement which will be included in the

bankruptcy plan as part of the final settlement.

THE COURT:  Okay.
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MR. GUTIERREZ:  But there are other terms that have

been agreed upon that we believe should remain confidential

that won't be (video interference) disclosed in the bankruptcy

proceeding.  And, you know, at this time we'd request those be

sealed or be submitted to the Court as part of the -- as part

of (video interference) settlement.  We're memorializing the

terms of the final settlement.  We've reached an agreement on

every deal point, but we'd much rather have these terms not

placed on the record.

My client can agree that he's read the deal points

and is agreeable to them, but placing them on public record is

not what we intend to do.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, let me walk through, you

know, with regards to Supreme Court Rule 3.  The Court has to

balance, right, the public's interest in knowing, right, versus

does it meet one of the qualifications for it to be in this

case part of the transcript of today's hearing be sealed.

So is there -- while I appreciate your client's

position, I have to evaluate, right, from legal bases and the

factors to get considered under Supreme Court Rule 3.

So is there something more you wish to provide the

Court?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  There are certain terms, Your Honor,

that my client (video interference) be kept confidential

(indiscernible) regarding (video interference) of the property
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until the (video interference) is made under the agreement the

potential terms -- the entire agreement (video interference),

and there's been some other terms (video interference) in the

settlement agreement agreed upon that my client would not

rather not have (video interference) publicly.

And alternatively the Court can have us submit this

under seal (video interference) put on the record, especially

with somebody who is reporting this publicly.  That would be

(video interference).

THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, let me get a quick point of

clarification.  In this case, for this hearing, the Court did

not receive any media request.

Of course, the same thing is if you all were

appearing here in person in the courtroom.  Anybody is welcome

as long as they are wearing a mask, right, and complying with

all the county protocols, all the administration protocols,

right, which is outside of this independent Court's purview.

As long as all of those are complied with, a person is more

than welcome to sit in any hearing with certain exceptions,

right.

In general, this wouldn't fall within one of those

exceptions, and we don't need to go into all this

(indiscernible) family court exceptions and other things like

that.

So if that's not the situation, right, then the Court
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has to look at, and I appreciate sometimes are confidential

terms and sometimes people -- the attorneys and/or litigants,

if they're representing themselves determine what they wish to

place, quote, on the record for purposes of a resolution.

That's not a Court ordered or directed aspect of the

proceedings.

So I'm hearing what you're saying, Mr. Gutierrez, but

I'm not hearing a basis, right, with regards to the Court

needing, as it needs to do to balance the confidential nature.

Is there a way that you all could, A, do you need me to pause

for a second and maybe you and Mr. Mushkin speak off-line for a

moment.  You know, call each other or e-mail or whatever you

need to do and speak with your client.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Go ahead, Mr. Mushkin.

MR. MUSHKIN:  I think that Mr. Gutierrez is concerned

that the last two items on our settlement, all of the other

items will be a matter of public record in the federal court.

So it's not of real consequence.

And I think I can reword those, Joe, so that they are

innocuous.  In other words, I will reference that there is an

agreement regarding the use of the property for a period of

time and compliance with the rules and regulations but nothing

more than that.  If that will satisfy you, Joe, I can -- I

think we can just get this on the record and be done.
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MR. GUTIERREZ:  And, Your Honor, my concern was that

there (video interference), and then I'd (video interference)

kind of caught off guard --

THE COURT:  Sure.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  I just have to check with my client

as far as -- 

THE COURT:  Sure.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  -- I understand Mr. Mushkin's

position that some of the repayment terms are part of the

bankruptcy, and I'm fine if those are actually read (video

interference) outside Points 13 and 14.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So just so this Court --

MR. MUSHKIN:  Does that get us there, Joe?

THE COURT:  Sorry.  Just --

No.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Yeah --

THE COURT:  Now, remember, everything you're saying

now is fully being recorded on a public record.  So that's why

the Court was asking you.

The Court is fine maintaining everything perfectly

fine in a public record because at this juncture the Court has

not had an analysis, right.  Supreme Court rules does say any

person may request that the Court seal or redact the Court

records for a case that's subject to these rules.  Usually

you're supposed to file a written motion, or the Court may upon
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its own motion initiate proceedings to seal or redact a Court

record.

The motion to seal or redact a Court record must

disclose in its title and document code that the sealing or

redaction being sought.  The motion must be served on all

parties NRCP 5.  But here you have, in the middle of a hearing.

So the hearing kind of has a little bit of a different

component, right.  Because you all, and I appreciate you

resolved things over the weekend.

Did you say you resolved them over the weekend -- or

whatever.

You resolved them before your hearing that was set

today on a couple of fully noticed public matters, and so

BlueJeans links are more than welcome to be given to any member

of the public regardless of what they do for a living, and the

media has full access to the courts.

Now, the access has got different rules depending on

if there is a media request signed by a Court versus just a

request for a BlueJeans link.  Okay.  So that being the case,

if there is a specific --

Is there an agreement between the parties --

Sorry.  Mr. Gutierrez, there's a problem with both of

us talking at the same time.  We just won't get you a nice

clear record.

So is there a request under Supreme Court Rule 3, or
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did Mr. Mushkin's proposal meet your needs, or do we need to

take a brief break?  What are you requesting?

Go ahead, sir.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  If we can take (video interference)

so I can talk to my client, but my proposal would be just to

state that the parties -- and, Mr. Mushkin and I are agreeable

on the exact terms of the 14 points we've agreed upon.

Mr. Bloom has read them.  He confirms he's agreeable to them.

So we don't have to read them into the record.  If that's an

option, I think, if you could give us just maybe a few minute

break to talk to Mr. Mushkin and Mr. Bloom.

THE COURT:  Sure.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  (video interference), but for

purposes of this settlement, we just want to inform the Court

that the case is settled.  And procedurally, what would happen

next in light of triggering the settlement agreement.

THE COURT:  So --

MR. GUTIERREZ:  (video interference) vacating the

trial and if one of the benchmarks is not met, resetting it for

a bench trial.  So those are the types of things we were hoping

to discuss in court today, not (indiscernible) terms.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So, Mr. Gutierrez, if you need a

few moments to discuss something with your client, and,

Mr. Mushkin, what we can do is we can mute you from our end.

Make sure you mute yourself from your end, and then just you
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come back on, just say that you've taken your few moments that

you need, right, and then if you're muted on your end, you're

muted on our end.  I can ask Madam Court Recorder to stop

recording until you let us know that you're ready to continue,

okay, and then presumably you can either call each other,

e-mail each other, text, whatever method of communication you

wish to do.  I don't even know if you're in the same location.

You know, so whichever method you choose to do.

Does that meet your needs, counsel for plaintiff?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Yes, it does.  Thank you, Your Honor.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor --

THE COURT:  Counsel for defendant, counterclaimant,

does that meet your needs as well, or is there another request?

MR. MUSHKIN:  No, that's fine, Your Honor.  I'll go

on mute as well.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So I'm going to ask Madam Court

Recorder at this juncture please mute the Court, and then you

all can mute yourselves.  And if you want to take away your

pictures because if you think somebody is going to lip read,

you know, whatever you wish to do.

But when you come back on on the video, just let the

Court know you're ready.  Okay.  You can put in the chat that

you're ready, and then we'll continue the hearing.  Okay.

Thank you so very much.

Okay.  Madam Court Recorder, can we put ourselves on
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mute.  Thank you so much.  I appreciate it.

(Proceedings recessed at 3:15 p.m., until 3:23 p.m.)  

THE COURT:  We're now back on the record.  We

understood from a chat comment that both counsel were all

ready.

Is that correct?  Counsel for plaintiff first and

then counsel for defense.

You're on mute still, Mr. Gutierrez.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Yes, Your Honor, we are ready now.

THE COURT:  Okay.  I'm hearing Mr. Mushkin saying --

Remember, you have to identify yourselves each time

you speak.  Because as much as I can see somebody's mouth

moving our JAVS system does not have that voice identification

capacity.  Do appreciate it.

That was Mr. Mushkin, correct, on behalf of

defendants, counterclaimants and third-party plaintiff;

correct?

MR. MUSHKIN:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.

Go ahead, Counsel for plaintiff.  Are you ready as

well?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Yeah, we're ready.  We came to an

agreement with counsel.  Thank you.

THE COURT:  Thank you so very much.

Okay.  So, Mr. Mushkin, what do you wish to place on
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the record?

MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor, yes.  I want to place our

basic deal points on the record.  This will be followed by a

formal settlement document and order -- an order for this Court

as well as an order for the bankruptcy court.

I'm not going to recite the parties again, but this

does cover all parties for this matter.

The parties have agreed to allow the use of an

appraisal that was commissioned by my office.  The appraiser

was Kendall Britton (phonetic).  That appraisal can be used in

the bankruptcy case.

The 5148 parties will consent to run 1111(b)(1)

treatment of their claim under the plan.

SJC Ventures agrees to make payments to the 5148

parties, the first of which on the claim is due January 5th.

THE COURT:  What year, please?  What year, please?

Counsel, January 5th.  What year, please?

MR. MUSHKIN:  I'm sorry.  2022.

THE COURT:  Thank you so very much.  Go ahead,

please.

MR. MUSHKIN:  The failure of SJC Ventures to pay that

payment on or before January 5th, 2022, will trigger the

resumption of foreclosure on the subject property.

The failure of SJC Ventures to pay the January 5th,

2022, payment will allow 5148 and related parties to litigate
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the balance of their claims in either District Court or in

binding arbitration.

The parties agreed to an immediate stay of all

claims, those before this Court as well as those before the

Nevada Supreme Court.

The parties agree to vacate the November 17th,

2021, scheduled jury trial and all associated State court

hearings set in this matter and ask that the matter be reset on

the Court's April 2022 stack.

These matters will only be heard if SJC Venture fails

to make payments due herein.

The parties agree to execute mutual releases which

will become effective upon the final payment due April 5th,

2022.

The parties agree to immediately stay all orders of

the court-appointed receiver Larry Birch (phonetic).

The parties agree to discharge Mr. Birch as

court-appointed receiver in this case, on April 5th, 2022,

assuming SJC Ventures makes the final payment.

The parties agree that the taxes, HOA lien, Republic

service charge, the first and second mortgage payments will be

made in accordance with the bankruptcy plan, and these payments

will be completed on or before November 30 or two days after

the entry of the bankruptcy order, whichever comes first.

There are certain other terms related to the use of
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the property and the abiding of rules.  We will keep those

specific terms confidential today, but they'll be included in a

settlement agreement, and the only other information that I

have for the Court is the treatment of the claim in bankruptcy,

and I will summarize that very quickly just to advise that the

holder of the Class 3 secured claim which is 5148, will have a

claim of a stated amount pursuant to Section 1111 (b)(1).  He

will have secured status.

The Class 3 claim will approve interest at a certain

rate, and the Class 3 claim will have payments due just as I

have recited in the District Court, the first payment being due

January 5th, 2022.  The second claim being due April 5th,

2022.

Promptly after the entry of the confirmation order

and no more than two business days thereafter, debtors shall

pay all delinquent sums for real estate taxes, all sums due for

the Class 1 and 2 plaintiffs, which is the first and second

mortgage, sums certain to the HOA as a resolution of their

Class 4 claim, and any amounts due to Republic Service for

delinquent amounts there.

Defendant shall -- or the debtor shall also provide

proof of such payment to the holder of Class 3 promptly after

the payments are made.

And then just as with the settlement agreement in

this case, Judge, any default under the terms of this paragraph
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of the plan will constitute grounds for the holder of a Class 3

claims to commence or to continue foreclosure on the property

without further order of the Court, notice to the debtor SJC,

or any other party save and except for statutory notice

pursuant to Nevada law.

And, Your Honor, I believe that represents the entire

basic terms.  

And, Mr. Gutierrez, if I misread anything, please

advise the Court.

If not, I think we're done, Judge.

THE COURT:  Counsel for plaintiff, Mr. Gutierrez, on

behalf of plaintiff and counterdefendant and all your client

roles, are those terms; correct?  Is there anything that needs

to be added, and is there any clarification?  What is your

position?  And then are you going to have your client confirm

them as well?

Go ahead, please, sir.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Thank you, Your Honor.  This is

Joseph Gutierrez for the record.

Yes, Your Honor, Mr. Mushkin has summarized the terms

of the 14 points that we agreed upon in our deal point and our

e-mail correspondence today.  Mr. Bloom is also on the call.

He can state if he's read them and he can confirm their

accuracy (indiscernible).

THE COURT:  Are you going to ask Mr. Bloom to do so,
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or are you asking the Court to ask him?  What would you like to

do, sir?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  I'm going to ask Mr. Bloom to come on

and to state (video interference).

MR. BLOOM:  Good afternoon, Your Honor.  Yes, I

believe this matter is resolved with those terms.

THE COURT:  Okay.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  And can he say his name?

THE COURT:  Sorry.  Once again, no voice

identification, right, on our JAVS system.  So I need to say

who you are and whether or not you fully and knowingly agree to

all the terms stated by Mr. Mushkin, confirmed by counsel for

you and the various parties on your side of the Vs.

MR. BLOOM:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So your name is?

MR. BLOOM:  I'm sorry.  My name is Jay Bloom on

behalf of the plaintiff, defendants and third-party defendants

and I guess counterdefendants --

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  And that's Jay Bloom?

MR. BLOOM:  -- and I agree with the terms (video

interference) this matter.

THE COURT:  I'm sorry, sir.  There's somebody else

talking.  I didn't hear what you said.  I heard your name, and

then I did not hear what you said if you wouldn't mind

restating that.  You're a little soft-spoken.  There was some
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cross voices if you don't mind, sir.

Go ahead, please.

MR. BLOOM:  Yes.  This is Jay Bloom on behalf of the

plaintiffs, counterdefendants and third-party defendants.  Yes,

I believe that the terms as described (video interference) this

matter in full.

THE COURT:  Okay.  And do you knowingly and

voluntarily agree to them?  That's what I heard your counsel

say he was asking you to confirm.

MR. BLOOM:  Yes.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Okay.  Thank you so much.

Okay.  Counsels, I've got a couple of quick questions

because you're overlapping, as you know, proceedings that are

within the jurisdiction of this Court and proceedings that are

not within the jurisdiction of this Court.

So for purposes of the District Court Case

Number 813439, slash, hyphen, B, okay, which is Spanish Heights

Acquisition Company, LLC, plaintiffs et al versus CBC Partners

I, LLC, et al, and related counterclaims, et cetera.  A couple

of questions with regards to that.

When you said you're asking for this case to be

stayed and then placed on the April stack, I was not hearing

you say that this case then -- I mean, how is that anticipated

to work?  Is that -- because if it's resolved, we don't set it.

I mean, you all are going to trial and picking a jury on
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Wednesday unless this case is fully and finally resolved was

what was agreed at a variety of different times, including most

recently at your calendar call; right?  So if you're just

asking for a trial continuance or you're asking it to be

vacated, but then you also said stayed, so can you please

explain so that this Court has a better understanding of what

you're asking in the District Court case only, please.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Sure, Judge.  If I can -- again, this

is Mike Mushkin.

What we were asking you to do is to stay all of the

motion practice, including the receiver's duties.  Continue the

trial to your April stack.  Your April stack has a call date

of, I believe, either the 15th or the 17th of April.  That is

beyond our final trigger date.  So that will allow us to know

that the settlement agreement was fully performed.  We will

then come to you with a order of dismissal.  And if we don't

have an order of dismissal, we'll be coming to you asking, as

any other litigant for the case to be reset for trial.

THE COURT:  Okay.  There's some challenges in what

you just said.  One such challenge is you are -- let's go to

the receiver challenge first.  Okay.

The receiver, it's a court-appointed receiver; right?

It's not a stipulated by the parties receiver, okay.  It's a

court-appointed receiver.  So are you asking to stay something

as that of an X date?  I mean, is it as of today?  Is it a date
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certain, and so that he then is compensated --

MR. MUSHKIN:  Yes, Your Honor.  It's as of

(indiscernible).

THE COURT:  So you understand we needed some clarity.

So what are you asking so that the Court can evaluate it,

please.

MR. MUSHKIN:  It would be a stay as of today.

THE COURT:  So all work that he has performed up and

to 3:35 on today's date, November 15th, he is compensated

for, but he's not to do further work after this date and time,

or are you requesting something different?

MR. MUSHKIN:  No, ma'am, that's exactly what we are

requesting.

THE COURT:  Okay.  And let me hear from counsel for

opposing counsel.

Mr. Gutierrez, is that your understanding, or is

there something different?  So I'm making sure it's the same

joint request or not.  If it's not -- go ahead, please, sir.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Thank you, Your Honor.  This is

Joseph Gutierrez for the record.

Yes, Your Honor.  So the receiver who's been

appointed (video interference) on Mr. Mushkin said his work

would be stayed pending the release of all claims after the

April payment.

And then procedurally, for trial, Mr. Mushkin
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represented regarding (video interference) claims and, however

the Court would vacate the trial and reset it, but we've looked

at the April stack as a potential date (video interference) in

April.

THE COURT:  Okay.  You understand generally when

there's a settlement on the record trial dates get vacated.

The case gets closed.  You know, usually there's a 30 day

status check on documents 45 days, you know, whatever the case

may be.

But here you all are asking for a stay until a

particular date.  Is that correct?  Because you still have

outstanding motion practice, but then I'm hearing you say you

wish to be -- the April stack for 2022 starts April 18th,

2022, a five-week stack, okay.

So can you clarify what you're asking in that regard.

Stay motion practice until a March date?  Stay motion practice

until the pretrial conference as the time for that April stack?

Can you clarify so that the Court has a better understanding of

what you're asking the Court to do, please.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor, this is Mike Mushkin.  That

is exactly what we're asking you to do.  To stay motion

practice.  We believe that we will know in much greater

certainty on the 6th of January.  If the first payment is made,

it will be highly unlikely that the second payment would not be

made.  So whatever you can do for us to get this to the middle
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of January would be very helpful.

THE COURT:  Okay.  What maybe I am hearing you all

say is that you wish the Court to set a status check on

Tuesday, January 11th at 8:30.  And on Tuesday, January 11th

at 8:30, you all will inform the Court that, A, the first

payment is made.  So therefore things are moving along as they

need to do, or, B -- hopefully not B, but B would be, Your

Honor, we have issues, and so therefore we need to reset the

motions, and then the Court you need to set the trial as you

deem appropriate.  Is that where you're going, or is there

something different?

MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor, this is Mike Mushkin.  That

would be just perfect.

THE COURT:  Counsel for plaintiff, would that meet

your needs as well, plaintiff/counterdefendants?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Yes (video interference).  This is

Joseph Gutierrez?

THE COURT:  Pardon.  I didn't -- I'm sorry.  I did

not hear you, Mr. Gutierrez.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Yes, it does, Your Honor.  Sorry.

THE COURT:  Okay.  And that's Mr. Gutierrez on behalf

of -- would you mind stating your name please on behalf of the

parties.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Yes.  Joseph Gutierrez on behalf of

the plaintiffs, Your Honor.

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



30

JD Reporting, Inc.

A-20-813439-B | SHAC v. CBC Partners | 2021-11-15

THE COURT:  Okay.  So because you know the Court can

take no position with regards to anything pending in the Nevada

Supreme Court or in a bankruptcy court.  You all understand all

of that.  I can only address what's currently pending before me

in Case 813439.

So with regards to payment of the receiver, are you

all going to -- because you're asking me to stop his actions

today, how would he have notice of that?  Because I do not see

that the receiver or receiver's counsel.  Now, this was a

originally appropriately scheduled hearings that were fully

noticed to everyone.  Everyone got e-service, but I don't know.

Do you know if counsel for the receiver was aware of this

change in circumstances?

MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor, I believe that Tracy is on

the line listening in, but I take responsibility to advise the

receiver of where we're at and the timing of things --

THE COURT:  Well, I'm sorry.  I -- just if you're

saying Tracy my JEA, that has nothing to do with third-party

receivers.  So I'm not sure who you mean, Tracy's.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Sorry.  Tracy is one of the attorneys

in the receiver's counsel's office as well.  I'm sorry.

THE COURT:  I'm sorry.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor, I'll take responsibility of

getting a hold of the receiver.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Just so that you have an
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understanding who I show is on BlueJeans, and there's no one

physically here in the Court, I show on BlueJeans the labels

say David Ferrero, Jay Bloom, Joseph Gutierrez, Michael Mushkin

and Tracy Cordova.

Tracy Cordova is the JEA for Department 31.  She is

just on this hearing listening because, as you can appreciate,

depending on what happens in this case, we may have other cases

that need certain time that was originally allocated to you

all.  We have to coordinate with jury services for a lot of

different things.  So obviously she's on for purposes to

understand the procedural things that the Department needs to

do depending on what you all are telling me today.

So I am not aware of anybody else being on.  I do not

know who's sitting in your offices or et cetera.  So if there's

somebody with you, I would have no idea.  I'm naming the names

that we show that have logged in.

MR. MUSHKIN:  I'll contact -- this is my motion, Your

Honor.  I'll contact the receiver.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So when you submit the order to

the Court, okay, then what I am going to need is there's going

to need to be some date that when the receiver was notified of

the intention of the parties, right, because -- so that the

Court can do an effective order with regards to the receiver's

appointment and duties.

So when you're saying to stay the receiver, then we
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have to circle back to that for a moment.  To stay the

receiver's duties, you're asking the Court just to ask the

receiver to stop doing further collection at this moment, but

you're not asking the Court to do anything with regards to the

appointment of said receiver.  Is that correct?  Or are you

asking something --

MR. MUSHKIN:  This is Mike Mushkin.  That is correct,

Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Counsel for plaintiffs,

counterdefendants, is that your position as well, sir.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  This is Joseph Gutierrez.  Your

Honor, yes, that's correct.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So here's what I'm hearing you

asked the Court to do, and if it's something different,

somebody needs to let me know because there was a lot that you

all were saying.

What I'm understanding you're asking this Court to do

is that you all said on the record under EDCR 7.50, as if it

were memorialized in writing, however you are intending to

memorialize your 14 points in writing, but, however, for the

purposes of this hearing, what you're asking the Court to do is

to take off calendar all pending motions that were set for

3:00 o'clock today in regards to the OST, a regular source.

I understand what you're also asking the Court to do

is to notify jury services that there is not a jury that's
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needed and that you're asking that the jury selection that was

set for this Wednesday, the 17th, as well as the trial that was

supposed to commence immediately after jury selection be

vacated.

You're asking that the Court instead place this case

on the April 18th, five-week stack, with the understanding

that the parties have all agreed that the matter has been fully

resolved as to all parties, all counterclaimants, all third

parties, everyone in the case.  However, in an abundance of

caution, since there are future payments due, you wish to keep

a new trial date on.

Then you also are asking the Court then that means

you would get a new pretrial conference and said pretrial

conference would be on March 17th at 10:15.  Set calendar

call, at least initially, would be on April 5th.

And then you're also asking the Court to provide a

January 11th status check, and at that status check the

parties will confirm if the first payment that was pursuant to

your agreement was made on January 5th, 2022; and if it was

what further action the parties are going to ask the Court to

do; and if it was not, what further action the parties are

requesting the Court to do.

And then this Court, of course, would have to take no

position with regards to the bankruptcy or the Nevada Supreme

Court action.

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



34

JD Reporting, Inc.

A-20-813439-B | SHAC v. CBC Partners | 2021-11-15

What you're also asking in addition to this Court,

once I receive the order is to ask that the receiver, the

court-appointed receiver, stay any further collection, slash,

records obtaining processes as of a date certain, which would

be no sooner than today, the 15th at -- well, I said 3:35, but

then in addition, that would be revisited also on the January

11th depending on the status.

Is that correct?  Is that incorrect?  Does it need to

be clarified, Counsel for plaintiffs first and then counsel for

plaintiffs, counterclaimants, excuse me and then counsel for

defense counter --

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Your Honor --

THE COURT:  -- and third-party plaintiffs.  

Mr. Gutierrez, please.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  This is Joseph Gutierrez.  Yes.

That's correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay.  And I understand you had the full,

knowing and intelligent affirmation from your client,

Mr. Bloom, on behalf of all of your clients.  Is that correct?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  That is correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.

So, Mr. Mushkin, on behalf of all your clients, is

that correct, or is there something else?

MR. MUSHKIN:  Yes, Your Honor.  That is correct.

This is Mike Mushkin.  You have done this just exactly what we
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need.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So the Court is going to grant the

joint oral request of the parties with respect to only the

portions that impact this Court's jurisdiction, which is

813439.

And so we ask that you submit as a very prompt order,

of course, under EDCR 7.21 you do have the 14 days; however,

you realize when I get the order is when things, and then

notice of entry thereof is when things potentially can be

effected.

So at this juncture, what's your anticipated time

frame for getting the Court an order?

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  (Video interference), Judge.

THE COURT:  I'm sorry.  I think you both were

speaking at the same time.

Is that Mr. Mushkin saying how about tomorrow, Judge?

MR. MUSHKIN:  We should be able to get you an order

by the close of business tomorrow, Judge.  This is Mike

Mushkin.

THE COURT:  Thank you.

Mr. Gutierrez, does that meet your needs or not?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So what we'll do then is we will

notify jury services as far as not needing the jury.  If, for

some reason, well, something happens, you know, that the Court

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



36

JD Reporting, Inc.

A-20-813439-B | SHAC v. CBC Partners | 2021-11-15

will have to address what the Court will need to address;

right?

So at this juncture, I am going to authorize Madame

Clerk that we can notify jury services that we will not need

the jurors on Wednesday, that the trial date of November 17th

has been vacated.  Ask her to reset the trial but resetting the

trial based on that that is a contingency trial if there is not

compliance with the oral settlement that was entered on the

record today, the 15th of November of 2021.

In accordance with EDCR 7.21, the Court is going to

have to review how you all phrased what the receivers, and that

proposed order does need to get circulated to (indiscernible)

on behalf of the receiver so that we -- because she is the only

one who is really going to have the information of what he is

doing as of today.  So we need to ensure that that is fairly

and equitably inconsistent with the Court's original

appointment of said receiver.

And is there anything else that the --

And the stay is only going to be effective for you

all to put in your order.  The stay is going to be effective to

January 11th, which is your status check date.  At that date

then I will evaluate, right, if it makes sense to continue the

stay because there's already compliance.  And if there's not

compliance, then we'll do the next step.

Does that meet your needs, or is there something
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different you all are requesting for the time period of the

stay?

Counsel for --

MR. MUSHKIN:  That works for me, Your Honor.  This is

Mike Mushkin.

THE COURT:  Mr. Gutierrez, does that work for you as

well?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So then you'll put that also in

your proposed order.

Is there anything else the Court can do other than

say congratulations, wish you the best of luck and look forward

to hearing positive news on January 11th?  Is anything else I

can do for you on Case 813439?

Counsel for plaintiff and counterdefendants.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  This is Joe Gutierrez.  No, thank

you, Your Honor.  Thank you for your time.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Sorry.  And, Mr. Gutierrez, let me

just give one point since we're doing kind of final conclusions

of everything.  And I also understood what was addressed in the

very beginning of the hearing that Mr. Ian Hughes, he was

released from his subpoena, and you had stated that on the

record; correct?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  That is correct.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you so much.
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Go ahead, please.  Counsel for defense, is there

anything else the Court can do for you on Case 813439?

Defendants and counterclaimants.

MR. MUSHKIN:  No, Your Honor.  No, Your Honor.  On

behalf of the defendant and counterclaimants, thank you very

much for your time.  I'm only sorry I couldn't give you the

news earlier.

THE COURT:  Do appreciate it.  Well, thank you.  And

like I said, congratulations.  Appreciate your diligence to try

to get this matter resolved and wish you all the best of luck.

So that concludes the hearing.  And thank everyone.

(Proceedings concluded at 3:49 p.m.) 

-oOo- 

ATTEST:  I do hereby certify that I have truly and correctly 

transcribed the audio/video proceedings in the above-entitled 

case to the best of my ability. 

 

                              _______________________________ 

                              Dana L. Williams 
                              Transcriber  
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1 LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, FRIDAY, JANUARY 28, 2022, 8:31 A.M.

2 * * * * 

3 THE COURT:  Okay.  We’re on the record in Case

4 Number 813439, Spanish Heights Acquisition Company, LLC 

5 versus CBC Partners LLC, et al.

6 So, counsel for Spanish Heights, please.

7 MS. BARRAZA:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Danielle

8 Barraza, Bar Number 13822, on behalf of Spanish Heights

9 Acquisition Company and SJC Ventures.

10 THE COURT:  Okay.  Do you have anybody else with

11 you?

12 MS. BARRAZA:  Just me.

13 THE COURT:  Okay, no worries.  I just wanted to make

14 sure we’re not -- okay.  On behalf of CBC Partners?  Let me

15 just go through my little listing here.

16 Okay.  Mr. Mushkin, do you want to state all your

17 clients, please?  I think you need to unmute yourself, Mr.

18 Mushkin, and then state all your clients, please.

19 MR. MUSHKIN:  Sorry, Your Honor, I was muted.

20 THE COURT:  No worries.

21 MR. MUSHKIN:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Michael

22 Mushkin, Bar Number 2421.  I represent all defendant CBC

23 entities, the Ken Antos entities and the 5148 entities, Your

24 Honor.  There is also a company named Dacia that’s been named

25 and I appear on their behalf as well.
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1 THE COURT:  Okay.  And you appear on behalf of   

2 the roles of defendant, counterclaimant, and third party

3 plaintiff, is that correct?

4 MR. MUSHKIN:  Yes, Your Honor.

5 COURT RECORDER:  Judge, can you have him spell that

6 last entity?

7 THE COURT:  Oh, sure.  Can you spell that last

8 entity that you said?  Because we were looking -- is Dacia

9 D-a-c-i-a?

10 THE CLERK:  Oh, it’s on there.

11 COURT RECORDER:  It’s on there?

12 THE COURT:  Is that the one you just said --

13 MR. MUSHKIN:  Yes, Your Honor.

14 COURT RECORDER:  Oh, I’m sorry.  There it is.  Okay,

15 thanks.

16 THE COURT:  Okay, thank you.

17 Okay.  And then I believe we also have the receiver

18 and the receiver’s counsel.  So counsel for the receiver,  

19 did you want to make an appearance?

20 MS. O’STEEN:  Yes, Your Honor.  Tracy O’Steen

21 appearing --

22 THE COURT:  Sorry, go ahead.

23 MS. O’STEEN:  I apologize.  Tracy O’Steen appearing

24 on behalf of the receiver, Larry Bertsch, who is also on the

25 line.

3



1 THE COURT:  Okay.  So today is the day we have a

2 plaintiff’s application for temporary restraining order and

3 motion for preliminary injunction on order shortening time,

4 Document 194 (sic).  Is everybody who’s appearing for this 

5 all present or is there anyone we’re waiting for?  If there 

6 is someone we’re waiting for, feel free to speak up.  Okay.    

7 So I’m going to take it, since I asked you all individually

8 and then I asked globally, that we’re not waiting for anyone,

9 so that means I have all the parties.  Nobody seemed to want

10 any witnesses, so we’re going to move forward.

11 So let’s go to plaintiff’s application for temporary

12 restraining order and motion for preliminary injunction.  As 

13 I mentioned, that’s Document 194.  So the way I’m going to do

14 it is we’re going to have ten minutes a side, not including

15 any questions the Court may have.  And if we potentially  

16 need any extra time, the Court will address that in order   

17 to balance everybody’s needs and since I do have extensive

18 briefing on this.

19 I will tell you in advance the question the Court 

20 is going to have is is this about money and how the money is

21 injunction, but that’s a two-pronged question.  Is this about

22 money and how the money aspect would be for purposes of an

23 injunction under a TRO or a preliminary injunction standard.

24 So, counsel for movant, go ahead.  First, I guess,

25 give me your analysis under the TRO basis and then give me

4



1 your analysis under preliminary injunction basis, or if you

2 want to combine your -- however you wish to do it so we can

3 address everything.  Go ahead, please.

4 MS. BARRAZA:  Thank you.  Good morning, Your Honor. 

5 Danielle Barraza on behalf of plaintiffs.  To be brief,

6 because a lot of this is in the briefs, just to kind of

7 summarize --

8 THE COURT:  You’re very difficult to hear.  Wait. 

9 You’re very difficult to hear.  Can you either turn up your

10 volume or go closer to your microphone, please?

11 MS. BARRAZA:  Is that better?

12 THE COURT:  Yeah, it’s better.

13 COURT RECORDER:  I can hear her.

14 THE COURT:  Okay.  Go ahead, please.

15 MS. BARRAZA:  Okay.  All right.  So, to kind of

16 summarize, there was a settlement agreement back in November

17 of 2021.  It’s been conceded by everybody that the plaintiffs

18 missed a payment for that settlement agreement in January

19 2022, and as a result the defendants are allowed to proceed

20 with a foreclosure of the property.

21 None of that changes the fact that defendants still

22 have to follow the foreclosure laws in doing so.  And part of

23 the disclosure -- I mean, the foreclosure law is NRS 107.0805,

24 which states that the beneficiary under the trust is required

25 to send the borrower a written statement which includes the
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1 amount in default, the amount of accrued interest and late

2 charges, and a good faith estimate of all fees imposed in

3 connection with the exercise of the power of sale.  So the

4 only fees that are allowed per statute to be included in that

5 written statement are the fees that are imposed in connection

6 with actually noticing and conducting the sale.

7 And the problem that we have with the payoff demand

8 that was received is it goes far beyond including just fees

9 for the sale. It includes fees -- all of the fees, apparently,

10 for this underlying matter, and it includes all of the fees

11 from the property owner’s bankruptcy matter, which has

12 absolutely nothing to do with conducting the foreclosure sale. 

13 We also have concerns because the January 2021

14 notice of default indicated that a good faith estimate of  

15 all the fees is between $9,000 and $25,000.  Fast-forward one

16 year, we’re receiving a payoff demand and now they’re saying

17 that the fees associated with just conducting the foreclosure

18 sale are actually -- those fees and costs are actually

19 $54,000.  So we have concerns about the legitimacy of those

20 numbers and we’ve asked for a breakdown of those numbers and

21 we did not receive anything back.

22 And this is not about money, it’s about a property,

23 a unique property.  And the problem that’s going to happen is

24 this could potentially set a precedent.  You don’t get to just

25 do a payoff demand for, you know, a million dollars and the
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1 property owner is forced to pay it off if they want to survive

2 and keep their property and then they have to litigate later. 

3 That makes no sense. The payoff demand needs to actually be

4 accurate per the statute and the property owner shouldn’t    

5 be required to massively overpay by millions and millions   

6 of dollars just to preserve this property that they can then

7 litigate later.  That’s just not feasible and it’s not per 

8 the statute.

9 The only reason there’s been a delay here -- I mean,

10 I’m assuming what’s going to happen is we’re going to hear

11 arguments from the defendants that this is a delay tactic, 

12 but the only reason there’s a delay is because they didn’t

13 properly notice these documents.  You’ve got to actually -- 

14 THE COURT:  Counsel, I’m going to need you to

15 reference what exhibit you are saying is not proper, right?

16 Okay?

17 MS. BARRAZA:  Okay.  Understood.  So I’m going    

18 to refer to our motion, initial motion, and that would be,   

19 I believe, Exhibit 2.

20 THE COURT:  I’m sorry, counsel.  You dropped off. 

21 You said our initial motion and then I didn’t hear what you

22 said right after that.

23 MS. BARRAZA:  Oh, sorry.  I said Exhibit 2, Your

24 Honor.

25 THE COURT:  Okay.
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1 MS. BARRAZA:  So the initial motion, Exhibit 2.

2 THE COURT:  Okay.  Hold on one second.  Let me   

3 get to that document number.  Looking for 194.  Wait, that’s

4 not 194.  Hold on, that’s the notice of hearing.  That’s the

5 wrong document.  Just one second, please.

6 Okay.  So, Document 294 filed on 1/19/2022, your

7 Exhibit 2 of the 73 pages.  And I will remind you all again,

8 and this was brought up even at the bench bar conference,

9 business court bench bar conference yesterday and it’s been

10 brought up at civil bench bar conferences, if you don’t number

11 your exhibits, under  EDCR 2.27, it’s as if they don’t exist;

12 right?  Courts aren’t supposed to consider them unless they

13 comply with 2.27, folks.

14 So the Court for today’s purpose is going to --   

15 so your Exhibit 2 is that chart.

16 MS. BARRAZA:  Correct.  Apologies for the errors  

17 in submitting it.  It is that chart, Your Honor.  So that’s

18 the chart that was submitted to us pursuant to -- that they

19 submitted pursuant to NRS 107.0805. That’s their duty to send

20 us a written statement laying out exactly all of the -- the

21 principal, the accrued interest, the fees, the costs.

22 But the problem that they have is they’ve lumped

23 together all of the fees from this matter, all of the fees and

24 costs from the bankruptcy matter, and under the statute you’re

25 not allowed to do that.  It’s a good faith estimate of all 

8



1 the fees imposed in connection with the exercise of the power

2 of sale.  So it does not cost -- obviously if you add up all

3 of these fees and costs, they’re at nine hundred some thousand

4 dollars.  It does not cost that much money to notice and

5 conduct a foreclosure sale.

6 And that’s the issue we have here, and we’ve also

7 gone into the reply.  There’s just issues that you have

8 whenever you’re trying to lump all of these fees from this

9 underlying matter into this payoff demand because, number one,

10 a lot of the fees were incurred, you know, due to defendants’

11 failed motions and stuff like that and their attempt to

12 foreclose on this matter, on the property during the pandemic

13 in violation of Governor Sisolak’s foreclosure moratorium.

14 THE COURT:  Okay.  Sure.

15 MS. BARRAZA:  And number two --

16 THE COURT:  Counsel.  Counsel, can I ask you a

17 question; right?

18 MS. BARRAZA:  Sure.

19 THE COURT:  This document -- and that’s what was a

20 little unclear when I saw your application and saw the reply. 

21 This document, your Exhibit 2 -- unnumbered, so I can’t

22 reference it to a page number, didn’t come by itself; right? 

23 It came with something; correct?

24 MS. BARRAZA:  So -- and Mr. Mushkin can clarify, 

25 but my understanding is this document was emailed to us by 

9



1 Mr. Mushkin when we asked for the statement pursuant to the

2 statute.  And it’s kind of corresponding to the notice of

3 sale, which is Exhibit 1.  If Mr. Mushkin wants to clarify   

4 -- if that’s incorrect, he can let me know.

5 THE COURT:  Okay.  So here’s my other question. 

6 This Court had understood from both your pleadings, as well 

7 as prior statements to the Court when the trial was vacated

8 because you all said that the matter had been resolved, is it

9 accurate that the sale is going forward pursuant to the terms

10 of the settlement agreement rather than a standard foreclosure

11 sale?

12 MS. BARRAZA:  So it’s our understanding that it’s

13 both.  It’s actually both and there’s no conflict with that. 

14 Yes, they’re allowed to do a sale.  However, it needs to be

15 following all the foreclosure rules.  And there’s nothing   

16 in the settlement terms that were put before this Court that

17 goes against that.  Yes, they’re allowed to do a sale.  We   

18 all agree.  But it still has to follow -- they still have to

19 follow the foreclosure rules in doing so.

20 And there is nothing, you know, on the record in the

21 settlement agreement that says when they notice up the sale

22 they can collect and try to tack on the fees and costs from

23 this matter and from the SHAC bankruptcy matter onto their

24 payoff demand.  That wasn’t put on the record, so that’s the

25 issue that we have.
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1 THE COURT:  Okay.  So -- okay, anything else you

2 want to go through with your standards of how you meet a TRO

3 or a preliminary injunction or anything?

4 MS. BARRAZA:  And then just to wrap up, I was kind

5 of on my point.  My second point is the problem with trying 

6 to incorporate all of the fees from this underlying matter. 

7 As we just went over a couple minutes ago, there are numerous

8 defendants and the only defendant actually doing this

9 foreclosure sale is 5148 Spanish Heights.  And so we would

10 have to parse out the attorney’s fees from -- that’s only

11 associated with 5148 Spanish Heights.  If -- even if this

12 Court agrees that the fees can get lumped in here, it still

13 needs to be parsed out further.

14 So that’s the issue we have.  We kind of went over

15 in the brief the specific elements for the injunctive relief

16 as far as it is going to cause irreparable damage, irreparable

17 harm.  This is a unique property.  And this isn’t a money

18 matter and it’s not something where the property owner should

19 be required to overpay by over a million dollars in order to

20 preserve his property.  That just makes no sense and it’s

21 going to set a bad precedent for other kinds of cases like

22 this where there’s a foreclosure action happening and there’s

23 an incorrect payoff demand that does not follow the statute.

24 And I’ll answer any questions if the Court has any

25 questions.
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1 THE COURT:  Sure, I do have a couple.  Attached   

2 to the pleadings, right, was the January 4th, 2021 letter  

3 and that letter that was from -- via certified mail and USPS

4 Postal Service.  First I want to make sure it was 2021 not

5 2022.  But that point three had the same amount if it’s 2021;

6 right?  2,935,001.14 that is listed in the notice of trustee

7 sale dated 1/11/2022, 8:51 a.m., which is Exhibit 1 to the

8 motion.  So I’m hearing what you’re saying, but is it because

9 the letter is dated wrong that you’re saying that there’s the

10 difference in the year, or can you explain, please, a little

11 bit more?

12 MS. BARRAZA:  Yeah, I’ll try.  So I think the Court

13 is referring to Exhibit 6, which is that January 4th, 2021 --

14 THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

15 MS. BARRAZA:  -- letter, which is considered the

16 notice of default.  And I’m seeing how, yes, the -- there’s  

17 a number in here, $2,935,000, and that’s the unpaid principal

18 amount.  So that number has remained the same, but the problem

19 is there’s been numbers that have been drastically changed,

20 including number seven on that letter.  It says a good faith

21 estimate of all the fees imposed in connection with the

22 exercise of the power of the sale is between $9,000 and

23 $25,000.

24 THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

25 MS. BARRAZA:  So that was their good faith estimate
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1 in January of 2021.  And now fast-forward now, their apparent

2 good faith estimate is over $50,000 just for conducting the

3 sale.  And, plus, they’ve also tacked on all the fees and

4 costs from this action and the bankruptcy action.  And this

5 isn’t a matter of, you know, $20,000.  This is $900,000 of

6 what’s accumulated with what they’ve ended up tacking on.

7 THE COURT:  Okay.  So the dispute is the $900,000,

8 not the underlying 2,935,001.14 --

9 MS. BARRAZA:  Right.  The dispute is --

10 THE COURT:  -- or the amount in default from January

11 4th, 2021 that said $5,578,459.15.  Is that correct?

12 MS. BARRAZA:  Correct in part.  Mostly.  Because,

13 yes, it’s the attorney’s fees and costs in order to conduct

14 the sale and it’s also the accrued interest.  We included

15 argument as far as the accrued interest.  They’re indicating

16 in their January 2021 letter that the accrued interest is   

17 on number four, $1,305,000.

18 THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

19 MS. BARRAZA:  And then now they’re saying that   

20 the accrued interest, if you add it up, they put it in two

21 separate --

22 THE COURT:  Two separate boxes.  Right.

23 MS. BARRAZA:  Exactly, two separate boxes.  So it’s

24 nearly -- it’s over two million dollars.  And so we’re arguing

25 that that accrued interest is also miscalculated, wrongly
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1 calculated.  But with respect to the other categories, there

2 is no dispute as to, you know, just the basic principal owed. 

3 Those categories are fine.

4 However, because there was not following the statute

5 completely regarding the attorney’s fees and costs and there’s

6 a dispute over the accrued interest amount, that’s why we’re

7 arguing that there should be a hearing to determine the

8 accurate numbers so that the property owner has a right to --

9 can exercise his right to redeem the property prior to the

10 foreclosure sale.

11 THE COURT:  Okay.  Let me hear from opposing

12 counsel.  Mr. Mushkin, do you wish to be heard on behalf of

13 your clients?

14 MR. MUSHKIN:  Yes, Your Honor, very briefly,

15 actually.  The Court hit the nail right on the head from   

16 the very first question you posed.  Is this about money?   

17 Yes, it is.  There’s several problems with their motion,  

18 most important of which they have yet to refute any of the

19 calculations that were made on the -- if you will, the box

20 that we’re referring to.  There’s no argument about --

21 THE COURT:  The Exhibit 2 to their motion?  Is that

22 correct?

23 MR. MUSHKIN:  I’m sorry?

24 THE COURT: Box meaning their exhibit, the Exhibit 2

25 which was your attachment; is that correct?  Exhibit 2 that
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1 has the calculation breakdowns?

2 MR. MUSHKIN:  That’s correct.

3 THE COURT:  Okay.  Go ahead, please.

4 MR. MUSHKIN:  Yes.  And it’s updated because of the

5 passage of time, Your Honor.  But if you look at page 11 of 

6 my opposition, I put the box --

7 THE COURT:  Okay, just one moment.  Your opposition

8 is Document 296, filed on 1/25.  Go ahead, please.

9 MR. MUSHKIN:  Thank you, Your Honor.  I’m sorry. 

10 I’ve tried to be as specific as I can.  And these numbers in

11 this box, I’ve tried to give the Court the citations for those

12 numbers.  Principal, accrued interest and advances.  And the

13 advances are broken up only so that the Court can see, again,

14 the passage of time.  The interest that is owed is from the

15 date of the default to January 25th of 2022.  And no one has

16 provided this Court a scintilla of evidence that refutes 

17 those numbers.  They are directly tracked from the forbearance

18 agreement, which has a copy of the note and a copy of the 

19 deed of trust.  I do not argue the rest are attorney’s fees

20 and costs, but I submit to this Court and we have briefed

21 exactly why they are included.

22 And the notion that the plaintiff would argue that

23 this is a simple foreclosure is shocking.  There are three

24 separate appeals.  There’s a bankruptcy case.  There were

25 contempt hearings.  There was a trial heard on legal issues. 
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1 Every single step in challenge, in defense to the challenge 

2 to the note and deed of trust.  The production of documents. 

3 The depositions.  Every step of the way Mr. Bloom has gamed

4 the system and frustrated the process.  We provided the Court

5 with the contractual provisions.  Summary judgment has been

6 granted in this matter.  The contract --

7 THE COURT:  But, counsel, has summary judgment been

8 granted -- I need you to break down your box, okay.  I need 

9 to break down -- are you asserting that summary judgment was

10 granted on the attorney’s fees for foreclosure of $42,572.50, 

11 or any of the ones from that number down below?

12 MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor, it is my position that  

13 as a result of the findings that this Court has made both in

14 summary judgment in favor of Ken Antos and the elimination  

15 of the spurious claims of the one action rule, the merger

16 doctrine -- and again, Your Honor, the plaintiffs’ plead  

17 that somehow these findings are void.  That’s a direct

18 misrepresentation to this Court.  They sought that relief in

19 the bankruptcy court and the bankruptcy court specifically

20 found the state court judge will decide about those findings

21 because it was only a partial granting of their motion for

22 violation of the automatic stay.  And for the record, Your

23 Honor, none of the findings as they relate to SJCV are stayed

24 because SJCV is not the debtor.  And this has been a dance  

25 to avoid what will and should happen on February 1st.
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1 With that said, Judge, I want the Court to remember

2 that they came before you claiming interest was a problem, 

3 but they cannot tell you why.  They just don’t want to count

4 the time properly.  We’ve provided a detailed breakdown.

5 With respect to the attorney’s fees, there’s no need

6 for an evidentiary hearing or anything of the sort.  If this

7 Court believes that those fees should not be charged, then 

8 the beneficiary statement will not reflect them. That simple. 

9 And our sale can go forward.

10 Your Honor, I just have a couple other items I’d

11 like to address in regards to the application for TRO.  The

12 application itself and the allegations are false.  I provided

13 emails that showed you if they have a problem with the

14 calculation of interest, show me, and they never responded.  

15 I left phone messages.  They don’t respond.  This is Mr. Bloom

16 and counsel’s repeated attempts to frustrate this process.

17 And, Judge, they have not -- this is not a

18 residential sale.  This is a commercial transaction amongst

19 LLCs, also in the findings of the Court.  And there’s been no

20 tender of funds.  If they wanted to come to this Court and say

21 here’s seven million, then we might have something to talk

22 about.  But they’ve still not made any tender towards payment

23 of anything.  My clients haven’t been paid on this property

24 since March 31st of 2020; not one dime.

25 THE COURT:  Okay.  I’ve got a couple questions.
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1 MR. MUSHKIN:  So, Your Honor, if you have any

2 questions, I’d be happy to answer them.

3 THE COURT:  I do.  I have a couple questions.    

4 So, break -- and here’s what I need to have an understanding. 

5 The Court is looking at this both in the parameters of a TRO

6 and the parameters of a preliminary injunction and who has 

7 the burden in both of those, but I have some factual questions 

8 I need to get clarified.

9 Since there is the difference -- and I appreciate

10 passage of time means there may be some difference, okay,  

11 but the January 4th, 2021 had the $5,578,459.15 versus the

12 $7,548,450.29 for the 2022 statement.  So, Mr. Mushkin, I need

13 you to walk through what your -- what you are viewing would

14 happen under the current scenario if the Court did not grant

15 the pending motions, meaning, would the house be for sale on

16 February 1 and therefore there is -- for the amount of what? 

17 And would that be automatically disbursed, it would be

18 escrowed, etcetera?  Please walk through what you’re intending

19 and then I’m going to hear from opposing counsel, please.

20 MR. MUSHKIN:  So, Your Honor, if -- when we conduct

21 the sale on the 1st, the first information that will be

22 provided is the existing mortgages that the sale is subject

23 to.  And that’s approximately --

24 THE COURT:  Which is in the amount of -- go ahead. 

25 Thank you, yes.
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1 MR. MUSHKIN:  That’s approximately 3.6 million

2 dollars; 3 million dollars to City National and $600,000 to

3 Northern Trust.

4 THE COURT:  Okay.  Go ahead.

5 MR. MUSHKIN:  The next obligation is the principal

6 amount of 2,935,001.14 that appears in the forbearance

7 agreement, as referenced on my chart on page 11 of 14.  The

8 accrued interest, again, at the time of 2017 is calculated 

9 and in that agreement and the advances as of 2017 are in that

10 document.

11 THE COURT:  Okay.

12 MR. MUSHKIN:  The next item are the advances that

13 were made from September 1 of 2017 to March 1 of 2020.  As   

14 a part of the forbearance agreement, my client, CBC, and its

15 successor, 5148, made additional payments on the first and

16 second mortgage, as well as some taxes and other payments;

17 specifically some HOA payments.

18 THE COURT:  Okay.

19 MR. MUSHKIN:  That’s calculated at 928,871.90.   

20 The next category is the interest owed from the date of

21 default until March -- until January 25th of 2022, and that

22 date of default is April 1 of 2020.  And that’s the

23 calculation of interest for that and it’s $1,608 a day and

24 some change.

25 The next item is the actual attorney’s fees for  
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1 the foreclosures.  The next one is --

2 THE COURT:  Okay.  I’m going to stop you for the

3 actual -- excuse me.  I’m going to let you finish and then 

4 I’m going to circle back and have you break down the actual

5 attorney’s fees.  But, continue please, okay.  Actual

6 attorney’s fees for the foreclosure.

7 MR. MUSHKIN:  No, no.  Your Honor, it’s very self-

8 explanatory.  I’ll answer whatever questions you have.

9 THE COURT:  Okay, $42,000 for a foreclosure.  What’s

10 bundled in there?  Because it’s not just doing the notice of

11 foreclosure.

12 MR. MUSHKIN:  So, Judge, this has actually been

13 going on now for over two years, and that is the notice and

14 renotice and renotice and the fees associated with this

15 foreclosure, making sure that all of the calculations from 

16 the forbearance agreement and all of that is communicated and

17 handled through the foreclosure company, Nevada Trust Deed

18 Services.  And then there’s a few other items in there which

19 were associated with this notion that -- and I want to be

20 clear, Judge.  There’s never been an injunction against this

21 foreclosure.

22 THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

23 MR. MUSHKIN:  There is no such order.  The issue

24 that was dealt with in the very beginning of the case was a

25 claim of eviction when no eviction was pending.  So the judge
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1 gave a very limited injunction to not violate the Emergency

2 Directive 08 as it relates to evictions.

3 THE COURT:  Right.  Okay.

4 MR. MUSHKIN:  So anyway, there was a whole series of

5 activities that took place at the very beginning.  Then we’ve

6 had to go back and restart twice. The costs of the foreclosure

7 are there.  And then the other items are --

8 THE COURT:  Are those costs -- wait.  Counsel, are

9 those costs attorney costs or are those independent third

10 party costs?  What’s the cost number bundled into?

11 MR. MUSHKIN:  Those are attorney costs associated

12 with this foreclosure.

13 THE COURT:  Okay.  Go ahead, please.

14 MR. MUSHKIN:  Then the next category is the

15 attorney’s fees for the state court.  The next one is costs

16 for the state court.  The next one is attorney’s fees for  

17 the bankruptcy court and then the last one is costs for the

18 bankruptcy court.

19 And the reason that they are there, Your Honor, is

20 because under the deed of trust they are chargeable.  Every

21 single step in this case was done in defense of a challenge 

22 to the note and deed of trust.  Mr. Bloom has made allegation

23 after allegation that has been completely unsupported.  The

24 findings in April you may remember, we’ve quoted them, that

25 not a bit of evidence was presented by the plaintiff in
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1 support of their claims.  We provided you the language that

2 the Court would have granted my directed verdict, but for the

3 fact that she had to hear Mr. Bloom testify, and so we had  

4 to finish and then we got it.

5 THE COURT:  Okay.  So, counsel --

6 MR. MUSHKIN:  And for them to come before you now

7 and try and stop the sale, Judge, is just wrong.

8 THE COURT:  Okay.  Counsel, I appreciate people’s

9 perception arguments.  Remember, I have to focus on the prongs

10 for a TRO and a preliminary injunction because that’s before

11 me and the propriety of the applicable case law that ties into

12 the TRO standard and the injunction standard, which it’s all

13 the NRS, etcetera.

14 So the estimated value of the house at foreclosure

15 sale, do you all agree at least there’s a ballpark it’s

16 between X and Y what it will sell for?

17 MR. MUSHKIN:  Yes, Your Honor.  In fact, as a part

18 of the settlement agreement, they adopted the appraisal that 

19 I had done on the property at 7.6 million.  So assuming -- 

20 you asked to go through the process.

21 THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

22 MR. MUSHKIN:  My clients have the luxury of credit

23 bidding and all this number does is give me the level that    

24 I can credit bid to.  If the Court wants to -- it is our

25 intention to credit bid up to the value of the house.  There

22



1 is other collateral that’s pledged for this loan.  If Mr.

2 Bloom is the bidder, we might bid up the entire amount that’s

3 owed to us.  But that is an option that we have, that’s not

4 something that’s happened.  The parties have said the house 

5 is worth 7.6 --

6 THE COURT:  Okay.  So --

7 MR. MUSHKIN:  -- which is about half of what --

8 there will be about 3 million in a deficiency claim against

9 the other collateral.

10 THE COURT:  Which is not before me today.  Okay.

11 MR. MUSHKIN:  No.  But, Your Honor, my final

12 comment, if I could make it.

13 THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

14 MR. MUSHKIN:  In obtaining a TRO the standard is

15 pretty clear.  The only harm that could happen is that there

16 could be an overbid to what they think is owed.  There could

17 be an overbid to what they think is owed.

18 THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

19 MR. MUSHKIN:  If they were genuine about this,  

20 they would come to this Court and say, Your Honor, here’s the

21 amount we think is owed, we want to make a tender.  And then

22 we’d have something to talk about because they would have 

23 done what they had to do.  But they haven’t.  And they’ve now

24 provided bank statements and nowhere in those bank statements,

25 because I’ve canvassed the receiver, is there seven million
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1 dollars.  So this is just another move to stop the process

2 from going forward.

3 THE COURT:  Okay.  Counsel, I appreciate --

4 MR. MUSHKIN:  Respectfully, Judge, there’s no --

5 THE COURT:  I appreciate you each have your

6 frustrations on what your perceptions --

7 THE COURT:  No likelihood of success.

8 THE COURT:  The Court’s got to focus on the facts

9 and the law.

10 MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor, they have established no

11 irreparable harm, no likelihood of success on the merits, and

12 the public policy is well established that people’s contract

13 rights matter.  Thank you, Your Honor.

14 THE COURT:  Okay, thank you.

15 Okay, you get the last word for movant.  Go ahead,

16 please.

17 MS. BARRAZA:  Danielle Barraza for the plaintiffs. 

18 Just to correct some of the factual misstatements that were

19 made.  This is a residential property, number one.  It’s not 

20 a commercial property, in case there’s any confusion there. 

21 This is a residential property where a family lives.  Number

22 two --

23 THE COURT:  Counsel.  Counsel, while it physically

24 is a residential property, has it not been utilized as

25 collateral in business transactions?
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1 MS. BARRAZA:  So, it’s been utilized as collateral

2 in business transactions, but not by this -- not by this

3 property owner.  This property owner bought the property for

4 use for his personal property.  And he agreed to take on the

5 debt which was, you know, previously a commercial action,  

6 but that’s kind of a separate issue.

7 THE COURT:  Keep going.

8 MS. BARRAZA:  The bottom line is it’s a residential

9 property.  And it really just comes down to you have to still

10 follow the foreclosure statute when you’re noticing a sale and

11 you’re doing a notice of default and you’re giving a payoff

12 demand.  You still have to follow all the rules.  You don’t

13 get to just short-circuit everything because you want to do

14 your sale really fast.  And we’ve seen this happen again and

15 again from the defendants, starting from the very beginning

16 when they tried to foreclose.

17 THE COURT:  Counsel.  Counsel, same thing that I

18 said to opposing counsel.  You all’s perception of what each

19 other may or may not have done is not before the Court.  The

20 Court looks at the facts and the evidence and applies the

21 appropriate rules and law.  Thank you.  Please go ahead.

22 MS. BARRAZA:  Okay, so here’s a fact.  They’re

23 saying that all of the fees and costs for conducting the

24 foreclosure sale encompasses all of the prior notices that

25 they’ve done.  And that’s part of the problem that we have, 
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1 is their prior notices have been improper.  They’ve previously

2 done notices and recordings during the pandemic when they were

3 not allowed to be doing that.  So they’re trying to include

4 all of their defective, invalid notices into their fees and

5 costs for conducting the sale and that is improper.

6 It should only be the notices that actually apply to

7 conducting the sale, because they’ve done numerous.  It should

8 only be the ones that actually apply and it should only be 

9 the fees and costs for actually conducting the sale.  And it

10 absolutely should not be the fees and costs incurred from this

11 underlying action, from the bankruptcy action.  You know, a

12 property owner should not be punished because they’re filing

13 for bankruptcy.  It doesn’t mean that all their bankruptcy

14 fees and costs get tacked on to a payoff demand in a

15 foreclosure proceeding.  It just makes no sense.

16 So what we’re arguing here is we agree they can do

17 the foreclosure sale, but they have to follow the foreclosure

18 rules.  And there is no delay.  I mean, the property owner 

19 has prepaid on the first and second mortgage months in advance

20 pursuant to the bankruptcy plan.  The property owner has paid

21 almost a million dollars pursuant to the bankruptcy plan in

22 order to keep and preserve his property.  So the property

23 owner has been making payments to keep this property and the

24 property owner has every intent of redeeming the property

25 prior to the sale.
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1 But nothing -- that doesn’t change the fact that

2 there still needs to be a following of the foreclosure

3 statute, including a correct payoff demand amount so that 

4 that amount can actually get paid.  The property owner wants

5 to pay, has every intention to pay, but there needs to be an

6 actual correct amount in the payoff demand.  And, you know,

7 saying here last minute, oh, we’ll just take this off, we’ll

8 just take this off, that’s not really how it works.  You have

9 to properly notice everything, give the proper notice with 

10 the correct numbers and then you can do your sale.

11 And so --

12 THE COURT:  Sure.  What evidence does the Court 

13 have before it that these numbers are incorrect?  I looked

14 throughout the entirety of all the pleadings.  I did not see

15 anything that was any other number presented to this Court,

16 other than the numbers presented -- well, attached as exhibits

17 to the motion, the application/motion as well as the documents

18 attached to the opposition.  Are you stating that there is

19 another number that has been presented to this Court as

20 evidence of what is the correct number or that somehow their

21 number is incorrect?

22 MS. BARRAZA:  So what we’re saying is that the

23 reason we’re asking for an evidentiary hearing is to actually

24 get to the bottom line of what the actual number is for a 

25 good faith estimate of what it’s going to take for them to
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1 exercise the power of sale, which is one of the elements under

2 NRS 107.0805.  So we’re saying that --

3 THE COURT:  So, counsel, as of today.  I’ve got to

4 focus you in, right?  As of today does the Court have a number

5 in evidence that’s anything different than the number provided

6 via Mr. Mushkin, the $7,548,450.29?

7 MS. BARRAZA:  So, does the Court have anything in

8 evidence?  No.  That’s why we’re asking for an evidentiary

9 hearing to get to the numbers.  You know, we don’t know what 

10 -- we have no idea what their attorney’s fees and their costs

11 that they’re claiming, what that all encompasses, and if    

12 it encompasses Dacia LLC’s fees and costs, if it encompasses

13 the Antos Trust fees and costs, CBC Partners fees and costs. 

14 Because none of that would ever be appropriate for 5148

15 Spanish Heights’ foreclosure action.

16 You know, and we can’t make up numbers that we don’t

17 have.  We don’t have those numbers because they’re solely in

18 Mr. Mushkin’s capacity as far as the attorney’s fees and

19 costs, and they’re solely in Mr. Mushkin’s capacity as far as

20 what it’s actually going to cost to conduct this foreclosure

21 sale.  And that’s kind of why, you know, we’re asking for an

22 evidentiary hearing, so we can actually get actual numbers

23 here so that the property owner can pay this off.  He wants 

24 to pay it off.

25 But the reality is there hasn’t been a following  
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1 of the statute, especially when it comes to the good faith

2 estimate of all the fees imposed in connection with the

3 exercise of the power of sale.  That’s what they’re required

4 to do, no more, and they’ve already admitted in their

5 pleadings that the fees and costs that they’re asking for is

6 contract fees and costs.  And you can’t tack on contract fees

7 and costs onto a foreclosure payoff demand.  It’s just not  

8 in the statute.  You’re only allowed to do the fees and costs

9 included for conducting the sale.

10 So, you know, that’s our argument.  It’s an

11 improperly noticed sale, an improper payoff demand that needs

12 to be corrected and there’s no harm in setting a hearing so 

13 we can get the correct number and then proceed with the sale.

14 THE COURT:  So, wait.  So the answer to the Court’s

15 question is there is no number in evidence, is that correct,

16 by the movant?

17 MR. MUSHKIN:  That is correct, Your Honor.

18 MS. BARRAZA:  So, to my understanding of the

19 question, the answer is yes because we cannot make up numbers

20 as far as what these costs are going to entail.  And what we

21 have seen --

22 THE COURT:  Okay.  Counsel, realistically what I’m

23 just -- the same thing as I asked Mr. Mushkin.  Refer me to  

24 a page in one of the pleadings; right?  The same thing as I

25 asked for him, refer me to a page in the pleadings that has
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1 the number.  Is there a number that you can refer me to in 

2 one of the pleadings, please?

3 MS. BARRAZA:  So, I’m doing my best to answer your

4 question, Your Honor.  What I can point you to is the January

5 2021 letter.

6 THE COURT:  Okay.

7 MS. BARRAZA:  The motion at Exhibit 6.

8 THE COURT:  Sure.  That’s the January 4th letter, 

9 is that correct?

10 MS. BARRAZA:  Yes.  So, again, this may not be what

11 the Court is asking for.  I understand.  But we do need to

12 point to this number in evidence, which is on number seven,

13 where they’re saying right here the good faith estimate of 

14 the fees and costs is between $9,000 and $25,000.  So there’s

15 a number in evidence right there that Mr. Bloom relied on, 

16 and now we’re seeing a year later that number has been

17 extrapolated to nearly a million dollars.

18 THE COURT:  Wait, wait.  Wait, wait, counsel.  I’m

19 reading paragraph seven and maybe -- it says, “A good faith

20 estimate of all fees imposed in connection of the exercise  

21 of the power of sale is between $9,000 and $25,000, an amount

22 that will be added and which you may ultimately be responsible 

23 for” was on the January 4th, 2021.  It didn’t say that was all

24 attorney’s, right, attorney’s fees?  It says with the exercise

25 of the power of sale.  So are you saying that it was inclusive
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1 of all attorney’s fees to date or just the power of sale

2 difference, the $42,572.50 versus the $9,000 to $25,000? 

3 Could you clarify that point, please?

4 MS. BARRAZA:  Yes.  So kind of what we’re arguing 

5 is that it was -- it was, you know, potentially correctly 

6 done in January of 2021 because they only included the fees

7 and costs associated with the power of sale and they followed

8 the statute in that respect.  And now what they’ve done is not

9 only have they increased it, including these fees and costs

10 from this action in bankruptcy, but the fees and costs from

11 just the power of the sale have increased, too.  If you add 

12 up the two boxes, the $42,000 and the $12,000, that comes to

13 $54,000.  So our concern is how you’re getting from $9,000  

14 to $25,000 to $54,000, and how you’re tacking on over $800,000 

15 in other fees and costs, which is not allowed by the statute

16 at all.

17 THE COURT:  Okay.  So I’m going to have to ask the

18 question for you, Mr. Mushkin.  And before I do, I’m going to

19 just circle around with the receiver.  The receiver, I did

20 receive your brief, but since you took no substantive position 

21 with regards to the sale, is there anything you wish to state

22 at the hearing?  If not, I’m going to ask Mr. Mushkin a

23 question on behalf of his clients.

24 MS. O’STEEN:  No, Your Honor.  We’ll save everything

25 for next week at the hearing on February 3rd.
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1 THE COURT:  Okay.  So now let’s go to Mr. Mushkin. 

2 Please point to me the document that was -- because we’ve got

3 the notice of trustee sale, right, which is dated 1/11/2022,

4 okay, which does mention the $2,935,001.14.  So where are the

5 other numbers been presented to Spanish Heights?

6 MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor, it’s, simply put, not

7 required.  If you look at Document 187, which is the findings,

8 at page 18, Item Number 12, it is specifically found --

9 THE COURT:  Hold on just one second.  Let’s make

10 sure we give everyone a quick second to make sure we’re all 

11 on the same document and page.  So let’s go to 187, please; 

12 187.  Just a second.  Okay.  What page number, please, so that

13 everyone is on the same page, literally and figuratively.

14 Go ahead.

15 MR. MUSHKIN:  It’s page 18 of 21.

16 THE COURT:  Okay.

17 MR. MUSHKIN:  NRS 107.500 and also NRS 107.0805 by

18 its very nature do not apply.  This is not an owner-occupied

19 residence.  This is an LLC that owns the property and SHAC

20 doesn’t live there.  There’s another lease, allegedly, with

21 SJCV.  And then Mr. Bloom, as the manager of SJCV, enjoys the

22 benefit of the house.

23 THE COURT:  Okay.

24 MR. MUSHKIN:  So all of this reliance that they’ve

25 made does not apply.
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1 THE COURT:  Okay.  So --

2 MR. MUSHKIN:  This is a commercial loan, properly

3 noticed for sale.  The fees have been broken out.  We did so

4 as a courtesy because they asked.  And then they have now 

5 come before you with nothing to support the claim of interest

6 on a transaction that they’ve not made a tender for.

7 So, respectfully, Judge, they haven’t come close  

8 to the standard for a TRO and their motion should be denied.

9 THE COURT:  Okay.  Since it is their motion, I’m

10 going to give the very last word to Ms. Barraza on behalf of

11 Spanish Heights if you have anything else.  If not, the Court

12 is going to make its ruling.

13 MS. BARRAZA:  So just very briefly.  We’ve said it

14 numerous times.  I’m sure the Court knows our position, but

15 the April 2021 findings of fact and conclusions of law, that

16 was the result of the defendants violating the bankruptcy stay

17 and continuing on with an evidentiary hearing in violation of

18 the bankruptcy laws.  And they were sanctioned for doing so 

19 by the bankruptcy court and the bankruptcy court did rule 

20 that they violated it.  And everything except for the specific

21 rulings on the one action rule and the doctrine of merger is

22 void.  And so we have concerns about --

23 THE COURT:  Hold on a second.  Give me the pleading

24 that you’re referencing that you’re saying states that,

25 because --
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1 MR. MUSHKIN:  That’s just purely false, Your Honor.

2 THE COURT:  Counsel, let’s -- each party is given 

3 an opportunity for making a statement that you say is relied

4 upon by a document until you provide me the document or the

5 information with the record.  So the same thing for both

6 sides, folks, fair and equal.

7 So, counsel for Spanish Heights, what pleading are

8 you referencing?

9 MS. BARRAZA:  All right.  So I’m referencing a

10 pleading, our reply, and it’s Exhibit 3, the bankruptcy order.

11 THE COURT:  Because I had read that I hadn’t seen 

12 it that way, but let’s go back and let’s go to -- one second,

13 your reply, which is -- I think it’s Document 300.  I’ll

14 double check the date.  Okay.  So let’s go to your Exhibit 3. 

15 It’s going to take a minute because of it not being in

16 accordance with EDCR 2.27, so one second.  Okay.  Exhibit 3.

17 MS. BARRAZA:  So I just want to --

18 THE COURT:  Document 119 from the federal court,

19 dated 5/26/2021.  Is that, counsel, what you’re referencing?

20 MS. BARRAZA:  Yes.  So I want to just kind of

21 explain it.  It says that they violated the automatic stay

22 with respect to issues A, B and C of the findings of fact and

23 conclusions of law.  So you have to kind of cross-reference to

24 the findings of fact and conclusions of law as to what those

25 issues are.  And we set forth that those issues are -- those
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1 issues are a contractual interpretation of the documents, the

2 forbearance agreement, the promissory note.  It’s basically --

3 and the deed of trust.  It’s the actual interpretation of

4 these documents.

5 THE COURT:  Okay.  Hold on a second.

6 MS. BARRAZA:  And the only thing that’s not included

7 as far as violating the stay were the findings on the doctrine

8 of merger and the one action rule because those were I think 

9 D and E.  And so --

10 THE COURT:  Wait.  Counsel, have you attached ECF

11 79-2, page 3, to any pleading for this Court to review?

12 MS. BARRAZA:  Have I attached -- I’m sorry, Your

13 Honor.  You’re saying --

14 THE COURT:  You’re making an interpretation; right?

15 MS. BARRAZA:  Yes.

16 THE COURT:  So, but there’s a specific reference  

17 in the order as issues A, B, and C --

18 MS. BARRAZA:  Okay.

19 THE COURT:  -- on ECF Number 79-2, page 3, note 1,

20 lines 17 through 20; right?  So the Court, in order to read

21 that, has to have that.

22 MS. BARRAZA:  Okay.  Understood.  We did not attach

23 that.  I don’t think there’s any dispute as to what A, B,  

24 and C say from the findings of fact and conclusions of law,

25 that first footnote on the April 6, 2021 findings of fact and
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1 conclusions of law.  So, understood, it was a mistake.  The

2 reason we didn’t do it is because there is no dispute as to

3 what those three sections are.  Everyone agrees what they say.

4 THE COURT:  I’m hearing -- well, Mr. Mushkin, do 

5 you agree what they say and that this was violated, so

6 therefore --

7 MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor, the sections --

8 THE COURT:  Sorry.  Go ahead.

9 MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor, I agree what the sections

10 say, but I do not agree what counsel is trying to reference,

11 and that is somehow that the findings don’t apply to SJCV.

12 THE COURT:  SJC --

13 MR. MUSHKIN:  This is a quantum leap that is made. 

14 SJCV is not the debtor.  SJCV is the party to the forbearance

15 agreement.

16 THE COURT:  Right.  And that’s why the Court was --

17 that’s why the Court keeps on asking.  We’ve got to keep the

18 parties separate.

19 MR. MUSHKIN:  Thank you.

20 THE COURT:  We’ve got to get the parties correctly

21 identified.  So let me circle back.

22 Counsel, are you asserting that the reference was 

23 to a party that was not in bankruptcy, which is the party at

24 issue in today’s hearing with relationship to your motion for

25 TRO and injunction?  Are you saying it’s the same party?
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1 MS. BARRAZA:  So the ruling is in reference to -- 

2 it still affects SHAC, the property owner.

3 THE COURT:  But doesn’t the footnote in the findings

4 of fact and conclusions of law, doesn’t Judge Gonzalez

5 specifically say that it doesn’t apply?  So this Court --

6 that’s the law of the case.  It does not apply to the party

7 that was in bankruptcy.  It only applies to all the other

8 parties.

9 MS. BARRAZA:  So, we understand that’s what it says,

10 and then that’s exactly how the defendants attempted to try 

11 to get around a finding that they had violated the bankruptcy

12 stay, and the bankruptcy court ruled otherwise.  And this

13 Court had asked for briefing before the settlement agreement,

14 had asked for briefing for everybody on the applicability of

15 those April 2021 findings of fact and conclusions of law.  We

16 briefed it fully and then we came to the settlement agreement. 

17 So there was no actual ruling from this Court as to which

18 portions of the April 2021 findings of fact and conclusions 

19 of law are void as a result of the bankruptcy court’s ruling. 

20 So I just want to provide the full background.  We

21 had done that briefing and this Court was kind of due to make

22 a decision but didn’t have to do it because the parties came

23 to a settlement agreement.  And so it’s kind of premature at

24 this point to be pointing to what the findings of fact and

25 conclusions of law say when this Court hasn’t made a ruling 
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1 on what portions of that apply.

2 THE COURT:  Wait, wait, wait.  Okay, so let’s circle

3 back.  The sale, notice of sale is as to which -- since you

4 all are saying different things and I can read it the way  

5 I’m reading it, but the notice of trustee sale is as to what

6 entity?  Are you saying it’s Spanish --

7 MS. BARRAZA:  The property owner, which is SHAC.

8 THE COURT:  Are you saying it’s Spanish Heights

9 Acquisition Company, counsel?

10 MS. BARRAZA:  Correct.  That’s what I’m saying, 

11 Your Honor.

12 MR. MUSHKIN:  And, Your Honor, there’s been a lift

13 of stay.  Don’t be distracted.  There’s now a lift of stay in

14 the case.  There’s a confirmed plan and a settlement agreement 

15 on the record in this matter.  There is no valid impediment 

16 to the sale scheduled for the 1st.  The only arguments they’ve

17 made today is about money.

18 THE COURT:  Okay.  The Court is going to make its

19 ruling.  Let’s go directly to the standards, folks; right?   

20 I have before me two different motions.  The motion for a

21 temporary restraining order -- I gave you the opportunity to

22 argue both on the motion for a temporary restraining order and

23 gave you the opportunity to argue on behalf of the preliminary

24 injunction.  So the Court having the full opportunity to now

25 have read all the briefing, has read all the briefing, has
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1 heard oral argument, has even asked the parties to pinpoint

2 particular evidence they think supports their arguments with

3 regards to each of the issues that are raised.

4 So now we have to look at going to the standards. 

5 One second, please.  First we’re going to address the

6 application for a temporary restraining order standards.   

7 The application for a temporary restraining order standards --

8 give me one second.

9 So let’s go first to the generalized NRS 33.010

10 provides cases in which injunctions may be granted.  “An

11 injunction may be granted in the following cases.  1. When it

12 shall appear by the complaint that the plaintiff is entitled

13 to the relief demanded and such relief or any part thereof

14 consists in restraining the commission or continuance of   

15 the act complained of, either for a limited purpose or

16 perpetually.”  2. When it shall appear by the complaint or

17 affidavit that the commission or continuance of some act

18 during the litigation would produce great or irreparable

19 injury to the plaintiff.  3. When it shall appear during the

20 litigation that the defendant is doing or threatens or is

21 about to do or is procuring or suffering to be done some act

22 in violation of the plaintiff’s rights respecting the subject

23 action and tending to render the judgement ineffectual.”

24 Then you go to NRCP 65.  NRCP 65; one second.     

25 It provides -- okay.  So, NRCP 65 provides injunctions and
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1 restraining orders.  Preliminary injunctions, subpart (a). 

2 “The court may issue a preliminary injunction only on notice

3 to the adverse party.”  Well, obviously you have notice

4 because you’re both here.  “2. Consolidating the hearing  

5 with the trial on the merits.”  That has not been asked, so

6 the Court is only addressing the preliminary injunction and

7 the temporary restraining order standard.  “Before or after

8 beginning the hearing on a motion for a preliminary

9 injunction, the court may advance the trial on the merits and

10 consolidate it with the hearing.  Even when consolidation is

11 not ordered, evidence that is received on the motion and that

12 would be admissible at trial becomes part of the trial record

13 and need not be repeated at trial.  But the court must

14 preserve a party’s right to a jury trial.”

15 The Court is not providing this with any trial on

16 the merits, nobody requested it, the Court is not doing it 

17 sua sponte.  I’m treating it as a preliminary injunction and

18 temporary restraining order as specifically stated in the

19 papers by the movant.

20 So, temporary restraining order.  This is not a

21 temporary restraining order without notice, so I’m not   

22 going to read that because this is a hearing and the Court

23 specifically set this for a hearing.

24 So then you look at the aspects of what needs to be

25 done when you have a contested hearing, which really circles
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1 you back to the NRS standard.  So, temporary restraining

2 order; right?  You all agree what the standards are with a

3 temporary restraining order.  You have to show that there   

4 is activities that need to be enjoined; irreparable harm.

5 And let me go to -- one second, please.  The likelihood of

6 success on the merits to grant a preliminary injunction and

7 also need to show irreparable harm.  You all have cited a

8 variety of different cases, both state cases and federal

9 cases.

10 So the Court looks first at the aspect of likelihood

11 of success on the merits of their claim.  The Court does not

12 find that the movant has met their burden on likelihood of

13 success on the merits of the claim.  The Court does take into

14 account law of the case in this case.  The Court has not been

15 provided any evidence that the law of the case is inapplicable

16 to the instant situation.

17 The Court is very clear, as the law of the case has

18 shown, and even all the records presented for this specific

19 hearing have shown this is not a standard residential property

20 where you have like a bank trying to foreclose and it’s kind

21 of a home situation.  This has been a property that’s been

22 utilized in a commercial-like context, and what I mean by that

23 is whether you go for the LLCs, it’s been used as collateral

24 in business transactions, etcetera.

25 It does not have that unique aspect that the Court
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1 would look at in an general house that somebody is being

2 foreclosed on that’s lived in that house and doesn’t have

3 these unique aspects that apply to this property.  While  

4 this property is, quote, “a residence” in that it is in a

5 residential community and it is a house, it does not have

6 those unique aspects that the typical quote, “house” has

7 because of the way that this property has been utilized in 

8 the various aspects which is clearly throughout the record.

9 So, like I said, looking at the merits.  The merits

10 are that the assertions that certain things needed to be

11 followed and were not followed has not been established, even

12 for a likelihood that it would have some merit on that claim. 

13 The Court has asked specifically was there any

14 alternative number, was there any payoff, was there anything

15 to show that there is any evidence that the numbers asserted

16 by the defendant is inaccurate.  The Court has not been

17 provided anything.  The only thing the Court (sic) said is,

18 well, we need an evidentiary hearing to see if we can prove 

19 to find out what these numbers are.

20 But given the date of the notice and given this is

21 the second notice because there was a notice back in 2011

22 (sic), the Court notes there was no contesting, even if  

23 there was some issue with regards to a difference between the

24 current $7,500,000 et al number versus the number from January

25 4th, 2021 of a default of $5,578,459.15.  That $5,578,459.15
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1 isn’t disputed, so that in and of itself would show there’s

2 not a likelihood of success on the merits on the ability to

3 move forward with the foreclosure, which is the action being

4 requested to be restrained, okay.

5 And, in fact, counsel has even conceded that there

6 can be a foreclosure.  The issue isn’t whether there can be  

7 a foreclosure and the foreclosure sale can take place on

8 February 1.  The issue really is what is potentially -- if

9 there’s a credit bid concept or what is the amount that is

10 owed to the party that is doing the sale.  That is a monetary

11 amount.  That does not fall even within an injunction because

12 it’s contesting a monetary amount, okay.

13 So this is not the issue of the foreclosure. 

14 Everybody agrees it can be foreclosed under the forbearance

15 agreement.  It can be foreclosed by law of the case.  It can

16 be foreclosed by even the parties’ initial settlement that 

17 was not complied with when the funds were not paid.  Those

18 independently -- so they’re not in conjunction, independently

19 all provide these bases.

20 The nature of the property, how it’s been utilized

21 also allows this foreclosure to take place.  And there really

22 is a monetary disagreement between the parties.  Whether it’s

23 $900,000 or some other amount, it’s a monetary amount and that

24 would not be for purposes of foreclosure under the applicable

25 case law, incorporating the cases that are cited in each of
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1 the pleadings; right?

2 So likelihood of success on the merits has not been

3 met.  So now you look at the next prong.  Will the plaintiff

4 suffer irreparable injury if the injunction is not issued? 

5 Well, here, because the injunction really is being asked for

6 the Court to hold an evidentiary hearing to decide a monetary

7 issue, the Court really doesn’t see that there’s going to be

8 any irreparable harm because realistically if somebody wanted

9 some hearing, this could have been done differently.  That,

10 itself, could have been done on OST.

11 This notice came out and it looks like at least

12 there’s communications back to, well, early January, at least

13 January 5th by some of the attachments.  So if somebody wanted

14 said relief, that could have been requested earlier.  It’s 

15 not the subject of an injunction.  But if there was a dispute

16 over the monetary amount, then that could have been addressed. 

17 It was not.

18 But once again, when you look at irreparable injury,

19 since the parties agree the foreclosure can go forward because

20 a foreclosure is allowed under the forbearance agreement and

21 all the contractual documents for this particular piece of

22 property, then the Court doesn’t see that there is irreparable

23 injury because it’s really a matter of who has to pay what to

24 potentially either retain the house or credit bid the house 

25 or some third party wants to bid on the house.  Who knows? 
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1 That monetary issue, there’s not irreparable harm because

2 nobody is saying that somebody is being precluded from even

3 bidding on the house.  So if the movant wished to bid on the

4 house, that’s not being precluded by anybody.  It’s whether

5 they want to or not.

6 So there really isn’t any irreparable injury for

7 this piece of property that’s been utilized for business

8 purposes, so there’s no irreparable injury with regards to

9 Hamm v. Arrowcreek Homeowners Association, 124 Nev. 28,  

10 2008.  This is not an issue where the property is unique and

11 interference with real property rights leads to irreparable

12 harm.  This is not a Dixon v. Thatcher case.  This is very

13 distinguishable, as not only set forth in the record but   

14 the Court has also stated here today based on what has been

15 presented to this Court.

16 So now you look at the balance of hardships and

17 public interest.  They weigh in favor of the defendants.  This

18 is a forbearance agreement.  It’s a contractual agreement that

19 has been able to move forward.  Now, there’s been some issues

20 with Covid.  There’s been some other intervening bankruptcies,

21 but that does not in any way take away from the initial

22 opportunity that in a business transaction that the business

23 party can move forward to have their rights adjudicated and

24 funds paid to them.  Once again, the Court mentions again that

25 this is about money and so it is not about unique property. 
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1 So when I have to look at that, really the balance of

2 hardships and the public interest weigh heavily in favor    

3 of the party who is moving forward with the foreclosure,   

4 the defendant parties.

5 Okay.  So now you look at -- and realistically then

6 we go to the preliminary injunction standard.  So with regards

7 to a temporary restraining order, there’s no basis for a

8 temporary restraining order.  So now we see in the absence  

9 of the Court granting a temporary restraining order or even

10 independently if this was not sought as a TRO and then a

11 preliminary injunction, you go to the standards with regards

12 to a preliminary injunction.

13 While the purpose of a preliminary injunction is  

14 to preserve the status quo until a trial on the merits can be

15 held, Ottenheimer v. Nevada Real Estate Division, 91 Nev. 338. 

16 So here the Court doesn’t see that there is any harmful action

17 that there needs to be, quote, “a status quo” because the

18 foreclosure under contractual agreements can take place.  

19 Like I said, it really goes to the monetary amount.

20 So let’s go to the standards for a preliminary

21 injunction.  The standards for a preliminary injunction, as

22 set forth in the pleadings, which you all at least agree  

23 what the standards are, let’s walk through.  One second.   

24 I’m pausing for one second.  I’m just going to get to the

25 citation.  One second.  Okay.  So most of the standards with
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1 regards to a temporary instruction (sic) is also looked for 

2 preliminary injunction.  Plaintiffs are asserting that they’re

3 going to have irreparable harm for which no money damages are

4 adequate.  However, as the Court has already stated and as

5 plaintiff really has conceded, it is monetary damages.  This

6 is nothing unique about this piece of property that’s been

7 used for a business transaction and collateral thereon, this

8 is monetary damages; the dispute of $900,000, etcetera.

9 So the Court wouldn’t find that the -- you’re

10 looking at the injunction standards -- hold on one second. 

11 Okay.  So we’re going back to the likelihood of success on  

12 the merits.  The Court would incorporate its analysis under  

13 a temporary restraining order.  Those equally apply under a

14 preliminary injunction standard because it really is a breadth

15 and depth concept.

16 So it does not find that plaintiff has demonstrated

17 a likelihood of success on the merits.  There’s no assertion

18 that plaintiff can even pay the amount, wants to pay the

19 amount; didn’t even assert that they are tending any said

20 amount.  Really, they’re just asserting that they’re

21 disagreeing with -- and they haven’t even shown that they paid

22 the underlying amount from 2021, even that as the undisputed

23 amount could have been paid.  Once again, it’s money.  So the

24 likelihood of success on the merits, the plaintiff has not 

25 met their burden there.
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1 Irreparable harm.  There you have to look at if

2 there’s no adequate remedy of law and damages are not

3 adequate. Well, here it’s a damages issue.  It’s a calculation

4 of money, so it really doesn’t apply.  There really isn’t  

5 any irreparable harm because while it’s asserted that an

6 individual, Mr. Bloom, who is not the party which this is

7 being against, he is an individual.  He may be part of that

8 entity, may reside in the location, this is not a personal

9 residence, as has been -- because it’s been used in different

10 actions as part of business transactions.  So there is no

11 irreparable harm because, once again, the parties agree that

12 the forbearance agreement allows the house to be sold if the

13 monies haven’t been paid.  So, really, it’s just a dispute

14 over money.  There is no irreparable harm.

15 The Court looks at the totality of the exhibits that

16 were attached and there’s been notice of foreclosures back in

17 2020 and 2021.  The Court takes no position as to whether or

18 not those could have moved forward because of bankruptcy stays

19 or pandemic issues, but I’m just going from a notice concept,

20 even taking the most recent one that it is not shown that it

21 was improper.

22 So now we go to relative hardships of the parties. 

23 Here, the Court really sees the relative hardships of the

24 parties is not as large of a factor because I don’t see that

25 plaintiff has met their burden that they’re going to have a

48



1 huge hardship because the aspect of the foreclosure taking

2 place is allowed under the forbearance agreement.  It really

3 is the hardship is would they potentially have to pay more

4 money because of what’s being demanded versus the money they

5 feel that they should have to pay, but yet have not provided

6 any evidence that the money being sought is an inaccurate

7 amount, has not sought any court ruling on that previously to

8 the pending motion.  Has not said that there is any evidence

9 that there is a different amount.  There’s been no alternative

10 calculation, etcetera.

11 So the Court can’t find that there is a hardship  

12 on behalf of plaintiff, other than of course -- the plaintiff,

13 other than of course that the resident who’s currently

14 residing in the house may have to move, depending on who bids

15 on the house at the foreclosure.  It’s not saying it’s going

16 to one person.  It’s a matter if it goes up for bid.

17 When I look at the hardship of the defendant movant,

18 if it doesn’t happen, given the dissipation of assets and 

19 even independent of the dissipation of assets, looking at the

20 length of the loan, the amount and how it’s accruing, the

21 Court does find that a business transaction party is being

22 implicated and impacted and has a hardship by not receiving

23 funds that they are owed.  And the Court when its saying funds

24 are owed is not necessarily saying the attorney’s fees, which

25 I’ll get to in a second.
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1 Now look at the public interest.  The impact on non-

2 parties.  Public policy doesn’t really -- the pubic policy for

3 a personal family residence does not apply here because this

4 house has been utilized in so many business-type transactions,

5 used as collateral, part of the forbearance agreement,

6 etcetera.  So the Court doesn’t find that those factors for  

7 a physical residence would be appropriate.  And remember, the

8 individual who is actually residing in the house is a manager

9 of an LLC.  This is an LLC who owns the house and this is not

10 one of those LLCs that has been shown to this -- excuse me. 

11 And that LLC is engaged in business transactions which they

12 determined to utilize the house as collateral or from a

13 successor relationship and successor contracts, etcetera. 

14 This was all part of business transactions in a more global

15 context.

16 So the public interest is really in favor of having

17 the needs met in business transactions.  The business

18 transactions can go forward.  So the public interest goes to

19 the party of defendants.

20 So then we go to the citation that’s really -- it’s

21 consistent with all the cases cited in each of your respective

22 pleadings, and so therefore the Court would find that neither

23 the standard of a temporary restraining order nor the standard

24 of a preliminary injunction have been met for all the reasons

25 stated, and therefore the motion -- plaintiff’s application
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1 for temporary restraining order and motion for preliminary

2 injunction are both denied without prejudice.  The Court

3 taking no position; did not combine this as a trial on the

4 merits.

5 With regards to the Court’s ruling, that is the

6 Court’s ruling.  It is so ordered.  However, the Court has 

7 one caveat question.  The caveat question really is because 

8 of various issues going on independent with the financial

9 aspects.  What is the current determination after the

10 foreclosure sale takes place with regards to tendering any

11 proceeds in escrow, etcetera?  Counsel for defendants, what’s

12 going to happen there?  Because you said it may be a credit

13 bid or -- we don’t know who is going to purchase it.

14 MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor, I do not expect --

15 THE COURT:  Go ahead.

16 MR. MUSHKIN:  I do not expect there to be any

17 proceeds.  If there are proceeds in excess of our bid, those

18 proceeds would be held by Nevada Trust Deed Services and

19 tendered to the record owner of the property.

20 THE COURT:  Okay.  So the Court’s ruling today,

21 remember, is purely on the standards of a TRO and a

22 preliminary injunction.  The Court is not independently

23 authorizing anything else to be done; right?  The narrow

24 ruling -- and don’t take that one way or another by any  

25 side.  It’s just the only issue before this Court today was  
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1 a temporary restraining order and a preliminary injunction,

2 and combined in said application and motion, while not any

3 separate motion with any points and authorities that one

4 potential way to do it is that the preliminary injunction

5 and/or temporary restraining order would remain in effect

6 until after an evidentiary hearing, but that is not a separate

7 relief request.  And even if it were a separate relief 

8 request for an evidentiary hearing, there was no points and

9 authorities or anything that would say that the evidentiary

10 hearing could not go forward after the foreclosure.

11 The Court takes no position on that, whether it

12 could or could not, because that’s not before me.  The Court 

13 -- only before me was the temporary restraining order and

14 preliminary injunction. For all the reasons stated, the Court

15 does not find that those standards have been met by the

16 movant.  And so therefore, like I said, for all the reasons

17 stated the Court denies it.

18 That means counsel for defendant, you’re going to 

19 be writing a very detailed findings of fact -- an order

20 consistent with the Court’s ruling today.

21 And is there anything else the Court can do for the

22 parties?  Because I now have --

23 MR. MUSHKIN:  No, Your Honor.  Thank you very much. 

24 Have a very nice weekend.

25 THE COURT:  Thank you.  Counsel on behalf of
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1 plaintiff, anything else from your end?

2 MS. BARRAZA:  No.  Thank you, Your Honor.

3 THE COURT:  I appreciate it.  Thank you.  The

4 receiver, you’re not on today, you’re on for next week, so  

5 is there anything we need for today or just next week?

6 MS. O’STEEN:  Next week, Your Honor.  Thank you.

7 THE COURT:  Okay.  Then wish everyone a great rest

8 of your week.  Thank you so very much.

9 (PROCEEDINGS CONCLUDED AT 9:47 A.M.)

10 * * * * *
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          ACCESS TRANSCRIPTS, LLC                       1-855-USE-ACCESS (873-2223)

1 (Proceedings commence at 9:31 a.m.)

2 THE COURTROOM DEPUTY:  And the matter on the Court's

3 calendar this morning is Spanish Heights Acquisition Company

4 LLC, Case Number 21-10501.  May we have appearances, please.

5 MR. GREENE:  Good morning, Your Honor.  This is James

6 Greene on behalf of the reorganized debtor, and I believe my

7 state court co-counsel is also on the line in case there are

8 any issues relating to the state court matters, Danielle

9 Barraza.

10 MS. BARRAZA:  That's correct.  Danielle Barraza's

11 here, Bar Number 13822.

12 MR. MUSHKIN:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Mike

13 Mushkin, Bar Number 2421, for 5148 and related parties.

14 THE COURT:  All right, good morning.  I certainly was

15 not really happy to see this case come up again on the docket. 

16 Unfortunately, we find ourselves here today.  Mr. Greene and

17 Mr. Mushkin, be aware that I have read everything to include

18 the exhibits. but I'm going to let you both argue.  

19 And so let's go ahead, Mr. Greene, and you go ahead

20 and start.  This is the motion for order to show cause for

21 violations of the confirmed Chapter 11 plan for seeking related

22 relief.  Please proceed, Mr. Greene.  

23 MR. GREENE:  Thank you, Your Honor.  And thank you

24 for hearing this matter on shortened time.  Like you, I wish we

25 weren't here at this point, but we don't feel like there's any
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1 choice but to, frankly, try to protect the integrity of the

2 Court's confirmation order.  

3 I'm not going to go into a lot of background.  I know

4 Your Honor's very familiar with this case, in both good and bad

5 ways.  But essentially, it boils down to this.  The terms of

6 the plan that all of the parties entitled to vote voted in

7 favor of confirmation of provide that as to secured creditor

8 5148, that they -- that that entity has an allowed secured

9 claim in the amount of $7 million, and that that amount is to

10 bear interest at five and a half percent per annum from the

11 date of entry of the confirmation order until it is paid.  

12 The plan provided for an interest payment on January

13 1 and on the first of each month thereafter until the full

14 amount was paid, the full amount of the $7 million, and for

15 payment of $4 million on January 5th, and the balance due on, I

16 believe it was, April 5th, $3 million, at which time the full

17 amount would be paid.  Admittedly, the debtor, despite having

18 made in excess of half a million dollars, somewhere between 5-

19 and $600,000 in payments to other secured creditors, taxing

20 authorities, et cetera, in enacting -- implementing the plan,

21 the debtor was not able to make the payments due to 5148 in

22 January.  

23 The plan has very specific provisions.  It says that

24 in the event of a default by the debtor in making payments to

25 5148, 5148 is entitled to foreclose consistent with provisions
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1 of Nevada law without further order of the Court.  There's

2 nothing, not a word, in the plan that says that the amount that

3 5148 is entitled to claim in the foreclosure process is in

4 excess of or different from the amount of its allowed secured

5 claim in the plan, $7 million plus five and a half percent

6 interest.  Nevertheless, when the foreclosure process started,

7 the demand that was made by 5148 was for in excess of seven and

8 a half million dollars.  And we have evidence of that in, for

9 example, the January 7 email from Mr. Mushkin to Ms. Barraza

10 and other parties, where he says "Attached is the breakdown hot

11 off the presses," and that refers to the breakdown of the

12 amount of the demand for payment of the 5148 claim.  

13 And this, Your Honor, is at --it's actually in

14 Exhibit 2 filed in support of Mr. Mushkin's opposition, and

15 that is ECF Document Number 295, and we're looking, or I'm

16 looking at least, at Page 124.  And then, 125 is the breakdown,

17 and it's making a demand.  It has a number of different items,

18 making a demand for 7,519,502.33.  

19 Well, Your Honor, as of this date, the amount that

20 was due under the confirmed plan was about $7,050,000.  Ms.

21 Barraza responded, which is the next page of the exhibit, ECF

22 295, Page 126, and questions a number of the items in the

23 breakdown and ask for explanations or for support for those

24 documents.  Looking further at the email string at ECF 295,

25 Page 133 -- or excuse me, Page 1 -- ECF 295, Page 131, Mr.
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1 Mushkin basically brushes Ms. Barraza off.  "I have no

2 obligation to do as you requested," and he refuses to provide

3 any breakdown or analysis.

4 A few days later, now we're at ECF 295, Page 133,

5 Ms. Barraza again reaches out to Mr. Mushkin and asked for an

6 explanation of the figures and challenges the figures.  That

7 resulted in no response from Mr. Mushkin supporting that they

8 do.  

9 So what we have at that point, Your Honor, is we have

10 5148 asserting that it is owed roughly -- I did the

11 calculation, I think it's a little over $450,000 more than it

12 is entitled to under the plan.  So it's essentially ignoring,

13 disregarding the terms of plan and the plan confirmation order

14 and a copy of the plan, as always attached to the plan

15 confirmation order and incorporated therein.  And that -- so

16 they're simply ignoring and violating the plan confirmation

17 order and making a demand for payment of far more than they are

18 entitled to under the plan.

19 That put the debtor the position of having to seek

20 relief from the state court, and so the debtor filed on, I

21 think it was January 19th, a motion for a temporary restraining

22 order.  And that is attached, Your Honor, as Exhibit 3 to our

23 motion, which is ECF 990-1, and it starts at Page 56.  And

24 then, Mr. Mushkin filed an opposition to that motion, which is

25 Exhibit 4 to our motion, and includes in that opposition a
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1 breakdown of the amount that 5148 is claiming is due.  And now,

2 I'm looking at ECF 290-1, Page 141, and there's a breakdown,

3 and the amount sought now appears to be -- it appears to be

4 going back to the original documents, the original promissory

5 note, the forbearance agreement.  It's got three different

6 categories of attorneys' fees and costs.  I note that the

7 bankruptcy attorneys' fees and costs are nearly $200,000, which

8 is amazing to me given that my fees were far less than that. 

9 But in any event, it's not based on the plan.  It's ignoring

10 the plan, and it's asking for $7,548,450.29.  

11 The state court ultimately did not grant relief.  The

12 hearing was held on the Friday before the Tuesday foreclosure. 

13 They did seek emergency relief from the Nevada Supreme Court,

14 and for whatever reason, of course, in that very short

15 timeframe, was not able to obtain relief.  That court declined

16 to grant the debtor relief and stay the foreclosure.  So the

17 foreclosure went forward on Tuesday, February 1st.

18 The points that I would make in looking at these

19 calculations, Your Honor, is not only are they not based on

20 what the terms of the plan provide, but I think that everybody

21 on this call knows, or at least the bankruptcy people, that the

22 terms of the plan supersede the preexisting loan documents. 

23 Here, we have a situation where there was a set amount

24 determined that 5148 was going to be entitled to be paid. 

25 Nothing in the plan allowed -- provided that if there's a
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1 default, we're throwing that number out, you can go back to the

2 original loan documents, you can add additional amounts.  The

3 amount that 5148 should have been seeking was $7 million plus

4 five and a half percent interest through whatever the date is,

5 and the debtor was able to pay that, would have been willing to

6 pay that, but it was not able or willing to pay an additional

7 450- or $500,000.  

8 And in the opposition, it's interesting because 5148

9 says, well, we took the property at the foreclosure sale with a

10 credit bid of $3 million.  If they had the ability to pay this

11 off, they should have shown up and bid.  

12 But, Your Honor, in the context of the emails and in

13 the context of the opposition to the TRO and the demands that

14 were being made for payment, I think we all on this call

15 understand that they started out with a credit bid of

16 $3 million, but they could have credit bid up to whatever

17 amount they were claiming.  So it would have been a futile act

18 for -- excuse me, for the debtor to show up and make a bid,

19 knowing that 5148 was simply going to increase its bid up to

20 $7,458,000 or whatever the figure was on that February 1st

21 date.  

22 So it's basically saying making a sort of ridiculous

23 argument, if you ask me.  Show up, pay far more than you're

24 obligated to pay under your confirmed plan, and then maybe

25 you'll be able to recover it at some point down the road.  That
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1 is not how the law works.  That's not how the plan works.  We

2 have a blatant violation of the plan and an excessive demand.

3 THE COURT:  Mr. Greene?

4 MR. GREENE:  Yes, Your Honor.  

5 THE COURT:  Why -- didn't the state court hear that

6 argument?  I mean, they didn't -- nobody appears, from the

7 transcript, to have brought up the plan treatment, but didn't

8 the -- wasn't it presented to the court that this was an issue

9 regarding the credit bid, at least that was in part one of the

10 arguments, and the court rejected that, didn't they?  Hasn't

11 this already been ruled on by the state court?  

12 MR. GREENE:  Well, I don't think so, Your Honor,

13 because you're right, it wasn't brought up in the state court. 

14 What was brought up in the state court is the fact that these

15 numbers seem to be coming out of thin air.  And that was the

16 argument made.

17 THE COURT:  But, Mr. Greene, these --

18 MR. GREENE:  Yeah.

19 THE COURT:  -- the plan certainly was already

20 confirmed prior to the state court hearing.  It could have been

21 brought up.  And -- correct?  Do you agree with that?  

22 MR. GREENE:  I do agree with that, Your Honor.  And -

23 -

24 THE COURT:  Right.  Because what it --

25 MR. GREENE:  -- it was not.  I think the thought
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1 process was -- and I was not involved in the briefing in the

2 state court, Your Honor, but I think the thought process was

3 that the state court didn't have jurisdiction to rule on a plan

4 confirmation issue, that that would be the province of this

5 Court.  But time was getting so short.  As I say, the hearing

6 on the motion for the temporary restraining order was on a

7 Friday, and the foreclosure sale was the subsequent Tuesday. 

8 And in between, there was the crush of trying to get to the

9 Supreme Court to obtain relief, and the relief was being based

10 basically on the Nevada foreclosure laws as opposed to the plan

11 confirmation order.  

12 THE COURT:  But, Mr. Greene, you would agree you've

13 been a bankruptcy attorney for a long time, a very good one. 

14 You would agree that the plan is simply a contract at this

15 point, right?  It's a confirmed plan.  Why would the court, the

16 state court, not have jurisdiction to look at an issue of,

17 essentially, the contract it sounds like what would be asserted

18 or something similar.  This Court doesn't have exclusive

19 jurisdiction over that.  At this point, it's just a contract. 

20 Right?

21 MR. GREENE:  That is correct, Your Honor.  That is

22 well-established law in the bankruptcy world that once

23 confirmed, a plan is essentially a contract.  And as I say, I

24 was not involved in the state court briefing, but I don't think

25 the state court has ruled on the issue of whether the plan was
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1 violated.  And that was -- and as Your Honor notes, that was

2 not brought up with the state court.  

3 THE COURT:  Is --

4 MR. GREENE:  So -- yes, Your Honor.

5 THE COURT:  My thoughts on all of this, and I'm going

6 to use the word "ripe" loosely and not necessarily the legal

7 version of "ripe."  To me, there is an issue of ripeness in

8 terms of the dispute.  There's no dispute that the plan, the

9 contract, allowed for a foreclosure.  Nobody seems to be

10 disputing that, nor does anybody seem to be disputing that

11 there was a default, which would have triggered the right for

12 foreclosure.  

13 So then we get to the payoff amount issue, and there

14 was a demand made for an amount that was more than what the

15 allowed claim was for.  But there hasn't been, at this point, a

16 determination that they are entitled to more, that 5148 that

17 has been made whole, I don't believe there's been any type of

18 deficiency actions.  I don't believe your client has been

19 forced, at this point, to pay more.  And with respect to the

20 state court, while they weren't looking -- Judge Thayer was not

21 looking specifically at the plan in terms of what the allowable

22 claim was because it wasn't presented to her, she did have in

23 front of her an argument that the amounts being asserted were

24 disputed, the amounts were disputed, and that -- excuse me --

25 that would have an effect on your client's ability to credit
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1 bid and would -- and you made -- and the same argument,

2 essentially, that you've made here earlier, that it would be

3 ridiculous for your client to have to come out of pocket to

4 make a credit bid and then have to try to get the money back. 

5 So those were all arguments, even though we weren't

6 talking about the allowed claim, that were considered by the

7 court, and that allowed claim, as you've admitted, would have

8 been allowed to have been brought up.  The plan was already

9 confirmed at that point.  It certainly could have been brought

10 to the attention of the state court.  

11 So to me, that issue of how much is owed and whether

12 that's a violation is not only a contract issue, which can

13 certainly be brought in the state court, but it's also one that

14 maybe hasn't even -- it's not ripe at this point.  Those are my

15 thoughts.  That's -- those are my concerns when I've read this

16 motion and have read all of the exhibits are those things, Mr.

17 Green.  So I appreciate the issue that you've brought up, but

18 I'm still struggling, as you could tell, with finding how these

19 are issues that would allow me to find the other side in

20 contempt, to unwind the foreclosure sale that was involved in

21 the state court action.  Those are all issues I have.  There's

22 potentially Rooker-Feldman issues.  There may be issue

23 preclusion issues.  I mean, these are all things that I think

24 face you as an uphill battle in terms of winning this argument. 

25 Now, I know I have interrupted you.  If there's any
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1 more you want to add, you can.  

2 MR. GREENE:  This James is Greene for the reorganized

3 debtor.  Thank you, Your Honor for your thoughts.  Most of them

4 have crossed my mind, but I think what I would say is that

5 although the state court did look at the issue of the disputed

6 amount of the debt, that court did not look at -- and I don't

7 know if Rooker-Feldman really applies because I don't think

8 you're sort of reversing a state court decision or interfering

9 with a state court action.  You know, what we're trying to

10 achieve here is to have a declaration that, in fact, from the

11 various pieces of evidence that are in the record before you

12 today, we do have a party who simply ignored your order, your

13 confirmation order and sought nearly half a million dollars, or

14 roughly half a million dollars, in excess of what it was

15 entitled to owe -- to collect, and that effectively prevented

16 the debtor from saving its property by redeeming the property

17 and paying the amount due under the plan because it was obvious

18 with the demands that were being made via email and in state

19 court filings that the amount due under the plan was not going

20 to stay the foreclosure sale.  

21 As I say, the other alternative the debtor was faced

22 with was, well, go ahead and pay the seven-million-and-seventy-

23 something thousand dollars that was actually due at the

24 foreclosure sale and hope that sale doesn't go forward.  And if

25 it does go forward, well, then we're still right where we are
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1 now.  And so the debtor was really in an untenable situation. 

2 And I think that the issue that the state court did not

3 consider the issue in the context that we're discussing it. 

4 The state court was looking at a dispute between two parties

5 over a calculation of an amount.  

6 And I was not at the hearing, I've reviewed most of

7 the transcript.  And I'm not sure about the state court's

8 thinking.  I think, certainly, there was irreparable harm any

9 time you have a foreclosure of a new unique asset like real

10 property.  

11 But in any event, I do think that this Court has

12 jurisdiction to enforce its own order, to protect the integrity

13 of the confirmed chapter 11 plan and avoid this sale.  Whether

14 you choose to hold 5148 or its counsel in contempt, of course,

15 is within your discretion.  But we understand that 5148 is

16 simply going to notice up another foreclosure, and at that

17 point, they'll be presumably complying with the confirmation

18 order and making a demand based on the terms of the plan.  

19 And so I understand your concerns.  I get them.  But

20 I do think that this Court, in order to protect its own

21 jurisdiction and enforce and protect the integrity of this

22 Court's order, has the authority to do what we're asking and

23 simply make 5148 go back and play by the rules of the plan that

24 it voted for and that this Court confirmed.

25 So I would rest on that.  
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1 THE COURT:  Okay, thank you, Mr. Greene.

2 Mr. Mushkin, you want (audio interference) --

3 MR. MUSHKIN:  Your Honor, if the Court would like to

4 hear from me, I'll be very brief.  

5 First, in their opposition, they talk about a demand

6 for cure.  There was no demand for cure.  The debtor never had

7 to buy it at the sale.  The debtor could have tendered at any

8 time.  The debtor never made a tender, not of one dime.

9 SJCV pledged collateral.  All fees were disclosed to

10 set up the claim of deficiency that the Court referenced. 

11 Counsel says that there is nothing in the plan that calls for

12 this.  Unfortunately, he is wrong.  My client's claim was to be

13 treated under 1111(b), and upon the default of the settlement

14 agreement, that's exactly what should have happened and did. 

15 The sale is one to the public.  And in order to release the

16 collateral pledge by SJCV, the entirety of their claim was put

17 in the demand.  What you have before you, Judge, is a debtor

18 who admits to default.  And then, in this court says, we would

19 have paid, and in state court, never so much as a hint of that. 

20 And this afternoon at two o'clock, Mr. Bloom and the

21 debtor face sanction and contempt hearing, an evidentiary

22 hearing, because they haven't provided the documents to prove

23 that they have any chance or could have paid.  There's a

24 significant amount of money that's still due.  The disclosures

25 were open.  There's no one trying to violate this Court's order
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1 in any way.  The integrity of the confirmation order was

2 affected by the conduct of the debtor.  

3 Your Honor, this debtor has challenged interest,

4 costs, attorneys' fees, the existence of the note, the

5 existence of the deed of trust.  My clients have not received

6 any payments, including adequate protection that was promised,

7 since March -- I'm sorry, since April 1 of 2000.  I

8 respectfully request that this motion be denied and that the

9 Court consider awarding fees to 5148 for having to defend this. 

10 The Court is 100 percent correct.  The state court

11 looked at it.  The Supreme Court looked at it.  And for counsel

12 to come before you today and say for whatever reason, the state

13 court's denied relief, but in the pleading, make the

14 affirmative allegation that the state courts were unable to

15 complete their analysis is simply not true.  What showing have

16 they made that the state courts didn't adequately address this

17 matter?  

18 Thank you very much for your time, Your Honor.  I'd

19 appreciate that you'd submit an -- that we could submit an

20 order denying this application.  

21 THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Mushkin.  

22 Mr. Greene, I'll let you have the last word.  

23 MR. GREENE:  Your Honor, I don't really have anything

24 new to add, except one point I did want to make is that there

25 is certainly irreparable harm that has occurred here, and I
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1 think the Court is in a position to prevent that harm.  I don't

2 really understand the 1111(b) notion.  The plan is quite clear. 

3 It says that 5148 has an allowed secured claim for -- whether

4 there's an 1111(b) election or not, it says that 5148 has an

5 allowed secured claim for $7 million and interest at five and a

6 half percent per annum.  

7 As Your Honor noted, the plan is, at the end of the

8 day, a contract, and this contract supersedes all the other

9 contracts that preceded it.  And 5148 was entitled to the

10 $7 million whether or not it was making an 1111(b) election or

11 not.  That has no impact on the secured -- the amount of the

12 secured -- allowed secured claim as defined in the plan.  So

13 they were limited to the $7 million and the five and a half

14 percent interest.  And as I say, it was clear.  

15 You know, Mr. Mushkin, brings up the issue with

16 tender.  Well, the debtor didn't tender money.  Well, tendering

17 what we thought was owed would have been a futile effort

18 because they would have said no, you still owe another half-

19 million dollars, we're going to sale, and it was simply

20 untenable to tender the full amount that was being claimed and

21 then hope that at some point there was some way to recover it

22 down the road.  

23 So I think the Court does have the right and

24 jurisdiction to enforce and protect the (indiscernible) order, 

25 the confirmation order, and so I would ask the Court to grant
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1 the motion and I'll rest on that.

2 THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  All right.  I'm

3 prepared to give my oral ruling.  

4 The Court has reviewed and considered the motion,

5 opposition, reply, all related exhibits, and counsels'

6 arguments at today's hearing.  Pursuant to Federal Rule of

7 Evidence 201, the Court has also taken judicial notice of all

8 pleadings in the bankruptcy docket.  Pursuant to Federal Rule

9 of Civil Procedure 52, made applicable herein pursuant to

10 Federal Rule of Bankruptcy Procedure 7052, the Court hereby

11 enters the following findings of fact and conclusions of law.

12  On November 24th, 2021, the Court entered an order

13 confirming the debtor's Chapter 11 plan at ECF Number 280. 

14 Page 6, Paragraph 3, of the confirmation order stated that the

15 secured claim of 5148 Spanish Heights, LLC shall be paid as set

16 forth in Class 3 of the plan.  Class 3 of the attached plan

17 stated that 5148 Spanish Heights was entitled to an allowed

18 secured claim in the amount of $7 million, required

19 interest-only payments beginning January 1st 2022, required a

20 $4 million payment on January 5th, 2022, and further stated

21 that any default, quote, "shall constitute grounds for the

22 holder of the Class 3 claim to commence or continue foreclosure

23 on the property without further order of the bankruptcy court

24 or notice of the plan default to the debtor or SJC.  Upon the

25 occurrence of a plan default, the Class 3 claimant shall be
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1 entitled to pursue foreclosure of the property in accordance

2 with all applicable state law statutory requirements."

3 On Page 3, Lines 20 through 22, the debtor admits

4 that it defaulted under the plan by failing to make the

5 January 1st interest payment and the January 5th $4 million

6 payment.  As reflected in ECF Number 295 at Exhibit E, counsel

7 for the reorganized debtor and for 5148 Spanish Heights engaged

8 in email communications regarding an impending foreclosure and

9 the correct payoff amount.  Although these emails have not been

10 authenticated by declaration, the reorganized debtor has not

11 objected to the authenticity of the emails.  The Court observed

12 that no reference to the confirmation order or the confirmed

13 plan were made by the organized debtor's counsel in the emails. 

14 Thereafter, 5148 Spanish Heights noticed a

15 foreclosure sale, which the reorganized debtor does not allege

16 violated the Court's order.  On January 11th, 2022, 5148

17 Spanish Heights filed a motion for the writ of possession and

18 order to vacate pursuant to NRS 40.255 in state court Case

19 Number A-20-813439-B, which I shall refer to throughout this

20 ruling as the state court case.  A copy of this motion for writ

21 of possession as Exhibit 2 to the debtor's current motion -- is

22 Exhibit 2 to the debtor's current motion at ECF 290.

23 In pertinent part, 5148 Spanish Heights stated the

24 following on Page 6 of their motion for writ.

25 "The foreclosure sale date has been set for
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1 February 1, 2022.  With an amount owing of over

2 $7,500,000, counterclaimants anticipate that the

3 property will revert back to them.  As such

4 counterclaimants are requesting an order for SJCV and

5 Bloom to vacate the property on April 4, 2022."

6 This was the sole reference to 7,500,000 in the

7 motion for writ, and the only relief requested in the motion as

8 stated on Page 7, Lines 20 through 21, was for an order that

9 SJCV and Bloom vacate the subject property on April 4, 2022. 

10 On January 19th, 2022, the reorganized debtor and SJC

11 Ventures filed an application for temporary restraining order

12 and motion for preliminary injunction in the state court case. 

13 A copy of this TRO application was attached as Exhibit 3 to the

14 reorganized debtor's motion.  On Page 2, Lines 3 through 5, of

15 the TRO application, the reorganized debtor again acknowledged

16 its default under the confirmed plan by stating that the

17 trustee sale was noticed, quote, "as a result of plaintiffs

18 being unable to timely make a settlement payment on January

19 5th, 2022."  In the remainder of page 2 of the TRO application,

20 the reorganized debtor and SJC Venture state, in pertinent

21 part, the following.  

22 "Although plaintiffs do not take issue with the

23 trustee sale itself, plaintiffs are entitled to

24 redeem the property before the foreclosure sale,

25 which defendants have acknowledged.  However,
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1 defendants have issued a defective payoff demand

2 which includes an interest amount that is overstated

3 by at least $410,000, $410,096.10.  

4 "The payoff demand also includes an additional

5 approximately $904,000.  Nearly $1 million of fees

6 and costs for a simple foreclosure sale is beyond

7 unreasonable.  As such, plaintiffs are entitled to an

8 evidentiary hearing to determine the correct payoff

9 amount so that plaintiffs can make such payment in

10 order to avoid the foreclosure of the property

11 pursuant to NRS 107.080.  It is therefore imperative

12 that the court issue a TRO enjoining the defendants

13 from foreclosing on the property until the correct

14 payoff demand amount can be adjudicated."

15 The Court observes that the TRO application did not

16 reference the confirmation order or otherwise contend that the

17 confirmation order capped the claim  of  5148 Spanish Heights. 

18 Instead by the TRO application, the reorganized debtor and SJC

19 Ventures appeared to only take issue with excessive

20 calculations of interest rate charges, foreclosure fees, and

21 attorneys' fees and costs associated with the foreclosure sale

22 that they contend were inflated.  

23 After carefully reviewing this motion and all other

24 pleadings filed with the state court in great detail, the

25 Court, based on the arguments made by the reorganized debtor
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1 and SCJ [sic] Ventures, is not left with the impression that

2 the confirmation order or this Court's interpretation of the

3 same relates in any manner to this purely post-confirmation

4 default scenario.  Instead, the dispute centered around an

5 interpretation of Nevada foreclosure laws and the reorganized

6 debtor's right to redeem under Nevada state law.  This is

7 reflected throughout the TRO application, including in the

8 following paragraph at Pages 10 and 11.  

9 "Plaintiffs acknowledge that defendants have a right

10 to initiate foreclosure proceedings as a result of

11 the default in the settlement agreement.  The

12 defendants need to follow Nevada foreclosure laws

13 when doing so.  The unaccounted for interest figures

14 in the payoff demand along with a completely

15 unreasonable figure being demanded in legal fees and

16 costs suggest serious errors in the payoff demand. 

17 Because plaintiffs have a statutory right to pay off

18 the balance due and redeem the property prior to the

19 foreclosure, which they fully intend on doing, this

20 court should order that defendants be enjoined from

21 proceeding on the notice of sale and from engaging in

22 any further foreclosure activities regarding the

23 property until an evidentiary hearing has been held

24 on the payoff figure and the court has adjudicated

25 the payoff amount."
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1 On January 28 2022, Judge Kishner presided over the

2 TRO application in the state court case.  A copy of the

3 transcript is attached at ECF Number 295.  At Exhibit C, in

4 finding that the likelihood of success on the merits prong had

5 not been satisfied, Judge Kishner stated in pertinent part the

6 following at Page 42, Line 13, through Page 43, Line 25.  

7 "The court has asked specifically was there any

8 alternative number, was there any payoff, was there

9 anything to show that the numbers asserted by the

10 defendant is inaccurate.  The court has not been

11 provided anything.  The only thing she said is, well,

12 we need an evidentiary hearing to see if we can prove

13 to find out what these numbers are.  But given the

14 date of the notice, and given this is a second notice

15 because there was a notice back in 2011, the court

16 notes there was no contesting even if there was some

17 issue with regards to a difference between the

18 current $7.5 million et al. number versus the number

19 from January 4, 2021 of a default of $5,578,459.15. 

20 That $5,578,459.15 isn't disputed.  So that, in and

21 of itself, would show there is not a likelihood of

22 success on the merits on the ability to move forward

23 with the foreclosure, which is the action being

24 requested to be restrained.  Okay

25 "And in fact, counsel has even conceded that there
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1 can there can be a foreclosure, the issue isn't

2 whether there can be a foreclosure and the

3 foreclosure sale can take place on February 1st.  The

4 issue really is what is potentially if there's a

5 credit bid concept, or what is the amount that is

6 owed to the party that is doing the sale.  That is a

7 monetary amount.  That does not fall even within an

8 injunction because it's contesting a monetary amount. 

9 Okay?"  

10 "So this is not the issue of the foreclosure. 

11 Everybody agrees it can be foreclosed under the

12 forbearance agreement, it can be foreclosed by law of

13 the case, it can be foreclosed by even the parties'

14 initial settlement that was not complied with when

15 the funds were not paid.  Those independently, so

16 they're not in conjunction, independently all provide

17 these bases.  

18 "The nature of the property, how it's been utilized,

19 also allows this foreclosure to take place, and there

20 really is a monetary disagreement between the

21 parties.  Whether it's $900,000 or some other amount,

22 it's a monetary amount, and that would not be for the

23 purposes of foreclosure under the applicable case

24 law."

25 In finding that the irreparable injury prong had not
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1 been satisfied, Judge Kishner stated in pertinent part the

2 following at Page 45, Line 5, through Page 45 [sic], Line 5.

3 "Well, here, because the injunction really is being

4 asked for the court to hold an evidentiary hearing to

5 decide a monetary issue, the court really doesn't see

6 that there's going to be any irreparable harm

7 because, realistically, if somebody wanted some

8 hearing, this could have been done differently.  That

9 itself could have been done on OST.  This notice came

10 out, and it looks like at least there's a

11 communication back to, well, early January, at least

12 January 5th by some of the attachments.  So somebody

13 wanted said relief.  That could have been requested

14 earlier.  It's not the subject of an injunction.  But

15 if there was a dispute over the monetary amount, then

16 that could have been addressed.  It was not.  But

17 once again, when you look at irreparable injury,

18 since the parties agreed a foreclosure sale can go

19 forward because a foreclosure is allowed under the

20 under the forbearance documents, forbearance

21 agreement and all the contractual documents for this

22 particular piece of property, then the court doesn't

23 see that there is irreparable injury because it's

24 really a matter of who has to pay what to potentially

25 either retain the house or credit bid the house or
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1 some third party wants to bid on the house.  Who

2 knows?  

3 "That monetary issue, there's not irreparable harm

4 because nobody is saying that somebody is being

5 precluded from even bidding on the house.  So if the

6 movants wish to bid on the house, that's not being

7 precluded by anybody, it's whether they want to or

8 not."

9 Relevant to the reorganized debtor's contention

10 before this Court and in the TRO application is the following

11 statement by Judge Kishner, Page 47, Lines 17 through 23. 

12 "There's no assertion that plaintiff can even pay

13 that amount, wants to pay that amount, didn't even assert that

14 they are attending" -- and I think that was actually supposed

15 to be tendering -- "any set amount.  Really, they're just

16 asserting that they're disagreeing with, and they haven't even

17 shown that they've paid the underlying amount 2021.  Even that

18 undisputed amount could have been paid."

19 And finally, in further support of this Court's

20 earlier statement that this matter involves a purely

21 post-confirmation state law foreclosure issue, Judge Kishner

22 stated the following at Page 49, Lines 2 through 10.

23 "It really is the hardship is -- would they

24 potentially have to pay more money because of what's

25 being demanded versus the money they feel they should
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1 have to pay, but yet have not provided any evidence

2 that the money being sought is an accurate amount,

3 has not sought any court ruling on that previously to

4 the pending motion, has not said that there is any

5 evidence that there's a different amount.  There's

6 been no alternative calculations, et cetera."

7 As the Court alluded to earlier, if as the

8 reorganized debtor currently asserts in the motion before this

9 Court that the confirmation order is definitive, this Court

10 would have expected to see some sort of reference to the

11 confirmation order and its provision at some point in either

12 the state court pleadings or in the state court transcript. 

13 However, the Court did not see any such reference.  Judge

14 Kishner, therefore, denied the TRO application.  According to

15 5148 Spanish Heights, the reorganized debtor and SCJ [sic]

16 Ventures then sought a petition for writ of mandamus or

17 prohibition, which the Nevada Supreme Court denied on

18 February 1st, 2022.  Thereafter, 5148 Spanish Heights

19 successfully purchased the property via credit bid, as

20 reflected by a trustee's deed upon sale recorded with the Clark

21 County Recorder on February 2nd 2022, a copy of which is

22 available at ECF Number 295 at Exhibit D.  

23 This prompted the reorganized debtor to file the

24 current motion before the Court on February 4th 2022 and seek a

25 hearing on shortened time, which the Court allowed.  By the
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1 motion, the reorganized debtor asks for the following forms of

2 relief:  finding 5148 and its counsel in contempt for violating

3 the confirmation order and the binding terms of the Chapter 11

4 plan; declaring the nonjudicial trustee's foreclosure sale of

5 the property to be void; declaring the trustee's deed based on

6 the foreclosure so void; awarding the reorganized debtor

7 attorneys' fees and costs for enforcing the plan; setting an

8 evidentiary hearing to consider an award of punitive damages

9 against 5148 and its counsel for their willful violation of the

10 confirmation order and plans.  

11 The applicable post-confirmation standard was

12 recently discussed in In re Skyline Ridge LLC, 2021 WL 1733163,

13 Pages 3-4, (Bankr. D. Ariz. April 30, 2021. 

14 When there's a confirmed bankruptcy plan in the

15 administrative case, the bankruptcy court's related to

16 jurisdiction is somewhat limited.  In re Pegasus Gold Corp,

17 394 F.3d 1189 (9th Cir. 2005)

18 In the Ninth Circuit, the close nexus test determines

19 the extent to which a bankruptcy court retains related to

20 post-confirmation jurisdiction.  The essential inquiry is

21 whether there is a close nexus to the bankruptcy plan or

22 proceeding sufficient to uphold bankruptcy jurisdiction over

23 the matter.  Matters affecting the interpretation,

24 implementation, consummation, execution, or administration of a

25 confirmed plan will typically have the required -- will have
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1 the requisite close nexus.

2 As reflected during the Court's findings of fact, the

3 dispute between the reorganized debtor and 5148 Spanish Heights

4 are purely post-confirmation state law foreclosure issues that

5 do not involve the interpretation, implementation,

6 consummation, execution, or administration of the current

7 affirmed plan, and otherwise do not have a close nexus with the

8 confirmed plan for purposes of this Court's jurisdiction. 

9 Indeed, as far as the Court can tell from its review of the

10 state court case pleadings and transcripts, the confirmation

11 order was never even raised in relation to 5148 Spanish

12 Heights's claim for purposes of foreclosure.  

13 To the extent the issue needed to be raised for

14 purposes of redemption, Judge Kishner informed the reorganized

15 debtor that it should have raised that issue with her before an

16 order shortening time.  The -- should have -- sorry, excuse me,

17 that the debtor should have raised the issue with her before on

18 an OST instead of via a temporary restraining order and

19 injunction. 

20 As Judge Kishner found, no party disputed 5148

21 Spanish Heights's ability to seek foreclosure, and indeed the

22 debtor concedes that foreclosure was an appropriate remedy,

23 even under the confirmation order and confirmed plan.  The

24 reorganized debtor's issues, as expressed by Judge Kishner,

25 involved the reorganized debtor's contention  5148 Spanish
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1 Heights had double counted interests and inflated related

2 foreclosure fees, including attorneys' fees.  Again, all these

3 fees were discussed without reference to any sort of cap

4 provided in the confirmation order, which the reorganized

5 debtor -- apparently, this is apparently their new argument in

6 the motion before this court.  

7 Simply put, this Court does not have

8 post-confirmation jurisdiction over this issue because it lacks

9 the requisite close nexus to the confirmation order in the

10 confirmed plan.  Furthermore, even if this Court had

11 jurisdiction, issues of preclusion and/or issues arising under

12 the Rooker-Feldman doctrine would arguably preclude this Court

13 from making any determination.

14 Finally, and for the avoidance of doubt, a confirmed

15 plan constitutes a contract under applicable state law.  To the

16 extent that a creditor is requesting an amount during the

17 post-confirmation period greater than what the reorganized

18 debtor believes is allowed under the plan, the issue is not one

19 of contempt of the confirmation order but of a potential breach

20 of a post-confirmation contract.  Indeed, the Court never

21 ordered 5148 Spanish Heights to not assert fees related to the

22 foreclosure costs.  Instead, the Class 3 treatment stated that

23 5148 Spanish Heights shall be entitled to pursue foreclosure

24 property in accordance with all applicable state law statutory

25 requirements.  Based on my prior comments and my review of the
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1 pleadings and transcripts in the state court case, it appears

2 the reorganized debtor did not dispute 5148 Spanish Heights's

3 ability to assert fees and expenses under state law beyond what

4 was provided in the confirmed plan but only disputed what it

5 believes were the excessive amounts asserted.  

6 For all these reasons, the Court -- let me back up. 

7 For all these reasons and those that I stated earlier during

8 the hearing, the Court denies the motion.  And, Mr. Mushkin,

9 I'm also going to deny your oral requests for attorney fees,

10 but I'm going to ask that you prepare the order and please

11 circulate it to Mr. Greene.  

12 MR. MUSHKIN:  Thank you very much, Your Honor.  I

13 will do so.  And just for the record, my request was in my

14 motion, as well, but I understand (indiscernible).

15 THE COURT:  All right.  Then, I'm denying both the

16 written request and the oral request.  All right.  

17 MR. MUSHKIN:  I hope we don't have to come back

18 again, Judge.  Thank you very much.  

19 MR. GREENE:  Thank you, Your Honor.

20 THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Greene.  All

21 right.  We can go ahead and go off record.

22 THE COURTROOM DEPUTY:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Off

23 record.

24  (Proceedings concluded at 10:19 a.m.)

25 * * * * *
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